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Abstract

The thesis concerns the origins, creation and progress of the International
Development Research Centre (IDRC). Most scholars believe that development
assistance is largely motivated by self-interest. At first glance, the Centre appearsto be an
anomaly in Canadian foreign aid. The IDRC's disbursements are not formally tied; has an
international board of governors; and its structure was specifically designed with
autonomy in mind. This Canadian federal organisation has spent one and a half billion
dollars and funded over 5,500 projects since its founding in 1970. During thistime, the
Centre has disbursed between 70-95% of its programmefunds overseas, mostly to
developing country university researchers. These researchers have designed and executed
research intended to help developing countries alleviate poverty, social decay and more

recently, environmental challenges.

A detailed archeology is conducted of Pearson's own internationalism regarding
science and technology, foreign policy, development assistance, environment and culture.
Our analysis shows how Pearson's thinking, and that of colleagues who were to have key
influences on the Centre, BarbaraWard and Maurice Strong, were embedded in deeply
held beliefs and values. We identify atension between an internationalist impul ses and
Canadian-centred or parochia pre-occupationscommon in most of the federal public
service, especially central agencies. Central agents, responding to pressures from
academics, and the internal values and beliefs that tend to form in these secretaria, have
sought to make the IDRC conform to their own expectations. The author concludes that
the Centre has survived and prospered, despite thesepressures, partly because of theskill
of itstop officers, but principally because of the IDRC's capacity to lay claim to being an

expression of internationalism.
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We aso show how another dialectic, between more socially-oriented perspectives
and more technical ones affected the development of the IDRC. The thesis suggests that
the two dialectics, the internationalist and parochial, and the technical and social, ae both

synthesising into, respectively, interdependence and holism.
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Resumé

Lathese traite des origines, de la création et du progres du Centre de recherches
pour le développement international (CRDI). La plupart des universitaires croient que
|'assistance aux pays en voie de développement se fait dans un but intéressé. A premiére
vue, le CRDI donne I'apparence d'étre une anomalie dans le champ d'aide étrangere
canadienne. Une grande partie des fonds débourses par le CRDI n'est pas assujettie aux
récipiendaires canadiens; le conseil des gouverneurs est international; et les initiateurs ont
dessiné sa structure pour rehausser I'autonomie du Centre. Cette organisation canadienne
et fédérale adépense 1,5 $G Can et a soutenu plus de 5 500 projets depuis ses débuts en
1970. Pendant cette période, le CRDI a déboursé entre 70 et 95% de ces fonds destinés
pour les programmes outre-mer, soit la plus grande partie par des chercheurs
universitaires aux pays en voie de dével oppement. Ces derniers ont dessing, et fait leurs
recherches dans le but d'aider ces pays a soulager la pauvreté, ladéchéance sodale et,

plus récemment |es défis environnementaux.

Les croyances et valeurs desinitiateurs, Lester Pearson, Barbara Ward, et Maurice
Strong, ont influencé le mode de fonctionnement du CRDI, selon notre recherche. Nous
avons effectué une archéol ogie détaill ée de I'internationalisme de Pearson (lui-méme)
concernant la sdence et latechnologie, les politiques étrangeres, I'aide pour le
développement international, |'environnement et la culture. Une dialectique est révélée
entre impulsions internationalistes et, ceux concentrés sur les intéréts canadiens ou
préoccupations communales, dont les derniéres sont typiques au cadre de lafonction
publique fédérale, en particulier les agence centrales. La pression des universitaires et
politiciens influencent les agents centraux atenter dans I'implantation des politiques selon
les croyances & les valeurs de ces derniers. Souvent on trouve atravers les agents
centraux les croyances et valeurs et, ce en partie a cause de leurs réles comme

secrétariats. Malgreé ces pressions, la survivance et la prospérité du CRDI peuvent étre

12



expliquées partiellement par |e talent de ses cadres supérieurs, mais en outre que le Centre

soit percu comme expression d'internationalisme.

L es effets d'une autre dialectique sur le progres du Centre, entre perspectives
techniques et sodales sont aussi révélés. Nous suggérons gque les deux dalectiques,
tendances internationales et communales et, perspectives sociales et techniques, sont en
transformation, vers de nouvelles synthéeses, respectivement a l'interdépendance et

['nolisme.
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Introduction

Every hour that passes brings a supplement of ignition to the crucible in which the
world is being fused. We have not had the same past, you and ourselves, but we
shall have, stridly, the same future. The era of segparate destinies has run its
Course. . ..

Knowledge and faith flowed from a common source and fed the same sea.

Former IDRC Vice-President Cheikh Hamidou Kane!

Canadians are aware of therole of Lester Pearson in the creation of peacekeeping.
They also know that Pearson was deeply concerned with diplomacy, and development
assistance. Y et less than one percent of Canadians ae aware of theexistence, much less
the significance of the International Development Research Centre (IDRC).? The Centre
is highly thought of in the capitals of developing countries, but is little known in the
capital of Canada, where it is headquartered. Although founded during the Trudeau
government, the Centre is very much the fruit of Pearson'sinternationdist vision. It isfair
to say that without Mike Pearson the Centre would never have been created. Yet IDRC
was the product of many people, the motive forces of Maurice Strong and Barbara Ward

being key. But whatisit?

Thefirst board meeting of IDRC was opened by Chairman Lester Pearson in the
depths of the Octaber Crisis of 1970, and guarded by the RCMP. Underway, themain

! Cheikh Hamidou Kane, Ambiguous Adventure, trans. K atherine Woods, London:
Heinemann, 1978, 79, 123.

2 IDRC, Communications Division, "The Public Information Program: A Policy Paper
on a Corporate Communications Strategy for the Board of Governors of the International
Development Research Centre," TD, October 1991, 10.
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activity of this Crown corporation-like organisation became the funding of research on
the problems of developing countries. Since IDRC's creation, a billion and a half dollars
have been spent and over 5,500 projects funded. In structure and substance, the Centre
broke new ground in a number of respects, becoming the boldest expression of
internationalism inthe field of devdopment assistance As regards substance, IDRC
became the fird development agency in the world to give unprecedented autonomy to
researchersin developing countries to do the vast majority of selecting, designing and
executing research projects themselves. Further, little money ended up in the hands of
Canadians? The Centre was the first state-funded organisation to fund research about
developing countries that was conducted in developing countries, by people from the
region. IDRC was not transformed into a mere source of funding for Canadians interested
in conducting research on developing areas. Regarding structure, just under half its
governors are from overseas, mog of these from devel oping countries. Although it isless
so now since immigraion rules have changed, the Centrés staff remain international in
nationality and orientation, especialy in the now three Regional Offices and four
Representative Offices based in devel oping countries. Non-Canadians are therefore able
to have a great influence on the direction of the work of the Centre. Although the
President has been a Canadian thus far, non-Canadians have regularly been considered.
Of the top offices of IDRC, only the Chairman and Vice-Chairman must be Canadians.

In short, the Centre has an international flavour and substance.

Statutes regulating the selection of governors specify that the majority must have
"experience of international development or experience or training in the natural or social
sciences or technology."* This requirement, and the political agreement to generally

adhere to it, has meant that most appantments are rarely the product of political favours

3 IDRC, Annual Report 1992-1993, Ottawa: IDRC, 1993, 47.

4 Canada, Revised Statutes of Canada, International Development Research Centre
Act, 1970, 1st Supplement, Chapter 21, 769.
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unlike many Governor-in-Council appointments by the federal government. As we have
said, IDRC staff have an strongly international character. In short, IDRC is not atypical
donor organisation funded by a national state, it is more like an independent international
foundation. As such, the Centre was an expression of Pearsonian internationalism and the
partnership that implied. Roughly equivalent or larger than most like-minded
organisations in the research for development foundation niche, within the field of
donors, IDRC has remained minute, accounting for less than five percent of Canada's
own Official Development Assistance (ODA). Y et the Centre's influence, reputation, and
reach is vastly out of proportion to itssize. That IDRC has produced little direct benefit
for Canadians, seems to be a genuine attempt at partnership between North and South,
and has garnered considerable influence and reputation—despite its actual size——isan
enigmathat intrigued the author. This dissertation represents an attempt to understand
why and how the Centre was created, and how it has managed to survive and prosper over

the succeeding quarter century.

The assessment of this author is that IDRC has been highly regarded in
development cirdes in Canada and abroad for two majar reasons: 1) its funding is largely
untied, and 2) it has established an erudite, responsive partnership with academics and
other partners from devel oping countries it has funded. Many Canadian devel opment
assistance officials, recipients, and commentators believe that al development assistance
should be untied. IDRC is for them a symbol of what most think development assistance
should be like. Conseguently, Clyde Sanger has called the Centre "a cheerful contrast”
with Canadian International Devel ogpment Agency's (CIDA) tied aid polides.® Cranford

Pratt has associated "continued support for IDRC" as Canadian devel opment assistance

® Clyde Sanger in Lyon, Peyton V. and Tareq Ishmael (eds). Canada and the Third
World. Toronto: Macmillan, 1976, 293.

18



"policies and activities that reflect humanitarian and developmental concerns'.® The
Swedish Agency for Research Co-operation with Developing Countries (SAREC) was
inspired by the model of IDRC, as were others. In their assessment of their first decade,
SAREC stated that "IDRC can be regarded as the most significant initiative taken by any
industrialized country to support research in developing countries."” CIDA documents
identify the Centre as the "jewel in the crown™ 2 This international legitimacy and the
lustre it gives to Canadian foreign policy servesto protect IDRC within the Canadian
federal government. Its ability to lay claim to moral legitimacy isits shield. The
organisations surrounding the Centre are based on narrower foundations, and must at the
very least justify their existence on their instrumental nature, and frequently and
increasingly on their short-term and "measurable” benefits to Canadians. Even CIDA,
which as we shall see had similar originsto IDRC, gradually became more an instrument
of domestic pre-occupations than international concern. Thisislargely not the case at
IDRC, although we shall trace out pressures to move in that direction. The discovery of
how IDRC became a political possibility and how the aegis of legitimacy was fashioned
around the new organization is therefore significant, given that other more parochial

institutional norms surrounded it.

¢ Cranford Pratt, "2, Canada: An Eroding and Limited Internationalism”, in Cranford
Pratt, ed. Internationalism Under Strain, The North-South Policies of Canada, the
Netherlands, Norway, and Sweden, Toronto: University of Toronto, 1989, 44 and 43.

" Swedish Agency for Research Co-operation with Devdoping Countries, (ed.) Mats
Kihlberg, SAREC's First Decade, Stockholm: SAREC, 1987, 38.

8 "Policy Compendium Prgect,” Section B, TD, Policy Branch, 1993, CIDA Records,
161.
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This dissertation is areply to two simple questions, “Why was the International
Development Research Centre created?’” and, “How have its policies changed over time?”’
The dissertation is divided into four chapters. The first part of the firg chapter delvesinto
the thought of Lester Pearson as regards devel opment assistance, foreign policy, and
science and technology. In the second part, the application of Pearsonian internationdism
as applied in the field of development assistance is viewed by looking at the origins of
devel opment assistance, which we identify as being moulded by deeply held beliefs and
values. We a'so look at the role of the different personalities involved in development
assistance, such as Maurice Strong. In Chapter One, we identify a tension between the
internationalist impulse and what we delineate as more narrow, Canadian-centred or

parochial pre-occupations that were common in most of the federal public service.

Chapter Two consists of a detailed archaeology of the actual policy process that
took place leading to the creation of the Centre in 1970. The analysis reveals the
importance of the championing by Lester Pearson, Maurice Strong and Barbara Ward of
the IDRC proposal and their particular intellectua contributionsto it, but shows that the
Centre was very much the product of a number of individuals. We show how
internationalist and parochial viewpoints contended, and reveal the role of another

dialectic, between more socially-oriented views and more technical ones.

Chapter Three looks at the relation between IDRC and its Canadian environment
and shows how domestic pressures from different sources have made their expectations
of the Centre felt. We analyse the composition and role of the Board of Governors and
detail how central agents, responding to pressures from academics and their own value
preferences, have sought to make IDRC conform to these expectations. Central agencies
are commonly thought of within the Canadian context as policy direction, control and
scrutiny secretariats such as the Privy Council Office (PCO), Treasury Board (TB),
Finance and the Office of the Audtor General (OAG). Within the last fifteen years
External Affairs, (since 1993 Foreign Affairs and International Trade), has been included

20



in this magic circle. We identify CIDA asincreasingly playing arole like a central agent

in both function and values relative to the devel opment assistance industry in Canada.

In the final chapter, we pass to thepolicy progress of the Centre since its
establishment, delineating the internal discourse of the Centre and relate that conversation
to the changing nature of development, science, and technology. The explanation of how
IDRC came about, how the Centre was institutionalized, and endured, despite the lack of

significant material benefits to Canadians, is the essential domain of the thesis.
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Methodology
Approach

Cranford Pratt has identified the varying fortunes of humane internationalismin
Canadian devel opment assistance that emerged strongly during World War 1. "At its core
is an acceptance by the citizens of the industrialised states that they have ethical
obligations towards those beyond their borders and that these in turn impose obligations
upon their governments."® Pratt goes on to delineate three common elements of variants
of humane internationalism: 1) that a common humanity unites the global community, 2)
that carrying out those obligationsis in the long-term interests of the North so asto
achieve stability, and 3) that internationalism is an extension of national and social
welfare programs to the wider world.!° In this thesis, we will employ the term
"internationalism” in asimilar manner, but remove the word "humane” for two reasons.
Thefirst is that internationalism was the term used during much of the post-War period.
The second is that, although humane is useful because it associates the idea with a notion
of equity and compassion, internationalism must now include bundles of environmental

beliefs which, while often rooted in humane concern, are not only focused on humanity.

Those interested in understanding and commenting on Canadian development
assistance policy have for decades pointed to the parochial motivations of federal policy
makers.™ Most have noted that aid istied, that is, that the majority of goods and services
must be procured in Canada. Consequently, many have called for the untying of aid.

° Cranford Pratt, "1, Humane Internaionalism: Its Significance and Its Vaiants', in
Cranford Pratt, ed. Internationalism Under Strain, The North-South Policies of Canada,
the Netherlands, Norway, and Sweden, Toronto: University of Toronto, 1989, 13.

10 Cranford Pratt, 14--15.

1 For examples of this viewpoint from the 1960s see Clyde Sanger, Half a L oaf:
Canada's Semi-Role Among Developing Countries, Toronto: Ryerson Press, 1969 or
Keith Spicer'sA Samaritan State?, Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1966.
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Some progress hasbeen made in that drection, despiteoccasional revarses.*? In
succeeding years, Canadian aid from CIDA has become half tied, half unbound. The
IDRC has been an anomaly, its funds have been untied since its foundation, although
funding to Canadians has increased over time. Y et the parochial impulseis evident in the
files of federal departments and in those of IDRC. What we see then is atug between the
internationalist and the parochial. The author has pursued an historical method, rather
than the testing of atheory or model. Aswe shall demonstrate, so much of the history of
devel opment assistance contains these divergent undercurrents that we have organised
our discussion acoording to this and a second diaecticor polar set. To raterate, our first
dialectic isadiscernible tension in Canadian post-War foreign and development
assistance policy between internationalism and more narrowly conceived notions of

Canadian interest, more harshly, parochialism. (See Figure 1).

12 See Robert Carty and Virginia Smith, Perpetuating Povety: The Palitical Economy
of Canadian Foreign Aid, Toronto: Between The Lines, 1981, 175.
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The second tension, of especial relevance to IDRC, is between atechnical
orientation to development versus a social orientation. We identify the first Presidency of
the Centre, under David Hopper, as broadly atechnical one. The transformation of the
South from societies based on lore and tradition to those based on applied sdentific
rationality to Southern circumstances was seen as the aim of the Centre. This view was
balanced though with asocial concern for equity in the research funded. The presidencies
of Ivan Head and Keith Bezanson are associated with the rise of a more complex and

holistic social orientation.*®

The essential approach of the author is that this subject can be better grasped by
having some understanding of the values that underlay the speech and action of the
founders of Canadian foreign and devel opment assistance policy, and IDRC in particular.
Further, we will seek to track how those values and beliefs have affected the subsequent
elaboration of those policies. From this perspective, values and beliefs serve as the means
by which we see through a glass, darkly—our understanding of the material world is
determined—opportunities are glimpsed and priorities derived. Put another way, these
values and beliefs play a powerful role in filtering or shading motives and attempts at
calculation by actors, individual or organisational, and limit the possible solutions
perceived by actors. The epistemic underpinnings, or prior understandings of the shadows
on the cave wall, as Socrates would have it, permit action be taken or stayed. What we
have then at the more philosophical level is some combination of a phenomenol ogical
approach that notes the importance of perception, cognition, and symbol; and

epistemology, where belief helps order understanding.

The values and bdiefs we are most concerned with have a goodly part of their

origins in cosmopolitan and Canadian values rooted in rdigious and welfarist notions.

13 To some extent, the difficulty of using the word "social" is as problematic as using
the word, "humaneé' to the extent that neither of these ideas are entirdy bound up in
environmental holism.
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We assert that the strong attachment of Lester Pearson and Maurice Strong to Christian
belief and liberal social values had a major impact on the kind of policies they pursued.
Likewise, Barbaa Ward, who was akey actor in thecreation of the Centre, was hersdf
an active lay Catholic and Fabian. A belief in international partnership and equity were
mixed with a belief in the inevitable release by science and technology of social and

political forces to be reckoned with. Such notions were put into practice in the shape of

IDRC by Pearson and the generations succeeding him.

The approach to Canadian foreign and development assistance that wetakeis,
however, far from being unidimensional. Indeed, we have no doubt that a"mixed
motives" viewpoint is correct. Kim Nossal has called this the orthodox view of Canadian
aid, that it isafunction of a"mix of motives'—philanthropic, economic and politico-
strategic. His own search for explanations focuses on the interests of the foreign policy
makers themselves.** We find this approach helpful, but asin other analyses, the notion of
interest insufficient to understand the origins and motivations for devel opment assistance,
and many of the issues that might explain IDRC. Nevertheless, the evidence we have
gathered corroborates Nossal'sbelief that the Canadian state has an institutional interest
in prestige and organizational maintenance. Nossal also "suggests that organizational
inertia, born of organizational interests, is amajor determinant of current tied-aid
policies™" Aswe shall see, these notions serve as useful engines of explanation. Taken

as awhole, the approach taken in the thesis is sceptic and eclectic.

14 Kim Richard Nossal, "Mixed Matives Revisited: Canada's Interest in Devel opment
Assistance”, Canadian Journal of Political Science, XXI:1, (March 1988), 35-56.

5 Nossa, 53.
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Related Literature

Over the decades, academic writing about Canadian development assistance has
been sporadic. In the case of IDRC, scholarly reflection on the Centre has been virtudly
overlooked as a subject of analysis. Articles have rarely been penned about the Centre by
independent or scholarly sources. Analysis has usually been focused on particular
activities and written by either staff, or recipients of Centre grants. No doctoral
dissertation has been produced about IDRC. We can say without fear of contradiction that

this doctoral dissertation will certainly add to the fund of knowledge on the subject.

Two notable artides have been written. In 1975, A.F. Wynne Plumptre wrote
"The International Development Research Centre and the Role of L.B. Pearson” in
Freedom and Change: Essaysin Honour of L ester B. Pearson. Plumptre wrote a key
feasibility study that led to the establishment of the Centre, and was a member of its first

Board. Our research reveal s that Pearson's influence was considerably more extensive
than Plumptre describes. Surprisingly, most of the chapter is about Maurice Strong'srole.
The fact that Maurice Strong had proposed the idea of IDRC to Pearson, and that
subsequently Prime Minister Pearson took the critical step to announce the formation of
IDRC deliberately to "short circuit" bureaucratic resistance is not mentioned.!* No
independent scholarly assessment of the overall policy or origins of the Centre has been

penned since 1982 when Grant Manuge wrote, as part of his B.A. requirements, what

became an article for International Perspectives. It was quite critical and questioned the
course of the Centre at the time. In our dissertation, we have excavated the deeper context

in which the changes Manuge outlined took place.

Two outside researchers have written unpublished works. Both documents are

6 Maurice Strong, Interview by author, 28 August 1987, Ottawa, Tape recording.
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largely descriptions of IDRC policies and projects. In 1974, Melvin Weigel wrote "The
International Development Research Centre: A Study" for an International Public Law
course taught by Paul Gérin-Lajoie & the Université deMontréal. Weigd tried to come to
grips with the essence of the Centrein an eloguent manner. In 1982, Kenneth Elliot wrote
aMaster's thesisin Education at McGill on "Educational Aid and Canada’s International
Development Research Centre". No academic thesishas been writtenthat attempts to

locate IDRC within Canadian foreign and devel opment assistance policies.

A number of documents published or produced by IDRC staff are relevant to the
present study. Shirley Seward's "The Evolution of the International Devel opment
Research Centre" is one such paper. Of writing about the origins of the Centre, it isthe
most comprehensive. For our purposes, its main virtue is the detailing of major parts of
the policy process. Its deficiendes are the absence of many relevant details from the early
part of the process, and lack of analysis. The latter is especially understandable since
Seward was then an employee of the Centre. The Director of IDRC's Communications

Division, David Spurgeon, edited Give Us the Toolsin 1979. The introduction in this text

places the credion of IDRC very wdl within the context of the time. What these
documents could not have done, and did not, was to delve too deeply into the origins of
the Centre, nor enquire into sensitive topics. Seward therefore misses the key role of
Barbara Ward in the creation of the Centre. Spurgeon's text did not delve into the multiple
strikes being made by various central agents at the Centre at the time of the production of
his book.
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Contribution to Knowledge

The contribution of the thesisis to give a more comprehensive view of the Centre,
itsorigins, its course, its context, than has been available hitherto. The dissertation locates
IDRC within the stream of internationalist thinking that emerged after World War 11, and
was personified in Canada by Lester Pearson. We delineate the shifting arguments that
were used to legitimise Canadian devel opment assistance as a whole, and specifically
IDRC. We show how these arguments were based |ess on narrowly-focused Canadian
interest in statecraft, and more on an essential moral vision, beliefs about the necessity of
adapting society to scientific advance, and the importance of global social stability. These
elements were transmuted in the International Devel opment Research Centre. We
conclude that far from being irrelevant because it does not function as a fashioned tool of
state, the Centre and other such enterprises may help serve to anchor the better values that
Canada represents in the uncertain seas of the present era. If we make asignificant
contribution to the discourse on Canadian foreign and development assigance policy it
may be to shift the discussion from one where misdemeanour and interest figure
prominently. To besure, both confliding and complementary interests, primarily
organisational, are shown in relief in our explanation of IDRC and Canadian devel opment
assistance. Nevertheless, we place the evidence of tensions between different ethical
stances at the core of our discourse. Consequently, neither blinkered optimism, nor a

counsel of despair is embedded in this modest offering to the literature.
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Data Collection

The two main sources of data were documents and interviews collected between
1986 and 1995. Documents from seven Canadian federal organisations, not least IDRC,
provided the bulk of the data. The sensitivity of the material necessitated that some
interviews remain anonymous for the security of the source. Over one hundred interviews
were conducted with the present or former staff of IDRC, CIDA or other federal agenaes,
politicians, donors and recipients. Interview information was quoted when corroborating
evidence multiple sources—often in different organisations—indicated that the general
line taken bore credence. Many documents collected, such as Pearson's Prime Minister's
Office (PMO) files, were available in the National Archives.
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Chapter One:

Pearson, Science and Technology, Foreign Policy, and the
Growth of Development Assistance

In this chapter we will very briefly review the growth of Canadian development
assistance, especially Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA), up until the
early 1980s. The aim hereisto lay part of the groundwork for comparison in later
chapters with the focus of the thesis, IDRC. The chapter begins with areview of Lester
Pearson's beliefs about science and development and its effects on politics and society.
Pearson contended that the influence of science on devel opment was bound to distribute
itself unequally, and that effortswere therefore necessary to address those inequalities,
nationally and internationally. Although these notions provided a basis for programmatic
action, they seem to have been built on manse values abroad in the world, which were
common among many in the burgeoning Canadian federal state, especialy in External
Affairs. The second part of the chapter begins with a brief graphical representation of
how development assistance grew during the Pearson government. The chapter then shifts
to review the relationship of development assistance, and CIDA, to External and other
federal departments. We will aso show graphically how foreign affairs and international
assistance ebbed as a government priority in the late 1970s, leading to the Consolidation
Exercise of that time. The first section of the chapter is therefore more a history of ideas
relating to Pearson's understanding of science, development and devel opment assistance,
the second half, areview of what practices those ideas permitted as they were

implemented by the new generations of officials following Pearson.

Pearson was both acreation and creator of histimes. Our focuson himin this
chapter is not simply because Pearson was the first Chair of IDRC, nor simply that he
was Prime Minister when the proposal that became the Centre was first mooted, although
some attention to Pearson would be due him for these reasons. By the time Pearson

became Chairmanin 1970, he was a dying man. One might conclude that the Chair could
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have had but a passing influence on the Centre. But like much of Canada's post-war
foreign and devel opment assistance policy, IDRC can not be understood without
reference to Lester Pearson. Pearson and those a-ound him made IDRC possible because
their world-view and historical circumstances permitted it. What we intend to do below is
flesh out that world-view, those histarical circumstances and the people vital to making it

possible.

Pearson's World-View in the Context of His Times

Of the secular priests in Canada'smandarinate, Pearson had a remarkably
complete Weltanschauung. He had a particular understanding of the technological forces
present in global society and their political effects. Pearson also had an acute global geo-
political sense. To be brief, Pearson argued that theinevitable march of scientific
development would cause inequality. That inequality would undoubtedly cause
instability. Development assistance was a means of bridging that gap, thereby ensuring
global stability. Undergirding this rationale was a belief in moral and security imperatives
to assist the needy, and thereby foster domestic and world order.*”

While Pearson's essential world-view and instincts were extremely stable, aswe
shall see, his preoccupations changed over the decades. In the 1920s and 1930s, Pearson
focused on the waste of WWI and the expected wasteof the one to come. In the late
1930s and early 1940s he became inareasingly concerned with the danger of fascism; in
the 1940s the interdependency of the emerging world order; during the 1950s, the spectre
was communism. By the 1960s, in opposition and as Prime Minister he faced the

daunting challenges of nuclear amihilation, Vietnam, and Quebec nationalism. Finaly, in

7 John English, interview by author, 3 February 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.
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the early 1970s, while many of Pearson's preoccupations endured,*® at the end, the

destruction of Southern® cultural values and the environment loomed in his mind.

In many ways, Pearson was emblematic of a generation of Canadian civil
servants. Like anumber of other mandarins, he was the son of a preacher, and went to
Oxford in the 1910s. Some of his colleaguesin External Affairs, such as E.H. Norman
and Escott Reid had roots in the left. What many of these dfficials had in common was a
deep attachment to welfarist moral values. In the manner of a secular priesthood, they
sought to use the state to address social inequality domestically, and in the case of some,
support development assistance abroad to pursue the same end internationally. The
apparent rationale for remarkably similar programmatic behaviour varied with time,

temperament and background.

Pearson's generation was bound to be influential because they laid the foundations
for what would eventually become Foreign Affairs. In 1924, most of Canada's foreign
policy was still administered by London. In that year there were only three positions in
External Affairs, and one was vacant!®® Pearson entered External during the crucial period
1927-28 together with many of the mandarins that would come to dominate the Canadian
state for the next forty years, among them: Norman Robertson, Hugh Keenleyside, and
Scott MacDonald.*

18 John English, interview by author, 3 February 1994..
9 1n the sense of the less developed nations of the southern hemisphere.

2 Jack Granatstein, The Ottawa Men. Toronto: Oxford University Press, 1982, 37.

2 Granatstein, 41.
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Canute and the Imperative of the Development Gap

According to an authority on the life and work of Pearson, John English, the real
basis for the policy directions that Pearson took in the caurse of hislife cane from his
moral values and beliefs.?? Pearson was born in Newtonbrook, Ontario on 23 April 1897.
Jack Granatstein points out that at that time, "to be born in Ontario of British stock meant
that one inherited a belief in God and the Empire and an obligation to do onés duty to
both without question."# His father and grandfather were Methodist Anglo-Irish
preachers. Both of Pearson's parents singled him out from among the three sons to
become a priest; the family made certain that he had atheological education up to college
level 2* Certainly hisinternationalism, and humanism had deep roots. Geoffrey Pearson
describes his father as a "son of the manse" and a social activist. His internationalism was
obvious in many ways not least hiswillingness to be Honorary President of the World
Federalists, which is dedicated to the idea of world government.?®

His observancesabout the role of scientific develgpment in society were partly
formed by 1934 when he spoke to an Ottawa church group. What was Pearson's view of
the relationship between society, science and development at that time?

Society islopsided and our physical and scientific progress has been infinitely
faster and further than our socid, political, or spiritual advancement.?

22 English, 3 February 1994.
% Granatstein, 75-6.

24 |_.B. Pearson, Memoairs, Volume I, 1897-1948, Toronto: Univerdty of Toronto
Press, 1972, 14.

% Geoffrey A.H. Pearson, interview by author, 9 May 1994, by telephone, notes,
Ottawa.

% |_.B. Pearson, "To a Church Groupin Ottawa," Words and Occasions, 11 April
1934, Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1970, 12.
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A more complete statement of Pearson's view on the effects of scientific progress
on international society was made in 1945 when he became chair of the UN Relief and
Rehabilitation Administration (UNRRA). For Pearson, science and technology were
inevitable; countries that did not try to keep up would do 0 at their peril.

Present-day science confronts us with a categorical imperative. We must reduce
and even eliminate the contemporary lag between science and technology on the
one hand, and our political and socid institutions on the other. We cannot ask
scientific knowledge to conform to our wishful thinking any more than Canute
could ask the wave to recede. Our only alternative to annihilation isto bring out
political and social thinking abreast of the implications of science. . . If welet
scientific progress outrun social order, we are doomed.?’

Pearson's Kantian determinism was not unusual in the First and Second Worlds. Science

was progress, and progress was inevitable and unidirectional.

Pearson's world-view was remarkably stable on this topic. Writing twenty-five
years later, shortly after he was appointed Chair of IDRC in 1970 he wrote,

No country, not even the mightiest, can reverse certain forces of technological or
scientific change and devel opment with their inevitable social and political
consequences, both national and international. Every political society has to adapt
itslife, itsingtitutions, and its political and economic ideas, to these changes or be
thrown into the dustbin of history.?®

2" |ester Pearson, and Mr. Taylor?,"UNRRA: Doorway to Cooperative Nationalism,
Nations Now Working Together Can't Afford to Take Any Backward Step," Pearson and
Mr. Taylor?, Draft of articlefor NY Times, Articles - General 1943-1946, MG 26 N 1,
Volume 18, n.d., approx. October 1945, Public Archives of Canada, 2.

28 |_.B. Pearson, "Second Helen E. Britton Lecture," Delivered at McM aster
University, Hamilton, 12 November 1970, TD, IDRC Library, 13.
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Disorder and Inequality Have the Same Roots

For Pearson, many of the roots of inequality in the world were based on the
varying application of science to society, and the justification for Canadian involvement
in devel oping countries followed on from a particular imperative of getting at the root of
disorder in industrial societies.

We have learned in our national societies, or | hope we have, that residential
suburbs surrounded by ghettos and slumsare intolerableand can only leadto
bitterness and violence. We should learn that lesson for the world before it istoo
late. But we will never learn it if our vision is obscured and distorted by national
egoism and prejudice; if we are exclusively preocaupied with our domestic
problems and interest; if we beggar our neighbours by short-sighted policies
designed to enrich ourselves; in short, if we cling to old and traditional concepts
of national policy, national interests, national sovereignty long after technol ogical
progress has made them almost meaningless. . .

If, as we have learned by now, national sovereignty isno guarantee of security or
even adequate protection for national rightsin aworld of international anarchy,
then there must be devel oped some better method for protecting those rights and
guaranteeing security and progress. For this, international co-operation,
international organization, and collective action is essential »
The imperative for global collective action towards lessening instability and inequality
seems to have grown out of an understanding of the roots of inequality and instability at
home. From the replication of peace, order and good government at home could grow

world order abroad.

David Lumsdaine associates the Pearsonian view with a widespread post-war
moral commitment to the distributive policies of the welfare state.

Notable international advocates of aid-Harry Truman, Harold Wilson, Lester
Pearson, Willi Brandt-were not cold warriors or apologists of international
capitalism but strong partisans of the domestic welfare state and, usually, of a pro-

2| .B. Pearson, "Address by the Right Honourable L.B. Pearson to the Annual
Meeting of Actuaries,” 8 November 19707, TD, IDRC Library, 7.
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peace, cooperative internationalism.*

Pearson's view on scientific development coloured his approach to Canadian
federalism and international relations, and seems remarkably contemporary although
written in 1945. He believed that the scientific transformation of the world had profound
effects on globd patterns of inequality, but also implications for the ndion-state. It is
remarkably similar to the international relations interdependence literature that emerged
twenty-five years later, and hasmany echoes in thelanguage of globdisation whichis
common today.

[ The effect of present-day science on society] means, among other things, that our
concept of national sovereignty needs overhauling. Independence is arightly
cherished possession among nations and individuals alike, but even more
important for the future well-being of civilizations is our steady evolution from
independence to interdependence.

Naturally, nationalism will not be re-incarnated overnight as internationalism. But
surely we can now take the transitory step by developing further what can perhaps
be described as cooperative nationalism. The United Nations must not work
separately, but together, at the worldwide tasks of relief and rehabilitation,
economic reconstruction, and world security .

Pearson later enshrined a Canadian domestic version of his philosophy as cooperative
federalism, the cornerstone of his thinking on relations between English and French

Canada.

%0 David Halloran Lumsdaine, Moral Vision in Intanational Politics: the Foreign Aid
Regime, 1948-1989, Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1993, 42.

31 |_ester Pearson, and Mr. Taylor?,"UNRRA: Doorway to Cooperative Nationalism,
Nations Now Working Together Can't Afford to Take Any Backward Step,” Pearson and
Mr. Taylor?, Draft of articlefor NY Times, Articles - General 1943-1946, MG 26 N 1,
Volume 18, n.d., approx. October 1945, Public Archives of Canada, 2.
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At the international level, Pearson saw international cooperation not as an option,
but an imperative driven by scientifically-based devel opment.
There will be no real peace and no real security for Canada or any other country in
the post-industrial, technological world of the future, if this"gap" between the two
worlds [rich and poor countries] continues to deepen and widen.®
Thus far, we have shown that Pearson believed that technological inequality between rich
and poor nations causes international disorder. The absence of scientifically based
development in the South resulted in poverty. For Pearson, that widening scientific "gap"
had as much explosive significance as any missile "gap". The am of world order and

harmony could not be realised until that gap was bridged.

The Logic of Loss

Another motivation for Pearson's internationalism was rooted in the experience of
many Canadian men at war overseas, and had a certain logic of loss. According to his
family, Pearson's moral stance was formed by his experience in WWI .3 Pearson laid out
that rationale to Americans at Columbia University in 1966,

My own country . . . is as deeply involved in world's affars as any country of its
size. We accept this because we have learned over 50 years that isolation from the
policies that determine war does not give us immunity from the bloody, sacrificial
consequences for their failure. We learned that in 1914 and again in 1939.*

It is somewhat controversial whether very many Canadians did learn this lesson.

%2 |.B. Pearson, "Canadain the Seventies Address by the Right Honourable L.B.
Pearson to the Canadian Club of Ottawa Chateau Laurier, February 4th, 1970," IDRC
Library, 2.

33 John English, 3 February 1994.

3 Foreign Affairs Records, L.B. Pearson, Press Release "Address by the Prime
Minister of Canada, the Right Honourable L.B. Pearson, Appreciation Dinner of the
School of International Affairs, Columbia University, New York, May 11, 1966," TD,
RG 25, 80-81/022, Box 42, 20-CDA-9-Pearson, Pt. 7, Public Archives of Canada, 30.
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Certainly two World Wars did not lead to the evaporation of isolationist tendencies
among the francophone population of Québec. Nevertheless, this crud knowledge of loss
gave Pearson, either confirmation of hisinternationalist and humanitarian instincts, or

perhaps planted their roots.

Post-War Possibilities of Internationalist Approaches to Foreign Policy

After Canada entered WWII, the type of isolationist tendencies which were more
identified with Pearson's mentor, O.D. Skelton, were interpreted in the federal
government as having been proved wrong by events. The general opinion in External
Affairs and the Government shifted towards Pearson's stance on global collective
security. Evidence of thisis seen in an address by MacKenzie King in the House of
Commons (which Pearson quoted in a speech of his own in January 1942).

I quote from a speech of the Prime Minister of Canadain the House of Commons

in Ottawa on 3 November 1941:

"What we have still to learn is that today no nation is sufficient unto itself,
no continent and no hemisphere grea enough, in its own strength, to
maintain its own freedom. A recognition of interdependence and combined
action based thereon is necessary to the democracies of the world, if they
areto maintain their freedom. . ."

If itistrue, and | think it is profoundly true, then those political concepts "self-
determination” and "sovereign rights,” which were the guiding principles of the
last peace, must be modified at the next peace conference in the light of this
interdependence.®

Clearly, the predominance of the Pearsonian viewpoint in the upper reaches of the

Canadian government would serve well in the post-war era when other great powers

% L.B. Pearson, Words and Occasions, "The Road to War," January 1942, 53.

The language is such that the speech may have been written by Pearson himself.
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began to hold to the same opinion.

During the Second World War, Canada had close relations with its more powerful
alies, Britain and America. Canada's closeness to both powers, the strong auxiliary roles
that the country played for both during the war, and a new middle power status gave
Canada an inordinate influence in both courts. In such circumstances the formidable
diplomatic skills of Pearson and his colleagues were put to work. He forced the narrower,
traditional foreign policy concerns, which centre on the optimising of influence and order
in spheres of influence, outward, to encompass the entire globe. As such, the more
modest and conventional idea of "sphere of influence" was extended to world order * The
defeat of the Axis by the Allies, and the immense power of the United States meant that
the creation of such aglobal order seemed less preposterous than previously under the
League of Nations. Preparations for the post-war erawere spurred on with vigour by
Pearson in the direction of aglobal vision internationally embodied in the UN, or more
regionaly in the Atlantic Charter. Plans for the division of the world into spheres of
influence, asin Churchill's well-known division of Europe with Stalin were forced aside

asfar asthelron Curtain.

The weakened condition of many of the former Great Powers in the post-war
period provided aconsiderable opportunity for Canadian officials to add their voice to
discussionsin Britan and France ove the possibilities of internationalism. However, old

habits die hard. Suez was a victory in terms of the creation of peacekeeping, but caused

% Gellman contends that Pearson's approach to foreign policy is an even more radical
diguncture from past practice. We agree that much of the substance was different, but
much of the logic contained, or had to be placed in the halls of power according to the
familiar assumption that "Canadian foreign policy was guided by the conscious
evaluation of interest and power . .. and the international distribution of power."

Peter Stuart Gellman, "Lester B. Pearson, Canadian foreign policy, and the quest for
world order,” Ph.D. diss. University of Virginia, 1987, 1.
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Britain and France to look suspiciously at the UN. Arnold Smith thought,

The analysis put forward in the Foreign Office to support ajaundiced view of the
UN though by no means without substance, seems inadequate and in part
superficial. It also seems coloured to a significant extent by nostalgiafor a
primacy of power and the lost freedom of action which great nations used to enjoy
in aless interdependent and less organized world.*”
Despite the nostalgia for unrestrained sovereign power, the experience of Suez and the
subsequent vote against the UK and France in the UN strengthened moves towards
European Union, but shrivelled inclinations towards multilateral arrangements like the

UN.

Canadian officials soldiered on with their internationalist agenda. In the case of
the Commonwealth, the aim was to convince the British and other white Commonwealth
governments to accept colour-blind viewpoints in international affairs. However, in 1957
the stream began to run in the opposite direction when the British attempted to make an
inner cabinet of white mini-Commonwealth, following criticism of the British at the
United Nations. Arnold Smith, in particular, endeavoured vigorously to re-educate the
white or "Old Commonwealth" to drop radalist viewpoints. Their rationale was that only
with avigourous and complete Commonweal th would the newly independent states be

educated into accepting international norms of conduct.

Smith argued for encouraging developing nations to become part of international
society when the British were souringin their attitude towards the UN. Hepointed out to
the British that,

37 Smith's goals and outlook were generally in tune with Pearson's. Both men led the
Commonwealth nations and others towards an internationalist engagemert.

Foreign Affairs Records, Arnold Smith via Robertson, High Commission - Londonto
Externa, Telex, 18 March 1957, DSO7/111, "Ref My Tel 788, 17 April 1957, Future of
UN", TD, 24 April 1957, RG 25, 86-87/336 Vol. 118, 5475-7-40 pt 1., Public Archives of
Canada, 1.
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It was not the United Nations, for example, which developed the nationalist
movementsin India, Burma, or Ghana. On the contrary, Canadians were inclined
to see in the United Nations the possibility of gradually educating and harnessing
nationalist movements to the responsibilities of interdependencein an
international society.*®
Internationalist perspectives had to be posed in ways which appealed to themes which the
monarchs of the sea and high ministers of the great powers could be warmed to, be they
paternalism or adesire for influence. Other motivations were also evident for

internationalist engagement, such as the moral threat of communism.

Foreign Aid and the Colombo Plan

In the late 1940s, independence in South Asia and liberation movements
elsewhere forced the attention of the West towards the South and the East. The
implantation of liberal democracy and stopping of communism became important
prioritiesin Western capitals. TheMarshall Plan had reinforced liberal democraciesin
Western Europe and was believed to be a model worth replicating. The liquidity starved
British wanted cash to circulate within the boundaries of the collapsing Empire. The
newly independent states of South Asiawere also looking for new injections of dollars.
Those were some of the realpolitik reasons for the creation of the Colombo Plan, which

laid the foundations for Commonwealth foreign aid.

Doug L epan says that the origins of the Colombo Plan were not, primarily, the
result of political calculation. He points out in his memoirs that there was no consensus

going into the meeting that aid was a solution, or even an option to be considered. When

% Foreign Affairs Records, Arnold Smith in "The United Nations, Informal Record of
aMeeting held in the Commonwealth Relations Office on Friday, 26th April, 1957" TD,
24 April 1957, RG 25, 86-87/336 Vol. 118, 5475-7-40 pt 1., Public Archives of Canada,
1
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presented to the Cabinet the Canadian Finance Minister opposed such expenditures; aid
was not seen as a boon to domestic industry, but a waste.* The apparent disinterest of the
United States in the endeavour certainly affected the del egates resolve to commit any
money at all. Certainly, no simple and ruthless logic was applied or sensed.

Our motives were mixed, of course. . . | have not tried to conceal that one of our
preoccupationswas to try to strengthen alarge part of Asiaagainst Communist
expansion . . . But | don't believe that was our principal motive. We also hoped, as
| have laboured to make clear, that the initiative at Colombo would lead to a new
outflow of United States dollars, which at that time were widely considered to be
acurrency in chronically short supply. But . . . | think our principal motives must
befound . .. on groundsthat are usually called "humanitarian”. . . We believed
that, on aradicdly shrunken and shrivelled planet, the peoples of theearth could
not permanently endure, half rich and half poor.*

Y et the Colombo Plan was come to reluctantly, because it was seen as an outflow of

funds by cash short countries.*

The view of some of the Canadian delegation to Colombo regarding the link
between science, development and devel oping countries is apparent in Lepan's conclusion
to the Report on the Commonwealth Consultative Conference on South and South-East

Asiaat Colombo in his memoirs, Bright Glass of Memory.

In an age when other countries are increasingly reaping the advantages of
scientific and industrial advance, the hastening of a similar process in Asia cannot
safely be delayed. . .

% Douglas L epan, Bright Glass of Memory, Toronto: McGraw-Hill Ryerson, 1979,
224,

40 Lepan, 223.

4 The fact that the US was not part of the discussions was seen as making the exercise
ineffective. When the Marshall Plan for Asiawas approved the eye of the delegates was
very much towards getting the Americans involved.

43



In aworld racked by schism and confusion it is doubtful whether free men can
long afford to leave undeveloped and imprisoned in poverty the human resources
of the countries of South and South-East Asiawhich could help so gresatly, not
only to restore the world's prosperity, but also to redress its confusion and enrich
the lives of all men everywhere*?

In seeking to commit Canada to the Colombo Plan, a memorandum was sent by L epan to
Prime Minister St. Laurent via Pearson. It contains Lepan and Pearson's view of the
importance of building peace, rather than containment by means of war. Lepan's

comments on the text follow.

"In many areas of our foreign policy it is necessary to have faith; not afaith which
blinds us to realities and, as in the case of the Colombo Plan, to the staggering
difficulties and political tensions of the area, but, fath to keep on tryingto build
for peace rather than concentrating all our efforts on trying to contain Russia by
force." | quote that here because, better than anything else | know, it suggests how
| was thinking and feeling at the time and also, | believe, how Mr. Pearson was
thinking and feeling as well .*®

For Pearson, communism was not a simple enemy. Revolution had itsroots in poverty.
The solution was to plant other roots, democracy and a modern economy.

It isthe myth of the omnipotence of communism which blinds usto the real
meaning of the revolutionary tides now sweeping through Asia, the Middle East,
Africa, Latin America and, in other forms, through Europe. Aslong aswe
continue to treat these movements as primarily the by-products of the activities of
Kremlin-directed conspiratorial parties, we will never understand them.
Communism cannot subvert the institutions of a country with deeply rooted
democratic traditions and an expanding economy.*

2 _epan, 213.
43 Lepan, 220.

44 L.B. Pearson, "Combatting Communism", Speaking Notes?, TD, n.d., File 801,
International Communism, Part 2, approx. 1951-58, MG 26 N2, Vol. 49 Papers, L eader
of Opposition, Correspondence Series, 1958 - 1963, Public Archives of Canada, n.d., 1.
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Moral Threat of Communism

For Pearson, unegual development and global instability went hand in hand. Until
the late 1950s, Pearson, kindred spirit Harold MacMillan,* and many others saw
communism as an important force to be reckoned with, asamoral aswell as a political
challenge. Communism could only be defeated by fighting it with both material
development and moral values.

The most immediate danger to our way of life is communism - afalse doctrine
and as the spearhead of a brutal imperialism which threatens the exigence of those
countries which are heirs to the traditions of Christendom. There must be no
reserve in our commitment, personal or national, to do our best to remove that
danger. Yet it woud be amistake, | think, to believe tha we can or should

attempt to defeat communism as a doctrine by force. Among other things, itisan
idea, and as an idea it must be resisted by intellectual and spiritual weapons and
also removing the conditions of poverty and misery and injustice in which it
grows.*

Pearson’'s was fundamentally a mord position, based on practical philosophy, wrapped in
instrumentalist language. This dualigm is not particular to Pearson, rathe thisis deeply
embedded in Canadian society.*

5 John English, 17 February 1994.

6 |ester Pearson, Foreword to "The Best Years' St. Patrick's College, Echo Drive,
Ottawa, Approximately January 1952, Pearson Subjed Files Pre-1958 Series, Aid to
Underdevel oped Areas 1945-57, MG 26 N 1, Vol. 18, Public Archives of Canada, 2.

47 Certainly, in part, that moral stance is something to do with the curriculum of
Canadian univergties, especially evident at University of Toronto in Pearson's day. While
Pearson's family came from Ireland, his essential moral instincts were quite Scottish, and
this may have something to do with the influence of Scottish education on Canada, which
Bumsted contends were particularly applicable to understanding the poverty of
developing countries.

Scottish education . . . emphasized the needs of contemporary society . . . The
Scottish education system of education served as a model for colonial systems,
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In the 1950s, the global battle against communism was a moral struggle, and for
Pearson as he briefed PM St. Laurent, aid accomplished a number of diplomatic tasks.

| am sure that you will agree with me that nothing is much more important in the
fight against Communist penetration of Asiathan assistance of the kind we have
been giving under the Colombo Plan and the United Nations scheme. | think that
Canada can play a more important part in the fight against Asian Communism by
assistance of this kind than by joining organizations like SEATO. Also, increased
assistance in this field would be a convincing answer to those who argue that we
are not interested in Pacific or Asian affairs because of our reluctance to become
associated with regional defence associationsin that area.*®

including those of the various provinces of Canada. To some extent this transfer
followed from the number of Scotsinvolved in education, but to a greater degree
it was because of Scottish educational philosophy—Dbased as it
was on talent and utility rather than class or tradition—was ideally suited to the needs of
developing countries.

J.M. Bumsted, "The Scots in Canada," Canada's Ethnic Groups Series, Booklet No. 1,
Canadian Historical Association and Multiculturalism Program, Canada, Saint John,
N.B.: Keystone Printing & Lithographing, 1982, 5.

Social studiesin Canadian universities has always stood on instrumentalism of writers
like Bentham and L ocke which served as the basis for the expansion of administrative
forms of discourse in British colonies, and the second, Scottish practical moral
philosophy.

Prior to the Pearsonian vision, the practical instrumentalism of Bentham and
Locke held sway. That instrumentalism within the context of Canadian foreign policy
was instrumental but not could never be narrowly parochial. Canadian foreign policy
since the French Régime has alwaysbeen somewhat renoved from Canadian domestic
interests. Alliance with others outside has always been an obligatory part of Canadian
political practice. Canadians have always been grafted to great empires. And Canadian
diplomats have always made use of temporary agreements with different countries on
different issues For the longest part of its history as an independent nation English
Canadians have atached themselves to the idea of Empire and Commonwedth. In this
respect, Pearsonian internationdism was simply an expansion of the multilateralism
implicit in Empire and more broadly Commonwealth.

48 . B. Pearson, DEA, Memorandum to Prime Minister, Ottawa, "Contributions to the
Colombo Plan and to the United Nations Expanded Programme of Technical Assistance,
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Pearson argued that development assistance was a more effective alternative to military
aid. In reading Pearson's writing of 1960, six years later, one gets the impression that
world order depends on the applicaion of development and democracy for success.
Technical assistance, engineers, lawyers are part of aframework of rules which should
lead new nations to accept roles as willing partnersin a peaceful world order. Scientific
devel opment seems to have been considered as important for world order as the creation
of aUN police force.”® For Pearson, this institutional apparatus should favour the

fostering of pro-Western governments.

Inclusionary Diplomacy

Pearson's approach to internationd diplomacy was always one which attempted to
include other voices in discussions, despite his strong opposition to communism. Pearson
and Escott Reid's unhappiness at the lack of enthusiasm by the USSR for the United
Nations was deep, but the desire to bring all to the tablewas never stilled. According to
Granatstein, Reid's views, which largely paralleled Pearson's werethat,

The West must be clear about the moral nature of that split—Christian
individualism versus the totalitarian heresy, and wage awar for men's minds. "In
order to be successful,’ he [Reid] said, "the faith of the Western world must show
itself in good works—a commitment to social justice, decolonization, and a
genuine world government. That meant reconciliation of East and West that
would enable the General Assembly to become atrue world legislature and the
International Court of Justice atrue judicial body.*

Original signed by Ibp/Im, TMOS, 9 September 1954, MG 26 N 1, Vol. 18, Pearson -
Subject Files Pre-1958 Series, Aid to Underdevel oped Areas 1945-57,
Public Archives of Canada, 2.

L.B. Pearson, "Rule of Law," "World Order”, Draft, TD, 8 September 1960, later section
dated 22 September 1960, MG 26 N 2 Vol. 97, Leader of the Opposition Correspondence
Series 1958 - 1963, Public Archives of Canada. 5.

%0 Granatstein, 248.
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While committed to defeat communism, Pearson did not want to put a cordon sanitaire
around the other camp. He explicitly rejected this approach when Prime Minister.

Nous avons un double choix. L'un consiste & avoir recours a un ostracisme et aun
isolement diplomatiques et économiques envers les Etats situés derriére le rideau
defer. Le Canada, il vade soi, rgette cette solution. L'autre, le seul qui soit
raisonnable, aux yeux de Canada, consiste a entretenir des contacts aussi
rapprochés que possible avec les chefs du bloc soviétique en vue de chercher pour
les exploiter des ouvertures propices aux négociations sur les questions
d'importance majeure entre I'Est et I'Ouest.[sic] !

Pearson redoubled his efforts to increase global diplomatic contacts between the
US and USSR, in particular, and with developing countries after 1960. Pearson struggled
to have representatives from socialist and devel oping countries become part of the
Conference on World Tensions, a high-powered conference of statesmen and academics,
dominated by American voices> Pearson said in the journal of the 1960 Conference on
World Tensions of which he was chair,

Would it not be desirable to hold a similar Conference with representation from
Communist, uncommitted, and Western democratic countries in roughly equal
proportions? We would then get a different and a broader perspective especially
if it were held, asit should be in an Asian or African country.>®

51 L.B. Pearson, 'Allocution du Premier Ministre a L'Assodation de la Presse
Diplomatique,” 17 January 1964, RG 25, 80-81/022, Box 42, 20-CDA-9-Pearson, Pt. 4,
Foreign Affairs Records, Public Archives of Canada, 16.

°2 Pearson's interest in developing countries was renewed while in opposition when he
attended conferences at Oxford and elsewhere. There he met Nkrumah, Kaunda and
others. He was highly impressed by these leaders of soon to be independent states. L ater,
Pearson's interest in the South was strengthened by: the presence of his son, Geoffrey, in
the Canadian Embassy in Mexico City, and then at the High Commission in India; the
involvement of his friends Escott Reid, aso in Indiaand Hugh Keenleyside's UN
activities; and his intoxicating friendship with Lady Barbara Ward Jackson.

John English, 17 February 1994.

%3 Lester B. Pearson, "Report of the Chairman, Brotherhood; the journal of World
Brotherhood and the Council on World Tensions, 3rd and 4th Quarters 1960. New Y ork:
Conference on World Tensions Held at the University of Chicago, 1960 in MG 26 N 5
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Although the conference in Chicago in May 1960 had a distinctly American twang, the
next conference took place in Kuala Lumpur and included representatives from
developing countries. However, Pearson's wish to indude participants from communist
countries was not granted, a pattern that was to repeat itself in the case of the selection of

members of the Board of Governors of IDRC a decade later.

When Pearson became Prime Minister he continued to carry the message of
including communistsin discussions overseas. His view was reflected in documents
prepared for him for foreign trips, including trips to Washington. The inclusion of
Communist states was justified on the same grounds that Arnold Smith used with regard
to the New Commonwealth, the "civilising mission,”

It issurely in our interests to encourage the Communist nations to develop
contacts and to get used to working more closely with us, to learn the habits and
rules of co-operation which are those of the community of nations to which the
U.S.S.R. hopes to gain respectable access.

However, as before, and would happen again later, Pearson's exertions to forge Western
ties with representatives of Communist countries came to nought. He was more

successful in creating aFirst World-Third World dialogue.

Vol. 28, World Tensions Book, (Drafts) Vol. 2, May 1960 - March 1964, Public Archives
of Canada, 9.

% L.B. Pearson, "Prime Minister's Visit to Washington, January 21-22 1964, "The
Soviet Union and the West," TD, 9 January 1964, Ottawa, RG 25, 80-81/022, Box 42, 20-
CDA-9-PEARSON, Pt. 3, Public Archives of Canada, 8.
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Pearson's Last Decade — Partnership, Environment, Development and Retaining
Cultural Values

In the last decade of hislife, Pearson added three elements to his thinking as
regards developing countries, partnership, environmental concerns and the loss of cultural
values. From his timein Chicago as a young man, and later as Ambassador to
Washington, Pearson feared the melting of Canadian values in the face of increasing
contact with the USA.*® In hislast years, perhaps partly influenced by his experience on
the Pearson Commission,* and on the Board of IDRC, he returned to this kind of concern
as well as with the environment, but in the context of deveoping countries.

While so much of our co-operation for development is necessarily designed to
help the poorer, developing countries enter the modern technological and
scientific age, and while they have aright to share in the benefits of progress that
has been made, we must also assist them to secure these benefits while avoiding
the threats to their own tested values and traditions; to their own environment and
culture, from unoontrolled technological progress.’

Pearson's belief that devel oping countries should not be subject to, but partnersin,
development assistance activities went back at least to 1960.

The spirit in which help is offered and given is asimportant as the help itself.
There should be afeeling of participation and achieving on the part of the
receiving nation, which can not be expected to be grateful for crumbs or even a
loaf from the rich man'stable.

This may require taking certain risks, sacrificing certain efficiency, and sharing
control and direction of the operation. It will beworth it. . . Thisisthe way
international aid programs should be administered. The maximum responsibility

% English, 17 February 1994.
%6 English, 17 February 1994.

5" L.B. Pearson, " A Public Lecture by the Right Honourable L.B. Pearson on the
Occasion of the Presentation to Him of the Victor Gollancz Humanity Award at St.
Martin in the Fields," 13 June 1972, London, UK, IDRC Library, 18.
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should be placed in the hands of the receiving country.*®

It is perhaps not surprising that the Pearson Commission's report of nearly a decade later

was entitled Partnersin Development.

%8 |ester Pearson, "Economic Tensions between Rich and Poor Nations," TD, Typed
draft LBP:AP 25 August 1960, n.d, May 1960 -March 1964 (unpublished), MG 26 N 5,
Vol. 28, World Tensions Book, (Drafts) Vol. 2, Public Archives of Canada, 17-18.

John Holmes, then a the Canadian Inditute for International Affairs(CIIA) appearsto
have ghost written some of the drafts for this unpublished text.
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Patterns of Practice and Perception in Canadian Development Assistance

Pearson's actual performance as Prime Minister with respect to development
assistance mirrored his uttered concern. Although the Progressive Conservatives created
the External Aid Office (EAO) in 1960, the aid budget stagnated and dropped during their
government. In contrast, Pearson as Prime Minister greatly expanded the size of
devel opment assistance disbursements. Total allocations, which reflect levels of
Parliamentary appropriations of funds as amended by Cabinet, grew from $65.3 million
in the allocations for 1964 to $253.2 million in 1968 (see Figure 2).>°

Despite the fact that Pearson was under strong presaure in 1967 to cut foreign aid

%9 Statistics Canada, Public Finance Historical Data 1965/66-1991/92, Ottawa:
Statistics Canada, 1992, 4-5; Robert Carty, and Virginia Smith, Perpetuating Poverty:
The Political Economy of Canadian Foreign Aid, Toronto: Between The Lines, 1981, 29.
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in order to finance Medicare, aid allocations for that year exceeded the agual total
expenditures for both foreign policy and development assistance combined, (which at that
time meant principally External Affairs and EAQO). Although the curve of expenditure for
foreign affairs and development assistance follows the total federal expenditure from
1968 to 1970, the sharp risein 1966 meant that allocations had leapt above the federal
average, even if the rate of increase was comparable. The chart shows that Pearson was
consequent in his commitment to funding development assistance. Because the time lag
between funding decisions and expendituresis over ayear, Pearson set the pace for Pierre
Trudeau. By 1970 allocations approached four times the 1964 figure. Although Trudeau
refused to commit himself to holding to spending targets in order to reach the goal of
0.7% of GNP, alocations rose at 15-20% ayear in the late 1960s and most of the 1970s.%°
Rises continued, if erratically and less quickly than the general growth rate of
expenditures, despite the limited absorptive capacity of CIDA to disburse, and domestic

pressures.

A New Generation of Officials

The massive increase in funding permitted the devel opment of a new sub-culture
in the federal government, the developmentalist. About thistime, a new generation of top
civil servants who were to lead them began to emerge to take the reins from the fading
mandarins. To some extent, they resembled a new stratum appearing across the world. In

certain respects they resembled what Burnham described in The Managerial Revolution.

They were less generalists than the preceding generation, more disciplinary and
technically-minded. In Canada as el sewhere, the next generation were part of the post-war

wave of economists, managers and lawyers. They were adherents to systems approaches

€ Pegyton V. Lyon and Tareq Ismael, Canada and the Third World, Toronto:
Macmillan, 1976, xvi.
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to problems, effectiveness, and had a belief in science and its works®*

The new generation of foreign and development assistance officials included
economists like Marcel Massé, Gordon Osbaldeston, and Michel Dupuy, and lawyers like
Paul Gérin-Lajoie and Allan Gotlieb. Massé, Gérin-Lajoie, and Gotlieb were Rhodes
Scholars. Like the mandarins, the majority had received university degreesin Europe,
notably Oxford. But they were much more likely to be French Canadians and more

secular than the generation they succeeded.

Their outlook accepted the main tenet of the Pearsonian vision, in the sense of
having an internationalist perspective. But those in charge of implementing the
Pearsonian vision were less homogeneous in their views as to what foreign policy and
development assistance meant. They were not certain whether development assistance
was simply a subset of foreign policy, usualy interpreted to imply parochia concerns, or
rooted in a humanitarian outlook. Ther common focus was on economic devd opment,
Canadian and international, and less diplomacy. The new generation concentrated more

on supporting Canadian unity via assistance directed towards Francophone countries.

In October 1966, Maurice Strong, the former President of Power Corporation,
became Director General of EAQ.%? Strong's business background gave him power in the
land. The fact that the Minister for External Affairs, Paul Martin Sr.%, had recruited
Strong and given him the mandate to change the shape of Canada's aid effort made Strong

powerful in Liberal and official circles.

¢ John English, interview by author, 3 February 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.

62 1n 1968 under Strong's leadership, the EAO became CIDA and he becameits
President.

& A.F.W. Plumptre in Michael G. Fry, ed., Freedom and Change, Toronto: McLelland
and Stewart, 1975, 153.
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Strong was not atypical businessman. Strong was bornintiny Oak Lake,
Manitoba. In common with many of the older mandarins, his background was shaped by
moral values absorbed in his youth. Apparently, his outlook on the world waspowerfully
shaped by his encounters with missionaries in Sunday School. Strong was later involved
with lay preaching. He was briefly employed for several months by the Hudson's Bay
Company, working closely with Canadian Inuit. In 1947, whilein his late teens he
worked at the UN. In 1952 and 1953, hetravelled the word (including one year in East
Africa), and during this period participated in the international wing of the Y oung Men's
Christian Association (YMCA).%

Upon returning to Canada, Strong had no intention of reasserting himself in the
business world; rather his desire was to become involved in devel opment.
Accordingly, he presented himself at the External Aid Office, but, ironically, was
turned away dueto his lack of academic qualifications. Undaunted, he decided to
return to business, using his success as a platform for eventua eligibility to enter
the development field.%
In short, Maurice Strong may have become a businessman but his beliefs forced him
outward towards international humanitarian activities. Thisis not to say that he ignored
the role of business in development assistance. While he sought to include Non-
Governmental Organisations (NGOs) like the YMCA, healso involved companies.
Nevertheless, anumber of factors conspired so that neither Strong, nor what would
become CIDA, would be easily accommodated among the rest of the Federal

Government.

Strong was strong by name and by nature. Among the gentlefolk of the civil
service this would have made relations difficult alone. A sense of Strong's difficulties

with External Affairs and the other parts of government are captured in the following

6 Shirley Seward, "The Evolution of the International Development Research Centre -
An Interpretation by Shirley Seward,"” IDRC Library, 1975, 20.

% Seward, 21.
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quote,

I do not wish to discuss the President [ Strong] except to point out that he
dominates the Agency and that with his background he does not fully appreciate
or understand the reasons for some of the ritualistic procedures for inter-
departmental behaviour.®®

In business there is much more room for manoeuvre is presumed for managers. Strong
brought those expectations to government. Soon after his arrival at EAO, like business
people before and after him, he came to the conclusion that the part of government under
his authority should be removed as much as possible from bureaucratic influence, perhaps
made a Crown corporation. However, he found that doing so would bring him away from
committees of influence, arenas which he did not want to give up.®” Secondly, corporate
influences were not sanguine about such a possibility.® He abandoned the idea of making

CIDA independert, but the idea re-emerged in the form of IDRC.

The different character of the burgeoning development assistance program and its
relationship to the rest of the federal government caused great difficulty for Strong and
his successors. The humanitarian beliefs of Strong and Pearson werereplicated most
powerfully in CIDA in the late 1960s. There was too a belief in External Affairs and
central agencies that the American experiment in creating quasi-independent government
agencies was very much amixed blessing.® Many officialsin Externa and in other
departments thought that CIDA had two main deficiencies. 1) officers there did not know

what foreign policy was, (of which development assistance was considered a subset, and

% Foreign Affairs Records, E.A.H. Smith, Aid and Development Division, to Under-
Secretary, "Co-operation with CIDA", TMS, 7 March 1969, RG 25, Acc. 90-91/002, Val.
1, 1-1-14 A.0235, Public Archives of Canada, 1.

®7 Lewis Perinbam, interview by author, 22 September 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
% Tim Plumptre, interview by author, 20 January 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.
% Jon Church, interview by author, 15 December 1993, tape recording, Ottawa.
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2) it was too autonomous.

The tension between narrow self-interest and humanitarian considerations has
long been noted in foreign policy analysis. Canadian foreign, and, in particular,
development assistance policy, is no exception. We have seen above how Pearson created
the groundwork for development assistance in Canada in the 1960s by pushing outward
the traditional "sphere of influence” view of foreign policy, making the entire world a
matter of proper attention for all. We have looked alittle at the "Housethat Lester built"”,
with especial emphasis on scientific development. Below we will see how development
assistance evolved from the 1960s to the 1980s to see if we can discern any emerging
patterns which may be of relevance to IDRC. In particular, we will examine: @) theinitial
manner in which aid was set up in the 1960s, b) how different arms of government related
to one another during this period and beyond and, ¢) how officialsin External Affairsand

other central agencies intermittently sought to centralise foreign policy.

Our general conclusion isthat different historical circumstances conspireto aid or
foil the centralising tendencies of bureaucracies which seem to be inherent to large
organisations.” In the context of Canadian development assistance during the 1960s to
1980s, these centralising tendendes have been able to emerge when the economy is
perceived as weakening, but they do not determine thetiming of such moves Yetin
periods of economic downturn, statist tendencies have often been allied to parochial

concerns.

The chief instrument of foreign policy isthe Department of Foreign Affairs. As

such, the culture of that organisation and relation to central agencies has been vital to the

"0 For abrief discussion of Weber's means for limiting thetendency to accumulate
power see,

Martin Albrow, Bureaucracy, London: Pall Mall Press, 1970, 47-48.
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definition of the practice of foreign policy. Consequently, decisions about whether a
given policy isto be parochial or internationalist are powerfully influenced by Foreign
Affairs. Over decades, different initiatives have been taken to pamit Foreign Affarsto
direct different facets of foreign policy. Official Development Assistance (ODA) has been
alarge part of: @) the funding nominally coming under Foreign Affairs, and b) concerns
notionally part of foreign policy. Therefore, over decades ODA has been seen in the
Department as within its province, even if diplomacy, and, since the absorption of the
Trade Commissioner Service into Foreign in 1981, trade, have come to be seen as of

greater import.

External Affairs and the Utility of Aid

Despite the predominance of the Pearsonian vision assuch, at the Cabind table
and in the boardrooms of the central agencies, aid had always to be justified in terms of
mutua benefit. The key 1960 memorandum that served as the basic argument for much
subsequent development assistance, (under the Conservative government of Diefenbaker)
argued for development assistance in these terms. While Pearson remained the respected
leader of Canadian foreign policy, even in opposition in the late 1950s, the humanitarian
aspects of hisviews seem to have been less prevalert in External Affars. The 15 August
1960 Cabinet Memorandum establishing the External Aid Office prescribed that "these
programmes are an integral part of Canada's foreign policy and . . . reflect and to an
important degree are moulded by the nature of the relationship between Canada and the

recipient country."”* Aid was seen as subordinate to Canadian parochial interests, and

> Cabinet Memorandum establishing the External Aid Office, 15 August 1960, in
Foreign Affairs Records, Aubrey Morantz, ECD to Maone, A. PDMI, "Director
General's Meeting January 17 1974 on relations with CIDA," TD, 16 January 1974,
"Working Paper,” RG 25, 89-90/030, Box 8, Volume 1, 12-3-CIDA, Integration of the
Government Extemal Operations - Hanning - Coordinaing and Integrating Services -
Canadian International Development Agency, Foreign Affairs, 1.
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international relations. We must remember that this document was written during a
Conservative government, but the Memorandum was returned to again and again by
External Affairs officers, especially during times of restraint, as proving the contingent
nature of development assistance. For example, in 1974, six years after the creation of
CIDA, the working paper for an important meeting of External’s Directors-General
suggested that the 1960 Memorandum beused to persuadethe leadership of CIDA of its
functional place as a subset of foreign policy.

An effort should be made in high levd bilateral discussions with CIDA to win
recognition of the principle that aid is part of foreign policy and must be
coordinated like al other government within aforeign policy framework."

One of the main utilities of aid from the point of view of External was the gaining
of political benefits. So formalised was thisin minds of External Affairs officials that by
1967 Doug Kirkwood, Director of the Economic Relations Division of External Affairs
wrote to then Under-Secretary, Marcel Cadieux,

The essentia stepsin any aid programme are the alocation of funds, the
identification of any suitable projects, the negotiation of appropriately detailed
project agreements, the supervision of administration of the execution of the
projects and findly (of great importance from the paint of view of this
Department) the exploitation of the political benefits which can be derived.”

Y et we should not view External Affairs as a monolith. Within the External Affairs of the
1950s and 1960s, opinion was by no means united as to the desirability or capacity of

Canadiansto use aid for gaining political objectives and export promotion. Devel opment

2 Foreign Affairs Records, " Summary Record of the Directors General Meeting of
January 17," TM, 30 January 1974, RG 25, 89-90/030, Box 8, Volume 1, 12-3-CIDA,
Integration of the Government External Operations - Planning - Coordinating and
Integrating Services - Canadian International Development Agency, Public Archives of
Canada, 1.

3 Foreign Affairs Records, D.H.W. Kirkwood, Economic Division, to Under
Secretary, "Canada's Foreign Policy Towards Africa’, TLS, 28 December 1967, "Aid to
Francophone Africa - Prospects, Problems, Priorities and Personnel,” RG 25Val.
80/81/022 Box 1, File 20-1-2-AFR pt. 1, Public Archives of Canada, 1.
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assistance was dways the result of a mix of motives.

The motives for development assistance were very unclear, even at the top. At the
apex of discussions, the Interdepartmental Committee for External Relations Secretariat
prepared a paper on the integration of the foreign servicein 1971, and reviewed the
motivations for foreign aid. The display of uncertainty, perhaps even of the Deputy
Ministers themselves may be guessed at from the following whose writer mused,

The Aid Programme

Here the problem is defining the objective. Isit the economic development of
LDC'sinfluence over local political situations in the developing world?
Assistance to Canadian exporters? Satisfaction of a Canadian desire to do good
abroad - of a sort of secularized missionary instinct? All these things seem to be
involved one way or another.™

Among the External Affairs officers that disbursed development assistance, other than
EAO, lessinstrumental views of aid were common. D.R. Taylor,” head of Economic
Division Il at External in 1960 wrote to Ed Ritchie,

| would agree, provided this country had the financial resources and the
government were willing, that Canada and the West generally would profit from
well run programmes aimed primarily at political objectives and from effective
trade promotion in certain parts of the world. But it is a serious mistake to mix
either one or both of these with technical assistancethat is directed & economic
development.

It would be silly for us to expect Canadian expertsto fulfil apolitical mission. In
my view Canadians generally simply are not fitted through education, upbringing
or socia and political environment to spread a political gospel. If they were,
except in unusual cases, they would probably be useless as technical experts. . .

It should be remembered also that programmes of technical assistance that have a
political motive can easily backfire—and often do. The Americans have brought

" Foreign Affairs Records, "Draft: Integration,” |CER Secretariat, TD, 22 July 1971,
RG 25, 89-90/030, Box 1, 12-001 Part 1, Public Archives of Canada, 15-16.

» D.R. Taylor was laer a Professor a& Carleton and wrate in support of IDRC.
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on themselves untold grief in many places because they are suspected of having a

political motive. Cubais not a bad example. For the USSR the withdrawal of

UAR students by Nasser also illustrates the point.”
The idea that devel opment assistance, especially technical assistance, was somehow
different from foreign policy, and should be seen assuch, was strongest among those
most concerned with aid activities. This view fit well within the more technocratic views
of the new generation. Nevertheless, most arguments to provide development assistance
usually had to be put according to thebelief that devd opment assistancewas properly
subordinate to traditional foreign policy concerns. The following isatypical plea,

If Canada and other members of the Commonwealth are to influence the course of
eventsin Africain adirection favourable to our interests and those of the non-
communist world generally, we should consider without further delay what we
can do to assist theemergent African countries to meke orderly progressin
economic develgpment.”’

The assumption behind this pleais that development assistance will create a pro-Western
and stable order, much as Pearson did himself.” Canada was to play the role of an

auxiliary or refined tactician following the logic of the middle power.

Another example of early but enduring views of external aid within External
Affairs can be gleaned from the Ambassador to Belgium in 1960.

Congo because of its geographical position, its large population, plentiful
resources and comparatively high level of economic development has a chance of

®D.R. Taylor, Economic Division I1, to Ritchie, A.E. "Bruce Williams Memo of June
8, 1960, A Propaganda Approach to Technical Assistance,” 19 August 1960, RG 25,
199091/001, Box 388, 14020-C14-3-40 pt. 3, Public Archives of Canada, 1-2.

" Foreign Affairs Records, A.S. McGill, Economic Il Division, External Affairs,
"Draft, Aid to Africa South of the Sahara', TD, RG 25, Vol. 226, 14020-C14-1-40, Part
1, Public Archives of Canada, 18 March 1960, 1.

8 As pioneers of anindigenous rationd scientific order in developing countries, IDRC
and other technical assistance funding organizations could be seen as fostering "orderly
progress in economic development.”
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becoming one of the most important countriesin Africa, potentially more
important politically, economically and in terms of trade than Ghana, Guinea and
most of French Africa. Apart from other considerations it looks from here like
good politics and good business to give them at |east some token assistance soon
after independence.”

Distinct from the previous quotation, aid is distinctly parochial, for political advantage

and domestic business.

To some extent, Pearson fought an uphill battle for the supremacy of hisvision,
even after becoming PM. His announcement in 1967 that Canadian devel opment
assistance should reach the UN target of one per cent of GNP was not accomplished
without the considerabl e reluctance of senior officials. The committee of senior officials
brought together to consider the announcement pointed out that the 14 November 1963
decision for foreign aid to reach levels equivalent to other donors was "subject to
economic circumstances." They proposed to announce the one per cent aid target subject
to Canadian economic conditions and the level and quality of aid provided by other donor
countries."® At the time, the level and quality of other states, particularly America, was
dropping, which was exactly what Pearson sought consistently during the last decade of

hislifeto reverse.

" Foreign Affairs Records, Pierce, Brussels, Telex to External, "Ref your TEL EA416
19 May 1960, Technical Assistance for Congo," RG 25, Vol. 226, 14020-C14-1-40, Part
1, TD, 25 May 1960, Public Archives of Canada, 1.

8 CIDA Records, "Memo to Cabinet, Proposal for Announcing a Foreign Aid Target",
TM, 27 January 1966, RG 74, 80-81/102, Box 5, File 2-16, Pt. 1, Ad Hoc Senior
Committee on External Aid, Public Archives of Canada, 1.
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Marcel Cadieux and the Primacy of Foreign Policy

Just as Strong beliefs were fervently Christian, so were Marcel Cadieux's, the
Under-Secretary of State for External Affairs. Strong was a member of the United
Church. Cadieux was profoundly Catholic, committed to diplomacy as a calling, and
believed in federalism 8! Both Cadieux and Pearson thought that for moral and practical
political reasons External Affairs should be less dominated by English Canadians, and
should reach out to francophones within Canada and in the rest of the Francophonie?
Cadieux was concerned that with the increasing budgets of EAO, the general growth of
other federal and provincia agencies whose tendrils were beginning to extend oversess,
Canadian foreign policy was fracturing and ceasing to lose its coherence® One might
guess that the expansion of External Aid must have been particularly worrying to
Cadieux because athough development assistance arms were retained within External
Affairs proper for some time, the bulk of funding went to EAO. Consequently, Cadieux's

principal foreign policy tool regarding the Francophonie, and to some extent for

8 English, 17 February 1994.

82 Some sense of this pdicy can be seenin this quotation from a Memorandum to
Cabinet during the Pearson government, which followed the Chevrier mission that
established aid policy as regards the francophonie.

It isthe Government's policy to increase significantly and quickly Canada's
assistance to Francophone Africa. This policy is areflection of Canada's bilingual
and bicultural character; in addition, it aims, and here the matter is a pressing one,
at dissuading the francophone states of Africafrom dealing directly with the
Province of Quebec which is making continued attempts to establish itsrights to
conduct foreign relations independently of the Federal Government, particularly
in the field of education.

CIDA Records, "19 Sept 1968," "Memo to Cabinet,” "Financing the Local Costs of Aid
Projectsin Francophone Africa approved by the Chevrier Mission,” MS, 8 September
1967, RG 74, Acc. 80-81/102, Val. 4, File, 2-12, pt. 4, Public Archives of Canada, 2.

8 John English, 17 February 1994.
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recruitment of French Canadians within the Department of External Affairs, wasin EAO,

and therefore in practical terms outside his orbit.

For Cadieux and other External Affairs officers, those in development assistance
did not understand foreign policy, nor the proper role of government. The battle between
competing visions of development assistance was laid out during a meeting of the
External Aid Board® The two protagonists were Cadieux and Strong themselves.

[Strong] believed that the "raison-d'étre" of the External Aid Office as a separate
entity within the Government was the recognition that international development
assistance (for which the term "aid" will be used hereafter), was a function
separate from, but closely related to, foreign policy, trade policy, finance and
other elements of overall government policy and administration. . . . It may be
defined as the science (or art) of applying external resources to the induction of
economic and sodal development inlesser developed countries®

Strong's focus was on the development of developing countries, aid was not a mere subset
of other more domestic concerns. For Cadieux, the oppasite was true, "Mr. Cadieux said
that it must be borne in mind that aid was an aspect of foreign policy." During the
meeting, Strong emphasised that although they were rdated, they had "separate
functional areas within the government. . . . [Strong said] it should be recognized that
normally aid considerations would be the principal factor governing decisions on matters
involving expenditure of aid funds."® Strong thereby argued that in the final analysis his
own bureaucrdic authority was the source of hisindependence. Cadieux and many of his
successors were ever more keen to take opportunities to domesticate, in every sense,

development assigance. With the departure of Maurice Strong from what had become

8 The Committee included high-level representatives of the principal departments
concerned with development assistance. It was chaired at the time by Maurice Strong.

& CIDA Records, "Record of Externd Aid Board Meeting," TD, 8 February 1967, RG
74, Acc. 80-81/102, Volume 2, File, 2-12, pt.2, EAO Board Correspondence Public
Archives of Canada, 2.

8 "Record of External Aid Board Meeting," 3.
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CIDA, External sought to convince Agency officials of the necessity of subsuming
development assistance more decisively within Canadian domestic concerns. As Under-
Secretary of State for External Affairs, Ed Ritchie wrote to the new President of CIDA,
Paul Gérin-Lgjoie,

Within the scenarios we have been creating, the developing world during the
1970'sis not likely to have a great economic impact on Canada. It has, however,
seemed to us that with aview to longer term objectives we should be building up
economic relations with some of them for purposes of diversification and
mutually beneficial trade. Additionally, the political influence of the developing
world is not to be discounted and the weight of certain countries may again serve
to help Canadato gan its broader objectives.®

D.R. Taylor's response to Ritchie's memorandum of 1960 appear to show Ritchie was
domestically oriented in nature. Ritchie's views do not seem to have changed in the
interceding years. The Under-Secretary very clearly aimed to convince Gérin-Lgjoie of
the pre-eminence of domestic business or political interestsin the use of "resources
available." The Under-Secretary sought to show that the devel oping world was
peripheral, in every sense, to Canadian foreign policy, but if it should be relevant, then
the encouragement of trade should be the primary aim.

While humanitarian motivations have certainly always been important in
determining the pattern and character of the Canadian aid programme, and should,
in my view, continue to be so, it seems to me we shall in coming years need to be
increasingly careful that resources available under the aid programme also support
other national interests as they have been or may be identified. Thiswill be
particularly rdevant to the way we allocate our ad geographically and also in
many instances to the types of programmes we undertake in recipient countries.t®

Ritchie appears to have been concerned that humanitarian motivations had played too

8 Foreign Affairs Records, A.E. Ritchie, to Paul Gérin-Lajoie, "Geographic Allocation
of Aid Funds," TLS, 19 September 1972, RG 25, 89-90/030, Box 8, Volume 1, 12-3-
CIDA, Integration of the Government External Operations - Planning - Coordinating and
Integrating Services - Canadian International Development Agency, Public Archives of
Canada, 2.

8 A E. Ritchie, 2.
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much arolein that he exhorted the new President of CIDA to be "increasngly careful”

that aid "also support other national interests.”

While External Affairs officers believed that their values were predicated on the
calculation of national interest, many of CIDA's officers values were believed to have a
different basis. In 1969, E.A.H. Smith outlined External's officers belief's and those of its
Under-Secretary of State relative to those of CIDA when he wrote that,

Our philosophic approach towards aid is not identical with that of CIDA. You
outlined this aspect in your address to the Montebello Seminar last September.
We naturally see aid as one element in the totality of our relationship with a
country and as means of pursuing naional objectives. It is a healthy influence to
have CIDA stressthe altruistic nature of aid and to be arestraining hand on those
who might want to distort the Canadian programme for unrealistic political or
commercial ends Nevertheless there is afundamental difference of approach with
which we shall need to learn to live.®

Not only was there a clear difference perceived between the culture of CIDA and
External, but CIDA was seen as having different approaches from the rest of government.
Asone officer of External, S.G. Harriswrote in 1972 after Maurice Strong had left the
Agency,

CIDA generdly takesthe view that aid is good in itself and that development per
seisan endinitself. Others see this aid as an extension of domestic programs for
regiona expansion, for industrial development, for fostering exports trade and for
disbursing agricutural surpluses. One of the real problemsin the CIDA caseis
that 50 per cent of their personnel have less than two years' experience with
Government and the personnel turnover in the organization is very rapid.
Furthermore, it is the habit of CIDA to bring in personnel from industry and
outside the Govermment and most of these people are nat familiar with the"rituals
of Government's organization™

8 Foreign Affairs Records, E.A.H. Smith, Aid and Development Division, to Under-
Secretary, "Co-operation with CIDA", TMS, 7 March 1969, RG 25, Acc. 90-91/002, Vol.
1, 1-1-14 A.0235, Public Archives of Canada, 2.

% Foreign Affairs Records, S.G. Harris, ICER, to File, TMS, 25 September 1972, RG
25, 89-90/030, Box 8, Volume 1, 12-3-CIDA, Integration of the Government
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Harris's comments show that CIDA officers were often sub-culturally a variance with
other parts of government. Particuar departments were unhappy with CIDA's policies.
Harris goes on to say,

They [CIDA] fed it [programming] is a strictly internal matter for CIDA alone.
However, other departments, particularly IT & C [Industry, Trade and Commerce]
and Agriculture, feel very strongly that they would like to be involved with actual
project selection in many countriesas it has many implications for them. Thereis
also the problem of whether aid for a particular project be tied or untied and here
IT & C hasamajor interest.

Clearly, if IT andC and Agriculturefelt that CIDA wasoperating beyondthe pale, this

sentiment was even more keenly felt in External Affars.

Preparing the Siege of CIDA

External Affairs personnel identified CIDA's autonomy as a great impediment to
its enclosing within the Canadian government's foreign policy priorities. In 1973, this
viewpoint was powerfully put by R.D. Jackson.

CIDA has constructed alargely autonomous agency, which brooks little input, let
alone interference, from other government agencies with overlapping or
overriding responsibilities, and whose objectives bear little relationship to those of
these other agencies. CIDA makes no secret of its disinclination to be guided by
the Government's approved foreign policy themes and objectives; apart from the
commitment to assist the third world in its economic development, which of
course is designed to be of indirect benefit to Canadain the longer term, CIDA
often tends to dismiss other objectives as being irrelevant to its mandate. And as
the only government agency specializing in development assistance, CIDA
considersitself to be the only agency qualified to make considered judgements on
development assigance policy and has certainly worked effectivdy to enhance its

External Operations - Planning - Coordinating and Integrating Services - Canadian
International Development Agency, Public Archives of Canada, 2-3.

1 S.G. Harris, 2.
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autonomy in this sphere. Thisis the nub of the problem, it must be clearly
identified as such, and it must be the focus of measures to correct distortions
which have beeninjected or have crept into structures and procedures designed to
regulate and coordinate Canadian foreign policy.*

Jackson went on to say that all of CIDA, "both senior management and the working
bureaucracy share the conviction that autonomy is best suited to serve CIDA's interests.”

Boldly, it was implied that the focus of rectification should be the CIDA leadership.

Senior management in CIDA will have to be the point of departurefor achangein
approach and it isto that level that we must first address ourselves, or more
correctly our senior management must address itself.*?

More extraordinary was that an assault on CIDA was suggested,

The problem of coordination with CIDA having as many fecets asit does, theeis
adanger that it will be tackled only partially or piecemeal or by more than one
office in this Department. Since there is a common source to and manifestation of
the problem in virtually all its ramifications, this Department must ensure a
coordinated attack and follow-up.*

One might conclude that this was one isolated memorandum out of step with other views
in External Affairs. To the contrary, by 1974 concerns about CIDA provoked a meeting
of External's Directors-General. The discussions that took place there are instructive as to
the perception of CIDA within External Affairs, and show some evident consensus as to
how to deal with the apparently autonomous Agency. Feeling within External that CIDA
was not cognisant of foreign policy had reached such a state that at that meeting,

Several Directars General remaked that there was a great deal of ignorancein
CIDA asto what foreign policy was redlly all about. GAP [Francophone Africa
Division] said that as a result of this lack of knowledgeof foreign policy CIDA in

%2 Foreign Affairs Records, R.D. Jackson, ECD to PDA, "CIDA: Coordination," TM,
29 November 1973, RG 25, 89-90/030, Box 8, Volume 1, 12-3-CIDA, Integration of the
Government Extemal Operations - Hanning - Coordinaing and Integrating Services -
Canadian International Development Agency, Public Archives of Canada, 2.

% R.D. Jackson, 1.
% R.D. Jackson, 2.
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fact applied personal prejudicesof their officers which often arenot in line with
the overall [sic] Canadian foreign policy interests®
Clearly CIDA was seen as outside the control of the traditional premises of Canadian
foreign policy. From the point of view of the Division, which had most contact with
CIDA, the Agency was not entirely to blame.

ECD [Aid and Devdopment Division] argued that this Department has not clearly
given CIDA foreign policy guidelines and thought that the Department should
first draw up itsforeign policy objedives.®
The tactics to be used to enforce stated foreign policy objectives were to be higher levels
of the governmert structure, which External believed would favour External.

Several Directors General remarked that once wewere clear on exactly where this
Department was going in terms of aid policy, we should insist strongly on the
application of thel CER [Interdepatmental Committee on External Relations]
seven principles and force the issue, if need be, to be resolved either by the SSEA
[Secretary of State for Externd Affairs] or thePM.*’

The Jackson memorandum of 1973 implies that there was ahope on the part of some in
External that with External persomnel in CIDA, Extemal Affairs views would prevail.
CIDA's Presidency was seen as the top priority. The Directors-General aso concluded
that CIDA had minimised the influence of other departments on development assistance
by rarely calling together interdepartmental committees which impinged on it. The
Directors-General felt strongly that the Interdepartmental Committee on Development
Assistance (ICDA) should be revitdised, saying that it had "atrophied in 1968," perhaps a

reference to Maurice Strong's presidency of thenew CIDA. Further seeking to tie

% Foreign Affairs Records, "Summary Record of the Directors General Meeting of
January 17," TM, 30 January 1974, RG 25, 89-90/030, Box 8, Volume 1, 12-3-CIDA,
Integration of the Government External Operations - Planning - Coordinating and
Integrating Services - Canadian International Development Agency, Public Archives of
Canada, 1.

% "Summary Record of the Directors General Meeting of January 17," 1.
9 "Summary Record of the Directors General Meeting of January 17," 1.
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devel opment assistance to domestic policy, they maintained that ICDA should be
regarded as a sub-committee of the Aid Board whose business often concerned the

transfer of Canadian resources overseas.

External Affairs officers appear to have sought to make CIDA officers awae of
the broader foreign policy implicaions of aid activities by other administrative means.
While Under-Secretary of State, Cadieux appears to have approved approaches by Hanley
Bennett of Treasury Board to have CIDA involved in External Affairs review of new
departmental procedures for Programme Review and Financial Management and
Budgeting. Since "within these new procedures we expect to set up area committees and
controllers which will forecast and take decisions on the overall requirements of

Canadian interests abroad."*

External Affairs officers also aimed to influence CIDA's understanding of foreign
policy by having personnel recruited from External to CIDA and placed in positions of
prominence.

I would see some advantages in having a middle grade CIDA officer on loan to
this Division. It would help to build up his and eventually CIDA's understanding
on the way we look & aid questions and even as a"spy" he should be ableto
reassure peoplein CIDA that we are trying to promotethe development of the aid
programme along constructive lines®

In the margins Marcel Cadieux wrote"Good!" The issue of personnel was returned to
repeatedly over the years. In 1974, during the Directors General discussion mentioned
above,

There were several references to the importance of personalitiesin the whole

% Foreign Affairs Records, E.A.H. Smith, Aid and Development Division, to Under-
Secretary, "Co-operation with CIDA", TMS, Department of External Affairs, 7 March
1969, RG 25, Acc. 90-92/002, Val. 1, 1-1-14 A.0235, Public Archives of Canada, 5.

% E.A.H. Smith, 6.
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question and GAP [Francophone Africa] went so far as to suggest that we should

give serious consideration to an External Affairs officer taking over CIDA after

the departure of the current Presdent.'®
It isinteresting to note that Michel Dupuy became CIDA's next President in 1977. He
was the first CIDA President since the creation of the agency to be recruited from that
department. Other subsequent presidents of CIDA have moved from External to the
Agency. Whether Dupuy's or other Presidents' entrance dramatically changed the
character of CIDA isin doubt. In fact, aswe shall see, several former Externd employees
have come to champion typically CIDA perspectives. Nevertheless, that this perception
existed at al isindicative of atendency within External that CIDA needed to be

remoul ded.

Preparatory material for the meeting of 1974 Directors-General suggested that
clear and consistent signals were to be given to CIDA that its operations were part of
Canadian foreign policy. Mechanisms were explored to bring CIDA within the foreign
policy fold. Despite that, the Working Paper for the mesting recommended that,

Provided effective consultation can be assured in policy and generd programme
content, CIDA should be |eft a free hand to discharge its responsibilitiesin the
operation and administration, as prescribed in the 1960 Cabinet memorandum.**

100 *Symmary Record of the Directors General Meeting of January 17," 1.

101 Foreign Affairs Records, Aubrey Morantz, ECD to Malone, A. PDMI, "Director
General's Meeting January 17 1974 on relations with CIDA," "Working Paper," TD, 16
January 1974, RG 25, 89-90/030, Box 8, Volume 1, 12-3-CIDA, Integration of the
Government Extemal Operations - Fanning - Coordinging and Integrating Services -
Canadian International Development Agency, Public Archives of Canada, 3.
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Centralising Tendencies

Below we will show how various centralising tendencies on the part of External
Affairs, the ones we show here, supported by PCO, served to bring the definition of
foreign policy in line with those the prevailing views at External. We focus on two
examples, the absorption within the bosom of External Affairs of: a) the Trade
Commissioner Service and b) the rotational service of CIDA during the Consolidation

exercise in the early 1980s.

The late 1970s was a period of global stagflation of dropping government
revenues relative to expenditure, the emergence of more conservative tendendesin the
Liberal government, and, indeed, the brief flicker of Joe Clark's Conservative
government. (A desire to rationalise, focus and constrain a rapidly growing bureaucracy
was evident across the Canadian government. Super Ministries Of State (MOS) were
created. A financial Envelope System was developed to contain general categories of
spending. Yet it is not clear from the evidence below whether foreign policy was
centralised primarily for parochial reasons, so much as an emanation of bureaucrdic
centralising tendencies.!®> External Affairs had good reason to attempt centralisation in
the sense that its authority was rapidly slipping. The enemy of that authority was the
electronic global village. Hitherto, the channelling of information between Canada and
other countries was often via the External Affairs post. Easy long-distance calls, the fax
and electronic media outflanked the senior External Affairs' official overseas as bearer or

interpreter of news, sealer of deals, in aword, the plenipotentiary.

102 Noor should we forget that centralisation can often be part and parcel of growing
conservatism. Thereis other such evidence, which we will present in succeeding chapters.

NB: The evidencethat we shall present is unfortunatdy skewed towards areview of state
behaviour prior to the Mulroney government because it is more easily available for
review in the National Archives.
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Federal Revenues, Expenditures and Development Assistance

By the late 1970s, federal expenditures on devel opment assistance were equal or
greater to the budget for External Affairs. Therefore, if we look at the general rate of
growth of federal expenditure on foreign affairs and development assistance and compae
it with total federal expenditures and revenues we can get arelatively accurate sense of
spending federal priorities relative to foreign policy as a general category (which includes
development assistance). A number of interesting patterns emerge. First, in Figure 3
reviewing spending over three decades, 1961-1991, the growth of spending on foreign
policy does generally follow, but generally has not kept pace with total revenue, and

especially expenditures.®3

103 The low base of expenditures during the 1960s does not show the rates of increase
during the Pearson erain Figure 3.

Statistics Canada, Public Finance Historical Data 1965/66-1991/92, Ottawa: Statistics
Canada, 1992, 4-5.
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Total Federal Expenditures vs. Total Federal Foreign Affairs & Aid
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Beyond the Pearson bumps of 1965-7, risesin foreign policy spending took place
in the 1970s and 1980s, one in 1977 (shown in Figure 4), and the other in 1985. Some
stagnation of foreign policy budgets does appear to have taken place prior to and in the
first year of Conservative governments (Clark and Mulroney). In Figure 4, we see that
both the sharpest visible rise (surprisingly) and decline (less so) in foreign policy
expenditures have taken place during Conservative governments, in 1986 and 1990
respectively. The charts included show that rising gaps between revenue and expenditure
do not directly affect foreign policy expenditures. Although the declinein 1978 did occur
during a period where there was a substantial gap between revenue and expenditure,

neither the rise, decline nor the stagnation of foragn policy spending (1977-80) is
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explained by rising fiscal gaps between expenditures and revenues (See Figure 4).

75



In Figure 5, ssmply comparing federal revenue with foreign affairs expenditures we have
asomewhat closer correlation in the period 1965-1991. This shows that revenue does
seem to be fairly strong in influencing how much will be made available for foreign
policy concerns But as for the Consdidation Exercisein the late 1970s and early 1980s,
thisrelationship isless strong. It is remarkable to note that the drop and stagnation of
foreign policy expenditures (1978-80) occurs after the sharp rise in 1977. Looking over

Total Federal Revenue vs. Total Federal Expenditures on |
Affairs & Aid (1965-1991) - $millions
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the thirty year period, adeclinein foreign policy spending followsin the next year after a
sharp rise (with the exception of 1985). A strong general correlation is clear over three
decades between federal spending on foreign policy, and finances and government
growth. Equally obvious, though, is that federal decision-making, as such, rather than
accounting, isvital to the rise of foreign affairs and development assistance expenditures

at critical junctures.
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Central Agencies and the Definition of Foreign Policy

At External Affairsthere was agradual identification of the department with other
central agencies. During the period of the mandarinate, External Affairs served asthe
core of the upper civil service. Former External staff were by far the most likely to find
themselves Deputy Ministers. In 1970, one-third of al Deputy Ministers were former
External Affairs officers. **And this trend continued, but that experience outside the
Department may have effected their views. One such example may be Allan Gotlieb,
Under-Secretary of State for External Affairsin the late 1970s and early 1980s; a member

of the new generation of foreign policy officials.

Gotlieb had worked in External Affairsin the 1960s. From 1968-77 he was
Deputy Minister of Communications, and also DM at Manpower and Immigration and
related posts. Gotlieb was not a diplomat by calling, but an international lawyer. He had
studied at Oxford like most of the mandarins, but also at the University of Californiaand
Harvard. He identified more with "Government of Canada' perspectives, than with the
Pearsonian views at External Affairs or CIDA. Whatever the root of the belief, Gotlieb,
certainly was convinced that External had a calling as a central agency. In atalk to staff
he said in 1981. "When | returned to External Affairsin 1977, after an absence of some 7-
8 years, | was aready convinced that the Department of External Affairswas acentral

agency of Government."'% |n the Department circular that accompanied the text of that

194 Foreign Affairs Records, J.H. Taylor, to USSEA, "Integration of the Foreign
Service: Conversation with Michael Pitfield' TLS, 4 May 1970, RG 25, 89-90/030, Vol.
1, 12-001 Part 1, Public Archives of Canada, 2.

1% Foreign Affairs Records, A.E. Gotlieb, Attached talk to External Affairs staff, "The
Central Agency Revisited, Talk by the Under-Secretary, 12 February 1981," in Allan
Gotlieb, USSEA, "The Department of External Affairs- The Central Agency Revisited,"
Circular Document, Admin. No. 24 /81 (USSEA), TDS, 10 April 1981, RG 25, 89-
90/030, Volume 9, 12-3-EA Pt 6, "Integration of the Govemment External Operations -
Department of External Affairs," Public Archives of Canada, 1.
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talk he affirmed, "I am more convinced than ever that External Affars must act asa

central agency if itistorealizeitsfull potential."'%

Michael Pitfield and Gotlieb had similar desires to centralise foreign policy.
Pitfield began his campaign to integrate the foreign service in 1970. According to a
memorandum to External’'s Under-Secretary, "What he [Fitfield ] has on hismind isthe
problem of developing senior exeautives [of Govemment] to serve ndional interests
generally, both in Canada and abroad."'%” A few weeks later, the first Cabinet discussions
took place regarding the "inclusion or exclusion from the Foreign Service Group of
rotational employees of the Departments of Industry, Trade and Commerce and
Manpower and Immigration and of CIDA."'°® However, this attempt at integration failed
in 1972. The early sounds of its demise were heard as far away as London by High
Commissioner A. de W. Mathewson,

| confess to a certain puzzlement over sounds that are reaching London on the
wind from the west. To the casual listener they sound very much like "integration
isdead". They are intermingled with rumours of the Minister of IT & C saying
"stop” in Cabinet and various deputy ministersin ICER muttering things like
"cooperation eve - integration never" .1

196 Foreign Affairs Records, Allan Gotlieb, USSEA, "The Department of External
Affairs - The Central Agency Revisited,” Circular Document, Admin. No. 24 /81
(USSEA), RG 25, 89-90/030, Volume 9, 12-3-EA Pt 6, "Integration of the Government
External Operdions - Departmernt of External Affairs,” TDS, 10 April 1981, Public
Archives of Canada, 1.

07 JH. Taylor, 1.

198 Foreign Affairs Records, PCO Record of Committee Decision, TLS, 28 March
1972, D.J. Leach, Supervisor of Cabinet Documents, RG 25, 89-90/030, Box 1, 12-001
Part 1, Re Cabinet Decision 21 May 1970, Public Archives of Canada, 3.

199 Foreign Affairs Records, A. de W. Mathewson, High Commissioner - London, to
John A. Irwin, Central Staff, External Affairs, TLS, 25 April 1972, RG 25, 89-90/030,
Vol. 1, 12-001 Part 1, Public Archives of Canada, 1.
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The Absorption of the Trade Commissioner Service

We have previously focused on Cadieux as a man concerned with the coherence
of foreign policy, and the keeping of its instruments within the organisational structure of
External Affairs. He was not, however, the first Under-Secretary to do so. External
Affairs had a protracted history of attempting to centralise authority under it. One noteble
example was the Trade Commissioner Service which had long been coveted by External.
How long is clear from a 1943 memorandum sent to a colleague by Mathewson during
the 1970 integration effort. Mirroring arguments against incorporation of the Trade
Commissioner Service in the 1970s and 1980s, the 1940s document stated,

Attached are copies of lettersto Mr. Pierce from Mr. McAvity, President of the
Canadian Exporters Association (February 13) and from Mr. Vardy, Manager of
the Export Department, Canadian Manufacturers Association (March 31). . .
Specifically they urge that the offices of TCS continue to have direct
communication with Canadian manufacturers and exporters, that the TCS
continue to be under the sole direction (control) of the Department of Industry,
Trade and Commerce, and the TCS direct its energies to trade promotion. (One
might infer that marginal and esoteric activities such as economic analysis and
reporting would be |eft to External Affairs).!%

Thirty-seven years later, the view of the business community remained hostile to
the incorporation of the TCS within External. The Minister for Trade and Commerce,
Herb Gray wrote PM Trudeau,

The business community attaches much significance to the continued independent
existence and strengthening of the TCS, and have consistently taken the view over
the years that foreign service consolidation or integration would result in the
deterioration in the quality of service and expertise offered by our trade

10 Foreign Affairs Records, "Proposds for Co-ordination of External Services,
External Affairs, and Trade and Commerce,” 17 November 1943, in A. de W.
Mathewson, to Bruce Rankin, Claude Roquet, and J.H. Taylor, "Integration,” 28 April
1970, "Pierce Task Force: Attitudes of CEA and CMA," TMS, in RG 25, 89-09/030, Box
9, File 12-3-EA Pt. 1, Public Archives of Canada, 1.
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commissioners.tt

What these excerpts covering four decades show are repeated atempts by External
Affairsto absorb the TCS, and the continued opposition of the business community.
There seems little evidence that External Affairs was seen asworking at the behest of
business. Y et Trudeau's reply to Gray outlined that the Department was intended to
evolve in this direction.

| very much hope that . . . the business community as awhade will come to
understand that as aresult of consolidation they will have the entire Foreign
Service working for them and not just asegment of it.**?

Part of that symbolic change was the madification of the name of the department to

External Affairs and International Trade.

Externa's efforts regarding the consolidation of the TCS were just part of a
general consolidation of foreign policy activities. Once the decision was taken, PCO
hoped that External and the other departments concerned would resolve their differences
themselves. But at External, at lead, the differences were seen asirreconcilable So
although the decision to make CIDA's overseas staff into officers of External was made at
the same time as the consolidation of the TCS, in External little effort was made by PCO
to enforce either decision.*® In 1981, External Affairs officers made earnest and
successful efforts towards the consolidation of foreign policy. For thesake of prose

clarity we shall move to the case of CIDA'srotational staff.

1 Foreign Affairs Records, Herb Gray to P.E. Trudeau, "Re: Foreign Service
Consolidations’, TLS, 30 May 1980, RG 25, Acc. 90-91/002, Vd. 1, 1-1-14 pt. 8, Public
Archives of Canada, 1.

12 Foreign Affairs Records, P.E. Trudeau to Herb Gray, Draft, TD, n.d.in reply to
letter of 30 May 1980, RG 25, Acc. 90-91/002, Val. 1, 1-1-14 pt. 8, Public Archives of
Canada, 3.

13 Foreign Affairs Records, D.M. Miller, DG Personnel, EA to A.E. Gotlieb, TLOS, 7
August 1980, RG 25, Acc. 90-91/002, Vol. 1, 1-1-14, Pt. 6, Public Archives of Canada, 4.
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Stopping the Creation of a Rotational CIDA "Foreign Service'

Concerns about the relation of development assistance to foreign policy mounted
in External Affarsand other central agencies, not least because of the increasesin
expenditures on it. For these government agencies, spending had to be defended in
foreign policy terms. Attention remained focused on CIDA. Aswe shall seein later
chapters, discussions of the autonomy of IDRC remain curiously silent until the late
1970s. External officers sought to contain the further dilution of their authority in the
1970's once again seeking to integrate TCS into the Department. With regard to CIDA,
officersin External worried that the Agency would create aforeign service of its own.
CIDA officials signalled to other departments their desire to create some sort of CIDA
foreign servicein 1971. CIDA Executive VP, D. Tansley wrote,

| would fully support the introduction of arotational foreign service feature for
CIDA field officers. This could be achieved through a CIDA-managed rotational
service, by the establishment of a CIDA "stream"” within an integrated foreign
service, or perhapsin other ways. . .4
Tansley noted that CIDA had been thwarted in attempts to strengthen this stream, "Our
efforts to build up this group have hardly been helped by such practices as the application
of the single assignment allowances practice."***> As early as 1973, the view among some
in External was that it would be preferable that "CIDA operations at home and abroad are

staffed mainly by rotational FS [External Affairs Foreign Service] personnel."''® In 1977,

14 Foreign Affairs Records, D.D. Tansley, Executive Vice-President, to D.R. Taylor,
Interim Secretary, Personnel Management Committee, Interdepartmental Committee on
External Relations, TLS, 29 September 1971, RG 25, 89-90/030, Box 8, Volume 1, 12-3-
CIDA, Integration of the Government External Operations - Planning - Coordinating and
Integrating Services - Canadian International Development Agency, Public Archives of
Canada, 2.

15 Tandley, 2.
116 R.D. Jackson, 1.
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under Michel Dupuy, the former External Affairs Assistant Under-Secretary, CIDA once
again tried to make for itself arotational foreign service'” Not surprisingly, after a
meeting between the Under-Secretary of the time, Allan Gotlieb, and Michael Pitfield,
CIDA's proposal to the Public Service Commission was shelved pending External
developing an "alternative."*® The long-running question of whether CIDA would have
its own overseas officer cadre was decided in favour of External as part of the
consolidation decision of 20 March 1980.*° But as we have said, the implementation of

that decision was left in mid-air for some time.

Marcel Masse became President of CIDA in 1980. Massé had spent six of the ten
previous years inthe Privy Council Office. The econamist had also worked in the World
Bank for four years. Once again, we see evidence of the recruitment of senior central
agency officersto CIDA. Yet, when in CIDA President Massé fought the consolidation of
CIDA's "foreign service'. The sense that PCO camouflaged the enveloping of CIDA
within one foreign policy, and that consolidation was wha Masse feared it was, seems
clear from the extract below.

There was also fundamental disagreement between Mr. Massé and the Under-
Secretary as to the meaning of Consolidation, which has been artfully concealed
by the principles of Consolidation devised by the PCO. In the simplest terms,
CIDA's position, as expressed by Mr. Massg, is that consolidation confers only the
power to manage the personnel in the Foreign Service, but not the power to
manage programs they are implementing.'?°

17 Foreign Affairs Records, J.G. Hadwen to Mr. MacPhail, DSM, "Y our
memorandum of October 24 to the Under-Secretary, Lettersto Messrs Dupuy and
Pitfield", TMS, 3 November 1977, RG 25, Acc. 90-91/002, Val. 1, 1-1-14, A.0115,
Public Archives of Canada, 1.

118 Hadwen, 1.

119 Foreign Affairs Records, P.E. Trudeau to Mark MacGuigan, SSEA, TLS, 20 March
1980, RG 25, Acc. 90-91/002, Val. 1, 1-1-14 pt. 5, Public Archives of Canada, 1-3.

120 Foreign Affairs Records, Marie-Andrée Beauchemin, Director, Personnel
Operations Division, External Affars, "Note to Mr. Machand, Subject: Y our lunch with
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Under-Secretary Gotlieb confirmed that view with some finality in amargin note afew

weeks later. "Remember CIDA isnot responsiblefor development policy."*** Masse

vainly fought to retain control of CIDA. Interestingly, after he became Under-Secretary of
Secretary of State for External Affairs he altered the rules such that External rotational
staff were not resident in his former headquarters with the agreement of de Montigny-

Marchand.*?

So both Dupuy and Massé came to adopt policies which were more like CIDA,
despite their previous positions in External and the Privy Council Office. Isthis
acculturation as such, or the inevitable switch of position according to jurisdictional
position? The fact that Massé did not completely abandon his previous position, but when
in External partly changed the rulesin favour of CIDA, indicates that some enduring
acculturation may have taken place. Unless, of course, once having entered CIDA, Marcel
Massé and Michel Dupuy recognized that the lack of CIDA subordination served
Canada's overall objectives (as opposed to External Affairs' officials) effectively.

Mr. Massé, TL, 21 April 1981, RG 25, Acc. 90-91/002, Val. 1, 1-1-14 pt. 8, Public
Archives of Canada, 1.

121 Foreign Affairs Records, A.E. Gotlieb, ANSin marginsin D.M. Miller, to Under-
Secretary, TMS, 11 March 1981, RG 25, Acc. 90-91/002, Val. 1, 1-1-14 pt. 8 Public
Archives of Canada, 1.

122 \While President of CIDA, Massé was "adamantly opposed to allowing his
headquarters to be staffed with FSO's [External Affairs Foreign Service Officers] since
they will necessarily be performing "core" functions of the Agency which he cannot
relinquish to personnel he does not “control"."

Foreign Affairs Records, D.M. Miller, Director-General, Personnd, External Affarsto
A.E. Gotlieb, Unde-Secretary, "Consolidation: CIDA - Discussions with Mr. Massé",
TMOS, 2 January 1981, RG 25, Acc. 90-91/002, Vol. 1, 1-1-14 pt. 7, Public Archives of
Canada,1.
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Conclusion

To sum up, the chapter has ranged over alarge terrain. We began by reviewing
Pearson's enduring analysis and changing preoccupations as regards the reasons for
devel opment assistance. He believed that scientific progress, and the pattern of
development that it produced, cause unequal development. He saw scientific progress and
unequal development as inevitable Pearson assumed that societies tha did not adapt to
scientific advance did so at their peril. The question therefore was how to adapt. His
answer was grounded in values of the manse and Canadian egalitarian notions of
tolerance and generosity. Pearson felt that in Canada, as abroad, moral and security
imperatives demanded that the misery that inequality bred be addressed by promoting
scientific progress more widely. His arguments in favour of development assistance
changed over time, as did his preoccupations, but the general line did not. We shall see
that the early IDRC fit well into the Pearsonian perspective regarding the inevitability of
scientific progress, and the necessity of societies to adapt to it. Also relevant to our later
discussion is that the Pearsonian sense of mission to forge equitable development based

on agenuine intemational partnership became an essential element of IDRC.

We then saw how Pearson as PM massively expanded the aid budget, despite the
opposition of some of his erstwhile colleagues in the bureaucracy. The expansion of the
aid and foreign policy budget coincided with the emergence of a new generation of more
technocratic officials which implemented and reinterpreted the Pearsonian vision. Aswe
shall see, IDRC was a manifestation of that more technical bent.

IDRC was an expression of Pearson'sinternationalist vision, a viewpoint made
manifest in the new federal development assistance organisations founded by Maurice
Strong. We have seen that that vision had to compete with more narrow notions of the
functions of the Canadian state, most clearly seen in the central agencies. Most parts of

the Canadian federal state could argue that they benefitted Canadians, and early
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devel opment assistance was strongly tied. Nevertheless, development assistance remained
suspect because they were rooted in values and beliefs that conflicted with those tending
to be held in central agencies. Central agency staff were often indined, or were obliged to
be inclined, towards control, centralisation and defining their value in terms of how much
they benefitted Canadians directly. Michael Pitfield seems a perfect example of how
values and policies pursued changeas institutional values take root and economic
circumstances change. Pitfield was content to see a massive proliferdion of diverse
agencies in the federal government when he first joined PCO in 1965. Further, he
supported the untying of development assistance and lessening of restrictionson CIDA's
operations in the late 1960s.!* By the early 1970s, he was one of the most enduring

advocates of centralisation.

Based on his deeply held personal values, Pearson argued for development
assistance, which reflected his owvn views about Canadian society, namdy that the ghetto
was not a desired way to deal with the unequal development that science produced.
Pearson's credo was that international partnership with other societies was necessary to
promote scientific and economic development to facilitate their own social order. This
was an inclusionary and distributive vision. Itsinclusionary nature could be seen in the
desire to have representatives of all nations at conference tables. Its distributive vision

was manifested in hisincreasing devel opment assistance budgets abroad and Medicare

123 See P.M. Pitfield to Pierre Trudeau, "Memorandum for the Prime Minister,
International Development Assistance,” TMS, 21 July 1969, PCO Records, 3.

Pitfield wrote,

If ... thereisno increase of funds, Mr. Strong may fedl that the purposeof his
presence in Ottawa has been frustrated, and that his new organization has been
built for no purpose. He has greatly increased the quality of our aid program, and
if heisgiven ministerial support for an even greater increase in quality and the
commensurate reduction in tying and restrictions, he should have enough to
satisfy him for the next year or so.
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and the Canada Assistance Programme at home.

Strong, as interpreter of Pearson's vision in devel opment assistance, was clearly
an internationalist himself, but also able and willing to harness the interests of parochial
interests in that enterprise. Y et, his colleagues in other departments |ooked at
development assigance activitiesduring Strong's timeand later as not deaving closely
enough to typical federal bureaucratic rituals or more parochial foreign policy concerns.
Pressure grew for CIDA to follow Government of Canada norms, and despite the changes
wrought on CIDA, the internationalist impulse remained in its staff. In following
chapters, we will see how such pressures were applied to IDRC, but that the Centre's staff
used various means to maintain its Pearsonian internationalism even as more parochial
forces gathered strength. Reaction to the burgeoning federal bureaucracy and economic
slowdowns brought about the strengthening of parochid forcesin Ottawaand led to
demands for the cohesion of foreign policy, hence the absorption of the Trade
Commissioner Service into External Affairsin the early 1980s. Below we will chronicle
how IDRC was likewise caught in previous and successive waves of Ottawa-bashing and

global buffeting.

What we have collected in this chapter provides the basis for understanding the
environment in which IDRC was created. The Centre germinated in the fertile soil of the
Pearsonian internationalist vision. We move now to ook at the actual policy process that
led to the creation of IDRC. What was the spark of creation? What were the diverse
notions afoot when the proposal was formulated in the last half of the 1960s? What were

the critical interventions and influences that made it happen?
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Chapter Two: From Impetus to Trager —
The Genesis of IDRC

Global Unity, Equity and Science

One of the fundamental moral insights of the Western culture which has now
swept over the whole globe isthat, against all historical evidence, mankind is not
agroup of warring tribes, but asingle, equal and fraternal community. Hitherto,
distances have held men apart. Scarcity has driven them to competition and
enmity. It had required great vision, great holiness, great wisdom to keep alive
and vivid the sense of the unity of man. It is precisely the saints, the poets, the
philosophers and the great men of science who have borne witness to the
underlying unity which daily life had denied. But now the distances are abolished.
It isat least possible that through new technological resources, properly deployed,
will conquer ancient shortage. Can we not at such atime realize the moral unity of
our human experience and make it the basis of a patriotism for the world itself 7>

Barbara Ward — in Spaceship Earth

Thereislittle praspect that civilized life can continue much beyond theend of this
century if its benefits are not made available to the majority of mankind.*®

Maurice Strong

Maurice Strong and Lady Barbara Ward Jackson wrote the above in the mid-

1960s. American development assistance was dropping. Americawas pulling inward.

Science was still believed to be a cure for the world's ills, athough increasingly the

diagnosis and the cure were being viewed with suspicion and doubt. In Canada, the

124 Barbara Ward, Spaceship Earth, New Y ork: Columbia, 1966, 148.

125 M.F. Strong, speech, 5 June 1968, in Benjamin Higgins, Six Studies by Prof.
Benjamin Higgins, the Terms of Aid, Canadian Devel opment Assistance Policy Review,

1969, Carleton University Library, 11.
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economy was growing at an unexpected rate. EXPO '67 showed that Canadians were
becoming ever more interested in the outside world. Canada's Prime Minister was the
internationalist Lester Pearson. A vigourous businessman, Maurice Strong by name, was
put in charge of the aid program. Insuch a crucible the proposal that would become
IDRC was formed.

In this chapter, we will trace the policy process tha led to the creation of IDRCin
1970. We will attempt to delineate the ebb and flow of the ideas involved, and the
contributions of the personalities and institutions involved. In 1966, the idess that became
IDRC were formed. But why was IDRC created in the first place? What environment
made IDRC attractive and possible? What factors led IDRC take the particular shape that
it did?
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Why Was IDRC Created?

Barbara Ward: Hope and Global Unity
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By the 1960s, the West had gone through severa bouts of aid weariness. Once

again, America desired to turn away from the world, thistime in the reaction to the melee

that was the Vietnam War. Many in the West feared that a return to American

isolationism would mean the collapse of the West in Vietnam, and elsewhere But these
people sought butter to replace guns. The American hegemon was becoming tired of free
riders and wanted their alliesto inarease their ODA levels. Despite thisinstruction only in

Canadadid those levelsrise in the following few years. By 1966, Pearson and other like-

minded individual s were urging the Americans to increase their own slipping

development assistance (See 1960s Canadian vs. American aid levelsin Figure 6).
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The World Bank sponsored Pearson Commission was seen inthis light.!?® At end of the
decade aid levelsin countries with little direct interest in the maintenance of the southern
marches of the Western imperium, such as the Scandinavian countries, started to pour
billions into devel opment assistance. Why so? David Lumsdaine has noted a high
correlation between expenditures on development assistance and social values. Among
other variables, Lumsdaine has examined the levels of national domestic social spending
and private voluntary contributions. From the vantage point of the 1990s, Lumsdaine
ranks Canada as arelatively low spender on welfare (at 0.23% of GNP compared to
Sweden 0.36%). Yet Lumsdaine's conclusions continueto apply to Canada. Overall,
Canadian spending still ranks relatively high in private voluntary contributions and
foreign aid.*?” Further, Lumsdaine's conclusions regarding the link between social values
and aid spending is particularly apt during Pearson's government. We have seen that
Pearson was driven by his perceptions and beliefs. The relative wealth of histimes
permitted Pearson to be more consequent in those beliefs. Aswe saw in the last chapter,
his time in office saw a considerable expansion of the welfare state, and development

assistance.

Pearson was not alone in hisinclinations, in Canada, or inthe world. With so
much of hislife spent in London, perhgpsit is not surprising that he was most closely in
tune with certain British commentators of the times, in particular, Barbara Ward. 12
Pearson and Ward were of the same silk. Ward published Spaceship Earthin early 1966.

She too was concerned about the slow decline of devd opment assistanceand therein

126 |_B. Pearson to Kaunda, Gandhi, TLsS, MG 26 N 5, Val. 18, 800.4 - Commission
of International Development, Pearson Papers, Public Archives of Canada.

127 David Halloran Lumsdaine, Moral Vision in International Politics: the Foreign Aid
Regime, 1948-1989, Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1993.

128 Tom Kent asserts that it was he who introduced Ward to Pearson in 1966. However,
Lord Jackson was a contemporary of Pearson's, and moved in the same circles. Ward and
Jackson married in 1950.
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wrote, "Westernaid is on the decline. If America, in the late 1940s, with a GNP at |east
one-third smaller than it enjoys today, could put 2 percent of it into the Marshall Plan, the
present percentage of roughly 0.5 percent of GNP for aid can hardly be caled a
burden."'?° Y et she did not believe in the simple reproduction of the Marshall Planin
developing countries for she continued, " At this point we have to register the weakness of
all analogies between the success of strategies for growth, stability, and greater
distributive justice inside Western society and the possible application of similar policies
in the world at large."** While not convinced of the previously practised means, the ends
were "growth, stability, and greater distributive justice." For this active lay Catholic, the
people of the world were one people, but lacked the organisations and will to make the

ends possible.

Our larger world society lacks the institutions of unity and it lacks the political
will. . .

In our growing, increasingly interdependent international society, there is nothing
beyond the level of the nation-state except the fluctuating activity derived from
bargaining and treaty-making of powers which can and will withdraw what they
have given and reverse their pledged undertaking. . . Everything above the
national level, however necessary, however beneficial, can still be revoked,
except, of course, redlity itself. . . Thereisstill no profound sense of emotional
commitment or community in the larger society of man.**

So by 1966, Ward saw that devel opment assistance was declining, the result of the
structure of the nation-state. Consequently, there was alack of political will to
demonstrate the unity of the people of the world through material betterment. For her,

therefore, part of the solution to the lack of unity would be the building of institutions of

unity. Although particular concern was focused on devel oping countries, the vision was

129 \Ward, 105.
130 \Ward, 105.
131 Ward, 105-6.
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global.

For Ward, the modern solution to global fractiousness had to include science. At

the outset of the chapter, we quoted from her concluding two pages in Spaceship Earth.

Ward shows there a belief that the modern means to achieve the global unity in the form
of meeting of material needs and sodal peace was "through new techndogical resources,
properly deployed."**? Aswe have shown in the previous chapter, thisline of analysis and

general sentiment was remarkably in phase with Pearson's own thinking.

Pearson must have chosen Ward to bethe key note spesker at the Liberd Party
Conference on 10 October 1966.2* In this speech, she said,

| would like to suggest that in the overwhelming importance of this search for
peaceful machinery from settling disputes, a prope global system of economic
welfare, a proper global system of economic welfare, and thirdly, minimum
solidarity of the human race which recognizesitself as a human community, the
country of Canada has an absolutely crucial role to play.***
The speech was awide-ranging pleafor Canadian involvement in the global fostering of
these three elements which Ward believed were essential to any local or global society.
Its idealistic tonestruck a chord with Liberal youth, and was seen as a " counter” capable

of enticing those with New Democraic Party sympathies.*®

132 Ward, 148.
133 John English, interview by author, 17 February 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.

134 BarbaraWard, "Text of Address by Lady Barbara Ward Jackson to the National
Meeting 1966 and Liberal Party Conference, Ottawa, October 10 1966," TD, Tom Kent's
Papers, Archives, Queen's University, Kingston, 29.

135 John English, interview by author, 17 February 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.

John English was one of those youth in attendance at the conference.
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In her speech Ward explained why she thought Canada had an opportunity to play
aspecia roleinthe world. Her first point was that Canadais a"middle power. You are
not mired in the deep, deep muds of great powerhood. Y ou are not caught by sheer
weight . . . You have manoeuvrability." Secondly, Ward noted that Canada in 1966 had
"the second highest per capitaincome in the world, and this does give you a means of
putting punch behind your policies, which you do not have if you were Chad
O'Bungishari, or whatever. Y ou have got the capacity to act.” Thirdly, she said that
Canadawas based on "two great cultural traditions” "drawn from a great diversity of
peopl€”. In this respect, Canada was "showing forth the kind of unity that mankind has
got to find or founder". Lastly, Ward said that in the international arena, "thereis hardly a
problem in the last fifteen years in which your Prime Minister has not played the creative,
reconciling part, which is essential if the world isto develop its own soul and its own
personality.” She also pointed out that with Canada's position in the Commonwealth,
North America, NATO, the UN and cultural and linguistic links with Europe "no other

nation has got this scope."***

Ward moved to then put the question "Wheat are you going to do about it? Because
these are the crucial, critical problems of the end of this century, and on into the next."**
Perhaps it was quite proper for Ward not to give too specific answers but she drew the
listeners to note that, "Canada at thismoment is the only rich country that isincaeasing its
commitment to foreign aid." She hoped that Canada would be a"torch” that would "lead
the way" which would prove to be the "beginning of areal turnabout among our
disgracefully unaware and socidly completely unacceptable neighbours in the Atlantic

world."*8

1% Ward, "Address to Liberal Party Conference," 30.
13" Ward, "Address to Liberal Party Conference," 30.
138 Ward, "Addressto Liberal Party Conference," 30.

93



Putting these strands together, we see a hope on the part of Ward to entice the
Liberal Party of Canadainto building international institutions which would foster
dispute settlement, economic welfare and the unity of, what was then still called,

mankind. In Spaceship Earth she concluded that the proper deployment of technological

resources would be crucial in at least two of these tasks.

Naturally, Paul Martin Sr., then Minister for External Affairs, and Maurice
Strong, the former President of Power Corporation, listened to Ward's speech. Nine days
before Strong had assumed the position of Director General of the External Aid Office
(EAQ).** Paul Martin had brought in Strong to change the shape of Canada's aid effort.**
Strong had decided that he would liketo build a new organisation prior to his
appointment. Its particular mandate remained to be worked out, although he had been
giving speeches around that the time about the gap between science in the First and Third
Worlds.*** That Pearson chose Ward to make her plea centre-stage during creation of the
political agenda of the Liberals, and just after the appointment of Maurice Strong,
indicates how much Pearson wanted development assistance to become afocus for

national aspirations.

We have aready noted Strong's long-running belief in internationalism and
humanitarian endeavours. In the months that followed the speech, Tom Kent introduced
Ward to Strong during lunch at his home, probably some time before January 1967.
According to Kent, both Ward and Strong were starting to see that the "big project

139 Under Strong, in 1968, the EAO became the Canadian International Devel opment
Agency (CIDA) and he became its President.

140 A F.W. Plumptrein Michael G. Fry, ed., Freedom and Change, Toronto:
McLelland and Stewart, 1975, 153.

141 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 23 November 1994, by telephone, notes,
Ottawa-Toronto.

94



approach", and "trickle down assumptions' were not working. As with Pearson, Ward
and Strong had much in common. Strong had not yet had much opportunity in his new
position to demonstrate his conviction, but intended to. Ward, for her part, organised at

Harvard some of the earliest meetings about the concept of appropriate technology.'*?

The exact process of events from this point until February 1967 remains
somewhat unclear. (See Figure 7). In the succeeding months, a number of different
influences cameto bear, which weshall delineate. What we can say isthat Tom Kent is
certain that "the originator of thisidea [IDRC] was Barbara Ward." Moreover, most of the
earliest evidence points in the direction of Ward. Ward was always closely associated
with the project. She became a member of the Centre's first Board. Ward's was the first
and at that point theonly name mentioned as a potential candidate for first President.’*?
Nevertheless, Maurice Strong's own inclinations regarding science and development and
his desire to create a new organisation were obviously vital flavours to the base for the
stock of the IDRC proposal.

192 Tom Kent, interview by author, 16 December 1994, Kingston, tape recording.

143 Peter C. Newman, "Ottawa's daring, secret plan: A university to help all mankind,”
Toronto Star, 9 December 1967, 1.
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IDRC Proposal
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On the last day of the year 1966, Tom Kent wrote to Barbara Ward,

Since our meeting a month ago, | have had a good discussion with Maurice
Strong. . . | feel confirmed in my optimism about his creativeness. We will soon
be getting together a small, informd group of the key people who could nat only
engineer a major advance in Canadian involvement but could also be effective in
making it pioneering in some of its forms!*
Five and a half months later Strong more formally suggested the creation of that informal
group which included Ward. Although it was never formed, regular consultation with
Strong did. Ward kept in close touch with Strong and was reported "interested enough in
the project to be in telephone contact with Ottawa almast every week" 1*° In sum, this
letter and the other evidence ind cates discussion with Maurice Strong took placein late
1966 to initiate an goparently undefined innovation in Canadian activity, presumably
organisational innature. The ideas appear to havestill been embryonic. There was a
desire for impetus, global unity, development and equity using appropriae scientific
means, and convincing the Americans to increase devel opment assistance funding levels

However, Ward does not appear to have tried to determine the institutional means to

achieve her ends.

Strong Raises the Torch and Beats the Drum

Whatever is unclear about the origins of the IDRC proposal, Maurice Strong

guickly became the torchbearer and champion of the ideas. Many of the individualsin
Canada who witnessed or were concerned with the creation of IDRC have said that

144 Tom Kent to Barbara Ward, 31 Decanber 1966, TLS, Tom Kent Papers, Archives,
Queen's University, Kingston.

145 Peter C. Newman, 1.
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without Maurice Strong IDRC would not have been created. Strong was and remains a
very vigorous individual. He describes himself as obsessive once he getsan ideain his
head.'*® Strong's business background, especially as President of the vastly influential
Power Corporation and the strong support of the Minister for External Affairs, made the
possibility of implementing any proposal initiated by Strong quite likely of success. We
will subsequently show the techniques he used to bring his effort to fruition.

Strong described some of the reasons that he thought tha IDRC was politically
possible in an interview with the author.

One, you had areceptive Prime Miniger. Two, you had akind of exciting interest
in what Canada can do in the world based on the Canadian Centennial and EXPO
etc. And, | guess you had, having brought a new person in from the outside
[Strong] who was not a product of the bureaucracy, sort of aloose cannon. On the
one hand, there was a disposition to be concerned about what he did, and an
awareness that, well, you got to permit him to do something. So that there'sayou
know.[sic] And | think the mood generally in Canadain the science, in the
intellectual community, didn't think we were doing enough certainly.**’

146 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 28 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
147 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.
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Early Discussions

What were the expectations of Maurice Strong on thepart of the mandarinate in
the early days of Strong's leadership of EAO? An informal meeting to discuss External
Aid Board took place at the exclusive Mme. Burger's Restaurant in Hull only weeks after
he became President. Strong was not invited, those attending included a number of key
mandarins including Bob Bryce, DM for Finance, Louis Rasminsky of the Bank of
Canada, Marcel Cadieux, Under-Secretary of State for External Affairs, and Jake Warren
of Trade and Commerce. For these gentlemen, "the principal priorities for the Office at
the present time were the recruitment and development of personnel and the devel opment
of specific programs for increasing the involvemert of the private sector in our aid
programs.”*# According to minutes taken during his second meeting as Chair of the
External Aid Board, which consisted of senior government officialsinvolved in
development, Strong reported that his own preference was to promote the involvement of
Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOS) in development. By NGOs Strong meant the
non-state sector, that is, both businesses and NGOs like the Y MCA *° To some extent,
Strong's inclinations coincided with the mandarinate, even if his brush was more broad
than theirs. We know little about Strong's thinking regarding what would become IDRC
at thistime. Howeve, at the first megting which he chaired of the Board in early
December 1966, Strong mysteriously informed the assembled that there were, "several

subjects under study [including] . . . the technical assistance program."*>°

148 CIDA Records, "Minutes of Informal Discussions conceming the External Aid
Board held at Mme Burger's Restaurant at 12:30 P.M. to 2:15 P.M., on Wednesday,
October 12, 1966," 13 October 1966, TD, RG 74, 80-81/102, Volume 4, File 2-12 Pt. 1,
Public Archives of Canada, 3.

149 Strong had been a member of the international wing of the YMCA and was a major
fund-raiser for it.

150 CIDA Records, "Record of External Aid Board Meeting, December 1, 1966, Notes
on Minutes of Proceedings, October - November 1967," TD, 6 December 1966,
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Room to Manoeuvre

Early onin his stewardship of EAO, Strong "became quite preoccupied with all
the bureaucratic constraints with being in government”. Like many business people
before him, and many after him, his sdution was to make the state agency like a private
organisation, as independent as possible from government.*>

When he came into government it was his intention to make it [CIDA] into a
Crown Corporation. And then he decided against it for avery practical reason. . .
he suddenly realised that at the Cabinet table, the Secretary of State for External
Affairsisthe man who speaksfor CIDA. He felt that a senior Cabinet Minister
speaking for CIDA, thiswas very important, and he didn't want to give that up. . .
S0 here he creaed another organization [IDRC] thet he could contrd and he could
shape and fashion and orchestrate.’*

There was another compelling reason that foreign aid would not become a Crown
Corporation. "CIDA was a huge source of contracts to the private sector and it was very
unlikely that a minister was going to let that kind of patronage move over to some sort of
organisation that was arm'’s length from the government."*>® So this idea was abandoned

until it resurfaced again in the shape of the IDRC proposal.

Maurice Strong hoped that the autonamy of the new organisation would be less
affected by the policies of EAO/CIDA than the other way around. Strong had
expectations that,

That IDRC would be a place of intellectual ferment and creativity. CIDA's got
that too but it's primarily operational and administering the funds and that
therefore IDRC's ideas would vary significantly. Well frankly, | thought that
IDRC would lead Canadian policy. Not because it was an adjunct but partly

RG 74 80-81/102, Volume 4, File 2-12 Pt. 1, Public Archives of Canada, 3.
31 Tim Plumptre, interview by author, 20 January 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.
152 |_ewis Perinbam, interview by author, 22 September 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
133 Tim Plumptre, interview by author.
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because it wasnt.

It was close. There was a close interaction at the Board level but tha by its
character it would be up front on policy on intellectual activity and new
initiatives; and that would influence Canadian foreign aid policy, both at the level
of the ministers but also at the level of CIDA, because CIDA isthe instrument for
that policy.™™

Strong wanted to distance IDRC bureaucratically from CIDA and other Canadian
political structures so that IDRC might be more isolated from domestic political
constraints. At thesame time, however, he sought to haveit serve as an example both in

Canada and the world of the possibilities that political distance could achieve.

A World University?

In 1962, the idea of the creation of aworld university leapt onto the world stage at
ateacher's conference in Stockholm when former President Eisenhower called for onés
establishment. Eisenhower was not the first to do so, but it was his pleathat inspired one
John Parker to further the proposal. Parker was Prindpal of Lorne School in Montreal,
and also a Montreal City Councillor.’* EXPO '67 was only afew years away and people
began to wonder what would be done with the site after the closing of the World's Fair. In
the summer of 1964, Councillor John Parker requested that the City Council consider that
the EXPO site be used as an international social science university, or United Nations
post-graduate training centre for civil servants of all countries, devoted to the arts of

peace, following the Fair. A motion to that effect was passed unanimously. In a meeting

1% Maurice Strong, interview by author, 28 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.

1% Maurice Strong said in his 1987 interview with the author that he was aware of
Eisenhower's proposal. But Strong was not sure if he was aware of it in 1967.

Maurice Strong, interview by author, 28 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
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between Pearson and the Canadian Home and School Federation (CHSF), also in 1964,
Parker in his guise as Principal of Lorne School presented hisideato Pearson
personally.* Nothing appears to have resulted from the meeting with Pearson. Parker got
little support for the idea from Jean Drapeau, his political leader. However, in 1965,
Parker managed to help set up a Canadian World University Committee under the
Chairmanship of Professor T.F. Domeradski of the Université de Montréd. Parker also
spent a considerable amount of effort writing to various universities across Canada and
different levds of government.® This effort was laer taken up by John Ricketts,'*® a
Public Relations man of the CHSF, who soldiered long and hard to get the idea taken up,

but with little success.

The exact way that Parker's proposal first reached the ears of Strong's colleagues
isstill not known. But the two most likely sources seem to be Roy Matthews, then of the
Private Planning Institute of Montreal, and Professor Irving Brecher of McGill who were
in contact with Parker's group.* Both approached Strong on the subject and were
consulted regarding the creation of IDRC. Strong today, however, only vaguely recalls
the proposal of aworld university. Furthermore he says "My commitment was to IDRC
ideaand | just thought that Montreal would be a very good place for it. And maybe we
could harness some of these political energiesin its favour."'®° Certainly Strong did

harness those energies, but it is also true that the earliest proposals reaching Strong, and

156 Bulletin of the Canadian Home and School and Parent-Teacher Federation, TD, 16
January 1968, MG 26, N4, Pearson PM O, 1965-8 IDC, Volume 237, 800.4 - World
Relations June 1967 to April 1968, Public Archives of Canada, 1-2.

157 John Parker, interview by author, 22 October 1987, Montreal, tape recording.
138 Known for hisinvention of EImer the Safety Elephant.

159" An International Institute on the EXPO Site," n.a., n.d. approx. Fall 1967, John E.
Ricketts Papers, Ottawa, 5.

160 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.
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theinitial proposds developed for Strong spoke of an internationally-ariented academic
institution, thus resembling the origind Parker proposd. Strong was also interested in
improving technical assistance programmes. In other words, Strong was especially
predisposed towards that part of the world university proposal which suggested the
training of civil servants, especialy if it more greatly involved those trained in the
understanding of international development. In early 1967, Maurice Strong had Lewis
Perinbam work part-time at EAO for afew months consultancy in Ottawa, (while
Perinbam was also working part-timeat the World Bank). Perinbam had previously
worked for the World Bank as their liaison at UN Headquartersin New Y ork
immediately preceding this. Perinbam had along history of working in NGOs and was
instrumental in the setting up of the Canadian University Service Overseas (CUSO), the
strengthening of the World University Services of Canada (WUSC) and the Canadian
Commission of the United Nations Economic Scientific and Cultural Organisation
(UNESCO).16!

Perinbam'’s approach to development assistance was often labour intensive.
Perinbam’'s WUSC experience and participation in setting up CUSO led him to have the,

Belief in finding resources to engble people to do things, and, in particuar, in
cultivating and developing relationships. It was not an aid concept. It was a piece
of building relationships, it might be through meetings or conferences, it might be
through the CUSO kind of exchanges, exchanges of students and scholars¢?

Perinbam had been very impressed by the research accomplishments of the private US

161 He |ater founded CIDA's NGO Program, Institutional Cooperation and
Development Services Programme, Industrial Cooperation Program, Public Participation
Programme, Intemational NGO Programme, Managemert for Change, and greatly
expanded the Special Programs Branch.

162 Perinbam.
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foundations, namely Ford and Rockefeller.!®* He favoured a Canadian version of these
foundations, but one that would be government funded. Lewis Perinbam seems to have
persuaded Maurice Strong as to the value of such an organisation in late 1966 or very
early in 1967. Strong may have been warm to the generd idea because it was similar in
spirit to the kind of arm's length arrangement of the Crown Corporation, which Strong
had wanted for EAO. In a sense, what indeed happened was that part of Perinbam'’s ideas
were split in two. One part became CIDA's NGO Division, the second became IDRC. As
Perinbam has put it, "Maurice got two things for the priceof one. . . He saw that he could

have both an NGO programme. . . and at the same time a Foundation."%*

163 |_ewis Perinbam, interview by author, 22 September 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
164 Perinbam.
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The Canadian International Development Foundation (CIDF)

L et us now concentrate alittle more on the organisation with which Perinbam was
associated, the Centennial International Development Programme (CIDP), and the
foundation proposal. In 1965, through the Centennial Commission run by Judy LaMarsh,
CIDP was given $250,000 to set up eight projects overseas'® and so that Ottawa NGOs
money would create programs that would, at once, commemorate the Centennial and
EXPO '67, and create awarenessabout developmert.*®® Little was done until early 1967.
So little was going on that the CIDP was about to be dissolved. But Maurice Strong
suggested that thisnot be done until the Executive Direcor spoke to the joumalist,
Wayne Kines. In January of 1967, J. Duncan Edmonds,'®” then Executive Director,
recruited Kines®® Using EXPO and Man and His World as thejustification for their

165 1t never did.

Tom Schatzky, interview by author, 18 April 1994, Ottawa, by telephone.

166 See documents in Foreign Affairs Records, Aid and Export Finance, Organizations
and Conferences, IDRC, CIDP, File 38-4-IDRC-10, Volume 1, "For Voluntary
Organizations, Background Information."

167 Edmonds had previously been Executive Assistant to Paul Martin, then Minister of
External Affairs.

188 Wayne Kines, interview by author, 14 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.

Duncan Edmonds was Executive Director of CIDP by 31 January 1967, Wayne Kines,
Director of Information and Tom Schatzky, (late of CIDA) Director of Y outh and
Information. Stewart Goodings, Executive Director of Company of Y oung Canadians,
was then on Board of Directors of CIDP. A prominent CBC personality, Larry
Henderson, was made head of CIDP's Speakers Bureau. Rev. Walter McLean became a
CIDP Programme Officer.

"For Voluntary Organizations, Background Information,” "Minutes of Board of
Directors," 31 January 1967, TD, Organizations and Conferences, IDRC, CIDP, File 38-
4-1DRC-10, Volume 1, Foreign Affairs Records, Aid and Export Finance.
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activities, the Centennia Internaional Development Programme launched a media
campaign to conscientise Canada about devel opment issues. Copying Oxfam, Tom
Schatzky, then Director of Y outh and Information produced Miles for Millions.**® This
programme, where ordinary Canadians, especially children, would walk as much as
twenty-five miles to collect money for development through pledges, was a partial
product of CIDP. Although CIDP did not last long after the Centennial Y ear, Miles for
Millions did. The tussle about what to do about CIDP after 1967 also led to the creation
of the Canadian Centre for International Cooperation (CCIC)*® and some ideas that were

proposed were included in IDRC.

On 13 February 1967, Edmonds and Perinbam,

Agreed that our objective was to work for the establishment of the
Canadian International Development Foundation, awell financed, large,
new foundation, based in Ottawa, having as its fundamental purpose to
enable Canadato play afull and effective role in the process of
international development.*”*

In addition to giving to history two words that would become part of the name of the
organisation, namely "Internationd Development”, the"Aide-Memoire" isthe first
example on paper that suggests that the Centre should be in Ottawa.'”> Furthermore, the
document includesthe very novel ides, that became areality in the shape of IDRC, to

have an international board of directors. According to an aide-memoire of the meeting,

169 Tom Schatzky, interview by author, 18 April 1994, Ottawa, by telephone.
170 Championed by Kines. Kines and Schatzky interviews.

11 3. Duncan Edmonds, DS, "An Aide-Memoire: Substance of a Meeting Between Mr.
J. Duncan Edmonds and Mr. Lewis Perinbam on February 13th, 1967," TD, February
1967, File 14, Document #000583, IDRC Records, 1.

12 \We can guess that Strong's new name for the EAO, CIDA, was a slightly modified
version of CIDF.
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The Board of Directors should consist of approximately fifteen people appointed
by the Prime Minister (either by the Governor in Council or directly depending on
the institutional status of the Foundation).

Up to one-third of the Board should beable to be selected from non-Canadians.
Several Board members should be from the developing countries.*”

In the event, IDRC's Board of Governors came to be composed of 21 members, one-half

minus one of which are non-Canadians. About seven of the Board come from developing

countries. All Governors are appointed by the Govemor-in-Council.

Perinbam and Edmonds believed that the Canadian International Development

Foundation should pursue four themes.

1

The Foundation should provide financial and other support for Canadian
individuals, organi zations and groups to undertake devel opment projeds
overseas. The Foundation should ad as agent of the Government in
providing financial assistance to support Voluntary Organizations engaged
in international development and international organization work.

The Foundation should provide support for research into international
development problems, especially as they relate to Canadian interests and
opportunities. It should become a source of information and knowledge
about international development and should have a well-equipped library
and a good information service. . .

The Foundation should promote knowledge of the problems and
opportunities of international development through various information
and communication media. In particular, the Foundation ought to make a
fundamental effort with the communication mediato vastly improve and
strengthen the amount of information Canadians receive about
international development.*”

Cabinet papers and preparatory committee reports referring to IDRC before its creation

173 3. Duncan Edmonds, DS, "An Aide-Memoire," 2.

174 3. Duncan Edmonds, DS, "An Aide-Memoire," 1-2.
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resemble point one quite closely. The genesis of CIDA's NGO Division is apparent. Point
four was more an outgrowth of the successes of the CIDP, but development education
also became alarge part of NGO Division's funding priorities. Of most relevance to the
creation of IDRC was point two because of its explicit focus on the funding of researchin
developing countries, which would have a good library and information service. Most
importantly, regarding the later development of IDRC they appear to have carried over
into the first formulations of the proposal in EAO. But one concept which was adopted by
IDRC wasn't listed in the document, Perinbam's concept of the foundation as alabour-
intensive organisation.*” Seemingly charged with Ward, Parke and Perinbam'’s ideas,
Strong hired one of hisinnumerable consultants to weave these ideas, as well as his own,

into adraft proposal.

175 |ewis Perinbam, interview by author.
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The New Manhattan Project and Academic Questions

Strong's new consultant seems to have been hired about 1 March 1967. His name
was Matthew Gaasenbeek, a stockbroker by trade, whom Strong had known for many
years in business. Gaasenbeek was, and remains today, a prodigious ideas man. Heis
presently Chair of the Ontario Development Corporation. The fact that Strong selected
him to lead the elaboration of this proposal suggests that he wanted the organisation to be
more like a business-like research organisation, than a bureaucracy or university. Most of
al hewanted it to be innovative, rather than highly structured. On 2 March 1967, Strong
sent aletter to Tom Kent, by then Deputy Minister of Manpower and Immigration.
Cryptically, Strong wrote, "l remain convinced that Canada should be doing something
significant in thisfield and | have aparticular ideaon this subject which | would like to
discuss with you."*"® We may conclude that the IDRC proposal that was to be devel oped

was the subject to be discussed.

Matthew Gaasenbeek says that at the outset of the study only afew ideas were
given to him elaborate upon.t”” One of the people Strong asked him to consult was the
Canadian, Burke A. Brown, another "excellent source of ideas," as Strong noted.*”®
Brown is a psychologist and corporate financier. Strong had discussed the idea of a
Centre with Brown in the last week of February. Brown thought that a"New Manhattan
Project” could be amodel for Strong's new organisation. Brown believed that financial
freedom, effective communication, and large amounts of money would be necessary in

order to get the maximum number of creative minds free to "concentrate on the problem

16 M. F. Strong to Tom Kent, 2 March 1967, TLS, Kent Papers, Archives, Queen's
University, Kingston.

17 Matthew Gaasenbeek, interview by author, 13 April 1994, Toronto, tape recording.

18 M.F. Strong, to Mr. Gaasenbeek, ANS, in Burke A. Brown to Maurice F. Strong,
TLS, 3 March 1967, Section A, File #000524, IDRC Records, 1.
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of the world's survival."'”® He hoped that Strong would be able to have sufficient freedom
to pursue abstract, philosophical ideas, determining social laws from the observation of
probability. Armed with these ideas the new Centre woud subsequently establish public
policy. Brown thought effective communications would be vital for such a Centre
because he expected that the newly determined laws would be contrary to common sense,

thereby requiring the re-education of both the public and government.*¥

Gaasenbeek consulted widely. He spoke to various Canadians including McGill's
Irving Brecher, Fernand Cadieux of Dynam Corporation, Roy Matthews & the Private
Planning Institute, and Marc Lalonde at PCO. The Canadians he consulted were
frequently not in favour. Many feared that money spent on the new organisation would be
diverted from them. This was especially so in the educational field. Jean Boucher of the
Canada Council said such activities "should be strenuously opposed."'#* Brecher thought

the "concept was great but was cold towards the idea of setting up a brand new Centre for

|t n182

Roy Matthews also proposed the setting up of an international institute on the
EXPO '67 site. Hiswould be an internationa "Institute of Canadian and | nternational
Studies." His proposal was attached to Gaasenbeek's report to Strong. Matthews' proposal
was to contribute to the language of the eventual Act establishing IDRC in that he mooted

17 Burke A. Brown to Maurice F. Strong, "Re: "New Manhattan Project,” TMS, 1
March 1967, IDRC Records, Section A, File #000526, 1-2.

180 Burke A. Brown, interview by author, 26 April 1994, Toronto-Ottawa, by
telephone, notes

181 Jean Boucher "Annex |, Interviews," TD, 30 March 1967, File 3, Document
#000013, "Initial Report on the Proposed Institute for the Advancement of Man™ TD, 19
April 1967, IDRC Records, 6.

182 |rving Brecher, "Annex |, Interviews," TD, 14 March 1967, File 3, Document
#000013, 1.
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hisinstitute would "initiate, coordinate, finance, direct, and publish studies." Further, the
proposal established the limited nature of the engagement of Centre staff in actual
research itself "the projects themselves being largely undertaken by outside experts." The
work would be multidisciplinary studies of grand themes, for example, "the fundamental
nature of nationalism."!# Matthews also proposed that the there be "Canadian
International Centres" spread across Canada which would "bring the world to Canada and

symbolize Canada's role in the world."8*

Matt Gaasenbeek went to Americaand spoke to Glen Olds at the State University
of New Y ork, who was in favour of aworld university. The visitor to State University
apparently believed that Olds's school of International Studies and World Affairs "fulfils
some of the functions which are being contemplated for the Canadian centre." He hinted
at those functionswhen he mentioned that Olds' school contained graduate studentsin
residence and had "recognized experts in residence."'®® In addition to State University,
Gaasenbeek also visited Carnegie, the Ford Foundation, the Hudson Institute, the United
Nations and the Centre for the Study Democratic Institutions in California (at Olds's
suggestion).

Strong himself believed that the problems of humanity could be solved by a
NASA or Manhattan Project approach. For Strong, "The object [of the Centre] would be
by using space agetechniques to advance the welfare, health and hgppiness and humanity

of man [sic]." The Centre would consist of "aworld centre of learning and a place where

18 Roy Matthews "Annex V, Canadain the World -- And the World in Canada," n.d.,
TD, File 3, Document #000012, "Initial Report on the Proposed I nstitute for the
Advancement of Man,"” TD, 19 April 1967, IDRC Records, 9.

184 Roy Matthews, "Canadain the World," 3.

18 Matthew Gaasenbeek, "Glen Olds," "Annex |, Interviews," 19 March 1967, File 3,
Document #000013, TD, in "Initial Report on the Proposed I nstitute for the Advancement
of Man" 19 April 1967, IDRC Records, 16-17.
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scholars from all over the world would concern themselves with social science problems.
.. [having at their disposal] world[-class] librariesand . . . complete computer services."
183trong was impressed by the think-tank goproach of the Brookings Institution and, in
particular, the Hudson Institute headed by Herman Kahn, whom he admired.*®’
Significantly, "think-tank" was a term which Barbara Ward used a great deal .*#8

18 M.G. Gaasenbeek, to M.F. Strong, "Memorandum to Mr. M.F. Strong from M.G.
Gaasenbeek," TM, 13 March 1967, File #4, Document #000020, IDRC Records, 1.

187 David Hopper, interview by author, 31 July 1987, Washington,
tape recording.

188 Stuart Peters, interview by author, 21 February 1994, Ottawa-Halifax, tape
recording, by telephone.

The term "think-tank™ was rarely been used in the sense associated with the American
notion when applied to the Canadian proposal. Rather the idea appears to have implied a
sort of social and natural scienceinstitute, with major figures both part of and brought in
to its meetings, asin Olds school.
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The Institute for the Advancement of Man (IAM)

By the end of March 1967, the name of the nascent institute was changed by
Strong to the Ingtitute for the Advancement of Man (IAM).** The name reflects the
global vision which included a sense of the progress of humankind as a whole, which
Ward and Strong bath championed. Gaasenbeek was given a further series of ideasto
explore as to the possible shape of the IAM by Strong. Gaasenbeek compiled alist of
subjects for study from Strong and others, ranging from studying the threat of nuclear
proliferation, to the role of education, from the role of the family unit, to problems of race
relationships!® Asis apparent above, the scope would have been woud have been vast
Strong thought that Canadians were "thinking big" because of EXPO '67 and the
Centennial. For those reasons the Institute for the Advancement of Man would be equally
grand.’®* To this end, Strong wanted aworld-dass library for the lAM. In common with
the Parker proposal,**? the IAM was not meant to be something tha would deal only with

the concerns of devel oping countries, unlike IDRC, which sprang from this proposal.

Developing countries were only asmdl part of the concerns of the propaosed IAM.
In fact, in the memorandum of Gaasenbeek to Strong in March, the only topic listed
specific to the Third World was a "general study of the development and problems of the

less-developed countries.” 1t was ranked number thirteen of fifteen items. Thisitem even

18 Strong hoped that the acronym for thelnstitute for the Advancement of Man, IAM,
would have a subliminal effect on English speakers. "l am" would be the subconscious
message of the ingtitute.

Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.

1% M.G. Gaasenbeek to M.F. Strong, "Memorandum,” TD, 13 March 1967, File #4,
Document #00020, IDRC Records, 3-4.

191 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 28 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
192 M.G. Gaasenbeek to M.F. Strong, "Memorandum,” 13 March 1967, 1.
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appears to havebeen crossed out.'** Sea farming, and the population explosion were also
suggested in the memorandum as possible topics. In a general way these two came to be
included in IDRC's set of interests. But very little of what came to be the main concerns
of IDRC in the years ahead were part of the proposed IAM. The IAM was to be for the
world, not just developing countries. Nevertheless, the elaboration of the proposal for the
|AM led directly to creation of IDRC. What seems to have shifted the focus to devel oping

countries was Strong's functional responsibility as Director-General for EAO.!%

Perinbam and Edmonds met with Gaasenbeek. According to a document signed
by Edmonds following that meeting, the trio discussed the form of the IAM and agreed
that it should more closely approximate Perinbam and Edmonds' proposed Canadian
International Development Foundation. The very approach to take in Gaasenbeek's report
to Strong was outlined,

We agreed that the report to Mr. Strong would take the following form.

After outlining the original terms of reference, the report would then stress the
objectives which Strong had in mind. These objectives would be set out clearly.

Then the report would analyze the original concept of an Institute for the
Advancement of Man, making reference to Mr. Gaasenbeek's various meetings
and concluding tha in its original formthe Institute would not likely be pracical,
feasible, or politically possible.**>
This document appears to indicate a high degree of coordination between Gaasenbeek,
Perinbam and Edmonds. However, by this time, much of Gaasenbeek's mind was made

up, he wanted something that was research-based, small and innovative, and "may have

19 M.G. Gaasenbeek to M.F. Strong, "Memorandum"”, 13 March 1967, 4.
19 Gaasenbeek, interview by author.

19 J, Duncan Edmonds, DS, " Substance of a Meeting Between Mr. M. Gaasenbeek,
Mr. L. Perinbam, and Mr. J.D. Edmonds," File 70, Document #000946, March 29, 1967,
IDRC Records, 1.
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gone through the motions" but did not trust Edmonds or Perinbam very much.%®

Two days later, on 31 March 1967, Lewis Perinbam produced his own proposal
for a Canadian Foundation for International Development. This resembled what had been
discussed by Edmonds and himself in February. The role of Canadiansin the Foundation
was till very greatly stressed. However, unlike the February proposal, the promotion of
Canadian investment in developing countries was dropped. Perinbam also suggested that
fellowships be created for Canadians studying international development. Like the
Canadian International Development Foundation proposal, Perinbam's own proposal
would be concerned only with developing countries. Research into development

problems continued to feature prominently.

On 19 April 1967, Matthew Gaasenbeek produced an "Initial Report on the
Proposed Institute for the Advancement of Man". In accordance with the apparent
agreement made with Perinbam and Edmonds, the report stressed the difficulties of
proposing the IAM as formulated by Strong. Gaasenbeek recorded that of the those
interviewed,

Many could foresee major political difficulties with Canadian universitiesif the
Canadian univerdties were not to bean integral part of this project. First of all it
was felt that the Canadian universities for years have been trying to set up or
improve their post graduate programs in these fields. They would feel that the
application of such magnitude to the new Institute would in fact be a diversion of
resources which at least in part should have been diverted to them. To add insult
to injury, the Institute would undoubtedly try to recruit some of the Universities
best personnel ¥’

Thiswas perfectly true. Gaasenbeek suggested that for these and other reasons the IAM

1% Matthew Gaasenbeek, interview by author, 18 April 1994, Ottawa-Toronto, by
telephone.

197 M. Gaasenbeek, "Initial Report on the Proposed Institute for the Advancement of
Man", TD, 19 April 1967, File 4, Document #000023, IDRC Records, 7.
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should first and foremost concentrate on basic research, by which he meant applied
appropriate technology.'*® The role of Canadian universities was emphasised by
Gaasenbeek's report. Indeed, Parker's proposal for an international post-graduate
university was included.’ Strong's consultant also recommended the funding of a UN
Satellite.

The documents givethe appearance that Gaasenbesk had apparently made some
sort of an underteking to Perinbam and Edmonds that his report would specifically call
for efforts to be supported only in the field of international development. But instead, the
document represents the same global focus that Strong had emphasised. Significantly,
Gaasenbeek did not broaden the funding of activities beyond that of research. Thiswas
very definitely contrary to the tendencies of Perinbam and Edmonds. In other words, the
strengthening of Canadian institutions was not stressed so much by Gaasenbeek and
Strong as by Edmonds and Perinbam. However, Gaasenbeek did accept the necessity of
an international board. In addition, "This Board should be drawn from the staffs of
universities, research centres or other organizations who could be expected to make a
contribution to the aims of the institute."?® This expectation has been partly come true in
the present IDRC. In the end, the main effect of Gaasenbeek's report on the evolution of
IDRC seems to havebeen to push the Certre towards fundng research assuch, and less
towards a Centre for scholars of international repute to meet, or as a funding institution

for Canadians.

198 M atthew Gaasenbeek, interview, Toronto.

199 With the exception of Brecher and Matthews, Parker and his colleagues never seem
to have been contacted by those involved in the elaboration of IDRC proposal. Instead,
Glen Olds, the Dean of Internationd Studies and World Affairs of New Y ark State
University was consulted regarding the proposal.

20 M atthew Gaasenbeek, "Initial Report on the Proposed Institute for the
Advancement of Man", 12.
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Early 1967 was clearly a period which saw a proliferation of ideasin the policy
environment. In many cases those ideas stuck to the expanding EAO, ailmost all were
partly or completely funded by the Canadian state, and in the devel opment assistance
envelope. Among the proposals related to IDRC in the 1967 policy environment in
Canada which actually became organisations | ater, only one escaped the Canadian net.
The United Nations University (UNU). After conversations with Ricketts, and no doubt
elsewhere, the idea was taken to Japan by Y asushi Akashi where with the sponsorship of
a speedboat millionaire it became UNU .2

21 Kines, interview by author.
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Strong's International Development Centre

By the end of April 1967, Matt Gaasenbeek had completed synthesising the
contributions of others, and putting his stamp on the proposal. In May, Strong himself
drafted the firg official memorandum. This memorandum sets out not only his
adjudication of the ideas which were being presented but also his own perspective. In this
16 May memorandum Strong laid out the context and the motivations behind the proposal
for the creation of an "International Development Centre" (IDC) as he saw them.

The international assistance programs begun in the early post World War |1 period
represent only the beginning of what will be along and complex process of
extending the benefits of modern life to the whole family of man. At the same
time rapidly advancing technology and the complex interrelationships of today's
world society require that more and more of the fundamental problems of man be
dealt with on an international basis and interdisciplinary basis. Thisin turn
requires the creation of new international and interdisciplinary institutions and
processes for dealing with these problems. . .

In the broadest terms the need is to concentrate more attention and more resources
on the application of the latest technology and techniques to the problems of
man's economic and socia development, particularly in the under-devel oped
soci eti es. >
What isinteresting is that as early as May 1967 Strong had almost decided on the final
name, that the organisation should have an up-to-date applied scientific interdisciplinary
basis, and be intemational but focusng especially on the economic and social problems

of developing countries.

Much of Strong's own conceptual thinking seems to have been drawn from the
World Institute's Julius Stulman.?®

What we must crege is an instrument—a methodol ogy of thecreative process, if

202 M.F. Strong (attributed by M. Gaasenbeek) "International Development Centre,
TM, 16 May 1967, Tom Kent Papers, Archives, Queen's University, Kingston.

203 Curiously, apparently no contact was made with Stulman subsequently.
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you wil—of continuing research and development based upon the most
comprehensive concept of problem-oriented, international and interdisciplinary
cooperation, consciously directed toward new processes for encouraging man's
continued evolution. What is needed is a Center made up of scientists,
philosophers, scholars and teachers, men and women drawn from every field of
knowledge, representative of every race, culture, nationality and ideology, and
united in one purpose to place al of their knowledge, skills and insights at the
service of al mankind, and working together with imagination and common
concern which can take them beyond the traditional claims of their individual
disciplines, nations and cultures and, indeed, beyond the boundaries of their own
time.®*

Thisis apowerful statement, which dearly appearsto have affected Strong because 0

much of it carried into the essence of IDRC.

Strong's inclination for creating an independent organisation re-emerged in the
month of May. In the same manner as Perinbam, Edmonds and Brown, he argued for a
kind of foundation to ensure "autonomy and integrity." According to Stuart Peters, who
was subsequently charged by Strong with bringing the IDRC proposal to fruition, "CIDA
isjust another arm of bureaucracy." Peters reports that Strong said "L et's start afresh, a
new name a new organisation."?* Strong proposed an endowment of $500 million

possibly spread over five years. Its expected annual income would be $30 million.2®

Strong accepted the conclusions of Gaasenbeek, Edmonds and Irving Brecher who
argued for funding to Canadian universities. The Director-General of EAO asserted that
the federal government had a special interest in fostering aweak spot in Canadian

204 Julius Stulman in M.F. Strong (attributed by M. Gaasenbeek) "International
Development Centre, 16 May 1967, TM, Tom Kent Papers, Archives, Queen's
University, Kingston.

205 Stuart Peters, interview by author, 21 February 1994, Ottawa-Halifax, tape
recording, by telephone.

26 M.F. Strong, "International Development Centre," 6.
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universities, the study of international relations. At this point, Strong thought that perhaps
the research might be done in Canada. Strong argued that IDRC was logically necessary,
based on his experience as a businessman. Maurice Strong was astonished to find that
EAO, Canada's main aid-giving organisation, had no research component. Strong
believed that any successful business should have a research component of about 5% of
gross revenue.?’” Strong reportedly said that,

The companies that had made him his money spent 5 or 6 % of saleson R&D.
Here you had the biggest business on Earth, international development with a
Canadian turnover of this being 300-600 million [CIDA], [he wondered whether]
a case could be made for 5% of that [Canadian ODA] to go to support research
into new technologes for the benefit of developing countries.?®®

Strong's May memorandum also named the "informal group” that Kent had
mentioned in December. However, they were now to be consulted by a small, select
Government task force composed of senior official and heads of certain unnamed
Government agencies under the chairmanship of a"senior person." Those to be consulted,
listed in order, were: Barbara Ward, William Clark of the Overseas Devel opment
Institute, Mr. McGeorge Bundy, John Kenneth Galbraith, Robert Hutchins, Marshall
McLuhan, Claude Bissell and Dr. Wilder Penfield.?® The names selected convey the
sense that Strong wanted to construct an organisation with a centre-left, somewhat

scientific and communications bent. Cadieux's view from External of this group was,

207 Strong quoted this 5% figure repeatedly so that IDRC would be accorded
approximately 5% or more of Canadian Officia Development Assistance.

208 Geoffrey Oldham, interview by author, 22 December 1993, tape recording, Ottawa.
29 M.F. Strong, "International Development Centre," 6.
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"Pressure group is a more accurate definition of what is suggested."#°

The Director-General considered there to be particularly Canadian ressons why
Canada should foster the IDC proposd.

From Canada's point of view we have an opportunity to find in this aspect of
international development arole which can give us a significant sense of nationa
purpose and national pride. The three principal areas in which the destiny of
mankind is being shaped at this period of history are the nuclear arms race the
space race, and the bridging of the gap between the rich and the poor nations. . . If
Canadaisto make a significant contribution to the world in our times it must be
largely in the fidd of internationd development. Fortunately it isalso in thisfield
that our country's own qualifications and capacities are most applicable?'!

The stress on a Canadian national destiny in the shadow of the Bomb is very close to the
spirit of Barbara Ward's October 1966 speech and a later letter she sent to Pearson. Her
later letter makes apparent that Ward saw IDRC as away of injecting new hope and
interest into devd opment activities especially in theUnited States (seeletter below in
footnotes). Ward encouraged Strong to have joint discussions with Americans on the

project.?*? Pearson was particularly intereged in this.

210 Marcel Cadieux, ANSin P.M. Towe to Marcel Cadieux, 11 August 1967, TLS, 38-
4-1DRC, Aid and Export Finance, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

21 M.F. Strong, "International Development Centre," 2.

Also repeated in Paul Martin to Lester B. Pearson, TLS, 1 June 1967, MG 26, N4,
Pearson PMO, 1965-8 IDC, Volume 237, 800.4 - Personal and Confidential, Public
Archives of Canada, 2.

212 | ndeed, the vast majority of discussions were with Americans. Ironically, no
representatives of devel oping countries were canvassed for their opinions.

M.F. Strong to Barbara Ward, TLS, 31 August 1967, Tom Kent Pgpers, Archives,
Queen's University, Kingston.
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Pearson was approached by Strong sometime earlier than the end of May. His
response was not entirely favourable. Shirley Seward says that Pearson first said that he
was spending too much on development assistance. But she notes that he was dso
concerned with the level of govemment expenditures.?® In early 1967 Pearson was
bringing in the expensive and path-breaking M edicare and Canada Assistance
Programme, the latter of which helps equalise service provision across provincial
boundaries. However, Tom Kent believes that if therewas wavering on the IDC proposal,

it was not a matter of if, but when.?*

213 Shirley Seward, "The Evolution of the International Development Research Centre
- An Interpretation by Shirley Seward,” TD, IDRC Library, 1975.

24 Tom Kent, interview by author.
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Questions Raised By the Mandarinate

Doubts about the International Devd opment Centre proposal surfaced quickly in
the bureaucracy, in several cases they could be termed resistance. Arrayed against the
proposal were the top officials of four of the most powerful federal agencies. External
Affairs, PCO, Treasury Board and Finance, apparently blocking all method of appeal for
Strong. These agencies were, at the least, unconvinced of the valueof the proposal.

The Reaction at External Affairs

The most vigourous and long-lasting questioning came from the Under-Secretary
of State for External Affairs (USSEA), Marcel Cadieux. Regarding the money to be spent
on the proposed Centre, Cadieux’s distaste for the ideais clear in amargin comment
where he wrote "If we have $500 million to spare in the next five years, | have 5 million
other ideas!"?*> Cadieux's view was not unique and was partly areaction to the situation
that was perceived to be the casein the American capital. There, aplethora of semi-
autonomous agencies had been created and purportedly had turned Washington into a
policy Tower of Babel 2%

The Under-Secretary of State sought out alies in the shape of the Deputy Minister
of Finance, R.B. Bryce. In the margins of a memorandum Strong sent to Cadieux is
written,

USSEA isin touch with Mr. Bryce, He would like a brief acknowledgement for
Mr. Strong saying tactfully that neither the idea not the procedure adopted so far

215 Marcel Cadieux, ANS, in M. F. Strong to Marcel Cadieux, TLS, 17 May 1967, 38-
4-IDRC, Aid and Export Finance, IDRC, Foreign Affairs Records.

218 John English, interview by author, 3 February 1994.
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to promote it commend themselves to him2*

Whether Bryce and his officials came to the conclusion by themselves, thar
disgruntlement with Strong's proposal was clear enough and lasted for at least ayear. A
subsequent version of the proposal asked for a $600 million endowment, Bryce appears to
have written "Nuts" in the margins?'® A year later, only afew days before the new Prime
Minister, Trudeau, announced his desire to establish the Centre, R.Y. Grey, Bryce's
subordinate wrote Bryce,

I remain unconvinced that there isa need for this, that if there is aneed we can fill
it; that Canadaistheright place; or tha this should be givenvery high priority. Its
like more than jobs for academics, and demonstrates the relevance of the comment
that "there's money in poverty."

Constant jibes were made by Diefenbaker of centre-left Tom Kent about his then
considerable $25,000 salary. The former PM often said, "He's won hiswar on poverty”. It
isunclear whether thisis an obliqueassociation of theproposal with Kent, and criticism

from the more conservatively minded staff of Finance.?*

During lunch with Pearson on 29 May 1967, Ward argued persuasively for the
setting up of IDRC (see letter by Ward below). Shortly &ter their lunch, he gave his
public support to the idea. Ward also spoke to Paul Martin and the anglophone and

francophone media about the proposed Centre. Strong wrote to Ward that "there isno

27 ANS, Unidentified, 22 May 1967, in M.F. Strong to Marcel Cadieux, 38-4-IDRC,
TLS, 17 May 1967, Aidand Export Finance IDRC, Foreign Affairs Records.

28 R.B. Bryce, (presumed) AN in Memorandum to Cabinet, "Centre for International
Development," TD, 4 July 1967, RG 19, Box 5277, File 7810-03-4 Pt. 2, Canadian
Development Assistance Centres, IDRC, Finance Records, Public Archives of Canada, 2.

29 RY Grey, (presumed) AN, in R.Y. Grey to R.B. Bryce, "International
Development Centre Steering Committee Meeting, Thursday, May 23, 2:30 p.m.,"” TD,
22 May 1968, RG 19, Box 5277, File 7810-03-4 Pt. 2, Canadian Development Assistance
Centres, IDRC, Finance Records, Public Archives of Canada, 1.
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doubt" that her "interest and support” was "one of the mainreasons why the Prime

Minister and Mr. Martin have taken it up so enthusiastically."

Like Ward, Pearson was particulaly concerned with the flagging fortunes of aid
at theinternational level, particularly in the United States. The next year, Pearson headed
the Commission on International Devel opment whose main task was to promote foreign
aid internationally.? In letters to Kenneth Kaunda, Prime Minister of Zambia, President
Julius Nyerere of Tanzania, Prime Minister Indira Gandhi of India and other
Commonwealth |eaders, Pearson says that the main purpose of the Commissionisto
regenerate the enthusiasm of Americans for international devel opment assistance?* For
Pearson, Ward and Strong, Canada had a unique destiny to fulfil and an opportunity to
take advantage of .2

220 Strong gave great succour to Pearson and the Pearson Commission.

| was even party to the process of getting him appointed as Chairman with
William Clark and Bob McNamara. Bob McNamara wanted somebody
else. William Clark and | kind of conspired to promote Pearson. They
didn't have any money or anything like that so | provided facilities at
CIDA.

Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.

221 B. Pearson to Kaunda, Gandhi, TLsS, MG 26 N 5, Val. 18, 800.4 - Commission
of International Development, Pearson Papers, Public Archives of Canada.

222 n her letter to Pearson, Ward wrote,

After nearly twenty years of trial and error in the field of economic assistance, we
have learnt a great deal about what can and cannot be done. Above al, the
groundwork does exist for the first priority in development - the modernization of
agriculture. But we arein apeculiar situation, all the same. In the eyes of many
politicians and voters, the prograns are supposed to have failed. Even with
enthusiasts, some of the ideas seem old and tired. A lot of the excitement of using
new techniques for new purposesis simply failing to get across. And alot of
excellent information is deeply buried in unread reports. If this slackening of
tempo goes on, we could end with avast increase in our Atlantic resources, a vast
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The day after the Ward-Pearson lunch and Ward's tel evision appearances,
Cadieux's principal tactic seems to have been to slow down the process as much as
possible.

| hope too, even a this stage and despite the interest on the part of Ministarsto
which you refer, the basic principles and priorities will be fully discussed before
any recommendation is formulated or indeed beforeatask force of senior officials
is appointed to explore the details of the proposal."**

Strong was not to be slowed down. Even as Cadieux's | etter was being dated Strong was
sending a memorandum to the Minister, Paul Martin, via Cadieux, sketching out the
outlines of an International Development Centre. Strong wrote to Martin, "As per your

request, | am enclosing aletter to the Prime Minister for your signature concerning the

increase in human needs and a catastrophic slackening in
Western effort.

| think areally large scale, up-to-date, technologically sophisticated centre of
operational research into intemational development could help counter this
daunting risk:. . .

Thereis afurthe argument for seting up the Centre in Montreal and doing so
soon. The Americans are coming to the conclusion that they need such a centre
and such a data bank. The U.N.D.P. is considering a comparable development. If
Canada acts soon and acts on a suffident scale, other nations and centres will use
Montreal from the start and the wealthy nations will thus avoid yet another
exercise in overlap and jealousy Canada has the resources to make areally
important contribution. But as a medium-power, its efforts will not be
misinterpreted as neo-colonialism ar whatever. Its bilingual charader givesit
access to all the developing areas and its position in the western hemisphere gives
it aunigue chance of influencing American policy. The Centre too, could be a
symbol of the larger purposes of Canada as a bilingual nation with an
international vocation.

Lady Barbara Ward Jackson to Lester Pearson, TL, 29 May 1967, Pearson PMO, MG 26,
N4, 1965-8 IDC, Volume 237, 800.4 - Personal and Confidential, Public Archives of
Canada, 1-2.

23 Marcel Cadieux to Maurice Strong, TLS, 30 May 1967, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 1, Aid
and Export Finance, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.
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proposal for establishing a Centre for International Development."?** The expected
reaction of the leadership of parts of the mandarinate |ed one underling to write on
Strong's document, "Y ou know what the establishment thinks of this!"?*

224 Maurice Strong to Marcel Cadieux, "Memorandum for the Minister, International
Development Centre," TLS, 30 May 1967, 38-4-IDRC, Aid and Export Finance, IDRC,
Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

225 AN, n.d. n.s. in Maurice Strong to Marcel Cadieux, "Memorandum for the Minister,
International Development Centre," 30 May 1967, TLS, 38-4-IDRC, Aid and Export
Finance, IDRC, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.
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Pearson's Announcement

Pearson made public the proposal for the creation of IDRC in Halifax.?® But few
peopl e outside Ottava took note of his aanouncement. Thefirst time that the idea came to
the attention of the greater Canadian public, and the bureaucracy as a whole, was on 7
June 1967 when Prime Minister Pearson announced the likelihood of the setting up of a
Centre at a banquet given by the Canadian Political Science Association at Carleton
University in Ottawa. Pearson said,

If free civilization isto survive and grow, we must very soon find vastly improved
methods for extending the benefits of modern existence to the whole world
community of man. The rapidly advancing technology and the complex

interrel ationships of today's globd society demand that the fundamentd problems
of man be dealt with on an international and interprofessional basis.

The challenge for international development isto find new instruments for
concentrating more attention and resources on applying the latest technology to
the solution of man's economic and social problemson aglobal basis. . .

A lot of excitement in using the new techniques for the purposes of peace and
universal human progress, instead of for war and universal human destruction, is
simply not getting across, either to world statesmen or to the people of the
developed countries. So the Government is looking into the possibility of building
on the inspiring theme of "Man and His World' created by EXPO, a Centre for
International Development that might perpetuate on amore permanent basis this
heightened Canadian awareness of the problems and the challenges confronting
all mankind at the present time.

We cannot and do not wish to become a great power from the defence point of
view; but we have already proven in our peace-keeping efforts that we can make a
good contribution to world order. Perhapsit will now prove possible for usto add
anew dimension to our modest role in the world community by providing for a
sharpened focus on the challenge of international development facing every
country.??

2% David Hopper, interview by author, 1987.

227, B. Pearson, Speech given at the Annual Meeting of the Canadian Political
Science Associaion, Carleton University, Ottawa, TD, 7 June 1967, Tom Kent Papers,
Queen's University, Kingston, 6.
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With Pearson's statement the proposal was firmly planted on the political map of 1967.
Much of Pearson’'s announcement seems to come from Ward's | etter. Two weeks before
the Pearson statement Ward wrote, "A lot of the excitement for the new techniques for
new purposesis simply failing to get across.” (see footnote above). The gatement seems
too to harken back to Strong's "New Manhattan Project” as it emphasises the application
of new techniques.?®® So what we see with Pearson's announcement in Juneis achangein
the proposal in the direction of international development, although recognising that the
challenge faces "every country”. The focus had moved away from the funding of
university and scholarly activitiesper se, and towards a more technocratic solution to
problems. Another aspect of Pearson's discourse is adear extension of the logic that if
Canada could have global influence as a middle-power involved in peace-keeping, it
might do the same in this sphere. Finally, the speech fits very much with Pearson's
general approach to development in Canada, extend its benefits as widely as possible, as

he had earlier in the year with Medicare and the Canada A ssistance Program.

After the announcement of the idea by Lester Pearson on the seventh of June at
Carleton University, Marcel Cadieux, the Under-Secretary of State for External Affairs
telephoned Strong, apparently quiteangry. Cadieux chided Strong and sad that, "Asa
new Deputy Minister [DM]?° around here, youdon't put things to minigers, and certanly
not to the Prime Minister, until they've been cleared by the official structure."?*° Cadieux
was especially unhappy with Strong because he did not follow governmert rituals at all.
Strong has said that one of the Prime Minister's staff had brought the proposal to the

228 Asdid Ward's |l etter.

229 At this time Strong only had the official rank of Director General, although in
practical terms he had a DM's rank.

20 Marcel Cadieux, according to the recollection of Maurice Strong, quoted in, David
Spurgeon. ed. Give Us the Tools Ottawa: International Development Research Centre,
1979, 13.
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attention of Pearson, and that he had merely responded to a question fromthe Prime
Minister.?! The fact that Ward had just been in Ottawa makes one think that perhaps the

intermediary who led Pearson to ask the question was Tom Kent. As Kent says,
Maurice. . . didnt have much use far conventional bureaucracy, if you wanted to
something done you took the most direct route. This would happen only if
Pearson really wanted it to happen and therefore the thing to do was to convince
Pearson. And he knew damn well that Barbaraand | and he were wantingto
convince Pearson and everybody dse and that was that.?*?
According to Strong, Pearson purposdy included the reference to the Centre to

ensure that it would have some likelihood of being created. Strong recollected,

And he [Pearson] said, he laughed actually, "Look Maurice, I've been around here
along time" and he said,” | specificdly didn't tell you | was going to announce it,
because you, the reason they're all upset is, they all understand very well that once
the Prime Minister has announced it is going to be very difficult not to doit. | did
it deliberately. So that's why they're upset, they wouldn't be upset if it was
innocuous. They know that in some form or another it will happen.?*®

But despite Pearson's announcement, resistance came from other quarters too.

Inside EAO

Peter Towe had been Acting Director General of EAO until Strong became
Director General. Neither Towe, nor his deputy Denis Hudon, opposed Strong. But they
did inform him of the concerns of the other officials of EAO. These revolved around
similar concerns to many other officials and people outside government, namely, how the

creation of IDRC was going to affect them. The reaction of EAO's employeesto the

1 David Spurgeon, (ed)., Give Us the Tools 12.

232 Tom Kent, interview by author.
233 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.
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proposal for the creation of IDRC was one of jealousy. Officialsin EAO were aware of
the degree of autonomy that the organisation would have, compared to their own relative
constraints; how free IDRC would be of budgetary constraints. Echoing the views of
those under him rather than his own thoughts, Maurice Strong said to the Standing
Committee of External Affairs and National Defence which considered Bill C-12 that
IDRC was being given,

Many of the powers and flexibilities which we do not have in our own program
which is going to operate with a budget that is coming out of our budget in the
sense that it will not be available to usand therefore will be reducing in asense
the size of the CIDA effort and which will have lots of the powers and lots of the
facilities that we wish we had, so that in that sense | might say that my colleagues
and | in the CIDA organization have been very anxious to be convinced that it had
thiskind of value because if it did not, if it were not going to do this, then we
would not want to see these expenditures flowing around through another
institution.®*
One anonymous CIDA informant likened the situation to a family where the ddest child
sees the youngest being given al the attention and being pampered at the expense of the
eldest. Consequertly, there was opposition to IDRC within CIDA, although it never burst
into the open. So despite these concerns, little open opposition articulated within EAO.
Nevertheless, External Affairs wanted contactsin EAO to determine what other members
of that Office thought of the proposal. Cadieux appears to have written, "Would it be

useful to ask Miss SAazak for comments "from the inside Pls[sic] treat as strictly
private "2

24 gtanding Committee of External Affairs and National Defence. Minutes and
Proceedings of Evidence, No.13, Wednesday, 11 February 1970, Parliament, House of
Commons, 13:95.

25 AN in Maurice Strong, to Marcel Cadieux, "Memorandum for the Minister,
International Development Centre,” TLS, 30 May 1967, 38-4-IDRC, Aid and Export
Finance, IDRC, Foreign Affairs, 1.
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Support for the general idea of assistance to institutionsin the Third World did
exist within the Canadian government. The External Aid Board consisted of senior
officials with interests in the disbursements of the External Aid Office In the 1960s, this
meant that the Director General of the External Aid Organisation, the Deputy Minister of
Trade and Commerce, the Assistant Deputy Minister of Finance, and the Under-Secretary
of External Affairs would meet occasionally to discuss matters of mutual concern. The
minutes record that J.A. Roberts, then Deputy Minister of Trade and Commerce said at
the very first meeting of the External Aid Board in 1961,

That avery high priority should be attached to helping the economically under-
developed nations to help themselves, rather than providing them with large
capital projects. It was his view that colleges and teacher's institutions were
frequently required more urgently than large capital projects, andthat our aid
funds could go much further promoting devel opment of the former type.?®

However, Roberts's was a minority opinion, most involved with external aid were

concerned with capital projects which would have a high Canadian content.

PCO and the Universities

One of the main problems that the proposers of the Centre for International
Development encountered was a result of the vagueness of the proposal, which could be
saluted and cursed with the same ferocity. And this vagueness brought about a strong
response from thethen tiny Privy Coundl Office. On 4 July 1967, a Memorandum to
Cabinet was submitted by Paul Martin, as Minister of External Affairs, which set out the
proposal for a Centre for International Development. The July 4th Memorandum to
Cabinet was remarkably nebulous. But the name of the organisation had changed once
again (even that had still to be decided). The Centreis varioudly referred to asthe

236 JA. Roberts, "Minutes of the Externd Aid Board, No. 1, Jauary 9, 1961", TD, RG
74,Vol. 4, File 2-12, Pt. 1, Public Archives of Canada, 3.

132



"International Development Centré' and the "Centre for Internationd Development” in
the document. This simple change and the content of the document strengthened the trend
towards the Centre becoming something much more in linewith Perinbam's preferences.
Like Strong's earlier memorandum, the new organisation became a centre not an institute.
This document confirms the shifts in direction seen in Pearson's statement which
indicates a movement towards the study of internationd development. In accordance with
Pearson's statement of June, the memorandum contains | ess reference to global problems
and more to those of developing countries.?” Further, in line with Perinbam and
Edmonds' viewpoint, the memorandum emphasi ses the benefits and involvement of
Canadians, espedally the university community. The memorandum was not officially
discussed until August but the ideas included in it were responded to before the original

submission to Cabinet.

Resistance to the idea of a Centre for International Development came from the
Clerk of the Privy Council, R. Gordon Robertson on 24 May in aletter to Strong. Perhaps
the word resistance is too strong. Robertson perceived hisrole as one who raised
questions as to the viability of proposals, rather than oppose.?® Strong, and Robertson's
subordinate, C.R. "Buzz" Nixon agrees with Robertson's self-perception.?® Nixon, on his
own initiative,*® wrote to his superiors. Nixon's reservations were passed on to Robertson
and then to Pearson, Strong, and Martin. Robertson's assistant believed that, "None of

these problems are items which should not be, and could not be handled by Canadian

Z7"Memorandum to Cabinet, "Centre for International Development,” TM, 4 July
1967, Cabinet Document #420/67, PCO Reoords.

2% R, Gordon Robertson, interview by author, 18 August 1987, by telephone, notes,
Ottawa.

239 Maurice Strong, interview, 1987; C.R. Nixon, interview by author, 20 August 1987,
tape recording, Ottawa.

240 C.R. Nixon, interview by author, 20 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
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universitiesif the funds were provided."?*

Robertson's own memorandum to Prime Minister Pearson on 20 July 1967 was
strongly worded, less a question than a judgement. He wrote, "1 am convinced that a
"Center" as such is a dubious proposition."?*> Robertson's reservation was "that the
funnelling of expenditure, effort and intelligenceinto a special center will have adverse
effects on Canadian Universities."*** Robertson wrote to Marcel Cadieux,

| am satisfied personally that the arguments against a Centre as such are extremely
strong. If we can get the consideration shifted from that [a Centre] to an
assessment of a program of research using Canadian universities, it seeansto me
that the gain would be very great.*

In the margins of that text Marcel Cadieux wrote "Agreed"”.

Although the comments of Robertson and Nixon focus on the difficulties of the
universities that the creation of IDRC might create, Robertson and Nixon have said that
neither actually contacted universities regarding the proposal, or had very close relations

with them in generd.?*® A contemporary in the university community, D.R.F. Taylor

241 C.R. Nixon, "Memorandum to Mr. Crowe: International Development Center Cab
Doc. 420-67." TLS, 14 July 1967, Pearson PMO, MG 26, N4, 1965-8 IDC, Volume 237,
800.4 - Policy UN, Public Archives of Canada, 2.

242 R, Gordon Robertson, "Memorandum for the Prime Minister - Mr. Strong's
proposal for a Center for International Development',” TMS, 20 July 1967, Pearson
PMO, MG 26, N 4, 1965-8 IDC, Volume 237, 800.4 - Policy, UN, Public Archives of
Canada, 3.

23 R, Gordon Robertson, "Memorandum for the Prime Minister - Mr. Strong's
proposal for a Center for International Development™, 1.

244 R, Gordon Robertsonto Marcel Cadieux, 21 July 1967, TLS, 38-4-IDRC, Volume
1, Aid and Export Finance, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

245 Robertson; Nixon.
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believes quite the contrary.?* Whatever the case, their criticisms were to some extent
valid. The Center was vague on the degree and nature of Canadian participation, perhaps
deliberately so. Moreover, the Memorandum to Cabinet represented the Center for
International Development as something akin to Ward and Strong's "think-tank™. Like
Perinbam'’s Foundation, the Centre would be dedicated more to development, hence the
name, and stressed the benefits to Canadians that the Centre would bring. Perhaps most
important to the survival of the Centre for International Development, Pearson made a
series of notes in the margins of Robertson and Nixon's submissions, none of which
supported their position. For example, Pearson wrote the "emphasis on doing the work
through Can[adian] univ[ersities] would prejudice the international character of the

Center and the chances of getting UN and Int[ernational] support - money and men" 2

The analysis of Strong and Gaasenbeek of these criticismsisinteresting. Ina
memorandum to Strong, Gaasenbeek interpreted Robertson's intervention thus, "Mr.
Robertson's memorandum appeared to reflect afairly strong negative bias."?*
Gaasenbeek's own reaction to Robertson's criticisms was sharp.

Mr. Gordon Robertson seems to suggest what appears to anount to only a small
federal program of assistance to graduate studies a Canadian universities. This
program, of course, will be oriented towards international development and
related matters | fear, however, that this program would settle down eventually to
just amethod of financing graduate sudiesin the socid sciences. Such aprogram,
so highly desirable, would not have international impact, would not act as afocus

26 D.R.F. Taylor, interview by author, 30 March 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.

247 R, Gordon Robertson, "Memorandum for the Prime Minister - Mr. Strong's
proposal for a " Center for International Development'," 1.

248 M atthew Gaasenbeek to Maurice F. Strong, “1.A.M. - Nixon Memorandum”, TM,
25 July 1967, Document #000373, File 23, IDRC Records, 1.

The author concurs and would say that within bureaucratic parlance to call the project of
Strong, a man with powerful backers and afairly high position in the hierarchy,
"dubious’ was a serious criticism indeed.

135



for Canadian aspirations, and would not fulfil the objectives we have set out for
the Centre.?®
As the above quotation suggests, the reaction of those involved with the realisation of
IDRC was not conciliatory. But the criticisms of the effects of the Centre for International
Development on the Canadian academic community were not limited to the mandarinate,

not surprisingly, Canadian universities voiced similar concerns.

The Canadian universities were, in fact, one of thefirst groups to express some
alarm at the possible creation of IDRC. When Matthew Gaasenbeek made hisfirst
explorations into what the shape of the then Institute for the Advancement of Man/New
Manhattan Project should be, the reaction of the Canadian university community was
even hostile at times, and not favourable in general > But the criticisms of the PCO and
the academic community had little impact. If they did have any effect, they simply helped
to further distance IDRC from close cooperation with Canadian universities. However,
subsequent statements by Ministers, inreports, in the press, cooed that there would
necessarily be a close relationship between IDRC and Canadian universities. Other
tactical moves were made to ensure that the bureaucracy and the universities werenot

overly resistant.

One concrete outcome of the 4 July memorandum and subsequent meeting of
Cabinet in August 1967 was the setting up of a Steering Committee of Senior Officials,
and eventually, a Task Force.?>* The Steering Committee itself consisted of Strong, the

249 M atthew Gaasenbeek, 25 July 1967, 1.

20 Matthew Gaasenbeek, "Initial Report on the Proposed Institute for the
Advancement of Man," "Annex |," 12.

21 The committee consisted of M.F. Strong as Chairman, J.R. Baldwin, A.B. Bryce,
M. Cadieux, G.F. Davidson, J.F. Grady, A.D.P. Heeney, C. Ishister, T.M. Kent, L.
Rasminsky, S.S. Reisman, R.G. Robertson, G.G.E. Steele, O.G. Stoner, JH. Warren, J.R.
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Deputy Ministers or equivalent of seventeen federal departments and science related
agencies. Kent does not recall there ever being one as large, nor one concerned with the
initiation of a proposal. It included so many departments for areason.” The Steering
Committee was used to diffuse opposition to the proposal. Other DMs were likely to
support something opposed by External and Finance, as these departmentswere naturally
disliked. According to Tom Kent,

It was an attempt to dilute Finance and External Affairs, which you remember are

not popular departments for the rest of the departments. . . .

None of the others are going to be natural allies of External and Finance. Many of

the Deputies individually would be people who would be naturally quite

sympathetic.??
External Affairs officials were anxious that the viability of the proposal not be prejudged.
Discussion of the IDC proposal by some Deputy Ministers took place at the External Aid
Board at the end of June 1967. Cadieux "looked at [the proposal] in terms of alternative
uses for the funds which would be required for such a project. If such an institution was
to be formed perhaps it might be given to UNESCO and located in Europe.” Most wanted
it to be outside the country, some not associated with Canada at all. Cadieux was not
present at the first Steering Committee meeting. In the absence of Marcel Cadieux, the

main critics of the proposal were Bryce and Davidson of Treasury Board. >

Despite the apparently conditional nature of the acceptance of a need for a Centre,
a Task Force wasquickly set up, formally in April 1968, consisting mostly of university
academics who pondered what the Centre might study and how it might be structured.

Weir, JW. Willad, and S.B. Williams

22 Tom Kent, interview by author.

23 "Memorandum for the Under-Secretary (On return) Centre for International
Development,” TM, 15 August 1967, 38-4-IDRC, Aid and Export Finance, Foreign
Affairs Records, 2.
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Notable among the Task Force was Irving Brecher and Geoffrey Oldham of the Science
Policy Research Unit (SPRU) at the University of Sussex.* The choice of academics
over any other group of analysts seems to have been deliberate. Lewis Perinbam had sent
aletter to Strong suggesting that it might be wise to have some of the members of the
Task Force from outside government. "It might strengthen the Task Force and also make
its recommendations more widely acceptable, for instance in the universities."#* Strong
responded to that letter by trying to find university professors of a high reputation.
Douglas LePan of University College, the University of Toronto was approached in
August 1967, but could not take the post. Strong held discussions with Prof. Grant

Reuber at the University of Toronto.

Strategy was uppermost in Strong's mind.

My response to the bureaucracy was to search out, to try and coopt them, by
searching out an establishment person who would commeand all of their regect,
and get him to head up atask force to develop the proposal further. | settled on
Wynne Plumptre who was a product of the establishment but also had flair and
imagination.?®

Plumptre was at that time the Principal of Scarborough. A former DM of Finance with an
international reputation, Plumptre was deeply embedded in both the mandarinate and the
financial community. Plumptre accepted the position in October 1967.

24 The full membership of the Task Force was: John Bene, Geoffrey Oldham, C.F.
Bentley of the University of Alberta Agriculture, Garnett T. Page then Pilot Projects
Branch Manpower and Immigration, Irving Brecher, E.C. Pleva of the Department of
Geology, University of Western Ontario, London, Tillo E. Kuhn, Professor of
Economics, York, L.B. Siemens, Roy Matthews of the Private Planning Association of
Canada, Montreal, L.B. Somins of the University of Manitoba, R.B. Toombs, Assistant
Chief of the Mineral Resources Department Energy, Mines and Resources, and J.T.
McCary of Integron Association Limited, Montreal.

2% |ewis Perinbam to Maurice Strong, TLS., 1 June 1967, File 70, Document
#000956, IDRC Records, 1.

2% Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.
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Scientists Gain Influence

Strong saw the IDC as a think-tank and a means to further the application of
science and technology. So Strong made himself willing to bend his ear to people with
backgrounds that might understand his ends. Two such people in particular were given
places near Strong's tent, the biologist, Stuart Peters, and the British science policy

expert, Geoffrey Oldham.

Oldham's association with the proposal began with a chance call to Oldham from
the secretary at the Institute of Development Studiesin Brighton, UK. Plumptre had
arrived in Britain with his wife and was staying at the fashionable Athenée in London. He
wanted to talk to various people about the Canadian initiative. Oldham was suggested.

This random occurrence was to have amgjor effect on the subsequent shape of IDRC.

Oldham had set up the Science Policy Research Unit (SPRU) with Chris Freeman
at Sussex University in 1966. It became a graduate school with half its students drawn
from the physical and half from the social sciences. Plumptre was impressed. He
suggested that Strong visit Oldham during his next trip to Europe. Oldham had done his
graduate training in Geophysics at University of Toronto and then worked for Chevron
Qil, going to Latin Americafor exploration purposes. Following his graduate supervisor,
Tuzo Wilson's lead, Oldham went to Asiawhere he developed an interest in the
application of science to development. His experience in Hong Kong and other parts of
Asiainduced Oldham to be interested in how society is "using science and technology as

atool in its economic and social development."%’

Dr. Stuart Peters became the Coordinator of the Steering Committee to consider

%7 Geoffrey Oldham, interview by author, 8 December 1993.
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the proposal. Peters had been personally selected by Strong, and hired as a Special
Advisor to the President of CIDA. However, Peters self-described mandate was more
ends oriented, it was to "pull thistogether. . . establish abudget . . . and get it through."%®
Peters had worked for some time in the Newfoundland government. He had been the
provincial govemment's chief biologist, and then acted for seven years as Deputy
Minister of Resources. Before becoming Coordinator, he had been in charge of planning

economic development in the rural areas of Newfoundland.

In the manner of Gaasenbeek, Plumptre, Peters and members of the Task Force
conducted tours of various nationd and internationd institutions. All sought to canvass
what support there was for the general idea. Plumptre submitted afeasibility study which
replied that all were enthusiastic. Of course, some were enthusiastic. Indeed, when Peters
visited the United Nations, he received a standing ovation.>® But as their predecessors
discovered, a number of interlocutors were less than pleased at the prospect of the

proposal, however tentative.

The Global Development Support Communications Centre

In September of 1967, another proposal surfaced which was to affect the future of
IDRC. The Director of Communications of the United Nations Devel opment Programme,
Erskine Childers was at a Massey Ferguson sponsored International Y outh Conference in
Toronto in the summer of 1967. At this conference he sad, casually, that there was a

great need for a communications Centre which would support development efforts world-

28 Stuart Peters, interview by author, 1994.
29 Stuart Peters, interview by author.
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wide.?®® Members of the staff of the CIDP were at the conference. His words were passed
on to Wayne Kines, communications chief of the CIDP. Of course, thisidea had
something in common with Edmonds and Perinbam'’s foundation. Encouraged by Kines,
Childers developed a proposal which called for an International Development Support
Communications Centre, linked to the United Nations. The Centre would be built on the
site of EXPO '67, just as other proposals had suggested the UNU and IDRC should be.
Kines and Childers lobbied Parliament and Cabinet to have the Centre built. They
succeeded in getting the interest of the Cabinet.

CIDP's benefactress, Judy Lamarsh, asked Prime Minister Pearson to meet with
Childers.®' Pearson became very interested in the Childers proposal, so much so that he
convened a spedal meeting of amodfied version of the IDC Steering Committee to
study the proposal. These officials were not well-acquainted with the details of the
proposal, and what they knew of it they did not like. The officials did approve of
Childers call for the setting up of aworld-class development data bank within the Centre,
which echoed Strong's first ideas regarding the IAM. But the members of the
mandarinate, were "especially skeptical [sic] of the internationd public relations facility
suggested by Mr. Childers." Michael Pitfield suggested though that it be "put in the
hopper."?%? The officials resolved that the Childers proposal was to be investigated by
Plumptre and the rest of the Steering Committee (who had investigated the Childers
proposal already as members of the group of senior officials Pearson called together). Not

260 Erskine Childers, interview by author, 3 August 1987, tape recording, New Y ork.

#1T.J. Wylie, "Memorandum for the Prime Minister,” TM, 25 September 1967, 800.4
World Relations, June 1967 to April 1968, File 703.2/C212, Pearson PMO, Public
Archives of Canada, 1.

%62 0.G. Stoner to L.B. Pearson, "Memorandum for the Prime Minister: The Childers
proposal for Post-EXPO Site Use", 2 November 1967, TLS, MG 26, N4, Pearson PMO,
1965-8 IDC, Volume 237, 800.4 Personal and Confidential, Public Archives of Canada,
1.
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surprisingly, the proposal did not go far with such an audience. Cadieux thought it a"pure
propaganda proposal."?* Plumptre was not favourably disposed towardsiit either,
although in hisinvestigations he dutifully asked those he met what they thought of the
proposal. In the meantime, the Prime Minister dispatched Dr. Robert Thompson, leader of
the Social Credit Party, to New Y ork. Thompson had spent ten years working in Ethiopia,

and was trusted in devel opment matters by Pearson.

Pearson hoped to have Thompson investigate how well the United Nations would
be able to receive the creation of such a communications organisation. Unfortunately,
Thompson found the UN woefully disorganised and internecine.”®* Nevertheless, George
Ignatieff at the UN Mission sent notice that various aid officials such as Rehling and
Hoffman were in favour. David Owen and Martin Lees approached Ignatieff to find out
what the Canadian government thought.?®® However, the effect of Thompson's report, the
response of the Steering Committee, the report of O.G. Stoner, and later the report of Paul
Martin to Pearson halted the creation of an International Development Communications
Center. The idea of a development data bank was not recommended in Plumptre's own
feasibility study which wasfirst submitted on 22 December 1967. The Report of the
Steering Committee became a position paper submitted on 3 September 1968. The Report

did mention the idea of data banks in the work of IDRC in passing. But it resurfaced later.

23 Marcel Cadieux, ANS, in P.M. Tait, Economic Division, to the Under-Secretary
through Mr. Langley, TMS, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 2, Aid and Export Finance, Foreign
Affairs Records, 1.

%4 \Wayne Kines, interview by author.

265 See various telexes from George Ignatieff in 38-4-IDRC, Volume 2, Aid and
Export Finance, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.
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Plumptre's Feasibility Study

Plumptre's feasibility study was submitted in its final form on 24 January 1968.

He made a number of key recommendations besides dedaring that therewas "complete

unanimity in favour of the proposal"?® and the "international basis' for a Centre.?®’

a) "unanimous" opposition to the ideathat the "centre" should be housed in asingle
unit. "It isdifficult to overstress theemphasis which person after person, in my
conversations, placed in “field work'. In the second place, in so far as the research
isto be pursued in Canada, it will generally be executed best, whether in industry
or in universities, where research facilities already exist." He suggested sub-
centresin Montreal, Toronto, and Vancouver.?®®

The apparent intent of this thrust was to appeal to the university community who were

opposed to funds moving away from them. The long-run effect favoured Roy Matthews

position, that of conducting of most research outside the Centre, and the dispersal of
operations acrass Canada and the world at large in theform of regional centres.

b) "unanimity in opposition"2® to the idea of a"think-tank™ whose research would
"proliferate aimlessly and endlessly." Instead Plumptre favoured

"multidisciplinary” and "action-oriented" research. "It should relateto

26A F.W. Plumptre, "The International Development Research Centre and the Role of
L.B. Pearson,” in Michael G. Fry, ed., Freedom and Change. Toronto: McLelland and
Stewart, 1975, 155.

%7 A.F.W. Plumptre to Maurice F. Strong, "Proposed International Development
Research Ingtitution,"TM S, 24 January 1968, Section C, Subsection (ii), no file or
document #, IDRC Records, 1.

28 A F.W. Plumptre to Maurice F. Strong, "Proposed International Devel opment
Research Ingtitution,” 4.

29 A .F.W. Plumptre, "The International Development Research Centre and the Role of
L.B. Pearson," 166.
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development programmes, past, present or to come."?”° Further, Plumptre defined
that the "banner under which it could well go forward is your own proposal: the
application or adaptation of the newly-evolving countries technologies of the
industrialized countries to the problems and possibilities of the developing
countries."?"
Thus, Plumptre favoured the tendency in Strong's May memorandum that focused more
on applied technology, which was a so favoured by Gaasenbeek. Consequently, the
proposal shifted away from Ward, Pearson?’? and some of Strong's own preferences for a
"think-tank." Also, the tendency that the Centre should have a global vision was
weakened, and one oriented towards devel oping countries only was endorsed. Emphasis
on the conducting of research as such is more evident in Plumptre's report and is reflected
In the name he coined for the organisation. While talking about a"centre" he titled the
report, the"Proposed International Development Research Institution™ (IDRI). In
combination, the terms come close to the final form, IDRC.
C) the idea that the Centre should be set up as an "international organisation” was
declared by respondents as "strongly negative." 1t would take long to organise,
cumbersome and,

Could not be endowed with the special advantagesit seemed to attach to a
research centre that was launched and supported by the Canadian
government and rooted in Canadian experience and expertise?”

20 A F.W. Plumptre to Maurice F. Strong, "Proposed International Devel opment
Research Ingtitution,” 5.

2L A.F.W. Plumptre to Maurice F. Strong, "Proposed International Development
Research Institution,” 4.

22 A .F.W. Plumptre, "The International Development Research Centre and the Role of
L.B. Pearson," in Michael G. Fry, ed., Freedom and Change. Toronto: McLelland and
Stewart, 1975, 166.

23 A.F.W. Plumptre, "The International Development Research Centre and the Role of
L.B. Pearson," 156.
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In other words, Canadians would not capture all the fruits of the Centre for themsel ves.

Further, if the organisation was to be an internationd or inter-govemmental agency it

would be elephantine in the sense of slow and difficult to manoeuvre. This point was

significant in that the argument was put in terms of Canadian interest, which the other
senior officials respected. And importantly, the notion that IDRI not be international
directly countered the suggestions of several Deputy Ministers on the Steering Committee
who seemed anxious that the Centre be set up elsewhere.

d) The "leadership must command international respect” and the centre must get
"substantial" contributions "say $20 million rather than $2 million" over "afive or
ten year period."?"

Plumptre's position favoured the kind of top drawer, international institution that Strong

and Ward desired. However, he opposed the idea of both an endowment, preferred by

Strong and Perinbam, and nothing at al, as balanced against "other priorities," which

would have been Cadieux and his allies desired outcome. In the long-term, the

conclusion favoured the Perinbam idea of an international board, and in the favour the
future President Hopper's international and above Government of Canada rates approach
to staff hiring and remuneration.

€) Finally, Plumptre's interlocutors in Canada, the US, UK and France were reported
to have endorsed the notion that Canada had amission of sortsin thisfield.
Canadian biculturalism, lack of imperial past and own experience "in the way of
“development' in our own country" was cited.?”

Ward and Strong's idea that the proposal might become a national mission of sorts was

affirmed. In theend, all of Plumptrés principal condusions were uphdd, but less so their

application.

24 A F.W. Plumptre to Maurice F. Strong, "Proposed International Devel opment
Research Institution,” 2.

25 A.F.W. Plumptre to Maurice F. Strong, "Proposed International Devel opment
Research Institution,” 3.
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Post-EXPO

The retirement of Pearson and the election of Trudeau slowed down the process of
IDRC's proposal. New officials and a new political group had to be convinced. Trudeau
followed Pearson's lead and continued to increase funding to devel opment assistance,
contrary to the American trend. The new Minister for External Affairs, Mitchell Sharp
later remarked,

During those, the early years of the Trudeau administration, our aid wasreally

going up just when the American interest was going down. There was an idedism

that actually got translated into increased expenditures.®’
Nevertheless, barring the general trend of increased development assistance funding,
Strong still had to keep his particular innovation on the political map. Strong had backed
Paul Martin in the leadership race in the Liberal Party. Pearson's public endorsement of
the idea and Strong's drive seems to have kept the IDC proposal moving forward. He
approached the new Prime Minister and the idea became part of the Party's electoral
promises?’” But the final proof of Strong's success came in September 1968 when
Governor General Roland Michener announced in Parliament the government's intention
to press forward with a bill to create IDRC.?”® The Steering Committee completed thear
work that same month, although the report was not discussed in Cabinet until December
1968.

276 Mitchell Sharp, interview by author, 11 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
21" Geoffrey Oldham, interview by author, 8 December 1993.

2’8 House of Commons, Debates, Speech from the Throne, 12 September 1968, 8.
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On the Merits of Being Action-Oriented

We have aready noted that Strong sought Plumptre out in order to legitimate the
proposal among the mandarinate. Plumptre did this admirably. Although resistance to the
idea continued into mid-1968, it was more muted, if no less convinced. This was partly
because Plumptre and Strong made efforts to respond to the concerns that they
represented. Although by February 1968, lower-level officersin External Affairs were
increasingly approving of the concept emerging regarding the IDRC proposal, there was
no apparent will to permit the creation of an independent organisation.

Mr. Plumptre places great emphasis on the fact that a research programme should
be "action-oriented" and not merely academic. If thisis avalid approach, and we
think it is, then to the extent that useful research isto be done in the field strikes
us that the existing institutional arrangement is already to hand in the form of the
External Aid Office?”

The emphasis on bang "action-oriented” was greatly gressed by other dfficialsto
Strong'steam. A letter from Jake Warren, DM at Trade and Commerce, may have helped
convince Strong that a more applied research oriented organization, rather than a more
academic structure would be preferable.

| fear that such an institution—perhaps particularly if agroup of top academics
were to be let loose on your broad canvas—would turn itself into atalking and
debating society about the requisite courses of action and that this could become
anend initself at the expense of concentrated and specialized effort and of action-
oriented endeavour.”

219 D.H. Kirkwood, Economic Division to Macel Cadieux, theUnder-Secretary, TMS,
12 February 1968, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 2, Aid and Export Finance, Foreign Affairs
Records, 2.

280 Jake H. Warren to M.F. Strong, TLOS, 15 June 1967, 38-4-IDRC, Aid and Export
Finance, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.
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This sentiment was echoed by W.B. Lewis, a scientist who had been involved with the
Canadian nuclear program in India. In response to the proposal as penned by A.F.W.
Plumptre he wrote that,

The proposed institution is exposed to the danger of becoming a " secular church”,
an organisation of preachers deprived of the material power to achieve and not be
fully integrated with a modern technostructure.®!

Sylvain Clouthier of Treasury Board suggested to Simon Reisman, then Secretary
to Treasury Board, cost-recovery to force the application of research.

Itstotal costs should be recovered from its clients, amongst whom would be the
External Aid Office. Besides enabling the Centre to remain independent this
arrangement would also compel it to devote its attention to "action-oriented" and
"problem-solving" endeavours that are entered into & the request of customers,
rather than engaging in academic studies, which, necessary though they be, are
best |eft to the Universities.?®

These do not simply seem means to hobble the Centre's independence for Clouthier also
noted a parallel regarding the troubled Company of Young Canadians.

The experience of the C.Y.C. should demonstrate the difficulty the Government
has in divorcing itself of responsibility for the activities of organizations which it
and it alone finances. The Centre should, then if it isto fulfil an independent role
be financed independently. Since, like the C.Y.C. and unlike the Externd Aid
Office, the Centre must be prepared to support research that may advocate social
and economic changes which affect powerful vested interests in Canada and
abroad, the Centre should ideally be completely independent of the
Government.®

The experience of the CY C might have served as a cautionary tale for the drafters of the

proposal. As IDRC wasto be, CY C was aform of Crown Corporation, also with an

BL\W.B. Lewis, TLS, in reply to memo of A.F.W Plumptre of 23 May [19677] n.d.,
Document #000565, IDRC Records, 1.

282 Sylvain Clouthier to Simon Reisman, "International Development Centre, TMS, 25
September 1968, RG 55, 86-87/3, Box 59, FHle 8073-01, Treasury Board Records, Public
Archives of Canada, 2.

283 Sylvain Clouthier to Simon Reisman, "International Development Centre," 1.
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unusual form of boad, in this case elected by its own members. However, the Board only
operated in an acting capacity, and when the Company was perceived to be engaged in
left-wing activities in some areas in Canada. Board members were removed and replaced
with government appointees. These appointees did not object too strenuously when the

organi sation was disbanded.?®*

Mitchell Sharp wasconvinced enough of the ideathat in July 1968 he seemsto
have attempted to get the very newly appointed Trudeau to approve the proposal over the
head of the Steering Committee. But the senior officials were not to let the proposal be
politically sanctioned prior to the Steering Committee of Senior Officialsreaching its
conclusions, even if the proposal had been included in the Liberal's list of electoral
commitments. Cadieux's language and viewpoint reigned. O.G. Stoner penned the
following which Trudeau signed, "I understand [that the IDC proposal] will have to be
vetted by senior officials. . . wewill need to ook at thisitem in relation to those other

matters for which we have established some priority."#*

To convince the university community, more references were made to the
inclusion of Canadian academics in the proposal process and CIDA generally. Academics
met with Strong's officials and were included. CIDA mounted a study in part presided by
King Gordon regarding the role of academics relative to CIDA. Below Cadieux in
External, tentative voices were raised in August 1968 suggesting that the
conceptualisation of IDC was now much clearer, but could still be filtered out if Cadieux
wished.

It is much more substantial and convincing than some of the earlier materia
prepared on this subject, since it comes to grips in a meaningful way with some of
the questions and considerations which have led a number of us, and | think

284 Stuart Goodings, interview by author, 26 April 1994, by telephone, notes, Ottawa.

285 P.E. Trudeau to Mitchell Sharp, TLS, 16 duly 1968, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 2, Aid
and Export Finance, Foreign Affairs Records, 2.
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including yourself, to have reservations about the proposal. In this connection |
would mention particularly the paragraph occupying most of page 8 of the report
which reflects a clear recognition that it is not self-evident that the establishment
of acentre of the type proposed would in fact be a desirable thing.?®

The Steering Committee Report and Its Wake

The work of the Steering Committee itself had several effects on the future shape
of IDRC. The name of the Centre was still not resolved, at least in English. In French, the
Centre was referred to at thistime in very nearly its present form, that is, Centre de
recherches pour le développement international?® In English, the namehad reverted to
International Development Centre. Thisis significant in the sense that it shows the steady
move towards a concentration on research, and on development. The intellectual
groundwork for this shift was done by the Task Force of academics, most forcefully by
Geoffrey Oldham of SPRU. Surprisingly though, the Steering Committee Report itself
does not reflect this shift. Oldham's thinking is mentioned briefly on page 77 but does not
figure in the main body. This may indicate that the purposeof the Report was not so
much to refine the thinking about the Centre as to produce the assent or suspend the
negative sanction of the powers at play in the land. Indeed, in Finance, concern was
expressed that, "program priorities and a justification for the Centre . . . will not have

been met before the Centre iswell on the way to establishment."#%#

286 D.H. Kirkwood, Economic Division to Macel Cadieux, theUnder-Secretay, TMS,
14 August 1968, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 2, Aid and Export Finance, Foreign Affairs
Records, 1.

%7 The present nameis Centre de recherches sur le développement international.

28\/.J. Chapin to E.A. Oestreicher, "International Development Centre," TMS, 9 May
1968, RG 19, Box 5277, File 7810-03-4 Pt. 2, Canadian Development Assistance
Centres, IDRC, Finance Records, Public Archives of Canada, 4.
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Plumptre suggested that Strong meet with Oldham on his next trip to Europe. He
did. Thisled to afurther meeting at Strong's California-style house in the Alta Vista area
of Ottawa which overlooks what become the first headquarters for IDRC. This meeting
took place on Saturday, 8 June 1968. With the televised funeral of Robert Fitzgerald
Kennedy as a backdrop, Strong and Oldham discussed the IDC proposal. Oldham argued
for indigenous capacity building. He refined his thoughts the next month in a paper sent
to Strong.

Without its own science a country must always be dependent on foreign
assistance. An indigenous scientific capability will help the country to define and
solve its own problems, help provide the “receiving stations for foreign
technology, and will help to provide the social milieu which is so essential for
modernization and devel opment 2

Thisisthe earliest definitive instance in the history of the proposal which concerned
indigenous capacity building, and the seed which was to blossom into the essential

mission of IDRC for the first twenty years of its existence.

IDRC as proposed was to have a domedic role well into 1969. When Prime
Minister Trudeau came to power heraised the question as to whether aseparate domestic
operation be created, a "BrookingsInstitute. . . Or should Sharp's center proceed on its
own[?7]"#*°* PCO was not sanguineabout this possibility for reasons we can only guess
at.?* Strong recalls he"didn't really mind" Further, Strong noted, "as we beganto canvass
more opinion, | began to be alittle concerned that maybe the domestic idea would too

heavily weight the whole thing."?*? Seemingly encouraged by Gordon Robertson of the

289 Geoffrey Oldham to M.F. Strong, TL S, 11 July 1968, and attached paper entitled
"Science Policy Studies and the Canadian Centre for International Development,” File 75,
No document #, IDRC Records, 3-4.

20 PE. Trudeau, ANS, in P.E. Trudeau, to Mitchell Sharp, TLS, 16 July 1968, 38-4-
IDRC, Volume 2, Aid Export Finance, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

291 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.
292 Maurice Strong, interview by author.
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PCO,?* the Steering Committee funded a study on the domestic role of IDRC. The
analysis was conducted by Ronald Ritchie. Ritchie was aformer member of External
Affairs. He was a colleague of Strong and a public-spirited businessman, then Chairman
of Imperial Oil. Ritchie agreed to do the study at least one month before Trudeau's
query.?* This study did not lead to its recommendations becoming part of IDRC. Instead
the consequence was the creation of the Institute for Research on Public Policy (IRPP), an
organisation that Ritchie later founded and becamethe head of. Robertson has also

worked there.

The Steering Committee helped define the shape of the Centre's structure and
purpose with alittle more precision. With regard to the structure, the size of the Board of
Governors was expanded to twenty-one from Perinbam's fifteen, with ten of the
governors being non-Canadians. For the consumption of the bureaucracy, the universities
and the Cabinet, the cooperation with Canadian universities, governmert and business
was stressed. But it isinteresting to note how similar this agenda was to Perinbam'’s
Canadian Foundation for International Development. Perinbam met with Peters on

several occasions.?®

The Steering Committee and accompanying process wasthe principal opportunity
for the bureaucracy to make its own, and the concerns of groups outside the state, felt. A
progress report from the Committee very much reflecded Canadian preoccupations.

The initial research programme. .. would take into account:
- the main areas overseas to which Canada's externd aid programmed is
presently directed;

293 "Gerry" presumed O.G. Stoner to Maurice Strong, TLS, 20 September 1968, File
#68, Document #000867, IDRC Records, 1.

2% Ronald S. Ritchie to Matthew Gaasenbeek, TLS, 11 June 1968, Section G,
Subsection (ii), File71, Document #001032, IDRC Records.

2% |ewis Perinbam, interview by author.
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- the capabilities of leading research centresin Canada, academic, industrial,
governmental;

- the main politico-economic regions of Canada; and

- "bilingualism and biculturalism™ 2%

Within the Steering Committee Report itself, we find a section which deals with the kind
of work which the Centre should do. Asfar as the proposed principles of the Centre's
operations are concerned, they do not reflect very much the recommendations of the Task
Force, and must therefore reflect the preferences of the Committee of Senior Officids.

1) Canada, as arelative newcomer to the business of intensive study of
development problems, needs to bring certain strengths to the task if it is
to sustain such a centre "in competition" with more experienced countries;
and

2) In order to maintain the interest of the Canadian electorate, whose political
and fiscal backing is essential to theundertaking, afairly clear link with
matters of importance to people in this country is obviously necessary.

Thus it seems sensible to suggest that the Centre should tendto
concentrate itsefforts in the following general categories:

(a) Agriculture and forestry;

(b) Mining and geological technology

(c) Water resources (including fisheries);

(d) Some aspects of manufacturing;

(e) Some aspects of banking and other tertiary industry;

(f) Transport and communications;*’

Other points related to social development followed the recommendations above. How do
we interpret thisinformation? In the rest of the Report the domestic aspect of the Centre

was rarely being considered except insofar as Canadian expertise was to be utilised. It

2% Steering Committee, International Devel opment Centre, "Progress Report,
Appendix "A", Initial Research Programme for Consideration By The International
Development Centre" TD, 23 May 1968, RG 19 Box 5277, File 7810-03-4 Pt. 2,
Canadian Develgoment Assistance Centres, IDRC, TD, Finance Records, Public
Archives of Canada, 1.

297 Steering Committee, "International Development Centre”, "Report of the Steering
Committee", TD, 3 September 1968, IDRC Records, 44-45.
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seems clear that the programme of the proposed Centre was principally to fund research
in areas reflecting areas of Canadian expertise. Strong's vision clearly had made little dent
on hisfellow DMs. However, the DMs had little impact on the long-run preoccupations
of IDRC's programme. A strong emphasis was made by the actual Centre on agriculture,
and also fisheries and geological remote sensing, yet very little work came to be funded

on the other points listed.

The Choice of Location

Thelogic of having IDRC in Ottawa is compelling. The fact of CIDA and Foreign
Affairs location in Ottawais of no small importance to effective networking, not to
mention the presence of all foreign embassies. But what became IDRC was originally
proposed to be located in Montreal . Pearson was in favour of its locationthere, yet it did
not come to pass. Aswe have noted, Maurice Strong wanted to use the enthusiasm,
proposals and political energy that EXPO '67 generated to give the Centre momentum.?*
Nevertheless, there was a discussion over where it should be located. And letters from
several parts of the country were sent to Pearson, Strong and MPs to try to get the Centre

located in their area.

Several communities were interested in having IDRC located near them. Montreal
was the most activein this regard. Mog of the areas with |ess chance of success
complained about their relatively deprived status and said that the government should
reverse the general trend and put the organisationin their town. Victoria belatedly
proposed that IDRC be located there in 1970, long after the decision had been made.
Deep River, Ontario asked that IDRC (which they imagined was aworld university) be

placed in their area. Leonard Hopkins, M.P. for Renfrew North, warned Prime Minister

2% Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.
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Pearson of impending "bitterness." Fears abounded that C.F.B. Petawawa and the
expansion of the Atomic Energy of Canada Limited(AECL) facility was in doubt.
Hopkins thought that if some economic development was not forthcoming then things
will "be very antagonistic".?* Premier Walter Weir of Manitoba wrote a letter to Prime
Minister Pearson requesting that IDRC should be located somewhere in Manitoba.*®
Pearson favoured Montreal and it was the only other real contender. The final decision
not to proceed came in the wake of traditional federal government-Province of Québec-
City of Montréal wrangling over who owned the land. As a consequence, symbolically,
the land has remained everafter abandoned and ruined, but for Buckminster Fuller's

burned geodesic dome.

The Steering Committee Report was mostly developed by Ottawa officials. Not
surprisingly they came out firmly in favour of IDRC being located in Ottawa. Matthew
Gaasenbeek came down decisively against the choice of the National Capital Region. He
warned Strong, "The Centre cannot help but fall under the control and influence of civil
servants."*** But hiswas a cry in the silent wilderness of Ottawa, broken only by the

sound of disagreementsin distant Montreal.

Following the report of the Steering Committee and the endorsement of the new

government, the business that Peters had to attend to as Coordinator was to draft the

29 | eonard Hopkinsto L.B. Pearson, TLS, 7 February 1968, Pearson PMO, 1965-8
IDC, Volume 237, 800.4 World Relations June 1967 to April 1968, Public Archives of
Canada, 1.

30 Walter Weir to Lester Pearson, TLS, 15 January 1968, MG 26, N4, 1965-8 IDC,
Pearson PMO, Volume 237, 800.4 - Personal and Confidential, Public Archives of
Canada, 1.

301 Matthew Gaasenbeek to Maurice F. Strong, TMS, 2 June 1968, File 70, Document
#001014, IDRC Records, 1.
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enabling legislation and position the Centre for its launch. Peters publicising of the
Centre was aided by the conclusions reached by the Pearson Commission on technical
assistance.

The Commission's main recommendation in this regard, is that there should be
established an international body such as the proposed Canadian international
centre for development and research. Such a centre would need to link its work
closely to existing international agencies.**
Peters also spoke at gatherings of such organisations as the Canadian I nstitute for
International Affairs, and the Banff Conferenceon World Affairs Whereasin the early
period of his dealings with the public, some found him to be very committed to a
Canadians first viewpoint,** by the summer of 1969 he was converted entirely to

indigenous capacity building.>*

The drafting of the legislation was performed by a small team led by Peters. The
team included Oldham and Brecher who had been on the Steering Committee's Task
Force, Earl Doe from Energy, Mines and Resources and Drew Wilson from the Science
Council. Brecher, Doe and Wilson were probably chosen to be institutional
representatives. Wilson was a'so to build support in the scientific community. Peters was
seen as Strong's emissary.*® Oldham was most influential, anong the other members of
the group only Brecher had had much experience with devel oping countries. Oldham

indicates that the "first objective that we all adhered to was to the building of local

392 Paper entitled "2. Technical Assistance," TD, n.d., Commission on International
Development, A. F. Hart Files, Staff Discussions in Washington - Memoranda, MG 25, N
5, Vol. 4, Pearson Papers, Public Archives of Canada, 5.

33 D.R.F. Taylor, interview by author.

304 Stuart Peters, "A Canadian Search for New Development Alternatives," A speech
presented to the Seventh Annual Banff Conference on World Affairs, "The Imperatives
for Development,” TD, 22 August 1969, Peters Private Papers, Halifax.

3% Drew Wilson, interview by author, 26 April 1994, by telephone, notes, Ottawa.
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capabilities."**® Oldham and Petersspent time at the |ater's cottage near Perth, Ontario

writing various drafts. But other team members had their effect.

Strong was largely absent from these drafting discussions. However, he did
instruct Peters to find a mechanism to link CIDA and IDRC. A Memorandum to Cabinet
was sent that called for the setting up of a Triticale and Cassava program that would be a
CIDA project administered by IDRC**" Asaresult of thisinitiative, Canadian and
developing country researchersworked together with the aim of alleviating protein
deficiency in thetropics. Aspects of the project have continued to be funded in IDRC

ever since.

The proposal had been spoken of by Strong and his team in official and press
circles as something like a Rockefeller and Ford Foundation. But the drafters had no
model. Oldham did think that experience of the Institute of Development Studesin
Sussex, UK might be useful were IDRC to resemble a"think-tank." Oldham wanted the
organisation to be called the International Institute for Science and Development. Brecher
argued against this. Like Matthews before him, Irving Brecher,

Very much wanted the idea of it being a Centre not as [an] Institute, because he
wanted different nodes around. He thought [they would be placed] out in
universities in Canada. He thought there would be much more money available
for Canadian universities. Strong was very keen to have a section on information
sciences and data banks*®

3% Oldham, interview by author, 8 December 1993.

307 " Memorandum to Cabinet, Triticale and Cassava-Swine, Two Canadian Sponsored
Agricultural Research Programs Asa Contribution to Alleviating Food Protein
Deficiency in Central and South America and the Caribbean,” TM, 26 October 1970,
Draft #2, Stuart S. Peters Private Papers, Halifax.
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Oldham was himself not keen on the creation of a disbursed group of centres. He had
found the Ford and Rockefeller regional offices spread around the globe "ostentatious,”
an experience not worth repeating.>® James Pfeifer was brought in with an open mind
from the Department of Justice to hdp turn the ideas into alegal framework by Peters.
Concretising the notions of the drafting team took place with some urgency when an
American, Ruth Zagorin, was selected by President-In-Waiting Hopper to re-draft the
legislation. He was displeased with the contents*!° Zagorin eventually wrote the bylaws

with Pfeifer.3

399 Geoffrey Oldham, interview by author, 22 December 1993.
310 Drew Wilson, interview by author.
311 Ruth Zagorin, interview by author, 31 July 1987, tape recording, Washington.
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Into Parliament

The Bill to establishIDRC, C-12, was presented to the House of Commonsin
January 1970 by Mitchell Sharp as "oneof the most promising and exciting proposals to
come before this House for some time."*'? The Bill sailed through the Sub-Committee on
International Development, the Standing Committee on International Affairs and National
Defense, the House of Commons and the Senate with almost no opposition. To ensure
that the Centre was received well in the Senate, Lester Pearson made his influence fdt
and spoke in favour of the Bill 3 Criticisms were substantive, but not substantial.

Unusually, all sides of the House and Senate supported the Bill.

Former Minister of External Affairs, Sharp, has described some of the reasons
why the Bill passed with no opposition,

My impression at the time was that the Ford and the Rockefeller Foundations had
been spectacularly successful. And therefore the idea, this kind of ideawas not an
experiment. It was an experiment for government but not for doing research of
thiskind. . .

Those of us with responsibility for the administration of foreign aid of one kind or
another had our own reservations about our own programs. | know that when we
decided that we were going to increase the amount of our aid that we encountered
difficulties in spending the money. We were always conscious of the fact that we
were putting pressure on the Agency to spend it. And we were criticized for not
spending it. . . Well in an organisationlike IDRC that just can't happen. It wasa
better form of foreign aid. . .

At that time we were much more interested in expanding our operations in the
field of aid to developing countries. We were in the upswing. And thiswas agood
kind of thing to do. And therefore there was no real difficulty in gettingit

312 House of Commons, Debates, 12 January 1970, 2249.

313 Senate, Proceedings of the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs: No. 6,
Tuesday, 6 May 1969, 122.
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accepted.®*

IDRC was introduced in Parliament as an apparently neutral techno-scientific
centre for assisting research in developing countries. Sharp presented the Centre in
contradistinction to the Company of Y oung Canadians,

| think in terms of social change that there is an important distinction between this

centre and the Company of Y oung Canadians in that the Company of Y oung

Canadian perhaps assumed a mandate for social change in Canada. This

institution does not assume or cannot assume that it has a mandate for social

change anywhere. It isa provider of techniques, a centre for knowledge, acentre
of resources, which developing countries will be able to draw on and use and
adapt to their own processes of social change over which thisinstitution will have

no control 3

Sharp was well aware of concerns that Strong's internationalist approach, rather
than a"CanadiansFirst" perspective was raising some eyebrows.'* Consequently, for
those that feared that Canada was allowing foreigners to sign Canadian cheques, Sharp
emphasised the Canadian nature of IDRC."The centre will be basically a Canadian
institution with an important international dimension. The chairman and most of the
members of the centre's board of governors are to be Canadian as well as the mgjority of

its executive committee."3%’

Within the Sub-Committee on International Devel opment, the Standing
Committee on International Affairsand National Defense, the Senate, and the House
though, very littleof the "CanadiansFirst" sentiment that Sharp crafted his argument to

314 Mitchell Sharp, interview by author.

315 House of Commons, Standing Committee of External Affairs and National
Defence, Minutes and Proceedings of Evidence, No.13, Wednesday, 11 February 1970,
13:87-88

316 Mitchell Sharp, interview by author.
37 House of Commons, Debates, 12 January 1970, 2251.
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deflect surfaced. One might have expected there to be more opposition to the idea that
foreigners were to sit on the Board of IDRC. When the USA attempted to create its own
version of IDRC a decade later, Congress refused to consider the proposal for an
international board and amended the bill *'® No other attempted cloning of IDRC in other
countries has been so bold in this respect. Remarkably, the question of the composition of
the Board did not provoke any major nationalist response, only MP Hogarth demanded
that all the Board should be Canadian. But he was given no support from his
colleagues?*® David Lewis of the NDP thought that the majority should be from

developing countries.?®

Opposition to the Bill was slight. David Lewis did fear that IDRC did represent a
certain cultural chauvinism. "We appear to be saying that we arich developed and
knowhow nation will hand out to you, the poor ignorant devel oping nations which do not
have it, al the wisdom we have and all the great things we have accepted in our kind of
society."*** Lewis also criticised the bill for not having the majority of the members of the
Board of Governars from devel oping countries, and Smply putting more money into
universities. In the final analysis, these were not substantial disagreements, neither Lewis
nor any other MP voted against the Bill. But for one amendment the Bill would have
passed through Parliament at speedily.

318 Eventually the entire bill was voted down.

319 House of Commons, 11 February 1970, 13:41.

320 House of Commons, Debates, 12 January 1970, 2257.
321 House of Commons, Debates, 12 January 1970, 2257.
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Parliamentarians on the Board

Several modifications to the Bill wereattempted in the House and Senate. M ost
dealt with the Board of Governors, which was one of the most novel, and controversial
aspects of the bill. Bill C-12 was thefirst bill in the House of Commons, and perhaps the
last, to include the possibility of Parliamentary representation on the Board of Governors.
The precedent for this was the membership of Ontario MPPs in corporations of the
Government of Ontario.®? To the surprise and consternation of the government, the
Senate made an amendment to include up to two Senators and members of the House on
the Board. When Bill C-12 first returned to the House of Commons the amendment to the
Bill was accepted, moved by Gordon Fairweather.3*® Y et the government's front benches

were against it, and so was the bureaucracy.

Upon being informed of the inclusion of MPs on the Board in the committees of
the House and Senate, the Minister of External Affairs, Mitchell Sharp requested that
CIDA prepare alist of reasons why MPs should not be included on the Board of
Governors* Thislong list Sharp recited in Parliament. We have included below a
fraction of his comments.

What is his relationship to the responsible minister and to what extent does he
relate and report to him in respect of the centre's activities? Will the M.P.'s views
expressed at medtings of the board be regarded as the views of the government,
the views of Parliament, the views of his party, his own views or a mixture of dl
these? Will he be expected to carry back to the board the views or guidance of
Parliament on particular questions in which they may become interested from

322 Warren Allmand, interview by author, 31 July 1987, Ottawa-Washington, by
telephone, notes

323 Strong; Hopper; Sharp; interviews by author.

324 M.F. Strong to Mitchell Sharp "Memorandum to the Minister”, "Re: Proposed
amendment to the International Development Research Centre Act”, 13 February 1970,
TM, File 68, Document #000895, IDRC Records, 1.
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time to time??

But thistirade doesnot seem to be an example of a Minister being subverted by his
officials. Given Sharp's background in the civil service, the distinction between the civil
service and the Minister was blurred in any case. Sharp was against the inclusion of

Parliamentarians on boards of governors, and so he remains.®?

Strong, and Hopper were against the inclusion of MPs on the Board. Peters was
both atechnocrat (as a biologist by training) and bureaucrat (he has spent much of hislife
as a bureaucrat). Significantly, he thought that the inclusion of a parliamentary

representative on the Board would limit its autonomy.3*

Opposition to MPs being included in the Board of Governors also came from
back-bench MPs. One MP feared that having MPs on the Board of Governors would turn
the Board into a UN.3® The NDP, led by David Lewis, had been hitherto very supportive
of the bill in Second Reading. Lewis would often telephone Stuart Peters to query "What
kind of question would you like me to ask?'**® However, athough initial voting in favour
of the amendment, Lewis later threatened filibustering the Bill 3 Only the instability of
the October Crisisand the fear tha the bill would fail led the NDP to let thebill

325 House of Commons, Debates, 20 February 1970, 3912.
326 Mitchell Sharp, interview by author.

327 Senate, Proceedings of the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs, Tuesday
17 March 1970, 10:22.

328 House of Commons. Standing Committee of External Affairs and National
Defence. Minutes and Proceedings of Evidence, No.13, Wednesday, 11 February 1970,
13:46.

329 Stuart Peters, interview by author.
30 There is some possibility that this threat was suggested by Strong's team to Lewis.
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through.®*

The reaction of the MPs and Senators who supported the inclusion of
Parliamentarians on the Board is of interest. Member of Parliament Roberts said,

It seems to me, doubtful, that, alittle bit like captive member passengers on the
liner Oronsay, the other 20 members of the board are going to be infected, by this
lone politician, with some kind of loathsome political disease.®*

The Conservative MP, Gordon Fairweather commented,

Mr. Speaker, it is extraordinary how ministers of the crown are frightened by
Members of Parliament. Today we learned we had powers that | think most of us
never realized we had . . . | fail to see why a Membe of Parliament should have to
detach himself from the board because of membershipin this House. He suddenly
becomes a persona non grata on the board... | thought his argument was laboured.
If I may say so, | did not think it was wholly his own.>*?

Presumably precisely because thelikelihood was that the government would not permit

MPs and Senators to sit on the Board, Fairweather and Roberts attempted to move that

the presence of Parliamentarians be mandatory.*** However, they did not succeed in

convincing others that this was wise.

The arguments in the two Houses is revealing as some Parliamentarians

commented as to where they perceved their real place in the govemment structure was.

331 Geoffrey Oldham, interview by author, 8 December 1993.

332 House of Commons, Standing Committee of External Affairs and National
Defence, Minutes and Proceedings of Evidence, No.13, Wednesday, 11 February 1970,
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333 Aswe now know, his argument was not entirely his own.
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Echoing the views expressed in the House, Senator Macnaughton said,
We are not second-class citizens . . . Who is better qualified to look after the
peopl€e'sinterest than either the dected or even the appointed representatives?®
Clearly, the Senators felt that Parliament, as such, was not pre-eminent in the land. More
importantly, some Senators perceived where they thought much of the power was, and
therefore why their amendment should be included.

| think there is one element of dissatisfaction in Canada today, to the effect, and
thisis putting it in an exaggerated form, that it is being run by regulations and run
by civil servants and not by peopl€'s elected representatives. That is one reason
thisisin here and dso one reason why | am in favour of something like this
staying there.3%

If we believe the traditional organogram of government, with elected representatives of
the people at the apex, and the civil service below them, Senator MacNaughton's

Statement seems nonsense.

What was business view of the inclusion of Parliamentarians on the Board of
Governors of IDRC? Omand Solandt, head of the Science Secretariat and concurrently
business executive of Electric Reduction Co. uttered business' perspective®’ on the
inclusion of Parliamentarians on boards when he was asked to speak during the Senate's
deliberations on the Bill.

I, from business experience, share the misgivings that some people have about
having a Member of Parliament on aboard of thiskind. It is the same problem

335 Senate, Proceedings of the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs,
Tuesday, 17 March 1970, 10:22.

3% Senate, Proceedings of the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs, Tuesday
17 March 1970, 10:23.

37 |t is perhaps overstating the case to simply say that Solandt represented business
perspective. One might say he represented the interests of technocracy. Many of the
Senators listening could well be seen as representing the interests of business, and yet
they supported the motion. Still, many of those with a more pro-business orientation
supported Solandt's point of view.
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that industry encounters in having employees on the board of directors3®

Once again, thisisformally illogical asthe Parliamentarian is supposed to be sitting
astride the horse of state. It led Senator Grosart to say. "In this case it would be the

employers on the board of directors."**®

We know of no direct records which indicate the attitude of the Prime Minister
towards the incluson of Parliamentarians on the Board of Governors, although obviously
he was in favour of the Bill asawhole. Thiswas true too for the then Legidative
Assistant to Prime Minister Trudeau, Ivan Head, although he relented.3* F. Dale Hayes,
in amemorandum to David Hopper writes that Head opposed the inclusion of MPs on the
Board of Governors.

| rang Mr. Ivan Head to inform him of the Senate Committe='s amendments to
clause 10.3 [which permitted the inclusion of Senators on the Board of
Governors]. He seemed hopeful that this might be the stimulus needed to have the
whole clause removed, thereby restoring the Centre's autonomy. However, he
added that this would be a"slow process’ which may mean a delay in obtaining
Royal Assent until ater the Easter recess.®*

If we examine the rest of clause 10 we note that it prescribed that the " Chairman, the
Vice-Chairman and nine other governors must be Canadian citizens' and "at least eleven

of the governors appointed must have experience in the field of international devel opment

338 Senate, Proceedings of the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs, Tuesday
17 March 1970, 10:10.

339 Senate, Proceedings of the Standing Senate Committee on Foreign Affairs, Tuesday
17 March 1970, 10:10.

30 There is some assumption that Head's and Trudeau's opinions were one.

See F. Dale Hayesto W. David Hopper, "Bill C-12," TMS, 1 April 1970, File 72,
Document #001142, IDRC Records, 1.

31 F, Dale Hayes to W. David Hopper, "Memorandum", TMS, 26 March 1970, File
72, Document #001143, IDRC Records, 2.
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or experience or training in the natural or social sciences or technology."** It isimportant
that Head was willing to dispense with the Canadian content rule entirely, indeed any
content rule. The deletion of the first part might have added to the autonomy of the
Centre. That is much less clear in thesecond part, for without these speafications,
political appointments would be unrestricted. Among the other novelties of the Bill, the
proclamation tha some expertise was generally dedrable was a political signal not to fill
the Board with incompetents. And there was political acceptance that it should be
followed. Asthe Minister of the time, Sharp, later recalled,

The [Canadian] names that were accepted were people who could make some sort
of contribution. They were political. They were not party hacks in the sense that
many of these appointments are. | think that everybody realized that these people
were going to sit down with some very distinguished foreigners and we wanted
those people to bereasonably competent people, people who had some interest
and some knowledge.?*

Generally this was adhered to in subsequent years.

342 Canada, Revised Statutes of Canada, International Development Research Centre
Act, 1970, 1st Supplement, Chapter 21, 771.

343 Mitchell Sharp, interview by author.
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Cabinet Committee to Final Passage

The closest scrutiny of the IDRC proposal came after First Reading of thebill in
the Cabinet Committee on Science Policy and Technology. Fortuna smiled on theBill in
the shape of Trudeau's science advisor and Committee Secretary, Bob Uffen, who
happened to be a former fellow gegphysicist at University of Toronto with Oldham. Asit
has in times previous and since, the Gatineau Hills provided alocation where discussions
could take place on important matters. Oldham and Uffen conferred over how to get the
Bill through in summer cottages near the community of Wakefield, Quebec. The Cabinet
Minister for Science, Bud Drury, also lived nearby. As aresult of the discussions with
Uffen, the second memo to the Science Committee was more permissive, and less
sanguine about Western solutions to Third World problems,

In the past, Canada and many other nations, in providing aid to developing
countries, frequently assumed that the industrialized counties of the West had the
"know-how" and tha by providing money and expertise wecould help
underdevel op countries to develop. This attitude has been proven wrong. We do
not understand all of the problems of development - especially the problems of
societies with different social and political systems and valuesto our own . . .It
will be the purpose of the International Development Research Centre of Canada
to help discover this knowledge and tofind out best how best it can be used to
promote development. It is also the purpose to help developing countries to
acquire their own problem-solving capabilities3*

This memorandum was significant in that it shows Oldham's influence at a critical
juncture, injecting a particular tone that had been missing before, countering a certain

cultural chauvinism, often apparent in so-called transfer of technology thinking.>*

344 M.F. Strong, "Memorandum to Cabinet Committee on External Policy and
Defence, October 14, 1969, International Development Research Centre,” TM, RG 19
Box 5277, File 7810-03-4 Pt. 2, Canadian Development Assigance Centres, IDRC,
Finance Records, Public Archives of Canada, 1.

3% The spirit and indeed much of the textitself is drawn nearly word for word from a
text Oldham had written four months earlier.
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Indeed, earlier formulations of the proposal presumed that the work would be
performed in Canada and transferred to developing countries. Lewis certainly thought it
still extant when he rose in the House three months later. Most significantly, the notion of
capacity building is made explicit and vital where it had been amost absent in previous
documents of import. Part of that shift was clear when by January 1970, Mitchell Sharp
rose in the House during Second Reading.

It [IDRC] will give high priority to programs that assist the developing countries
to build their own scientific and technological capabilities so that they will not be
mere welfare recipients.34

Uffen, via the Cabinet Committee, lent weight to Oldham's assertion that the
president of IDRC should not be the DM of Finance, Bob Bryce which was Strong's
preference. The Committee minutes record that the "choice of executive officers having a
broad range of science and technology rather than primarily ability in corporation
development or program economics could facilitate achievement of the Centre's goal of
exchange of technical information." However, a Canadians-first over capacity-building
thrust emerged when it was noted that, "expertise exids in the Canadian academic
community with which to effectively attack the social problemsrelated to the transfer of
technology, and should be utilized to the maximum extent passible in laboratory and field
research studies,”" and, "Canadian industrial competence should also be utilized to make
best use of the scientific and technological community.” However, these did not become
recommendations, only consultation with the Science Council to solicit the support of the

scientific community was required.>*” Oldham recalls only one difficult but important

Geoffrey Oldham, "A Strategy for the Establishment of the International Devel opment
Research Centre of Canada, Working Paper" 26 May 1969, TD, File 74, Document
#001199, IDRC Records, 1-2.

3% House of Commons, Debates, 12 January 1970, 2251.

%7 Robert J. Uffen, "Memorandum to Cabinet Committee on External Policy and
Defence, Septamber 24, 1969, International Develogpment Research Centre,” TMS, RG
19, Box 5277, File 7810-03-4 Pt. 2, Canadian Development Assistance Centres, IDRC,
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guestion at the meeting. The Minister for Fisheries and Oceans brought up the point that
his department came up with many solutions but fishermen didn't utilise them. He
thought how much more difficult would it be in devel oping countries, where people had
even less formal education. Oldham scribbled a reply with which Strong satisfied the
guestioner to the effect that IDRC would pioneer a new approach which would combine
the talents of natural and social sciences so the real needs of fishermen would be taken

into consideration in the research and application of the knowledge.3*®

One of the advisors to the Task Force, who would soon join the Board of the
Centre, Fred Bentley, made avital contribution following the Committee hearing. The
notion of the Centre was beginning to move in the direction of the "think tank" once
more, although Oldham had argued for a mix of contract research, and in-house capecity
consistently. The agriculturalist advisor to CIDA was particularly concerned that the
Cabinet Committee minutes did not reflect "the orally made suggestion at that mesting to
the effect that Canada's support for the International Rice Research Institute might be
provided as a part of the International Development Centre activity.” Bentley noted to
Stuart Peters the difficulties of tied aid in the disbursement of fundsto IRRI and other
like organisations. He asked that the legislation include provision for "afoundation type
of activity which could be our avenue of support for agencies such as those described

above and without hampering degrees of "tying".>*° Bentley tipped the balance.

By May of 1969, Stuart Peters indicated the emphasis to be given in the
legislation in a briefing note supposedly authored by Strong,
[The Centre'q] staff will help to define key problems which are recognized as

Finance Records, Public Archives of Canada, 1.
348 Geoffrey Oldham, interview by author, 22 December 1993.

349 C.F. Bentley to Stuart Peters, TMS, 7 January 1969, "International Devel opment
Centre -- Foundation Aspect,” TMS, Document #000588, IDRC Records, 1.
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being of particular significance to the developing countries. It isthen likely that
most of the work reguired to solve these problems will becontracted out to
universities, industry and government departments, not only in Canada but
throughout the world. The Governors may also decide that it is desirable for the
Centre to set up its own research laboratories, and they may decide to provide core
budget support to other international research institutes in the developing
countries®°

The foundation was re-established, the "think-tank" weakened.

Royal Assent was not granted until 13 May 1970. The final approval for the
opening did not come until Pearson put pressure on the government to open the Centre
during the October Crisis that autumn. The Bill was not greatly changed during Second
Reading, nor has it since then. By the time the government could amend the Bill in
Committee the government was embroiled in a postal dispute. Trudeau was "under
enormous pressure from the Cabinet’ regarding the strife and " confronts chronically
dissatisfied backbenchers."** The Bill was let thorough as amended, presumably so as
not to upset the situation more. There was another reason. Sharp said in the Commons
that "Hon. members will recognize that the amendment in question is permissive."*? In
other words, although it was now possible for the government to appoint Parliamentarians
to the Board of IDRC, the government had no intention of dang so. But whether this
section was applied or not, the Bill was remarkable. It was not just that C-12 passed
unanimously. For the first time in world history foreigners would directly decide the

policy of state development assistance organisations. IDRC is still the only organisation

30 Stuart Peters, "International Deve opment Research Centre of Canada Maurice F.
Strong, President, Canadian International Development Agency," Draft, TD, n.d., File 72,
Document #001103, IDRC Records, 2.

1 F, DaeHayes, 1.

%2 House of Commons, Standing Committee of External Affairs and National
Defence, Minutes and Proceedings of Evidence, No.13, Wednesday, 11 February 1970,
13:55.
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of anational government to have tha distinction. Further, the Bill gave great discretion to
delveinto amost any subject in every manner, relatively untrammelled room to
manoeuvre. Moreover, the uniqueness of the organisation in the field of devel opment
assistance was even more dramatic, the notion of funding developing country researchers

to seek methods to solve their own problems was practically unheard of.

The Selection of David Hopper — Background and Credibility

Several candidates sought the position of President of IDRC. According to Strong,
people other than Hopper were considered, some more seriously than others.3*® The then
Minister of External Affairs, Mitchell Sharp recalled no other serious candidate to Hopper
being presented when the selection process reached him. We noted above regarding the
post-Cabinet Committee discussion that Strong wanted the Deputy Minister of Finance to
be first presidert. It was felt that Bryce "would ensure that the money continued to
grow."*** Bryce may have campaigned for the position.®** J. René Whitehead, Chief
Science Advisor of Science Secretariat at the PCO was a so considered. Oldham had
previously argued that a professional with legitimacy in the developing and devel oped

world was necessary as president.%¢

%3 Professor Irving Brecher was interested in the Presidency and was considered for
the post.

Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.
34 Geoffrey Oldham, interview by author, 22 December 1993.
35 Stuart Peters, interview by author.

3% Strong mentioned his name as president to Oldham a month later. Oldham didn't
know Hopper.

Geoffrey Oldham, interview by author, 22 December 1993.
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After the critical Science Policy and Technology Cabinet Committee meeting on
23 September 1969, Strong, Peters the hiologist, Omand Solandt, the medical saentist,
and the geophysicist, Oldham met for a celebratory luncheon drink at the Chateau
Laurier. Solandt added his voice to the chorus singing the refrain that a professional
scientist was needed to head IDRC. Perinbam first met Hopper in the month of
November. Peters added his voice in paper form when he wrote a memorandum at the
end of the month which stated in dramatic tone that the "appointment of a President from
within the ranks of the senior Public Service will undoubtedly invoke fear from many
strong supporters of IDRC legislation that government established administrative
attitudes, operdive practices and people would pameate the Centre and reduce its overall
potential."**” The three natural scientists appear to have won the day because Strong

decided to accept the proposition.

Joe Hulse, formely at Maple Leaf Foods, and by that timea CIDA consultant,
appears to have been a potential candidate. Strong sent both Joe Hulse and David Hopper
to meet Oldham prior to the choice of the president. This may mean that Oldham's vision
was the most in accord with Strong's and that Oldham was to present to these potential
presidents his vision. However, by 18 December 1969, the field had narrowed almost
entirely to a number of academics. The list sent to the Minister for External Affairs
consisted of: Dr. Claude Bissell (speciaist in Canadian literature and Canadian history),
Prof. Irving Brecher (an economist), Prof. James Gillies, Prof. James M. Ham (an
electrical engineer), Dr. David Hopper (an agricultural economist), Mr. Douglas N.
Kendall, Prof. Cranford Pratt (an economist) and Dr. William C. Winegard (a

%7 Stuart Peters to M.F. Strong, " Selection of President and Development of an
Appropriate Organizational Structure and Operational Style for the International
Development Research Centre,” TMS, 21 November 1969, File 73, Document #001147,
IDRC Records, 1.
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metallurgical engineer).®® Of these, Hopper had the most applied scientific field

experience in developing countries.

Before he became first President of IDRC, W. David Hopper was a Canadian
agricultural economist who had spent much of hislifein the United Statesand in Asia.
He had received his BSc. at MacDonald College, done research in the villages of India.
He completed his PhD at Cornell and had then taught at Ontario Agricultural College,
Ohio State Univergty and University of Chicago. Significantly, he had worked at both
the Ford and Rockefeller Foundations, and the World Bank.

Hopper was known to be bullish about most things but especially the possibilities
of science and technology. While recognising that it had to be relevant to the local user,
he had seen its marvels in the Green Revolution in India. Francis X. Sutton recalls him to
have been used as a"hammer" by "Frogy" Hill of Cornell. Hill had played avital rolein
the joint development of the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) by both Ford
and Rockefeller. He was an agricultural economist, and then head of Ford's overseas
development group. Hill was known asa great believer in the technicd fix. "Frosty" Hill
sought to make research more important, eventually creating, after considerable struggle,
the Consulting Group for International Agricultural Research. Sutton first met Hopper in
Mexico where thelatter was used by Hill against those who favoured community

development over technology.>*

Maurice Strong met David Hopper in Indiain the spring of 1967 during the

drought in Bihar. Hopper was then a visiting professor at the Indian Agricultural

%8 M.F. Strong, "Memorandum to the Minister, International Devel opment Research
Centre Presidency and Board of Governor,” TMOS, 18 December 1969, File
73, Document #001158, IDRC Records, 1.

39 Francis X. Sutton, interview by author, 4 August 1987, tape recording, New Y ork.
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Research Ingtitute, where he lectured in agricultural economics. In 1968, Strong met
Hopper briefly and informed him tha he was in the process of creating IDRC. In April
1969, Hopper met Strong for athird timeat an Asia Develgpment Bank meeting in
Australia. At this point, Strong suggested that he might wish to become Director of
Agriculture. Hopper procrastinated, being uncertain of the structure, etc. of the new
Centre.*® Lewis Perinbam met Hopper later that year and shortly afterward suggested that

Hopper or someonelike him be President of IDRC.***

In January of 1970, Hopper was in New Y ork reporting to the Rockefeller
Foundation for which he was working. Maurice Strong asked Hopper to come to Ottawa.
In Ottawa, Strong asked Hopper to become President, although formally Hopper was
merely a candidate being queried about the Presidency of an organisation that had not yet
been approved by Parliament.

At the beginning of 1970, the bill to establish IDRC was still at Second Reading.
Hopper was, in fact, present at the meeting where Strong gave testimony before the
House of Commons Standing Committee on External Affairs and National Defense on
February 11. We note that the President had been chosen long before Parliament had
passed the bill to aeate it. Despitethe ignoring of pratocol, Hopper was not introduced to
the committee as the heir apparent. Interestingly, Hopper does not recall meeting with

%0 David Hopper, interview by author, 31 July 1987.

1 |ewis Perinbam, interview by author.

Perinbam's preference for Hopper is consistent with his hopes for the creation of a
Canadian version of the Rockefeller Foundation. The Americanised Hopper was working
for Rockefeller when Perinbam suggested his name. Hopper's close association with
American aid may have also been atractive since the combatting of US aid weariness
was part of the initial impetus for IDRC.
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Members of the House of Commons or Senate, other than Sharp and Trudeau.**?

After Hopper's acceptance of Strong's offer of the post, he met with members of
the government as well as some of the mandarinate. Hopper saw Chairman of the Board
to be, Mike Pearson. Hopper's family had known the Pearson family for years. The family
had a summer cottage near the Pearson's summer cottage. Hopper was also known by
virtue of hisfather by Minister of External Affairs Sharp, akey member of the
mandarinate. Sharp was a strong family friend of Hopper's father, Wilbert C. Hopper.
Sharp had workedin the grain tradeuntil 1942. Sharp did not know Wilbert'sson well,
but was impressed by Hopper's work in the field.*** Sharp approved Hopper's

appointment.

Sharp is something of a sociologically ambiguous figure, like Plumptre. Unlike
most civil servants although he has been a civil servant most of hislife, hehas close
links with business®* After leaving the grain trade he entered the Department of Finance.
In 1951, Sharp became Associate Deputy Minister of Trade and Commerce, and then
Deputy Minister in 1957. But Sharp did not spend all of his career in the civil service. In
1958, Sharp was named vice-president of Brazilian Traction, Light and Power Company,
commonly known as Brascan. Like Pearson, after having become an MP, Sharp returned
to his old departments as minister, namely Trade and Commerce, and later as Minister of
Finance. In 1968, Sharp became Minister of Externd Affairs, a position that he held
during the development of the proposal for IDRC, and of particular importance to us, at

this juncture, during the period of the appointment and Presidency of David Hopper. As a

%2 David Hopper, interview by author, 1987.
33 Mitchell Sharp, interview by author, 11 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
34 Dennis Olsen, The State Elite, Toronto: McLelland and Stewart, 1980.
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youth he taught Sunday school ** Sharp is a man with apublic reputationfor principles,
and briefly held the position of first Ethics Counsellor early in the Chrétien government.
It is perhaps not surprising that he approved IDRC Bill which limited the number of
purely political appointments that could be made to the Board.

Although both Pearson and Sharp knew Wilbert C. Hopper, neither knew David
Hopper himself to any great degree. Consequently, the younger Hopper was questioned
asto his soundness by both Pearson and Sharp, and Trudeau. His political sympathies
were particularly important to the officials of the Ministry of Finance and Treasury
Board. The President Designate had lunch with Prime Minister Trudeau. Hopper was
taken to the offices of several other members of the mandarinate. In particular, Hopper
met with those individuals and Departments who had expressed the most concern about
the shape of IDRC in 1967, including Gordon Robertson, still head of the Privy Council
in 1970. According to Hopper, the worries of a number of departments of government
had to be allayed, especialy those of External Affairs. Naturally, Hopper spoke to the
Under-Secretary of State for External Affairs, A.E. Ritchie. Hopper also conversad with
Michael Pitfield of the PMO, and others. External Affairs, the Privy Council, Pearson,
Finance and Treasury Board all wanted to make certan that Hopper was"not politically
unsensitive."%% Hopper's own impression was that Treasury Board and the Department of
Finance's main worry could be summed up as, "Gee, are we going to have some kind of
wild-eyed radical who is going to spend money right, left and centre and ship it out to all
the wrong groups."**" Clearly, Hopper had to be seen as palitically reliable.

The new Chairman of the Board of Gavernors of IDRC, Mike Pearson, also

35 Mitchell Sharp, Which Reminds Me ... A Memoir, Toronto: Univerdty of Toronto
Press, 1994, 198.

36 David Hopper, interview by author, 1987.
367 David Hopper, interview by author, 1987.
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sought to make certain that the Governors would not be "radical”. Some of the first words
that Pearson uttered to the Board were the following,

If there are abuses of this freedom and flexibility, the parliament of Canada can
cut off the Centre's funds at the end of every year. I've no doubt we will al keep
that in mind in our work.3®®

Hopper's comment to this statement by Pearson is useful for guiding our interpretation of
the language.

DH: He had to say to the Board. Let's not, let'snot. . A lot of radical proposals are
going to come forth from you. Let's recognize that we have independence, but that
if we are not aware of our public responsibilities . . .3

One possible reason for Pearson's statement to the Board may have been Pearson's desire
to avoid having IDRC become as politically controversial as the Company of Y oung
Canadians. Pearson was aware of this problem from the press and had been kept informed
of the Company's attempts to resolve their difficultiesin letters he received from Stuart

Goodings, the Company's Executive Director until 1969.3"°

%8 _.B. Pearson, IDRC BOG, "Minutes' 26-28 October 1970, IDRC Records, 1.
39 David Hopper, interview by author, 31 July 1987, tape recording, Washington..
370 Stuart Goodings, interview by author, 26 April 1994, by telephone, notes, Ottawa.
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The Board of Governors

The selection of the Chair of any Board isindicative of the prestige and political
legitimacy of the organisation. The legitimacy of IDRC was firmly established by the fact
that the first Chair was Pearson. The decision to try to have Pearson become the
Chairman of the Board of Governors came early on in the formation of the structure of
IDRC. In fact, as soon as Pearson announced hisintention to retire in the autumn of 1967,
Matthew Gaasenbeek wrote to Maurice Strong and suggested that they ask Pearson if he
wished to head it. Of course, Pearson was not asked formally to become Chairman until
1970. However, suspicions were sufficiently aroused in Parliament that by 1 February
1968 then MP, Ed Schreyer asked this question regarding the proposed IDRC in the
House of Commons. "Would it be in order to ask the right hon. Prime Minister if thisis
the kind of academic institution he hasin mind for his retirement years?' To which
Pearson replied. "There is nothing academic about this Mr. Speaker."*™* This wistful

response seems to indicate that Pearson was interested in the position of Chairman.

L ester Pearson was chosen as the first Chairman of theBoard for several reasons.
Strong assesses why Pearson was chosen. "l thought that would sit well with the
bureaucracy, with Trudeau's desire to show some respect for his predecessor, and the
whole history of Pearson first init. [sic] That also politically helped to get the idea back
again."*? Jim Pfeifer, the Secretary of IDRC for twelve years and drafter of IDRC's
legislation, feels that Pearson's chairmanship gave IDRC legitimacy in the market, in the

business community.*”

3" House of Commons, Minutes and Proceedings, 1 February 1968, 6238-9.
372 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.
373 James Pfeifer, interview by author, 13 March 1987, notes, Ottawa.
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Lester Bowles Pearson as Chair In Waiting, and the Early Days

One of Pearson’'s most significant effects on the future shape of IDRC came when
he was asked by Maurice Strong to comment on the draft |egislation of the Bill to
establish the Centre. Asthe proposal passed from stage to stage the idea was
progressively becoming more and more a technocratic affair. As such, the natural
scientist seemed more and more bound to be dominant in the Centre. Pearson passed the
document to Ed Hamilton, who worked for him on the Commission of International
Development. Pearson backed Hamilton's comments and added and expanded in his own
script. Hamilton noticed that the draft of the bill said that the purpose of the bill wasto do
research into "the means for applying and adapting scientific and technological
knowledge" and defined research as "scientific and technical enquiry and
experimentation." Pearson worried that "a narrow or negative-minded lawyer might use
the qualifications against, for example, a project on the techniques of land reform or court
reorganization." He found similar references in the draft bill which would prejudice the
involvement of the social sciences. This intervention led to the broadening of the
definition of knowledge to "scientific, technical and other knowledge" He also wished to
ensure that the research would be applied. Peters had the legislation atered to permit pilot
projects. In general, Pearson wanted IDRC to have as much room for manoeuvre as
possible, even able to develop wholenew institutions. However, Pearson also wished to
have the notion of an underdevel oped country defined in static monetary terms, so as to
restrict projedsin "such countries as Isragl" 3" But because a developing country is
difficult to define in monetary and other terms, and because those standards of

measurement are fluid and not static, Pearson's request was denied 3

37 |_.B. Pearson to Stuart S. Peters, TD, 2 July 1969, Document #000879, File 68,
IDRC Records, 1-2.

37 Stuart S. Petersto L.B. Pearson, TD, 11 July 1969, Document #000878, File 68,
IDRC Records, 2.
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Pearson's first act as Chairman of the Board of Govemors was to thregen to
refuse to chair the first meeting. The Centre was to open in the dark days of October
1970. But this had to be approved by the government. The government was fixated on the
FLQ crisis and the quotidian business of government came to a halt. Pearson balked at the
idea of being the Chair of an organisation that had not been authorised. He forced the
government to permit its inauguration, and it was formally sanctioned on the second day

of the Board's meeting.*”® Pearson had his own priorities too, he was dying.

Ivan Head credits Pearson with the decision to have the Centre in the downtown
core of the city.*”” Thefirst location of IDRC wasto bein an old school near Billings
Bridge, eleven kilometres from the centre of the city. Soon after the building was sold to
another government agency.3”® IDRC was actually first housed in the Pebb Building in
the same area. But Pearson felt that IDRC had to be near Parliament Hill, lest it become
financially margnalised becauseit was spatially distant from power. Soin 1972, IDRC
moved to 60 Queen Street, only afew city streets fromthe House of Commons IDRC
has remained downtown ever since, changing addresses only once more in 1987 to 250
Albert Street.

One of Pearson'sactions on behalf of IDRC was to attempt to get IDRC
recognised as an international organisation so that gaff would not be taxed. A letter to
Mitchell Sharp dated 27 January 1972 stated that IDRC was having difficulty attracting
good overseas staff because of the relatively low staff salaries, compared with other

international organisations®” In the end, it was not possible for Pearson's suggestion to

37 David Hopper, interview by author, 1987.
37" lvan Head, interview by author, 18 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
378 David Hopper, interview by author, 31 July 1987.

379 L.B. Pearson to Mitchell Sharp, TLS, 27 January 1972, Pearson PMO, IRDC [sic]
January 1972 - March 1973, MG 26, N 5, Vol. 5, 18, Public Archives of Canada, 1.

181



be incorporated. The Department of Justice and Treasury Board determined that IDRC
could not unilaterally declare itself international as such despite the nature of the Board
and international staff 3%

Pearson was also called to respond to letters directed at him from the public which
demanded that he defend Centre policies. One such case concerned letters from G.H.
Beaton, the Chairman of the Department and School of Hygiene of the University of
Toronto. Beaton complained to Pearson about the allotment of money to Canadian
investigators. Beaton said that, "1 feel that arather arbitrary policy prohibiting the support
of Canadian investigators on the basis of their nationality and geographic location alone
is most unfortunate."*®! Pearson was given very specific advice regarding this complaint
by David Hopper through Pearson's secretary, Annette Perron. "Hopper says that Beaton
is along-time trouble-maker. Hopper suggests that you [Pearson] should wait till the
Board meeting then write him saying that the matter was discussed and the Board
examined the Centre's financial capacity and the objectives set out in the Act and that you
can do no more than reaffirm the general directives given to Beaton."**? This advice
Pearson followed very closely. The point of these two examples regarding tax and letters
isto say that Pearson loyally acted as shield-bearer, when his priorities lay with his

memoirs and saving his own life.

Pearson seems to have had some influence on the shape and style of the firg
Board. Some of those selected had been part of the Commission of International

Development, such as Roberto Campos. Others had been present at the various meetings

%0 David Hopper, interview by author, 1987.

31 G.H. Beaton to W.D. Hopper, TLS, 24 May 1972, MG 26, N 5, Val. 18, IRDC
January 1972 - March 1973, Public Archives of Canada, 2.

382 Annette Perron to L.B. Pearson, "Memorandum”, DS, 6 September 1972, MG 26,
N 5, Vol. 18, IRDC January 1972 - March 1973, Public Archives of Canada, 1.
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that Pearson attended in the late 1960s. But Maurice Strong made certain that few did not
meet with his approval .** Later, two months before his death, Pearson did intervene
personally in the choice of at least one of the members of the Board of Governors.
Pearson did not want a particular Indian included on the Board becauseof his stancein
favour of nuclear proliferation.®* He does not seem to have taken many particular
initiatives within the Board or, as Chairman of the Board, outside IDRC. Aswe shall see,
of those on the Board, Pearson only appears to have shared his concerns about the
direction the Centre was taking with Barbara Ward. Mike Pearson tried to perform his

duties as Chairman of the Board even as his body was dying.

Communists on the Board of Governors?

Some wavering seems to have taken place over whether to include East Europeans
on the Board of Governors. To have nearly half the Board from overseas was unusual, but
to have had East Europeans prior to the fall of the Berlin Wall would have been
extraordinary. Fifteen percent of those on the Board of Governors of the proposed
Institute for the Advancement of Man were meant to be from China, Eastern Europe and
the U.S.S.R. But the IAM was also to include 10% UN personnel, 5% Outstanding Waorld
Figures and 8% representatives from world religions.® However, these suggestions did
not survive past the first version of the what was to become the IDRC proposal. Y et the

idea of having communists survived urtil at least mid-summe 1970. To understand this

383 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.

34 _.B. Pearson, ANS, 3 October 1972, MG 26, N 5, Val. 18, IRDC January 1972 -
March 1973, Public Archives of Canada, 2.

385 Matthew Gaasenbeek, "Initial Report on the Proposed Institute for the
Advancement of Man", "Annex 1", TD, 19 April 1967, File 3, Document #000013, IDRC
Records, 12.
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proposition it is probably worthwhile to recall, as we noted in the previous chapter, that
the notion of having Communists on the Board of Governors was perfectly in tune with
the Pearsonian Weltanschauung, to which Strong and many others were adherents. The
initiative was Strong's. As we have already discussed, the justifications for increased
emphasis on Canadian foreign policy activities and development assistance came from a
belief in the necessity of international socia peace and justice. We have seen that
especially after 1957 Pearson thought that nuclear Armageddon might be avoided by
increased contacts between socialist and capitalist states, and all countries generaly.
Pearson's, indeed Canadian foreign policy as awhole, was less in the French or American
manner, and recognized de facto rather than de jure governments. The policy preference
on the part of IDRC's President, Chair and creator for having Eastern Europeansin the
1970s was part of this particular stream of Canadian thinking. However, it was not until
the late 1980s that Chinese Communists (at least in form) sat on the Board. Eastern
Europeans remain excluded despite the collapse of the Berlin Wall. Canadian foreign

policy is aways limited by strong opinions in the United States.

As Minister of External Affairs, Mitchell Sharp would have made most of the
final decisions onthe choice of theBoard. Sharp was quite unwilling to indude East
Europeans on the Board. When queried about the decision Sharp replied, "What did they
know about operations like this, not very much. It was never considered seriously.
Because they couldn't give us any advice."** Whether this was the real, or a complete
explanation of why East Europeans were not included in the Board is difficult to say. It
seems unlikely. The principal list of recommendations for the Board of Governors
included one Sovid, and a Pole, as analternate. Oneof those suggested, G.M. Gvishiani,
received the highest rating from those IDRC staff deputed to assess potential governors.
He was then Vice-Chairman of the USSR's State Centre of Science and Technology, and
had been recommended by the Canadian Embassy in Moscow, the UN Advisory

38 Mitchell Sharp, interview by author.
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Committee on Science and Technology. Gvishiani was Kosygin's son-in-law, and well
known as a specidist in science and technology issues’ The alternate suggestion was J.
Kaczmarek, theVice-Chancellor of the University of Cracow. Kaczmarek was a
Professor there, a member of the Polish Academy, and a Scientist by training.%® Maurice
Strong had suggested both these names*® Hopper himself appears not have been in
favour of thisinitiative. His explanation for the decision not to have East Europeans on

the Board was "security."3%

Despite this rebuff neither Pearson nor Ward were willing to be deterred by the
refusal to have communists on the Board, they continued to make IDRC a symbol of a
broader church. At the press conference following the inaugural meeting of the Board,
Pearson said, "Soviet Bloc states are not excluded “in any way shape or form' from the
activities of the centre,” The Windsor Star reported,

Mr. Pearson says he hopes to get in touch with leaders from the area [ Eastern
Europe] before long' and try to interest them in the centre's work. He said the
board would be happy to consult with Communist leaders on any ideas they might
have pertaining to the centre."3%

Pearson was as good as his word.

387 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 1987.

388 *Board of Governors Candidates, TD, n.d., Pearson PMO, MG 26, N 5, Vol. 18,
Public Archives of Canada, 1.

389 Maurice Strong supported the inclusion of both candidates. Maurice Strong,
interview by author, 28 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.

3% David Hopper, interview by author.

%91 Windsor Star, "Pearson asks Communists to join development centre," October
1970, n.d., n.p.
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After the creation of the Centre, in March 1971, Barbara Ward organised a
conference under the auspices of IDRC entitled "Possible Priorities and Patterns of
Cooperation in Development Research." Ward herself conveyed for Hopper and Pearson
invitations to a number of foreignersincluding the Soviet Skorov, and the Hungarian
Bognar. Well-known members of the centre-left such as Prebisch, Seers, Ghai, I1slam,
Chidzero, were invited from abroad. Canadians cut from the same cloth like Gerry
Helleiner and Cranford Pratt were also asked to attend.**? What this indicated was the
difference between the narrower, less bold and less internationalist vision of the new
generation of thetechnocratic Hopper, chastened and polarised by the anti-Communist
dirge, and that of Ward and Pearson. That dissatisfaction and difference in style and
substance is encapsulated in a letter from Ward to Pearson.

| have afear | share only with you that without some larger perspective -
"grander" project, we may end up as a sub-Rockefeller putting lysine into wheat
and doing jobs which a hundred other bodies |ess well-endowed and independent
than IDRC might perform. . . | think we must be more than retailers of research
and policy.>*

392 |_etters from Barbara Ward, re "Possible Prioritiesand Patterns of Cogperation in
Development Research,” Conference, TDS, March 1971, Foreign Affars Records, Aid
and Export Finance, Organizations and Conferences, IDRC, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 4.

%93 BarbaraWard Jackson to L. B. Pearson, ALS, 31 July 1972, MG 26 N 5Val. 21,
Sir Robert and Lady Jackson, June 1968 - Dec 1972, Pearson Papers, Public Archives, 1.
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Crucible to Mould

Hopper Decides

Hopper's actions as President were decisive in the forming of IDRC. Despite the
many meetings and reams of paper devoted to the definition of IDRC, the basic
documents, Bill C-12, and the informal agreements etc. it was intended by the drafters
that very much of the internal structure, personnel and activities of IDRC remained to be
defined.

Asisthefate of most such studies, the specific research proposals suggested by
the various departments represanted by the Steering Committee and those of the Task
Force were ignored. Ever since the idea of IDRC was mooted in early 1967, Strong
championed the notion that the Centre should become a "think-tank.” While the idea had
not been ruled out by the legislators into 1970, more and more the understanding of those
involved with the drawing up of the proposal saw IDRC as doing little in-house research
and decision-making itself. Rather, IDRC would support research elsewhere and be
responsive to Third World needs, instead of directing research. Strong had lost the
argument on thisitem. But as determined as ever, he tried to persuade Hopper of the
value of aplacefor opinion leades, established scholars and students to reflect on waorld

problems. Hopper closed the issue and it was not serioudy raised for two decades.®*

The common experience of Oldham and Hopper in different parts of Asia
convinced them that indigenous capacity building with the maximum flexibility for
indigenous researchers was the top priority. Oldham says,

We were the two people who had alot of experience in the devel oping world
... alot of other people who had been deeply grounded in the Third World would
have been coming up and saying "L ook thisis the thing that we ought to be doing

3% David Hopper, interview by author, 1987.
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now.3%

Oldham was more willing than Hopper to have an organisation built in Canada for the
purpose of indigenous capacity building in devel oping countries, so long as most of the
research it conducted was contracted out and well-tested in the field. Hopper was more

keen on all research being conducted there.

Once IDRC was created in law, David Hopper had to decide what the shape of the
organisation would be. In January 1970, apparently in reaction to Hopper's expectations
of the future shape of the Centre, Stuart Peters sought to convince Strong that the
structure of IDRC should consist of a series of loose "groups” including a concept group
(the "think-tank™), an information system group, administration group, and a research
management group consisting of research teams. All these would be led by the Board and
President. Peterssuggested that,

- that the Centre's process of goal setting be adopted. . .

- that the . . . blocks to effective development activities lie closer to the
stage of implementation of existing knowledge than near the basic
research end of the spectrum.

- that the social sciences and behavioural scienceswill probably be found to
be as involved as the physical and naural sciences.

- that in some instances, unfavourable administrative dimates,
unidisciplinary and/or too restrictive geographical application may . . .
inhibit . . . development activities3%®

Peters' own model wasthe R & D team.

Hopper's models were the Rockefeller Foundation, "to bring in-house a top-flight

3% Geoffrey Oldham, interview by author, 22 December 1993.

3% S.S. Petersto M.F. Strong, "Objectives, Style and Structure: A Possible Approach
for the International Development Research Centre of Canada,” TMS, 9 January 1970,
File 73, No document #, IDRC Records, 3.
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professional group,"*” Ford's regional offices, and the university. Sanctioned by Strong
and Plumptre's vision, Hopper's general personnel policy wasto hire the best staff and
have appointed the best governors he could find the world over.Around those staff he
built a structure based on the university model i.e. semi-autonomous colleges. In the case
of IDRC, they wereto be called divisions. Regional offices he made quite dependent,

perhaps because Ford's regional offices had occasionally become satraps.

Hopper usually chose strong divisional directors. They developed their own
practices, and areas of emphasis, hiring those they estimated to be the best in their field,
just as Hopper haddone in their case Although a strong personality, Hopper chose to
invest Directorswith agreat ded of autonomy within the Centre, alegecy that wasto cag
along shadow on the subsequent history of the Centre. The first Divisions were:
Administration, headed by E.J. O'Brien; Food and Nutrition Sciences led by Joseph H.
Hulse, Population and Health Sciences directed by G.F. Brown, and Specid Projects
headed by Ruth Zagorin. A little later, Zagorin came to head the Social Sciences Division

and John Woolston became head of Information Sciences.

In asense, Hopper's new Centre and choice of divisions was not his own. A good
part of the framework in which Hopper and his colleagues worked was suggested by
Lewis Perinbam. The essential impulse came from Ward, Stulman and Strong via
Rockefeller. The substance of the operation, capacity building, originated in the papers of
Geoffrey Oldham. Bentley, Perinbam, Brecher and the universities assured research
would be conducted on afoundation basis, rather than in-house. The Social Sciences
Division had its originsin John Parker's proposal for aworld university for the social
sciences. The Information Sciences Division sprang from Burke Brown and Maurice
Strong's vision of a"New Manhattan Project” and Erskine Childers proposal for an

International Development Support Communications Centre. But to suggest that Hopper

%7 David Hopper, interview by author, 31 July 1987.
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had little influence on the early IDRC would be simply untrue.

Hopper's own work on the problems of rural agriculture, and the obvious pressing
needs of the rural poor in the South led to the Centre to concentrate over 40% of the
budget on what came to be called the Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Sciences Division
(AFNYS), clearly, the largest and most powerful division. An emphasis on population and
health had been mentioned by Matthew Gaasenbeek in the IAM proposal of April 1967,
but this was very much one of Hopper's preoccupations. Moreover, it was Hopper who
decided what of the legislation, what of the notions circulating would be emphasised and

what to ignore.
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Policy Threads Loom — the First Board Meeting

IDRC was inauguraed at Government House in the grips o the October Crisis.
RCMP officers were assigned to protect Pearson, Strong and others. But the mood was
confident, "a happening"” for al this. Ottawain 1970 could not be mistaken for New Y ork
City. Thisvery provincial federal capital of Canada was not used to fleets of limousines
carrying the Governors of the Centre around Ottawa. Rumbles from the fiscally-focused

members of central agencies could already be heard*®

Hopper stated thebasic purpose of the Centre as he saw it.

| see the Centre as being an instrumentality for the modernization of traditional or
ancient peoples. | seeit in terms of attempting to bring to bear through its own
rationalities, therationalities of science a better understanding of this
modernization process and a better facilitation of its accomplishments.>*

IDRC's activities were to be part of a genera transformation of developing countries
societies, from societies based on various traditions and folklore, to those based on
science and industrial technology. Soon after Hopper concluded setting out his basic
philosophy in speech, words of fundamental doubt and caution were raised by the

American microbiologist and Board member, René Dubos,

He asked the Board to be aware tha many problems of the world require not so
much the application of more technology but a recognition that technology can
involve usin channels that may destroy societies rather than helping them.
Accordingly, he recommended the use of the term "knowledge". The Board must
avoid starting developing countriesin directions that have been destructive to
developed countries.*®

With the exception of the Australian, Sir John Crawford, who urged progress with

3% Jon Church, interview by author, 15 December 1993, tape recording, Ottawa.
39 David Hopper, IDRC BOG, "Minutes," 26 October 1970, IDRC Records, 3.
40" Minutes," 26 October 1970, 4.
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common sense, most governors sided with Dubos's caution. Neverthel ess, the majority
believed in the general inevitability of the march of science. The Nigerian agricultural
economist, H.A. Oluwasanmi accepted that technology would be introduced to the

devel oping world. However, Oluwasanmi argued, it must be initiated with a consideration
and awareness of the traditional patterns of the people concerned.** The discourse among
developmentalists regarding IDRC has ever since been between the Hopper view and the
Dubos perspective, while Oluwasanmi's has prevailed in the Centre. The proposal had

been poured from crucible to mould.

401 "Minutes," 26 October 1970, 5.
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Chapter Three: From a Canadian Point of View

Among the leading channels or institutional vehicles of technology transfer are
transnational corporations, think tanks, foundations professional associations,
academies of sdence, universities, labor unions, voluntary agencies, individuals,
and public agencies of al types, including national governments and
international %2

Denis Goulet

This chapter examines how IDRC as a date-funded vehicle hasrelated to its
interlocutors on the Canadian scene since its founding in 1970. In the main, they are
federal officials and academics. The data below shows that like Canadian development
assistance as awhole, the Centre especially, has not fitted very well within the set of
expectations of such organisations by government or academics. The technically neutral
nature of IDRC as established in the 1970s may have made less likely the scrutiny of
central agents of the federal government. But IDRC was seen as a culture of "pure
development,” alien and outside the control of the administrative regimes of the state, and
the parochial motives of various Canadians. These factors combined with changing
political forces led to the progressive weakening of the degree of autonomy of the Centre.
Y et the Centre has managed to run the gauntlet by: a) by pursuing the art of political
tactics, b) displaying itself as a culture representing internationalist and scientific values
in an effective manner, c) having aleadership culturally and substantively in harmony
with central agents and key politicians, and d) being responsive to Canadan academic
concerns. Complementary and antagonistic relations have been established with CIDA
over the terrain occupied by each organisation. CIDA provided IDRC with a convenient
organisation to which parochia interests can be directed, so maintaining untied aid status.
IDRC's untied aid character acts as an altruistic benchmark for CIDA. Reviews of the
CIDA led to the Agency inevitably being compared to IDRC in these terms. Thisin turn
assists in the maintenance of internaionalist characteristics at CIDA. CIDA stewardship

402 Denis Goulet, The Uncertain Promise, New York: IDOC, 1977, 53.
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of development assistance funding has led to the Agency taking on central agent
characteristics relative to the Centre, producing chafing, especially in times of funding

cuts.

If we take a marine metaphor, IDRC was born in Pearsonian seas. After 1975, the
Centre found itself to be a small, highly specialised mudskipper swimming in
increasingly small tidal pools. Those pools were inhabited by larger and hungrier
mudskippers. All faced predation from terrestrial species of related but remote origins.
The chapter which succeeds this oneis a history of evolution, and examination of the
transforming anatomy of the mudskipper in its habitat. This chapter reveals the murky

struggle to survivein those pools and intertidal margins.

What the following chapter showsisthat IDRC has not survived easily, or
unscathed. The main reason that IDRC has achieved the high reputation in developing
countries, apparent from the professional excellence of its staff and internationd board, is
that researche's from those countries conduct theresearch themselves. While IDRC is
unique in the world with its international board, it does exist, and therefore, is contrary to
some of Goulet's more instrumental notions that " nations themselves are made to serve
the interests of an international techno-structure'.*® Thisis not to question the general
rule, nor even that IDRC may be a means of expanding that technical constituency.
Rather it isto say that at least, this notion just mentioned does not reveal anomaly, but

homogeneity.

The main difficulty IDRC has faced for much of its history is the tug between
Pearsonian internationalist impulses concretised in an organisational culture of

researchers on the one hand, and Canadian parochial interests and federd governmental

493 Denis Goulet and Michael Hudson, the myth of aid, Maryknoll, New York: Orbis,
1971, 28.
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patterns, on the other. IDRC has had until recently little in common with the rest of the
federal state and no substantial domestic institutionalised constituency inside or outside
government willing to defend it. Despite having received a series of awards for excellence
over adecade, even when it had bureaucratised, when the Centre faced being made into a
departmental corporation in 1992, the files of Foreign Affairs, to which IDRC reports,
contain only one letter of complaint from the President of the AUCC, Claude
Lajeunesse.*** Goulet's principal insight in the context of this chapter is the viewing of the
organisation as an embodiment of values, and channel for value exchange, in the case of

IDRC, Pearsonian internationalist and scientific val ues.

The vision of IDRC as concretised by David Hopper had little to do with
traditional defined Canadian interests. The share of money flowing to Canadiansin its
programs has risen from about 7.4% per cent under Hopper, to fourteen percent during
most of the Head presidency.*® That level began to sharply risein the last years of the
Head period and has now reached nearly twenty-five per cent of programme funding.
While not untied aid, IDRC is clearly not very much tied either. Thus, unlike other
organisations constituted by the Canadian federal government are almost wholly funded
by federal funds, IDRC serves a clientele which does not fit well into a government
system based on a conventional premise of serving Canadians. While the immediate
beneficiariesof this Canadian largesse are generally academics in developing countries,
the intended beneficiaries usually are the marginalised in those countries. Neither are

particularly important to Canadian short-term interests.

CIDA seemsfatedto be pilloried in public and thanked in private. IDRC seamsto

“%4Claude L gjeunesse, President, AUCC, to Ms. [Barbara] McDougall, TLS, 13 March
1992, , IDRC-38-4, Volume 66, Aid and Export Finance, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

%5 The comparability of the figuresisunclear.
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have the opposite destiny, praised in public for not being tied aid, while demands are
made in the serenity of corridors, governmental or academic. Within the confines of the
federal capital, IDRC isafairly independent federal crown corporation that often funds
overseas academics. It is not subject to many of the strictures of the Financial
Administration Act which circumscribes the reporting and financial structures of federal
organisations. That IDRC has this freedom has never sat well in central agencies of the
federal government. IDRC's sense of being a stranger has been exacerbated by the nature
of its personnel. Unlike much of Ottawa, the programme officer staff are largely technicd
specialists with an academic orientation, one-third of whom live in devdoping countries.
So, while CIDA has been able to find a natural alliance in generalist officials in other
federal agencies, often former CUSO alumni, IDRC has not. The attention of IDRC staff
is very much outside Canada and highlight another persistent theme regarding IDRC, the

tug between the international and domestic aspects of the Centre.

IDRC has not quite found its niche, its naural community in Ottawa. Within
Canada, the Centre's natural community consists of athin layer of academics and
researchersinterested in developing countries. A modest number of Canadian academics
with concerns about the Third World are social scientists, many centre-left. During the
foundational Hopper years, 1970-77, the emphasis was on the harder side of natural
sciences, and in the social sciences, agricultural economics, population demographics and
science policy, not traditional havens for the more socially inclined. This might have been
appealing to the administrations of universities and the higher federal bureaucracy,
among engineers and business people, and so lessened the likelihood of negative
sanctions. But it was not conducive to constituting a favourable active national

constituency.

Canadian academics, as a species, appear to be wdl-connected in Ottawa, if
largely unimportant in its processes. Such professors are largely knownto make their

presence felt when they feel funding should be moving their way. In the case of IDRC, a
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certain schizophreniais evident. Academics interested in devel oping countries have
traditionally favoured the untying of aid. Consequently, in Canadian development
assistance cirdes, IDRC has beenrelatively lionisad, CIDA shamed. Naturally, some
scholars have pursued their own personal ends without reference to articles of faith. As
other funding sources dried up, the Canadian economy seized and society turned more
narrowly self-interested, IDRC became a door that was increasingly knocked upon. Its
legitimacy at the level of belief has tended to fall asits support has risen to itsmain
constituency in Canada. In short, as Canada has struggled with the nature of Canadian
development and therefore the quality of life and the values of its civilisation, the aim of
IDRC isto improve someone else's wealth. The Centre has survived because its officers

and governors have lived by their wits, symbolic representations and less cash.

We have so far seen how IDRC was formed in a Pearsonian vision of the world,
which was atered to fit the more rational scientific model of the sixties. Prior to tracing
the patterns of internal discourseof the Centre and showing how the Centre is slowly
reinventing itself, we need to look a the world outside IDRC. IDRC has been remarkably
independent in comparison with other government organisations, but that does not mean
it has not been influenced. Indeed, as we shall see, IDRC's very vitality, survival and
success as a federally funded organisation has depended on its ability to demonstrate that
it embodies the values upon which it was founded, and ye remains able from time to time
to show its political relevance and compliance to government policies. In the following

section we shall show how IDRC has related to its environment, domestic and global.
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Characteristics of IDRC Governors - »= 10 Occurrences
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The Board As Aegis

I've always maintained that the independence of IDRC, its quality and strength, is
from the board.*%
- lvan Head

According to the Act enabling IDRC, the Board of Governors of the Centre isthe
Centre, all authority flows from the Board. The Board is the aegis of the Centre, an
important way in which IDRC legitimates itself. Given that IDRC's social links have been
weak in Ottawa the Board takes on extraordinary importance in the survival and success
of the Centre. We will now examine the metal of which that shield is made, i.e. the

characteristics of Board membersin the last two and ahalf decades, delve into its

4% |van Head, interview by author, 18 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
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Characteristics of IDRC Governors (1970-94) - Occupations
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particular nature, and show how the Board adds to the legitimacy and survival of the

Centre. For an overview of the characteristics of governors see Figure 8.4’

International Governors

Unigque among organisations funded dmost exclusively by a national government,
IDRC has non-citizens as members of the Board. Nine of the twenty-one are not
Canadian citizens. Originally one member of the Board would be from among the most

powerful Western powers, certainly the USA, often France, and probably the UK. But as

“07 The data for the following statistics have been collected from resumés of the
ninety-three Governors appointed to the Board. Governors may be double-counted, if, for
example, agovernor classed herself as both an economist and professor on her curriculum
vitae. In some cases, when the author noted that for example, Marcel Massé, was also an
economist, but that it was not indicated, numbers were changed as appropriate. In general,
only when more than two occurrences was noted was a statistic registered.
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conceived by Maurice Strong, IDRC should not follow the general pattern and ssmply be
aid given without consultation with or participation by therecipients. To alleviate this, six
or seven of the nine international governors come from the Third World. Usually, each
Third World representative hails from a particular region of the Third World. Typicaly,
there is arepresentative from Asia, Latin America, the Middle East, the Caribbean, and
from East and West Africa. Aswe have noted in a previous chapter, this gives the Centre

avery particular texture and signals that thisis a different and important organisation.
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IDRC Governors (1970-94), Occupation When Appointed (Single Count)
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Figure 10

Occupational Distribution

The Statutes regulating the selection of Governors of the Centre stipulates of the
twenty-one governors, "at least eleven of the governors appointed must have experience
in the field of international development or experience or training in the natural or social
sciences or technology."“ Of the ninety-seven Governors that have been appointed since
1970, the most prominent statistic by far is the number of academics, or former
academics on the Board. Forty-six of the Governors had been at one time or another a
Professor, twenty-four, a Dean. Fifteen listed as one of their occupations, educator. (See

Figure 9). These figures are borne out by performing ain asingle and simplified count of

08 Revised Statutes of Canada, 1970, 1st Supplement, c. 21, Ottawa, Queen's Printer,
1970, 769.
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the occupations of Governors when they were appainted. (See Figure 10). About half
were academics, the next most significant group were civil servants, followed by donors
(usually the Presidents of CIDA and IDRC). While this manner of counting gives a sense
of the great importance attached to academics in the Centre, it masks the subtleties of the
background by identifying major features. Occupation stands out as a characteristic, but
other non-occupational features are important as we shall see. Also simply denoting that
the Governor is an academic does not show what kind of scholar they may be. If we

revert to double counting we can grasp the flavour of these appointments much better.

With regard to the subject of area of work, twenty-two Governors listed as one of
their occupations, economist. What this shows is influence of economistsin the upper
reaches of the international developmental elite, and their percaved legitimacy. What is
interesting is that only seven lawyers were among the Governors, which is unusual given
their general numbers among the Canadian elite as a whole. We can presume that the
developmental nature of the Centre's mandate tended to preclude their greater
representation. Of these economists, five were agricultural economists. Ten governors
named one of their occupations as engineer. These two categories appear to signify the
more technical nature of IDRC's past mandate and their presence in the organisation
itself. It is not surprising therefore that with the rural pre-occupations of the developing
world that fourteen governors have some associations with agriculture, six with nutrition.

This compares with only three each of political scientists and sociologists.

The next significant occupational cluster isin their role in government. Nine
governors had been deputy ministers or their equivalent. Eleven governors had served as
ministers. What thisindicatesis that legitimacy within a given government apparatus was
as important as political legitimacy as an indicator of suitability. Of different
characteristics indicating suitability as a Governor, occupation stands out as most
important overall. This may be explaned by the statuteand meritocratic and scientific

notions which undergird much of the Centre's work.
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International Status

Characteristics of IDRC Governors (1970-94) - Association with Metropolitan
Capital

Washington

London

Figure 11

International status of a governor clearly isimportant in considering an
appointment. However, that international status seems circumscribed to the three
metropolitan capitals of London, Paris and Washington. (See Figure 11). Sixteen
governors had connections with London, the majority via education, but also with other
activities. Thirteen had associations with Washington, most because of their work in the
World Bank, IMF, or as ambassadors. Interestingly, Paris was also named by ten
governors, the maority because of their presence at major conferences there, and at the

Conference on International Economic Cooperation.

Table One shows that links with the United Nations are important, more than one-

fifth of governors have links with it.
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Table 1: Associations with International Organisations (Total: 97)

All UN 19
Carnegie 2
FAO 5
Ford 3
IMF 5
Population Council 3
UNCTAD 2
UNDP 3
UNESCO 4
World Bank 7
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Characteristics of IDRC Governors - Association with Canadian Government >= 2
Occurrences

Privy Council
CIDA

Mational Bank of Canada.

IDRC

Fareign Affairs
Finance

Figure 12

Associations with the Canadian Government

Not surprisingly, the Canadian government organisations that have had most Governors
on IDRC's Board are CIDA and Foreign Affairs. (See Figure 12) Of Canadian
government representation, most were CIDA Presidents. It reveals that of those, many
have spent part of their careersin Foreign Affairs, some others began their caregrs there.
Another important statistic of equal frequency to those previous is an association with the
Centreitself. Many governors have been recipients of project grants, or Research
Fellows.*® Of governors associated with other parts of the federal government, they come
almost exclusively from financial sections of government, Finance, Treasury Board, The
Bank of Canada, or the Privy Council. Most have been officials and not politicians. The

number of finance related officials hovers around the three instances level per agency.

99 This may be underestimated as their status as IDRC recipientsis not always evident
on resumes.,
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Many of these people are also associated with Foreign Affairs, e.g. Wynne Plumptre.

Association with Universities

This category generally reflects either the location where a Governor taught or

was educated. In some cases, it reflects where someone was given an honourable degree.

Characteristics of IDRC Governors - Association with Universities >=5

Figure 13

In terms of gross figures, the most noticeabl e clusters are in Governors associated with
Harvard, several UK educational institutions and, to a lesser degree, central Canadian
universities.(See Figure 13)

206



Characteristics of IDRC Governors (1970-94) Asscciation with UK
Universities
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Figure 14

Asacluster, the number of Governors having associations with United Kingdom
educational institutions stands out as most significant. Although the total number of
governors assodated with Canadian universities, sixty-three, is the greater number in
total, nearly thirty Governors are associated with asmall number of British institutions.
(See Figure 14). The most prominent is Oxford with ten Governors, followed by London
with eight, and Cambridge, seven. This number may also be explained by the

considerable contingent of UK-trained professional staff in the Centre.
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Of non-North American universities, two are remarkable, Paris and University of
the West Indies (UWI1). (See Figure 15). Parisis exceptional becauseonly two indicate
any association with it. The relative scantiness of the association may be relatively low
prestige attached to Université deParisin elite and developmental circles compared with
other international universities, or as a consequence of the traditional rivalry with France
for influence in the Third World. It could be that American and British educational
institutions are considered more favourably in the more technical circles with which
IDRC is generally associated. UWI is notable for the opposite reason that Université de

Parisis, namely, four Governors have a connection with that university. No single factor

Characteristics of IDRC Governors (1970-94) Association with
Université de Paris & University of the West Indies

Paris U1

Figure 15

seems to explain thisanomaly. Canada's relatively close relations with the Caribbean and

the importance of UWI within the West Indies academic community may be posed.
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Characteristics of IDRC Governors [1970-94) Azzociation with American
Universzities

Chicago
Colurbia
Cormell
Harvard
lowa

MIT
Raockefeller
Stanford
UC, Berkeley
UG, Tatal

Figure 16

American universities are conspicuous in the uneven dstribution of governors.
(See Figure 16). Twelve Governors are associated with Harvard, the highest of all
universities. Iven Head received a degree from there, although thisis not sufficient to
explain the salience of the figure. The association isrelatively spread between the School
of Medicine (4), School of Law (3) and Business (2). Interestingly no other US university
garners anywhere near such an association, the next highest being Cornell with four
Governors. Three sociologists, begnning with Lila Engberg (and followed by Gelia
Castillo and Alex MacDonald) werepresent at Corndl in the late 1960s.
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Compozition of IDRC Eoard of Gov 3_[_1 370-94) Azzociation with Canadian

zhes

Figure 17

Among Canadian universities, the gross distribution is farly even among wdl
established universities, with atendency towards central Canadian ones. (See Figure 17).
McGill, Montreal, and Toronto accounted for six each. Universities that had close ties
with IDRC'swork, Laval and Guelph, had respectively four and three Governors. Perhaps
numbers from the University of Alberta are the most notable, with amost as many as the
three central Canadian universities, five. One must imagine that |van Head's association
with the university explains that anomaly. What seems clear though is, on the whole, a
connection with anon-Canadian, i.e. US or UK university, still carries with it an aura of

internationalism and therefore adds to the strength of the metal of the shield of the IDRC.
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Distinction

Another element in the choice of governor appears to be internationally
recognised distinctions conferred. (See Figure 18). Almost all these marks of distinction
were awarded prior to joining the Centre. Orders of Canada are have been granted to at
least eight Governors. Five have had knighthoods, most granted in recognition of service,
rather than hereditary. Rhodes Scholars are as numerous a distinction among governors as
knighthoods.

Characteristics of IDBC Governors [1970-34] - Distinction

Centennial Medal Knighthood Order of Canada Rhodes Scholar Wuffield

Figure 18

To sum up, the govemors reflect the mandate and vision of the Centre. It is
perhaps not surprising that IDRC has suggested and the government has selected
governors with academic credentials of distinction, of which many are economists, who
have international associations. IDRC funds research. In contrast to other such
appointments the governors are generally appropriate to the work of the Centre,
indicating that successive Canadian governments have been willing to accept the

premises of the Pearsonian vision.
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How Are Governors Chosen?

In ageneral sense, the selection processis different for Canadians and non-
Canadians. Of course, all are Governor-in-Coundl appointments and therefore subject to
the political process as such. Many candidates for Governor, especially non-Canadians,
are proposed by senior Centre staff. A list is then recommended to the Minister of
Foreign Affairs. Canadian missions are invited to suggest names of foreigners.
Occasionaly, Ottawa-based Foreign Affairs staff will too. Subsequently, the Minister's
Office at Foreign Affairs sends an amended roll of namesto PCO and PMO. These
suggestions are discussed in Cabinet and the governing party's caucus. Non-Canadians
are generally little scrutinised by Canadian politicians in general, whereas, Canadian
appointments carry the same sort of significance asother political appointments.
Nevertheless, IDRC Governors do nat receive much mare than the covering of their costs
as remuneration. Further, the academic nature of IDRC ensures that Governors have
much paper to review in preparation for each meeting. Foreign travel used to be an
attractive aspect of an appointment to the Board. However, that has virtually evaporated
after the embarrassment caused by the Ottawa Citizen in a September article 1993

concerning a Board of Governors meeting in an expensive hotel in Bangkok.*1°

In the early Hopper period, appointments were negotiated by the President of the
Centre, directly with the Minister of External Affairs or heads of regional caucusesin the
Liberal Party. Later on during Hopper's presidency and subsequently, they were
negotiated directly with the Minister in consultation with the parliamentary party caucus
and Cabinet. Following the historical pattern, many of the new foreign Governors seem to
be have been proposed by IDRC itself. Minister André Ouellet's selections appear to

represent a good opinion of the Centre. A recent appointment, Herb Breau, was the

410 Frank Howard, "Research centre details costs of Thailand trip," Ottawa Citizen, 26
September 1990.
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Chairman of a House Committee during acritical period in the early 1980s. As we shall

see |ater, the Committee recommended greater funding for the Centre.

Each Canadian member of the Board is the fulfilment of a quota, loosely applied.
All Canadians are chosen as representatives from each region. Formally then, there are
members who are picked from Quebec, Ontario, the Atlantic Provinces, the Prairies and
the West. Again, the degree to which a Board member was a purely political appointee
from the region, as opposed to someone who had particular merit for the post of
Governor, often depended on how powerful MPs from the various regions and especially
the provincial heads of federal party caucuses, regarded the appointment. In general
though, governors, Canadian or foreign do not seek to represent their region as such on

the Board, although there have been exceptions. Their perspective, however, is known.

During past Liberal governments, Allan MacEachenwas firm in hisresdveto
have his strong voice, while Minister, heard in the selection of Board of Governors
members from the Atlantic Provinces** MacEachen's influence was so decisive that
Annette Perron, Lester Pearson's secretary suggested that he be invited for the launching
of IDRC at Rideau Hall. She added in anote to the reception list, "MacEachen's name
was added by IDRC because he was instrumental in having Board members changed in
the Maritimes."#*2 David Hopper confirmed thisin hisinterview.* Particularly
instructive are the reasons why the member from the Maritimes was usually selected.
They are provided by the first member from that area Ralph Medjuck. Medjuck wasin
1970 President of Centennia Properties of Halifax, and was and is a property developer.

He had no experience of development or international affairs. In a meeting of the Board

411 James Pfeifer, interview by author, 13 March 1987, notes, Ottawa.

412 Annette Perron, ANS, on "Reception List", TD, 1970, MG 26, N 5, 1965-8 IDC,
Volume 18, Pearson PM O, Public Archives of Canada, 1.

“13 David Hopper, interview by author.
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in New Delhi, Medjuck was asked by aunusually direct official how he had gained his
post. In the High Commission in New Delhi, Medjuck revealed the reasons why he was
invited onto the Board. According to Medjuck, he self-deprecatingly suggested that he
had the 3 L's: he was alawyer, land developer and a Liberal .*** But such choices have

been, on the whole, rare.

The direct involvement of the President of IDRC at the political level in the
choice of members of the Board of Governors has changed over the years. Under David
Hopper,

The Governors appointments would go to the Members of Parliament who were
kind of the heads of the Provincial Caucusesin their area. Some of them said,
"Who would you like, who do you think is good?" That's how we got Bill
Winegard on, that's how we got a series of others on. Some of them said, "L ook,
I'll give you two or three names.” And I'd review themwith the Minister. Thisis
how we got Archie Micay on, who was alawyer and interested in the social
science side of it and so on. Some of them just said, "L ook, that's the guy we
want." And usually, not aways, but with a higher probability, if we just got
somebody he wanted, then we got somebody who was not very interested or very
involved. They wanted to be. They enjoyed the overseas trips. But they jug
weren't very knowledgeable.**®

In the case of the Governors chosen during the Presidency of 1van Head, IDRC would
submit its preferences to the Minister, but Head would never meet with provincial heads

of the federal caucuses.**

None of the Governors selected have had a particularly radical reputation. The
most radical was the Brazilian, Robato Campos. A economist by training, and banker in

state banks most of his career, Campos was on the radical right. Nevertheless, a number

414 Anonymous.
415 David Hopper, interview by author, 31 July 1987, Washington, tape recording.
418 [van Head, interview by author, 18 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa
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of Governors, IDRC's staff and the people that they funded have come from the centre-
left. Of governors from Latin America, Jorge Hardoy and Victor Urquidi spring to mind.
From the Caribbean, long-time governor, Rhodes Scholar, Rex Nettleford of Jamaica of
the Trade Union Education Institute, University of the West Indiesis notable.

A number of Governors might be described as the loyal opposition, on the left or
the right. A number were placed under threat of detention or were placed under house
arrest at various times. The American-trained economist in IDRC'sfirst Board, Puey
Ungphakorn, was under such athreat. Hopper discussed the prospect with the Canadian
Ambassador to Thailand. The Ambassador wrote home,

Because of his opposition to the current regime, Dr. Puey isto some extent
persona non grata, although | doubt that the former [the Thal military chief] feels
sufficiently strongly, as has been suggested, to arrest him should he return to
Thailand. Dr. Puey isinternationally known and respected, and any moveto
detain him would likely give rise to widespread criticism, especially in the United
States.*

Among Africans, amember of the first board, Olesegun Oluwasanmi, was associated

with General Gowon, and was wise enough to leave his post at Ife in advance of Murtala

Muhammed's coup.*

Among Canadian governors the tendency has been to have people more often
from the centre-right represented. Donald Macdonald is perhaps the most well-known to
the right. All governments have not been exceedingly partisan in their appointments, for
example, Bill Winegard was appointed during the Liberal government, Gerry Helleiner

during the Mulroney government.

417 Ambassador, Bangkok, to USSEA (ECD), 3 October 1972, 38-4-IDRC, Volume
12, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

418 |_agos, High Commission, to External Affairs, Ottawa, Telex, 12 October 1976,
TN, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 27, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign
Affairs Records, 1.
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Of foreign govemors, only one seems to have been put with Canadian domestic
political interegsin mind, an Algerian. He was suggeded by 1978 to the Minister while
Allan Gotlieb was USSEA and re-appointed.**® The selection of non-Canadian members
of the Board of Governors could al s be based on Canadian foreign trade interests.

L 'ambassade d'Algérie nous a signal € récemment tout I'intérét que les autorités
politiques a Alger portent alaréélection d M. Louhibi au siege du gouverneur du
CRDI.

V ous connaissez |'importance de nos relations politiques et commerciaes
avec I'Algérie et le rdle central et durable que M. Louhibi y ajoué dansles
années 60 et 70. Plusieurs savent que I'Algérie est un parternaire important
dans nos relationsavec le monde arabe et africain mais peu savent quil
sagit de notre treizieme partenaire commercial dans le monde et notre tout
premier en Afrique.*?°

However, when Governor Louhibi ceased to be useful to Canadian economic interests,
the Canadian Embassy in Algeria suggested that External Affairs officers advise that he
need not be reappointed to IDRC's Board.

Rappelons que Louhibi avait é&é nomme a ce poste compte tenu de son influence
directe sur achats Algériens importants du blé au Cda. Dans sa nouvelle position,
Louhibi n'est plus dans le circuit d'influence en Algérie et quand a ns croyons qu'il
serait preferable a nos intérétsde rechercher nouveau candidat plus influent.*#

He was not re-appointed by the Mulroney government. However, Louhibi appears to have
been the exception to the rule. Only during the Mulroney government does it appear that

IDRC was used quite openly as adirect political instrument in the international arena.

419 A E. Gotlieb to the Minister, "IDRC Board," TLS, 5 May 1978, 38-4-IDRC,
Volume 31, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 2.

420 Jacques Bilodeau, Director, Francophone Africa and Maghreb, EA to EEA,
"Candidature algérienne au bureau des gouverneurs du CRDI, TMS, 16 December 1985,
Volume 52, 38-4-IDRC, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs
Records., 1.

2L Algiers, Embassy to GAF, Externa Affairs, "Poste Conseill Admin CRDI," Telex,
TD, 18 February 1986, IDRC-38-4, Volume 53, Economic Relations with Developing
Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.
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Thisis not to say that people have been selected who are without influence, especially
Canadians. However, the presence of influentid foreign Governors on the Board is rarely
paid attention to, or put to use by other federal officials. Ivan Head wrote to Raymond
Chrétien in 1989 that Joe Clark did not seem to have been briefed that a Jordanian
member of the Board, Albert Butros was close to the Crown Prince. At the time, the
member from Indiawas Rajiv Gandhi'spersonal science advisor. Likewise, the Costa
Rican governor was well-known to President Arias. The Japanese member, Sadako

Ogata, was a member of their Prime Minister's three parson economic advisory council %

One example from the Mulroney era demonstrates the changing way IDRC was
being used with increasing frequency as an instrument, rather than what 1van Head
asserted the Centre was, an expression of Canadian foreign policy.

During discussions with Chinese Premier Zhao on May 9, PM Mulroney invited
Chinato nominate a distinguished scientist to join Board of IDRC at an
appropriate time. Premier Zhao welcomed idea and said the suggestion would be
passed to appropriate agencies for study. . . once anomination is made we assume
that IDRC would automatically accept it asit would be awkward to refuse quote
agreement unguote.**
What this passage from the Canadian Ambassador to Beijing to Ivan Head also indicates
isthe nature of relations between IDRC and the Conservative government. Although the
government had no right to make such a directive, the Board was sometimes put in the
position of having to consider the consequences of refusing the Government's wishes. In
effect, IDRC was increasingly being used as an agency of government. This also moved
forward when IDRC was given a number of specific roles as an agency under the

Conservatives, in particular, for part of the implementation of Agenda 21. It had

422 lvan (Head) to Ray(mond) (Chrétien), TLS, 20 Octobe 1989, IDRC-38-4, Volume
63, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 2.

423 Gorham, Embassy, Peking to External, Ottawa Info to Ivan Head, Ottawa, " Chinese
Member of IDRC Boad," Telex, TD, May 1986, Volume 52, 38-4-IDRC, Economic
Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records,, 1.
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happened before, under an earlier Conservative government when Senator Asselin at the
United Nations Conference on Science and Technology for Development (UNCSTD) in
Vienna pledged that 1% of ODA, thenaround $12 million annually, would go to IDRC to
"give devel oping countries access to the research and development capacity of Canadian

institutions."#?* Without reference to the Centre the government determined that IDRC
would be the organisation to play that role.

424 lvan Head to Mark MacGuigan, SSEA, TLS, 24 June 1980, 38-4-IDRC, Volume
35, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.
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A Few Patterns:
When Opportunity Knocks for Domestic Concerns

In reviewing the relations between IDRC and the Canadian domestic arena, a
number of patterns emerge. Thefirst isthat central agents have generally been unhappy
with the independence and nature of the Centre and have used the opportunity afforded
by an economic downturn to weaken its independence. The ends or beginnings of tenure
of the President or Chair also appear to be seen as moments of vulnerability for various
federal organisations to push for changes in the Centre's practices and focus. Periods
when the number of governors drops far below its full complement seem to indicate the
displeasure of central agents, especialy in Foreign Affairs or PCO. Aswe shall see, such
moments tend to coincide with periods when the Centre is under pressure from other parts
of the federal gructure. Secondly, as funding to university academics has lessened, IDRC
facesrising pressures on it from different parts of the federal government, especially but
not exclusively, from central agencies. What followsis areview of the first decade of the
Centre which shows the establishment of a pattern of relationships and themes between a
host of Canadian actors in the Centrés policy environment and the Centre's officers.
Those relations show that the difficulty of maintaining space for elements of the
Pearsonian tradition in a country increasingly pre-occupied by short-term parochial

concerns.
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After Pearson: The Chairs

Of IDRC's Chairs, Lester Pearson afforded the Centre the most legitimacy.
Among federal dvil servants, the Centreis closely associated with Pearson and his
vision, and this association is still important in retaining the Centre's image in Canada.
After Lester Pearson's death, a new Chairman had to be selected. The Minister of
External Affairs, Mitchell Sharp suggested Louis Rasminsky to Trudeau.*”® Rasminsky
had worked in the League of Nations. He had a predisposition towards organisations like
the Hopper eraIDRC. Regarding the League, Rasminsky wrote to Norman MacKenzie, a
law professor at the University of Toronto,

| feel that it is precisely the technical work of the League that, removed asit is

from political controversy and dispute, is best able to be conducted along

scientific lines and to achieve results immediately useful .42
For the bulk of hislife he had worked at the Bank of Canada, another federal
organisation, like IDRC, with an arm’s length relation with government. He became the
Bank's Governor in 1971 until he retired before the 1972 election. He had been important
assuring the stability of the Special Drawing Rights of the International Monetary Fund.
If Pearson had been the core of themandarinate in External Affairs Rasminsky was his
counterpart in the Bank of Canada. Despite this, Trudeau's initial response to Sharp's
suggestion was not favourable. Sharp reports that Trudeau said, "What do we owe
him?'4?” This comment certainly strengthens the supposition that government
appointments are forms of the distribution of political benefits. However, Trudeau's
hesitation faded and Rasminsky was appointed for the duration of Pearson'sterm, plus
two years. He retired in August 1977, a period which was fraught with difficulty for the

425 Mitchell Sharp, interview by author, 10 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa

426 |_ouis Rasminsky to Norman Robertson in Jack Granatstein, The Ottawa Men,
Toronto: Oxford University Press, 1982, 136.

427 Mitchell Sharp, interview by author.
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Centre. The fird instance, but not the last, when major challenges to the Centre came

forth when the Chair had just retired.

Rasminsky only remaned as Chairman long enough to complete Pearson's term.
In October 1977, the main force behind the creation of IDRC, Maurice Strong, became
Chairman of the Board. Strong became Chairman during the period of appointment of the
new President. Hopper did not announce hisintention to leave IDRC, and the next
President Ivan Head did not indicate his desire to leave the Privy Council Office (PCO),
until 1977. Strong's appointment as Chairman does not seem to have been linked to the
appointment of anew President. Aswe are well aware, Strong fits well within the
stereotype of a Chairman of the Board. Strong had a solid business background and
connections with the Liberal Party. But as we know too, Strong is an internationalist, an
environmentalist with a very a particular interest in IDRC; had been a member of the
Board in his early capacity as President of CIDA; had worked in the civil service; and

was a developmentalist.

Maurice Strong vecated the position of Chairman of theBoard in July 1978 in
order to contest (unsuccessfully) a seat in the federal election. From 1978 to October
1980, no appointment to the Chair was made, despite pressure from lvan Head.*?® In the
interim, Roger Blais became acting Chairman. At the time of his special two-year
appointment Blais was a Vice-President of the Centre, and Dean of Research of the Ecole
polytechnique de Montréal. He was the first francophone Chair of the Centre. He was
geological engineer, and Dean of Research at the Ecole polytechnique de Montréal, and
well-connected in mineral and geological circles. He was founding President of the
Canadian Geoscience Council, a Director of Eldorado Nuclear, and a consultant to
Falconbridge Nickel and the Iron Ore Company of Canada. His international

development profile was raised as Vice-President of the Association of Geoscientists for

428 |lvan Head, interview by author, 18 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa
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International Development. Why no chair was appointed during this period of uncertainty
isunclear. It may have been caused by the end and beginning of two Trudeau
governments, and the short tenure of the Clark government. But the most convincing
explanation is tha the absence of achair kept the Centre relatively weak. The letter to
new Chair Maurice Strong proposing achange of status for the Centre in 1978 came only
weeks before Hopper was leaving and when no President would be confirmed for months.

Similar gamesmanship seems to have been involved around the time of the 1992 budget.

Liliane Filion-Laporte acted as Chair after Roger Blais, and occasionally during
and after the tenure of Donald S. Macdonald. Filion-Laporte was the forerunner of a
different group of Chairs. Filion-Laporte was a Montréal paediatrician. Like Blais, she
was a francophone academic. Y & as awoman with no major connectionsto the business
world she did not fit the profile of most of her predecessors. Subsequently, two of the
Centre's next three chairs would bewomen, and most not particularly close to business.
Those characteristics could not be ascribed to Donald Stovel MacDonald.

In May 1981, the well-known Liberal politician Donald S. Macdonald was
appointed Chair. Cttawa-born Macdonald was a lawyer by training and became an MPin
1962. He was a Parliamentary Secretary to the Ministers of Justice, Finance, the Secretary
of State for External Affairs, and Industry. Thereafter, he was Minister Without Portfolio;
Acting Minister of Justice; Minister of National Defence; Energy, Mines and Resources,
and Finance. Later, of course, he headed the Commission which recommended free trade
between the USA and Canada. He was obviously extremdy well-connected politically
speaking, and judging from the portfolios he held, seen as a friend of business. Indeed,
his connections with business were numerous. Macdonald has been a Director of Dupont
Canada, Manufecturers Life Insurance, the Barnk of Nova Scotia, and McDonnell
Douglas. And just as Rasminsky had been connected with Boise Cascade, Macdonald
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was a Director of that company.** He had supported Canada's involvement in
international development issues as Parliamentary Secretary of State for External Affairs
during the crucia period 1966-68, and his support did not wane subsequently. As Ivan
Head says,
When he was Minister of Finance he took a strong role in North-South issues. He
was seized of them, to a degree. He was aways aware. When he was in Cabinet
he could always be counted on to speak up on behalf of ODA issues and North-
South awareness. He had that reputation.**°
We can say for certain that Macdonald was the most stereotypical of gopointments,
closely connected to the Liberal Party and closely connected to business. Unlike
Chairmen of the Board of IDRC until that time, he had no strong connection with
international affairs. He was a friend of Maurice Strong's.*** Strong was certanly
consulted on the gopointment, and supported him, but he "was not the decisivefactor" 43
Macdonald was the first Chairman not to be along-standing civil servant, that is, serving
for some period in afederal department as an official. Rather, he was part of the political
establishment of the Liberal Party. At that conjuncture in IDRC's history Macdonald's
selection was ideal for the post precisely because his influence in the business and higher
public service community was great. Like the economy, and no doubt influenced by the
shift towards central agent preoccupations, IDRC's grant had stagnated, its independence
challenged. A wdl-connected indvidual was necessary. Donald Macdonald was so
connected.

There are occasions when you need somebody in the Chair who can say, "Just a
moment, the quality of the Governors is not up to scratch, the size of the budget is
not what it should be, etc. etc. Y ou should have somebody of that calibre and

429 Kieran Simpson, ed., Canadian Who's Who, 1987, Vol XXII, Toronto: University
of Toronto, 1987, 853.

430 lvan Head, interview by author, 18 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa
431 Wayne Kines, interview by author, 14 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa
432 Strong.interview, 1987.

223



Donald Macdonald certainly enjoyed a reputation as a guy who when speaking
would be listened to.**
Consequently, during his tenure as Charman IDRC's annud grant rose out of its
stagnation, unlike the rest of funding to foreign affairs and international assistance. (See
Table 2 & Figure 19).%*

Table 2: Corporate Associations of (Acting) Chairmen of IDRC

Louis Rasminsky -  Boise Cascade

Donald Boise Cascade, Dupont Canada, Manufacturers Life
Macdonald - Insurance, Bank of Nova Scotia, McDonnell Douglas
Roger Blais - Eldorado Nuclear, Falconbridge Nickel, Iron Ore

Company of Canada

433 |van Head, interview by author, Ottawa, 18 August 1987, tape recording.

3 However, the favourable effects of the Parliamentary Task Force Report on North-
South Relations, headed by Herb Breau, the 1982 Comprehensive Audit and subsequent
nomination of Ivan Head as an Outstanding Public Servant by the Auditor-General, and
last but not |east the departure of Michael Pitfield and Allan Gotlieb from their respective
posts can not be discounted. The details are included below.
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Fareign Affairs and Development Assistance Expenditures vs. IDRC Total Vote
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Women in the Chair

Liliane Filion-Laporte had been acing chair of the Centre since the early 1980s,
but all fully charged chairs had been men. Two women followed Donald Macdonald,
Janet Wardlaw and FloraMacDonald. Wardlaw also resembled Filion-Laporte, in that she
was an academic, having spent thirty years based in universities, mostly as a nutritionist.
She also had no major connections with corporations, was not a politician or present or

former member of the federal civil service. She was an atypical chair, for areason.

Janet Wardlaw began her career as a Dietician for the Canadian Red Cross School
Meal Study in Toronto in 1947. For the next six years, she worked in the Michigan and
Toronto Departments of Health. Thereafter, the subsequent and eventual Chair of IDRC
joined the academic world. For ten years, she worked in the University of Toronto's
Faculty of Household Science. Since 1966, Wardlaw has been at the University of
Guelph, mostly at the College of Family and Consumer Studies. She has experience in
international development work. She led an eight year CIDA-sponsored project which
assisted in the devel opment of the Department of Home Science, University of Ghana.
Although she has nat performed studiesin the Third World, she worked as aconsultant in
developing countries on several occasions. Wardlaw has also been asked to advise on the
state of various programmes, and organised conferences that deal with Nutrition and
Home Economics in developing countries. What we see quite clearly is someone who

does not fit so easily in the mould of Chair of the Board.

Why was Wardlaw appointed? She did not seem to fit in the pattern of political
patronage, nor was she very much part of the Ottawa scene. This does not mean that she
was suggested by IDRC itsdlf. In fact, IDRC did not know until the announcement of her
appointment on 22 March 1985 that she had been chosen. She did work in a bureaucratic

setting in Toronto and Michigan, but sheis not a career civil servant. Sheisnot an
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entrepreneur. Her appointment is explained by her contact with an important
Conservative MP. The MP for Guelph was Bill Winegard, beween 1984 and 1988, Chair
of the House Committee on External Affairsand International Defense, a very influential
member of the House in External Affairs matters. Winegard was aformer member of the
Board of Governars of the Centre, and was even considered for the position of first
President of IDRC. Winegard was once the President of the Guelph University. The
Centre has funded much research there.** Winegard was a strong supporter of the Centre,
but was keen to make IDRC more relevant, better at assessment and dissemination and
implementation. Winegard told the author, "I had watched her [Wardlaw] change the
college up here [Guel ph] from the sort of diamond ring courses, we used to call it, to [a]
real professional approach . . . 20 | knew what this gd could do. | pushed very hard with
Joe to get [her}, to make sure she was made Chairman."** Wardlaw's departure camein
March 1992, only days after the status of IDRC was to be changed to a departmental
corporation. Documents show that Flora MacDonald was appointed to replace her that
month.**” However, despite this being atime of crisisin the Centre, Macdonald does not
recall being asked by the government to head the organisation until around the time of
Rio Conference on Environment and Development several months later, when the tide
was turning away from the departmental corporation notion.**® This seems to be, once
again, an example when PCO has used a hiatus in leadership to press home its point of

view, the details of which we shall see below.

35 Winegard remains a Fellow there.

4% Bill Winegard, interview by author, 13 April 1994, Guelph, tape recording.
7 1DRC, curriculum vitae of FloraMacDonald, TD, IDRC Records, 1.

4% Flora MacDonald, interview by author, 29 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa
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Early Relations with the Domestic Environment

We have seen that during the proposal stage prior to the creation of IDRC central
agents were generally doubtful and even hostile about the value of the Centre. It did not
fit into their thinking about the workings of the Canadian government. Their focus was
much more domestic. Those central agents concerned with IDRC are members of a policy
secretariats such as PCO, or parts of Foreign Affairs; or fiscal secretariats — like
Finance, OAG and Treasury Board. Although IDRC hasinaeasingly been interested in
some sort of policy secretariat role, even when it has been, IDRC as awhole has not very
often had much in common with central agents concerns. In short, until the Bezanson
presidency, the Centre's officids have had little sympathy with centrd agents' viewpoints,
and had difficulty in signifying the Centre's worth to these organisations. The mindset
and pre-occupations of such federal secretariats have been quite at odds with thinking,
and most officers on both sides have been unfamiliar with each others opinions.
Conseguently, the relative independence and even the existence of IDRC has always been
guestioned. Until the Bezanson Presidency, the officers of IDRC have been unable and
not enthusiastic about explaining its value in a manner understandabl e to such groups.
This hampered IDRC's ability to prosper. What follows is abrief chronology of those
relations, focusing on the 1970s when so many of the patterns of relationships and
concerns emerged. These "failures to communicate' have been replicated between IDRC

and other parts of the domestic environment, inside and outside government.

Asearly as 1973, aproposal to enhance Canadian interests in development
assistance emerged in Ottawa. The International Financing Branch of the Department of
Industry, Trade and Commerce asserted that,

The Canadian commercial intered in aid has consistently been given less than its
appropriate prominence. At the very substantial levels of expenditure now
represented by aid (and with further growth projected), it is evidert that this
makes the Canadian aid programme particularly vulnerable to "aid weariness" and
the loss of public and business support experiences [sic] by certain other donor
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countries. . .

Businessmen see the statement and policy trends to that diverge widely from the
commercial interests acknowledged by the Policy Paper, and a serious credibility
gap is devel oping. Perhaps most importantly, however, businessmen with
international exposure form first-hand impressions of the difference between
Canadian aid polides and practices and the blatant pursuit of their own interests
by many other donor countries**

Certainly such perceptions impinged on the orientation of the whole of Canadian
development assigance including IDRC. What seems to have been emerging in the early

1970sisrising disquiet with Canadian development assistance practices among the

439 Department of Industry, Trade and Commerce, International Financing Branch,
"The Aid-Trade Relationship, A Discussion Draft of a Proposal for a ' Commercia Aid'
Programme for Canada,” TD, January 1973, RG 55, 86-87/003 Box 49, Effectiveness
Evaluation, International Development Studies, Canadian International Devel opment
Agency, Untying, Volume 1, Treasury Board Records, Public Archives of Canada, 1 & 5.

ThisBranch of ITC,

Suggested . . a separation of the "pure" developmental programme and a new
"commercia aid" programme. The latter would be appropriately directed to the
growing number of developing countries which no longer require CIDA's usually
highly concessional terms for "social development™ projects. This programme
would be consciously or explicitly directed as "seed money" to countries of high
market-development priority for Canada.”

"Aid-Trade Relationship,” 2.
Such a suggestion was repeated two decades later by the Office of the Auditor-General.

Auditor General of Canada, "Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of
Commons, 1993, Chapter 12, Canadian International Development Agency, Bilateral
Economic and Social Development Programs,” TD, 1992.

One can argue convincingly that what was proposed was something like the further
breakdown of Canadian development assistance in the same manner as IDRC and CIDA
had been separated, one "pure”, the other "commercial aid". However, clearly that
Industry, Tradeand Commerce proposed such a breskdown indicates that CIDA itself
was seen as beingtoo much a product of mixed motives.
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business community. These concerns eventually found their way into financial and other
circlesin Ottawa Most departmentswere fertile ground for such views at the time
because,

There was a perception that CIDA was an agency that stood and lived on its own.
That in many ways it was unassailable, that within the bureaucracy it was known
as being inefficient and a waste of money. And that was based on the premise that
they seemed to have an awful lot of money and they seemed to do an awful lot of
travelling and they seemed to be pretty cavalier abaut it.*°
However, even in the early IDRC, federal organisations were represented in various
ways. David Hopper remarked to the author,

One of these wasappointing Hanley Bennett,** who was an ex-Treasury Board
guy asthe Treasurer . . . There was no formal representation from External on
IDRC Board when | was President, but there was an External advisor named by
Ritchie to work with me.*
But after afew years during the Hopper presidency the number of these represantatives of
other departments on the Centre staff waned. For the first two decades, departmental
representatives were also ableto give vent to their concerns at the Centre's Projects
Committee. "What he wanted to assure the bureaucracy here that that was an open
process, that they could look at anything that we were going to put up to our Board."**
CIDA and External Affairs representatives were the most regular attendees, other parts of

government, such as Treasury Board or PCO, sat in at times of tension.

440 Aponymous.

41 In an earlier chapter, we showed how Hanley Bennett used administrative
procedures as ameans to make CIDA weigh its activities according to Canadian interests
abroad.

442 David Hopper, interview by author, 31 July 1987, tape recording, Washington.
443 James Pfeifer, interview by author, 11 November 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.
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Questions About the Vote

IDRC was originally funded as part of a five-year government commitmert to
provide $30 million from CIDA's budget. Discussion about the way IDRC should be
funded began shortly after the Centre was created. In 1973, David Hopper was initially in
favour of being separated from CIDA and dealing directly with Treasury Board.
However, in the interim, IDRC was criticised predictably from those with the same more
parochial standpoint, who considered a separate organization as unnecessary and a
dilution of focused effort. However, the location of those criticisms was different, lessin
External Affairs and Finance and more in Treasury Board, at |east during most of the
1970s. Some of the reproaches seem to have had some foundation. They were even being
made internally by IDRC officers who felt that there had been too much overgenerous

spending.**

The nature of the criticism seems to have circled around minor perks for the
Board and some stéf, rather thanimpropriety. IDRC's Governors main perk is
recognition. They are obliged to perform considerable work in comparison with other
such federal appointments. Travel coststo and from Board meetings and accommodation
and modest per diems are provided. In the early 1970s, the Centre appears to have come
under pressurefor following international practice of alowing Governors to bring their
spouses to Board meetings, often held overseas. Over a decade this particular advantage
was first restridted to internationd governors, and eventually eliminated. Some IDRC
staff had also been reproached for flying first-class. These issues appear to have been

brought to the attention of the then Chair, Louis Rasminsky on several occasions. “°

444 Geoffrey Oldham, interview by author, 8 December 1993, tape recording, Ottawa

445 See for example Executive Committee Meeting, IDRC BOG, September 20, 1973,
2.
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The general policy for dealing with the world outside the Centre was established
early in the Hopper presidency. Hopper believed that good works would be known
because of their own virtue rather than active advertisement. This apparently technocratic
view seemed wise counsel when to be noticed in the press meant becoming atarget of
criticism. Consequently, no Communications Division as such was established for years.
When it was, the Division's activities were largely limited to science writing, which was
certainly done with éan but not for political effect. As early as September 1971, CIDA
President, Paul Gérin-Lajoie urged IDRC to engage in improving its visibility, which
CIDA was seeking to do. Most governors agreed. This perspective, held for different
reasons in different parts of the Centre for two decades was to lead to an inability bothto
disseminate, and sell to its Canadian constituency. Former staff contend that this view
was held by the subsequent President,**® Ivan Head, although his personal view was that
he had the reverse view.*’ It is clear though that in the 1980s Head was clearly desirous
of briefing the Minister when the opportunity arose, and chided Raymond Chrétien,

among others, when it should have.**

Criticisms of IDRC's gpending habits**® may have led the Auditor-Generd to
request that the Centre have a separate vote for fiscal year 1976/77. At Treasury Board

446 James Mullin, interview by author, 14 June 1994, Ottawa, tape recording; Claude-
Paul Boivin, interview by author, 1 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa

447 lvan Head, interview by author, 18 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa

48 |van (Head) to Ray(mond) (Chrétien), TLS, 20 October 1989, IDRC-38-4, Volume
63, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1-3.

President Bezanson has made major effortsto reverse thistradition in IDRC by creating a
new division, Corporate Affairs and Initiatives, headed by former CIDA colleague, Pierre
Beemans.

449 Hyman Soloman, "World Bank Concern Over Aid Freeze," in Development
Directions, November 1978, 20.
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(TB) it was thought that such a change "implies central (TB) control."** Negotiations
took place and Certre officials were told that they could not expect marginal increases
and indeed suggestions were made that cuts were more likely.*** Paul Gérin-L ajoie
indicated at a 1976 Board meeting that CIDA had proposed to Treasury Board that the
Agency give part of its own budget to IDRC. Further, CIDA suggested that further rising
overall expenditures be disbursed to IDRC in subsequent years. However, Treasury Board
decided to consider IDRC's budget on its own merit, according to Treasury Board's
views, and irrespective of CIDA's attitude.**? This led to IDRC having a separate vote.
But its funding and tha other federal development assigance organisations became
managed by a secretariat presided over by CIDA. This continues today, CIDA makes
funding level recommendations to the Minister of Foreign Affairs. The committee
includes representatives from IDRC, Agriculture Canada (which has akeen interest in
food aid), Foreign Affairs, Treassury Board and Finance. IDRC now has aseparate vote
which is approved by the Minister of Foreign Affairs, but does not negotiate directly with
the Treasury Board.** Consequently, given that CIDA had had difficulty spending its
surpluses, and received relativdy few cuts until thelast five years, IDRC continued to
grow, despite the evident disapproval of central agents. This does not mean relations with
CIDA have aways been smooth.

40 "Steps Leading to Review", AN, n.d. RG 55, 90-91/164, Box 31, File 8068-03,
Evaluation of International Devel opment Research Centre, Treasury Board Records,
Public Archives of Canada, 1.

451 "Report for the Board of Governors, Financial Affairs of the Centre," IDRC BOG,
"Draft Minutes," 22-24 September 1976, IDRC Records, 5.

452 Paul Gérin-Lgjoie, IDRC BOG, "Draft Notes of Proceedings,” 14-15 March 1976,
IDRC Records, 3.

453 Attempts to make the Centre report to the junior minister responsible for
devel opment assistance during the Conservative government were rebuffed by Head.

Anonymous.
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Rancour over International Agricultural Research

Another issue that emerged in the 1970s that was to have very serious long-term
consequences was the desire of Treasury Board officials for IDRC "to take over core
support of international research centres."** In the early 1970s this was not the
preferences of either CIDA or IDRC. As David Hopper said to the Board.

We [CIDA and IDRC] did agreein the early periods that IDRC would not provide
money for core support of institutions. We agreed . . . our [IDRC] primary
concern would be the development of technologies or the undertaking of research
the results of which would have applications beyond the boundaries of one
country, and the bilateral requests for projects uniquely focused on one country
would be responded to by CIDA, as would the core support for institutions.*>®
After discussions regarding Petro-Canada activities in Bangladesh, Bill McWhinney
formed the opinion that CIDA would not get into research. When he was Senior Vice-
President at CIDA there had been atacit agreement that research activities would be
IDRC's. However, this changed after repeated approaches from universities, and the need,
capacity or desire of CIDA staff to have some research conducted as part of Country
Programme activities increased.**® Others assert that Massé's move to making the Agency
aknowledge-based organisation was the genesis of the change**” Certainly Massé and
then Catley-Carlson became more interested in ensuring cooperation and coordination
between the two organisations. Catley-Carlson made arrangements with Ivan Head to
create a half-time CIDA-IDRC liaison officer. The number of projects of joint or paralel

CIDA-IDRC projects increased during their mandates. Howevcr, competition between the

454 David Hopper, IDRC BOG, "Draft Notes of Proceedings,” Meeting, 13-14 March
1977, IDRC Records, 64.

%> David Hopper, 13-14 March 1977, IDRC Records, 62.

%6 Robert Beadle, interview by author, 14 March 1993, by telephone, notes, Ottawa;
Bill McWhinney, interview by author, 24 March 1994, by telephone, notes, Ottawa.

457 Anonymous.
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personalities of the Presidents of the two organisations, and over funding was partly
prevented an inarease in cooperation. Moreover, at the operationd level, there was a
guestion of mandate and focus.**® CIDA was more likely to be interested in funding large
capital projectstied to Canadians, IDRC small projects run by groups of Southern
researchers. Perhaps, helping to explain the increased interest of CIDA in IDRC was that
over time CIDA became more like a central agency relative to Canadian organisations
involved in development assistance. CIDA's NGO Division programme had expanded,
and the number of quangos within the funding envelope administered by CIDA
(including IDRC) had grown during the 1980s. In these terms then, the functional
responsibility of CIDA as a secretariat during periods of budget constraints favoured the
development of a control function. That Massé and Catley-Carlson

had both worked in central agencies may also have contributed to a sense that CIDA -

IDRC cooperation and coordination was necessary.

CIDA has provided the Canadian government's share of research funding for
decades to the Consultative Group for International Agricultural Research (CGIAR),
which is comprised of groups like IRRI. IDRC played a key role in strongly supporting,
and indeed actively expanded thisresearch network with the encouragement of David
Hopper and Joe Hulse. However, IDRC's contribution to the total was relatively meagre,
although itsinfluence great. But IDRC staff's constant attention but minute funding
grated on CGIAR staff.***

In comparison to IDRC, CIDA's staff were generalists who provided as much
money as countries like Germany, with few questions asked. IDRC's contribution was

less than one-tenth of CIDA's. The Centre was providing essentially the same thing as

48 Bill McWhinney, interview by author, 27 July 1995, by telephone, notes, Ottawa.

459 Joe Hulse, Executive Committee, IDRC BOG, "Draft Notes of Proceedings," TD,
16 December 1978, IDRC Records, 15.
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CIDA, funds, but was requiring much more than the Agency. IDRC funds though, were
for labour-intensive projects. CIDA's funds were usually for general grants. Treasury
Board and CIDA Multilateral Branch staff became aware of that both IDRC and CIDA
were funding CGIAR. Treasury Board staff saw duplication of effort and sought to right
it. IDRC's reply was that Canada effectively had two votes on the CGIAR, one as CIDA,
the other asits "foundation" IDRC.*° Subsequently, that logic appears to have been
accepted for some time at Treasury Board. IDRC and CIDA were encouraged by
Treasury Board to consult to develop common positions. Members of IDRC's Board and
the President Head in 1978 found the CGIAR an expensive system, which should be
trimmed.*** However, this did not result in easier relations with the CGIAR and its
partners. More importantly, this experience also seems to have soured staff members of
Multilateral Branch of CIDA for decades on this subject, although the Branch rode to
some extent "on IDRC's coat-tails," and personal relations were generally good.*¢
Douglas Lindores became CIDA Vice-President in charge of Multilateral Branch in 1979,
and seems to have been influenced by this controversy in his thinking about IDRC.
Indirectly, this episode appears to have contributed to the decision to make IDRC a

departmental corporation a decade and a half |ater, as we shall see.

460 |van Head to Joe Clark, TLOS, 15 April 1986, IDRC Records, 3.

61 Executive Committee, IDRC BOG, "Draft Notes of Proceedings,” Executive
Committee Meeting, TD, 16 December 1978, IDRC Records, 16.

462 Anonymous.
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Whether 'Tis Nobler — Closer Relations with CIDA?

Both David Hopper and Louis Rasminsky indicated their willingness to be re-
appointed in early 1974.5* Hopper was reappointed in May 1975. However, only months
before his re-appointment he campaigned to become Director-General of the Food and
Agriculture Organisation (FAO). Hefailed in this effort. After the race, Hopper's tenure
was confirmed as President of IDRC, but with less security. IDRC's first president did not
seem interested in mixing with other leading members of Ottawa's Deputy Minister
community. Hisinterest was international. In one meeting of the Board, CIDA's President
Gérin-Lgjoie appealed to the Board of the Centre to ask Hopper for closer cooperation
with CIDA. He said in March 1976 that co-operation had improved over afew years
before.

| think that David and I, who have discussed this more than once, agree that CIDA
has not derived significant advantege from the presence of IDRC in Canada, in
Ottawa. . . | wanted to take advantage of this joint process of reflection to raise
this question, share my concerns with the governors, and enable them to tell Dr.
Hopper whether they agree on the necessity of closer links with respect to the
genera orientation of IDRC and CIDA %%

In reply to the CIDA President, other Governors were silent. The question was not

revisited with any seriousness again until the 1980s.

In September 1976, a few months after Gérin-Lgjoie's suggestion to the Board of
the Centre, Don Jamieson became SSEA. This helped permit a re-assessment of
development assistance. A meeting took place on 30 August 1976 between Allan Darling
of PCO and Gordon Smith of Treasury Board to discuss the raionalisation of ODA. PCO

463 P, Anderson, ECD to File, "IDRC Meeting April 25, 1974," TMS, 29 April 1974,
38-4-IDRC, Volume 18, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs
Records, 1.

464 Paul Gérin-Lajoie, "Draft Notes of Proceedings,” BOG Meeting, 14-15 March
1976, IDRC Records, 35-36.
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prepared for the change of ministers by sending a mandate letter to thenew minister to
"signal issues upon which it was wanted reflection.” In PCO, the view was that the Centre
"wasn't accountable in the way often generally wanted."“®> Hopper was then asked to
prepare a memorandum to Cabinet by Treasury Board, a demand that was later
abandoned. At face value the memorandum was to have,

IDRC's proposals for its long-term growth pattern and financial requirements

it- i-s expected that IDRC's conception of its future relationship between itself and

CIDA would be included in the memorandum.*
But David Hopper saw it as seeking Cabinet,

approval in principle: of the functions of IDRC, and a mandate for its continued
existence. Such approval would provide assurance of Cabinet support which the
Treasury Board desires in its relationships with the Centre

Cabinet approval of the specifically quantified growth pattern is not the objective
of the memorandum, and is not expected at that time.**
This passage implies a very serious questioning by Treasury Board and the PCO of
IDRC's status. That year, further questioning was evident in the size of the Centre's grant

which rose only $2.5 million, when rises of $5-8 million had been commonplace hitherto.

Other questions seem to have been raised at that time which emerged later. First
among these was the level of the Centre's overhead. It approached that of international
organisations, 20-30% of the total funds. Efforts to bring thislevel down had already
been made prior to 1974. An expectation that the level of overhead would drop down to
22% had been discussed at the Centre's Finance Committee as early as September

65 Allan Darling, interview by author, 8 April 1994, by telephone, notes, Ottawa.

466 Jon Church, "Report for the Board of Governors, Financial Affairs of the Centre,"
"Draft Minutes," 22-24 September 1976, IDRC BOG Meeting, IDRC Records, 6.

6" David Hopper, "Report for the Board of Governors, Financia Affairs of the
Centre," "Draft Minutes," IDRC BOG Meeting, 22-24 Septamber 1976, IDRC Records,
6.
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1974.%® Other major issues were the relative absence of policy and evaluaion. To address
the concerns about policy and evaluation a Policy Unit was erected, headed by aformer

Director of Health Sciences of the Centre, George Brown in late 1976.

68 David Hopper, Finance Committee, "Appendix B, Minutes of the Fifteenth Meeting
of the Finance Committee," Ottawa, TD, 13 December 1974, IDRC BOG, "Draft
Minutes," 20-21 September 1974, IDRC Records, 9.
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More Domestic Pressures: Academics, MOSST and the Science Council

By the mid-1970s, Canadian academics were openly complaining directly to
IDRC staff about how little assistancethe Centre was providing them. They dso
indirectly approached other officials regarding IDRC's policies. Hopper announced to the
Board's Executive Committee in June of 1976 that,

| have been approached by scholars to say that this Board should announce that
1/3 of our research monies, if that isthe minimum - they would prefer 50% -
should go to Canadian researchers. . .

The social scientists, in general, | think, in Canada feel the dry-up of funds,
particularly through the Canada Council and through the fact that the Social
Science Research Council, which was promised a couple of Speeches from the
Throne ago never materialized. We are under pressure from them, just aswe ae
from some of the harder scientists, to come forth.*%°

These pressures from academics were to be forced into other arenas in the federal

government, and were powerfully asserted.

Prior to becoming Secretary of the Treasury Board, Maurice LeClair, as Deputy
Minister for the Ministry of State for Science and Technology (MOSST), seems to have
been alerted to the relative ease with which IDRC was able to garner funds for research,
when money for domestic research was perceived to be difficult to come by. Academics
seem to have complained to him. The Science Council which reported to LeClair at
MOSST had not been overly favourable to the Centre. This may have been alegacy of
Omand Solandt,*”® who was not happy with the way the Centre had been run under
Hopper. This general opinion was formed in 1970 in a meeting between Hopper and
members of the Science Council. Solandt had been hopeful that IDRC would be a think

469 Executive Committee Meeting, IDRC BOG, "Draft Notes of Proceedings,” 19 June
1976, IDRC Records, 6.

470 Solandt was head of the Science Council from 1968-72.
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tank, providing advice to standing agencies, and not a granting agency. Solandt's view
seems to have remained influential long after his departure. There was afeeling that
Hopper's approach to devel opment was to "discover how to solve problems,"™ assuming
that Third World problems were different from those in Canada. The implication of
assuming that problems are different is that research was done overseas, and not
performed in Canada. The Science Council approach seems to have preferred an approach
more like other donors, a transfer of technology and scientific rationality more familiar to
Goulet's general line. Another sore point was that funding went from IDRC to other
developed country organisations, such as the Science Policy Research Unit (SPRU) at the
University of Sussex, instead of Canadian ones. Such a move was seen as "appointing the
opposition."#’? The completion of a population study on Chinain Hawaii did not help. As
aresult, Dr. LeClair took "a personal interest"*” and questioned the mandate and

activities of the Centre.*™

Maurice LeClair Shows a Personal Interest

Omand Solandt's Executive Assistant urtil his departure from the Science Council

was James Mullin. After the Scottish former AECL physicist |eft the Council in 1975 as
Deputy Director of the Science he joined MOSST as Director Genera of International

"1 Drew Wilson, Science Council, interview by author, 26 April 1994, Ottawa, by
telephone, notes

472 Drew Wilson, interview by author.

473 Gilles Mathieu to R.L. Richardson, "Evaluation of the International Development
Research Centre," Treasury Board Records, RG 55, 90-91/164, Box 31, File 8068-03,
Evaluation of International Development Research Centre, Public Archives of Canada, 1.

474 "Steps Leading to Review", AN, n.a. n.d. Treasury Board Records, RG 55, 90-
91/164, Box 31, File 8068-03, Evaluation of International Development Research Centre,
Public Archives of Canada, 1.
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Activities. At that time, the Deputy Minister of MOSST was Denis Hudon. Whilein
EAQ/CIDA, Hudon had represented an earlier pre-Strong, more Canadians first policy.
He was preceded by Maurice LeClair who questioned why international science and
technology research was growing faster than domestic science and technology .*” At
MOSST, Mullin became aware of North-South issues of technology transfer. He joined
the OECD Committee on Science and Technology Policy. He became Chair of the
"Mullin Group," which prepared the industrialised countries for the 1979 United Nations

Conference on Science and Technology in Vienna*’

Mullin's section in MOSST of the federal government prepared the papers for the
Canadian delegation and considered what initiatives the Canadians might offer. The
MOSST group discussed ideas with government departments and academics. Perhaps
influenced by Solandt, LeClair and Hudon's more domestic predispositions, MOSST
decided to respond to the part of the Vienna protocol calling for better North-South
collaboration, patly in terms of mutud benefit.*”” Although IDRC clearly had a great
interest in this matter, little discussion took place. Thisis reflected in the Board minutes.
David Hopper said in March of 1977 that MOSST,

I's beginning to spesk quite openly about the possibility of itsmoving in to
provide an increased linkage between Canadian scientists and developing country
scientists. We are not quite sure ye as to who is going to finance this*”®

However, MOSST was, of course, to prepare the official Canadian response. As a non-

475 "Steps Leading to Review", AN, n.d. RG 55, 90-91/164, Box 31, File 8068-03,
Evaluation of International Devel opment Research Centre, Treasury Board Records,
Public Archives of Canada, 1.

476 The Conference also led to the creation of avery small United Nations Centre for
Science and Technology for Development (UNCSTD).

477 James Mullin, interview by author, 14 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa

478 David Hopper, IDRC BOG Meseting, "Draft Notes of Proceedings,” 13-14 March
1977, IDRC Records, 65.
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agent of the Crown, mixed with Hopper's vision of an arms|ength relationship with
government, IDRC was comfortable that it was not consulted. MOSST officials settled on
IDRC as the most appropriate vehicle for the furtherance of mutual benefit in technology
transfer. As aresult of the MOSST initiative, IDRC seems to have been forced to join

with MOSST to fund preparations for the Vienna Conference (UNCSTD).

After he became Secretary of the Treasury Board, the opinion LeClair had
developed at MOSST regarding IDRC seems to have been amplified and combined with
those of academics per se. Moreover, there was "aways concern at Program Branch of
Treasury Board that IDRC had special status. Hopper had just left so the perception was
that it [IDRC] was vulnerable."4”® On 7 August 1977 a Cabinet decision was madein a
memorandum concerning CIDA Bilateral Allocations. In that memorandum it said that as
part of the review of the policy and programs conducted by the Aid Board, an evaluation
of IDRC's activities as part of Canada's aid programmes and "a clarification of the status
of IDRC and itsrelationship to CIDA and MOSST"“® should take place. A study of the
overall mandate was to be conducted by PCO, and a more general detailed evaluation of

the workings of the centre completed by the Treasury Board.

In September 1977 Hopper announced he would be joining the World Bank as
Vice-President - South Asiain January 1978. The following month, Maurice Strong
became Chairman of IDRC's Board. Strong's comment about Hopper's legacy is
revealing,

David did a superb job of developing it, was not, he didn't become part, he didn't
know the other Deputy Ministers much. [sic] | always felt there was a balance
between being coopted by the bureaucracy, making IDRC simply another

479 Steven Rosell, interview by author, 14 March 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.

480 Cabinet Decision 337-77D excerpt in Jacques S. Roy to Ivan Head, TLS, 5
February 1979, IDRC Records, 1.
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government agency, and having somerelationships.*®*

Within government, a new sort of President was seen to be necessary, adiplomat able to
move comfortably in Ottawa and respond to its priorities. Ivan Head was believed to be

such aman.

lvan Head was an Albertan law professor before he came to Ottawato advise
Minister of JusticePierre Trudeau as a constitutiond expert. He had an abiding interestin
international development, aformer serving officer in External Affairs. Head became
Trudeau's chief foreign policy advisor from a new vantage point in the Prime Minister's
Office. To the chagrin of hisformer department, his advice sometimes eclipsed External
Affairs. He served with distinction, notably during Biafra War and the crisis beween
India and Canada over their use of Canadian technology for its military nuclear
programme. Even after he became President of IDRC, Pierre Trudeau used Head's good
offices during the Iran hostage crisis of 1979-80. While Trudeau's advisor he rekindled
the new Prime Minister'sinterest in the Third World, and advocated following Pearson's

path of increasad devel opment assistance allocations.

Head indicated his desire to |leave the Prime Minister's employ in the spring of
1977.%%2 Maurice Strong suggested to him that he become a candidate for IDRC's
presidency. Pierre Elliot Trudeau suggested Head's name to Strong.*®® After the selection
process, Ivan Head became President of IDRC in March 1978. In the interim, pressure on
IDRC increased. A review of crown corporations was under way. Michael Pitfield
informed Maurice Strong in November of 1977 that IDRC status might be moved from
"B" to "C" in the Financial Administration Act, implying greater Treasury Board control.

81 Maurice Strong, interview by author, tape recording, Ottawa, 28 August 1987.
482 lvan Head, interview by author, 21 August 1987.
83 Maurice Strong, interview by author, tape recording, Ottawa, 28 August 1987.
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But Pitfield noted,

| should emphasize that the proposed revised Schedules have been composed from
the perspectiveof financial management, control and accountability. We fully
recognize that there may be overriding policy considerations that would dictate a
more or less independent status for a particular corporation.*®

This seems to indicate that whatever the outcome of the pending PCO and Treasury
Board studies, the concern in government was to address a perceived lack of fiscal
probity. Commenting on the proposed changes, Donald McPhail in External Affairs
wrote to Allan Gotlieb, then USSEA, that the proposed change in status was "not

unrelated" to these concerns.*®

Maurice Strong's response to the December 1977 proposed changes was powerful
and extensive.

If the Centre is now to be required to submit to a series of controls, submissions,
and approvals; if itsinternational Board is to be advised that it cannot, without
approval, amend its budget or authorize contracts; if it isto be casually grouped
with organizations deemed " constituted to advance the national interests of
Canada’; if its operations are to be subject to the day-to-day direction of the
Government, the very character of the Centre will be destroyed. More
importantly, such changes would prgudicialy affec the ability of the Centre to
react quickly to the financial requirements of both the Centre's projects as well as
its own operating requirements - a feature which has become a noted example of
Canadian innovation.*®

Thisintervention indicated that Strong would not stand idly by. However, his

484 P M. Pitfield to Don Jamieson, TLS, 8 November 1977, Appendix B, in IDRC
BOG, "Specia Meeting of the Board of Governors,” 28 January 1978, "Draft Minutes,"
IDRC Records, 2.

485 Don S. McPhail, to Under-Secretary, "1.D.R.C.," 18 April 1978, TMS, 38-4-IDRC,
Volume 31, Foreign Affairs Records, 3.

48 M.F. Strong to Don Jamieson, TLS, 15 Decamber 1977, Appendx B, in IDRC
BOG, "Specia Meeting of the Board of Governors," 28 January 1978, "Draft Minutes,"
IDRC Records, 2.
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appointment was believed to be conducive to IDRC following policies which central
agencies thought were more appropriate. The writer of the Program Branch, Treasury
Board study of 1978, Robert Chartrand believed that,

Unlike his predecessor, he [Strong] is likely to be atruly active Chairman and is
expected to bring [to] IDRC a style of management morerelated to business
methods and principles. Aswell, his earlier vision of providing adual roleis
likely to lead to a greater acceptance of the concept of mutual-benefit. . .

In summary, the new Chairman is likely to influence IDRC in the following aress;
management styleand participation of the Chairman, broadened IDRC
perspective via programming, domestic role and closer ties with Canadian
institutions and, a more direct assodation with U.N. programs.*®’

Likewise,

Mr. Head's foragn policy thinking has been pragmaticin the past with its
emphasis on national interest. In thisregard, heislikely to support the need for a
domestic IDRC rolebased on mutual-benefit.*®

Treasury Board officials believed that Michel Dupuy was expected to play an "active
role."*®° To some extent, such expectations of Head and Strong are surprising as Strong
was the archited of Pearson’s development assistance policy, and Head Trudeau's.
Central agents had long been dissatisied with many of the tendencies in ad during both

governments.

Head's own view of hisrole as President was revealed during his first major

meeting with Centre management. When asked what he thought his role as President was

“87 Robert Chartrand, "Evaluation of International Development Research Centre,"
"Documentation of Phase One - General Review," 30 October 1978, and "Purpose of the
Review" under sections” RG 55, 90-91/164, Box 31, File 8068-03, Evaluation of
International Development Research Centre, Treasury Board Records, Public Archives of
Canada, 17.

488 Robert Chartrand, 18.
489 Robert Chartrand, 18.
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he replied, "Fund raiser." Hisinterlocutor said, "But you don't understand Mr. President,
we have a budget. We don't go out and raise funds." Head replied, "Y ou don't understand,
you get that money because the Government of Canadais willing to give you that
money." Head saw his role as the interlocutor with "governments plural." Head's

domestic responsibility was to raise funds from the federal government

The PCO study was completed early. LeClair insisted that the Treasury Board
study be sent to Head first and that he conduct negotiations with Head before documents
went from PCO. The Treasury Board study was not sent to Ivan Head until November
1978. The main priority for discussionwith IDRC were identified as,

1. IDRC's avoidance of its domestic role relative to objective 1a (use of Canadian

researchers), and objective 1d (mutually beneficial projects).**

Later that year, efforts to improve relations with Canadian academics were made by
CIDA and IDRC providing funding for the creation of the International Development
Office of the AUCC.** Nevertheless, that underlying disgruntlement was not dealt with.
The new CIDA president, Michel Dupuy, said to the Board at Ivan Head's first Board
meeting,

In conversations | have had with Canadian university people over the past few
months, | have been intrigued by what seems to be afeeling among quite afew
people that IDRC is not interested in them, that IDRC is primarily pursuing the
building of research institutions in developing countries. If | raise the point now, it
isinrelation to aremark Mr. Hulse made earlier, because it seems to me that
should this feeling continue to prevail, it might affect the degree of support for the

90 lvan Head as quoted by James Mullin, interview by author, 14 June 1994, tape
recording, Ottawa

491 Robert Chartrand to Jean Bélanger, "Evaluation of IDRC," TMS, 13 April 1978,
"KM for Robert Chartrand,"” RG 55, 90-91/164, Box 31, File 8068-03, Evaluation of
International Development Research Centre, Treasury Board Records, Public Archives of
Canada, 1.

492 Robert Chartrand, "Evaluation of IDRC," 20.
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Centre by an important community in Canada.**

Dupuy's observations were powerful and clear in their implications.

External Affairs' McPhail Report

While PCO and Treasury Board were re-assessing their fervour, avery
confidential study was conducted in External Affairsfor Allan Gotlieb, by his assistant
Don McPhail. Gotlieb wrote to Minister Jamieson,

As the paper suggests, there s, | think, much to be said for

(2) increasing the number of Canadian directors (beyond 11), and

(2) going for a better mix in the Canadian component (business, labour,
devel opment experts, public service).

If we follow the a&ove approach to ICRC [sic] we accomplish two things:

(1) We "Canadianize" it.

(2) We increase the chances of fitting its activities into the framework of Canadian
foreign policy.***

McPhail noted in thestudy and elsewhere that the implicaions of the PCO suggestions to
reschedul e the Centre under the Financial Administration Act (FAA) would mean that the

"Board of Directorsis usually composed, in large part if not totally, of public servants"®

49 Michel Dupuy, IDRC BOG, "Draft Notes of Proceedings,” 16-18 March 1978,
IDRC Records, 99.

494 AE. Gotlieb to the Minister (Jamieson?), 19 April 1978, TLS, 38-4-IDRC, Volume
31, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

4% D.S. McPhail, DSM, to the Under-Secretary, "IDRC Board," 3 May 1978, TM, 38-
4, Volume 31, Economic Relations with Developing Countries Foreign Affairs Records,
2.
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and "all future Governors should be Canadian citizens."4%

Gotlieb and Pitfield had a common vision of a more unitary foreign policy.
According to Gotlieb, Pitfield agreed "that there should be more extensive representation
at the federal public servant level, by means of the inclusion of the Deputy Minister of
Agriculture (Lussier), the Secretary of MOSST (Hudon) and myself."*” Ten days after
the above memorandum to the Minister, Allan Gotlieb was appointed to the Centre's
Board. Up until that point the only Canadian official on the Board was the sitting CIDA
President.*® Lussier and Hudon were not appointed, but at least one another person who
was directly relevant to Canadian foreign policy concerns was. As we saw, Hadj Moktar
Louhibi had apparently been helpful in getting Canadians grain contracts in Algeria. and

was duly appointed the same month as Gotlieh.**®

Asearly as April 1978, Treasury Board and PCO offidals sent signals to their
leaderships that further detailed evaluations of the Centre "could be interpreted as an
unwarranted lack of confidence" in the "new management team" and "could create a
climate of confrontation which would be detrimental to the evolution of an “open'
working relationship between IDRC-CIDA-MOSST-TBS."*® In advance of the tops of

4% Don McPhail to Allan Gotlieb, "Memorandum for the Under-Secretary, 1.D.R.C."
TMS, 18 April 1978, PCO Records, 9.

497 A E. Gotlieb to the Minister, "IDRC Board,” TLS, 8 May 1978, 38-4-IDRC,
Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

4% Maurice LeClair became a member of the Board in 1981, the same year that Allan
Gotlieb left. LeClar had by 1982 became President of Canadian National Ralways.

49 Algiers, Embassy to GAF, External Affairs, "Poste Conseil Admin CRDI," Telex,
TD, 18 February 1986, IDRC-38-4, Volume 53, Economic Relations with Developing
Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

%0 R.L. Richardson to Maurice LeClair, "Report on evaluation of the International
Development Research Centre (IDRC) - Briefing on Friday, April 28, 1978, at 9:30 am."
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their respectiveorganisations they had judged IDRC as running relativdy well, especially
with its new leadership. One can only speculate that the tone of the counsel indicates that
they were soemwhat trepidatious about tackling the formidable Strong and Head.
However, more dear isthat, just as were their predecessors had been more likely to
accept the premises of IDRC during the proposal stagefor IDRC than their leaders, so
were they. Asweshall see, this differencein view is repeated elsevhere and seemsto

indicate the existence of a particular Deputy Minister sub-culture.

That in the event the McPhail Study and the other studies did not go any further
appears to have been the result of the diplomatic skills of the Board and President. In an
interview with the author, Michael Pitfield suggested why most of these proposals stalled.

| would think the Minister was not anxious to put his naked hand into the middle
of ahornet's nest. Who would thank him from the Canadian side, since he
thinking about recognising two or three, when two or three hundred think that
they should be. Whereas, think of all the other members of the Board with dl their
contacts worldwide against the initiative.>®
In other words, changes to IDRC would provoke the wrath of the well-connected
international board. The political value of changing its character paled against the

certainty of opprobrium.

Part of that diplomatic skill was demondrated by the making of concessions
chiefly to make IDRC more Canadian in form and content. Don Jamieson was informed

that "Canada" would appear on the base of IDRC's 10go.>*? Governors had been suggested

TD, Treasury Board Records, Public Archives of Canada, 2.
1 Michadl Pitfield, interview by author, 15 March 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.

%92 lvan Head to Don Jamieson, TLS, 31 May 1978, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 31,
Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

Although this was explicitly contrary to Parliament's wishes at the time of passage of
IDRC hill.
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and accepted by External Affairs. MOSST and the academics were getting IDRC
participation in the Vienna Conference, which would lead to IDRC giving more funding
to Canadians. Treasury Board also achieved changes in the Centre's policy functions and
unofficial controls over financing. However, the rescheduling of the Centre did not take
place. Some points of view do not waver. Even today, Michael Pitfield feelsIDRC's
international board makes the Centre |ess accountable because the Centre is remote from
Parliament and its loyalty is divided between Canadians and non-Canadians. The person
who prepared the PCO study at the time, Steven Rosell, recalls no desire on the part of
the Clerk of the Privy Council to change the status of IDRC. Y et barely ayear later
during the Conservative government a bill would be laid before the House to change the

status of the Centre and other organisations.>*

The foregoing attempts to change the Centre show the Centre to be "very well-
protected."** Smallness has protected IDRC. The Certre is often seenas too small for big
concerns to worry about, a"fly around the ankles."*% In the scheme of things of central
agent's and large businesses, and universities, IDRC's relatively minuscule budget of
$100 million, has served to keep it invisible. Furthermore, for much of IDRC's history,
Centre officers have sought to keep the organisation invisible, and it has been described
variously as a"stealth" organisation.>® In any case, this episode speaks well of the
Centre's relative ability to be moreindependent, and the Board's ability to ensure that.
However, changes were seen as necessary, central agencies and others remained

interested in determining the Centre's future.

%93 Steven Rosell, interview by author, 3 March 1994, tape recording, Ottawa
%4 Michadl Pitfield, interview by author, 15 March 1994, tape recording, Ottawa
SSAnonymous.

%% Donald Macdonald quoted by James Mullin, interview by author, 14 June 1994,
tape recording, Ottawa
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Treasury Board Study a View to Past and Future

Perhaps the most interesting aspect of the Treasury Board study is not that it had
little to do with fiscal matters per se. Rather, the fascinating aspect of the document's
nature isthat it crystallised a multiplicity of concerns that had built up regarding the
Centre in various quarters inside and outside the Centre. The study revealed key aspects
of discussions regarding what should be the correct nature of IDRC. In some respects, the
discourseis reminiscent of discussion that took place when IDRC was still a proposal;
elsewhere, similar to dilemmas yet to come. A number of aspects of the Pearsonian
tradition seemed to have been held in abeyance during the Hopper years, but burst open
upon his departure. As such the report seems to herald anew era, based on an admixture
of elements of the Pearsonian tradition, but with the addition of more parochial concerns.
The Treasury Board document, and subsequent IDRC texts, are more socially oriented,
and politically sensitive. Maurice Strong encapsulated a number of the reasons why Ivan
Head was a good choice to release this admixture and protect the Centre in one free-
flowing thought,

Anything without a constituency in Canadais awaysin some danger. So that's
why | thought that ater David Hoppe |eft then Ivan Head would beided. | also
thought that Ivan could relate it far more.. | thought that maybe it was getting over
technical, that it needed to relate itself more to the broader political spectrum, and
social spectrum in which development occurred.®

In other words, IDRC needed to be politically relevant, in the right circles, with a
constituency. Ivan Head could help answer the kind of concerns that Barbara Ward
expressed about IDRC only "injectinglysine into wheat," placing IDRC's work in
international and domestic poalitics, remaking it as something more than a " sub-
Rockefeller."s%®

97 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 28 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa

%8 Barbara Ward Jackson to L. B. Pearson, ALS, 31 July 1972, MG 26 N 5Voal. 21,
Sir Robert and Lady Jackson, June 1968 - Dec 1972, Pearson Papers, Public Archives, 1.
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The response of IDRC staff to the Treasury Board study was remarkably
defensive, generally rejecting most points made. Y et many of the Centre's essential
positions were approved of by Chartrand. Hopper's focus on indigenous capacity-building
was endorsed. Further, the general approach was approved, "IDRC projects an image of
uniqueness due to its structure, innovation due to its approach, and daringness due to its
unparalleled autonomy."**® This perception was mirrored in the PCO mandate study
performed by Steven Rosell 5° There islittle doubt that the concurrence of both the
Treasury Board and PCO studies regarding the general IDRC approach to devel opment

and its operationswas vital for the future survival of the central visionof IDRC.

The Chartrand study concluded that CIDA/IDRC relations were generdly
acceptable. CIDA officers recognised that IDRC's staff provided useful technical advice
However, the report said that little more cooperation would take place beyond meetings
of Senior Vice-Presidents unless more policy and programming coordination took place.
In subsequent decades, cooperation seems to have been revolved around how far such

meetings should proceed and how much coordination was feasible or necessary.

Regional Offices were seen as expensive. Either further authority should be given
to them or they should be closed. In response, athree-tier system was se up in IDRC
with different Regional Offices receiving varying degrees of responsibility. ASRO was
assigned the highest level later in 1978. Nevertheless, this tier-system was of relatively
little significance. Ottawa-based divisions continued to bear the responsibility for

initiating projects, and the lines of control over officers.

%% Robert Chartrand, "Evaluation of International Development Research Centre," 13.
*10 Rosell had performed a number of other similar mandate studies.

Steven Rosell, interview by author, 14 February 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.
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Particular attention was paid to IDRC's lack of policy and evaluation. Chartrand
found it difficult to determine whether IDRC was successful; IDRC had virtually no
stated policies or goals. Policy had been determined by the approval and modification of
each project. Thereby, each division determined policy. Integration was seen as
necessary. (This theme has recurred for decades as we shall see in the following chapter).

The degree to which IDRC is now aresponsive, rather than an initiating agency is
considered extreme. Program objectives and priorities have not beenidentified to
guide the operating divisions in an attempt to channel developing country interests
in those areas offering the highes potential >**
In response to this point IDRC posited that the Centre's credibility in the developing
world was based on its responsiveness.®? However, Head subsequently created the Office
of Planning and Evduation. Nihal Kappagoda was changed from Vice-President -
International to Vice-President Planning to reflect the new importance attached to the

activity.>

Another aspect of the Treasury Board study was that the Centre was seen to have
not given enough emphasis to implementation of the results of the research funded.
Planning and evaluation was believed to be one solution. More controversial in terms of
the Centre's highly divisionally based internal politics was the notion that the research
should be multidisciplinary in order to be effective. Such an idea was anathema to many
in the Centre as we shall see in the next chapter. But the general thrust to make research
interdisciplinary harked back to Strong, Matthews, Plumptre and Oldham'’s visions of

what IDRC would be like. This view was contrary to the more narrowly technical view of

°11 Robert Chartrand, "Evaluation of International Development Research Centre," 41.

12 IDRC, "Re: Treasury Board Evaluation and background for discussion with Board
27 February 1979," TD, 22 February 1979, RG 55, 90-91/164, Box 31, File 8068-03,
Evaluation of International Devel opment Research Centre, Treasury Board Records,
Public Archives of Canada, 6.

°13 Nihal Kappagoda, interview by author, 9 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.
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Hopper and Hulse. In some ways their view paralleled those of the central agencies of the
late 1960s who sought focused action-orientation. Chartrand suggested that the
establishment of the Social Science Division of the Centre "may have been an error" and
that "It iswidely fdt that social science expertise could have been more effective had it
been injected directly into the "harder science” divisions.">** This suggestion seams to
have arisen at atime when Joe Hulse, Maurice Strong and others were making similar
proposals. One of Ruth Zagorin's |ast efforts as Social Sciences Director was to defend
the Division as alegitimate entity and such study as an adivity at a Board meeting in
Bangkok in March 1978.5> At one level these proposals were a degpening of the
technocratic "cure." They aso extended the constituency to include the more
marginalised social scientists. Chartrand wrote:

Apart from assessing technical implications, the andysis of socio-cultural,
political and economic factors affecting implementation would substartially
enhance delivery prospects. It isfor this very reason that, as suggested earlier,
serious consideration be given to assigning social scientists directly to projects
within each program division. Finally, more use could be made of pilot projects
with the implementational experiences applied to generally similar areas. Feed-
back based on actual experience can be particularly helpful in formulating more
complex and costly projects.>

This was not participatory development, but nor was what had been proposed and
practised generally in IDRC. One can see in these comments the same kind of tension
between the natural and socia scientists and the more technically-minded and socially-
engaged that was to emerge more frequently in subsequent yearsin IDRC. Interestingly,

Ivan Head had expressed a desire to give higher priority to communications for

interdisciplinary research at hisinaugural Board meeting.>*’

°14 Robert Chartrand, "Evaluation of IDRC," 42-43.
°15 James Pfeifer, interview by author, 11 November 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.
°16 Robert Chartrand, "Evaluation of IDRC," 34.

*17 lvan Head, IDRC BOG Mesting, "Draft Notes of Proceedings," 16-18 March 1978,
IDRC Records, 84.

256



The Chartrand study also judged IDRC's proper level of funding. Aswe have
seen, Strong putatively suggested a level of 5% of ODA. CIDA was generally willing to
provide just under 4%. Yet it was never set in anything more than a gentlemen's
agreement. This discussion has continued for decades since. Chartrand seized on the
Pearson’'s Commission statement that donor research endeavours should spend half of
their 5%, in developing countries>® The expected diversification of funds mentioned
during the proposal stage of the Centre was al so raised.

IDRC hasindicated that it considered unrealistic expectations of any amount of
foreign funding. Even domestic contributions from private sources have been
avoided since attached conditions could compromise the Centre's untied style of
operation. This position appears overstated and domestic contributions should be
encouraged.>*?
This question of non-Parliamentary grant funding has been raised yea'ly amost as a
Treasury Board mantra since the areation of the Certre. It has re-emerged most
powerfully since the stagnation of fundsin the early 1990s and has brought to the fore
guestions about the degree of autonomy, and especidly engagement with donors, notably

CIDA.

Predictably, during the 1978 TB study overhead emerged as an issue. However,
the conclusion of the study was less easy to foretell. While it noted that much
streamlining could be done as 40% of person-years were allocated to general management
functionsin Ottawa, and only 69% of funding went to direct project funding, Chartrand
recognised that, "It is difficult to determine whether this allocation is appropriate since
both the quality and quantity of staff support for projed formulation havedirectly

contributed to IDRC's past performance."*?° Being labour-intensive was recognised as a

518 Robert Chartrand, "Evaluation of IDRC," 24.
519 Robert Chartrand, "Evaluation of IDRC," 25.
520 Robert Chartrand, "Evauation of IDRC," 32-33.
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virtue.

The matters raisad by the 1977 Cabing Committee meeting were concluded in
February 1979. At this point, Steve Rosell of PCO concluded "the results of the review
indicate no significant problems in this area and indeed in general reveal an organization
operating effectively and successfully."*** Surprisingly, the longest item in this notedid
not concern IDRC/MOSST relationship, where it was reported there was "no
difficulty."** The most substantial entry concerned External Affairs, and was said to have
been resolved by the presence of the USSEA and "revisions underway to the standard
guidelinesissued to IDRC staff on their relationship to Canadian posts abroad and to the
Department of Externa Affairs."* Thislast item had not been covered in any of the
studies hitherto. Apparently, it was triggered by the embarrassment of the Canadian
Embassy in Havana being invited to the launching of an IDRC-funded project in Cuba of
which the Embassy was unaware. Unfortunately, the Department of External Affairs was
not notified of IDRC projects under $60,000, which this project was.>** Other minor
irritations of protocol were also to be rectified by travelling IDRC staf reporting to
Canadian embassies as to their whereabouts and activities. To reinforce the notion of
IDRC's independence, such niceties (that avoided the mgjor diplomatic failing of causing
embarrassment), had been eschewed during the Hopper presidency. Rosell's report noted
that,

Those involved in the Crown corporaions exercise have been involved to some
extent in IDRC review and have concluded that no change in the degree of

%21 Steven A. Rosell to File cc. to Mr. Smith, Drummie and Darling, "Review of
IDRC," TMS, 28 February 1979, PCO Records, 1.

52 Rosdll, 1.
52 Rosdll, 2.

*2Havana, Embassy, to External, Ottawa, GSL, "IDRC Cuban Project,” Telex, 20
September 1977, TD, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 29, Economic Cooperation with Developing
Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.
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independence presently enjoyed by IDRC is appropriate given its special role.

Further consideration of this matter will occur in the context of the developing

policy of the government towards non-departmental bodies.>?
While the Chartrand and Rosell studies and, indeed, the Crown corporations exercise
concluded that no mgjor changes were necessary, this did not appear to be the assessment
of their superiors. As we have noted, during the brief Conservative government later in
1979, bills were introduced in the House of Commons where, once again IDRC was to
have its status changed under the FAA, and so put under greater Treasury Board control.
CIDA had been brought under tighter rein in 1977.

There was a perception in CIDA that there were two clients: 1) the Third World,
and 2) the Government of Canada. But the fact of the latter did not become clear
until 2 July 1977 when Treasury Board finance and control mechanisms were
introduced into CIDA .52
Only the briefness of the Conservative government prevented IDRC's staff from avoiding
that fate. Y et the Centre did not emerge unscathed. The following year IDRC was obliged
by the Treasury Board to complete Three-Y ear Operational Plans (TY ROPs). In 1980, a
budgeting exercise with Treasury Board requiring "A" and "B" base planning restricted

change in divisiond budgets.>?’

% Rosdll, 1.
56Anonymous.

52’Office of the Vice-President Planning, Tab B, "Program and Policy Review," 18
February 1980, IDRC BOG, "Draft Minutes," 30-31 March & 1 April 1980, IDRC
Records, 17.
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Macropolitics and Microtactics

Beyond the micropolitics regarding IDRC and its relations with academics, and
officias, changes were taking place in Canadian politics. In 1979, the Conservative Clark
government briefly held power. Flora MacDonald was appointed Minister for External
Affairs. IDRC was seen as particuarly at risk in this period because of 1van Head's close
association with Prime Minister Trudeau. And indeed deep background efforts were made
to seek hisremovd.*® Naturally, this did not bode well for IDRC's negotiations with
federal departments. No decision was taken regarding IDRC's status under the FAA, and

it was brought up again.

We have noted tha although IDRC was endorsed by the Treasury Board and PCO
studies, Centre management believed it wise to pay attention to the issues identified. In
1979, IDRC had to demonstrate that the Centre would not be hostile to the business
friends of the Progressive Conservative Party. MOSST staff's preference for IDRC asthe
designated unit of the federal government responsible for ensuring greater connections
between Canadian and developing country scientists ones for mutual benefit was helpful
at atime of pressure on the Centre and its President. Head must have found the notion
aluring for several reasons, Firstly, IDRC would be seen to be responding to pressures
from the government and federal agencies. Secondly, Senator Martial Asselin's
announcement at the Vienna Conference said that up to one per cent of Canada's ODA
would go to such activities, at that time $12 million. Thiswould be inherently attractive
to IDRC's chief fundraiser. Commenting on the period, Nihal Kappagoda told the author,

The UNCSTD Conference and the preparations leading up to it gave the
opportunity for the Canadian research institutions in some ways to get up thepole
here. . | myself felt very strongly that this might lead to an erosion of the origina
mandate . we felt . .the Ivan Head presidency sensed the situation tha unless
IDRC was to accept. . more of this programme .. . (we could preserve the original

52 Bill Winegard, interview by author, 13 April 1994, tape recording, Guelph.
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intention) IDRC would be the loser.>®

Head rarely seemsto have shared with staff the details of IDRC's predicament
relative to the government. Head was himself intensely sensitive to political signals. He
sought to demonstrate to the leaders of Canada, political, academic and bureaucratic,
IDRC's relevance to Canadian interests and engagethem in the work of the Centre, while
at the same time asserting independence. The manner by which this was done at the
political level may be generally characterised as masterful, whileat the bureaucratic level,

much less so.

IDRC staff would attend meetings at which CIDA officials were present and
"clearly make alittle statement at the beginning of themeeting that “We want to
dissociate ourselves from our friends from Canada here. They have to speak for the
government. But, of course, we are independent.™>*® Assertions were certainly necessary
for IDRC to forge adistinctive image. But the manner in which it was done deeply
wounded the sensitivities of CIDA staff, who saw international development as much
their pure vocation as officersin IDRC, even if they had no choice but to recognise the
importance of Government of Canada prioritiesin their work. Yet in dealing at the
political level Head and his staff were often brilliant. For example, Communications
Division staff were able to ensure that glowing articles appeared on the front page of The

Globe and Mail the day before meetings of the President in front of the House of

Commons Committee on External Affairs and National Defense.>*! Ministers of External

Affairs were re-assured of the work IDRC was doing, that it was changing with the times.

529 Nihal Kappagoda, interview by author, 1 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa
S0Anonymous.

%31 House of Commons, Standing Committee for External Affairs and National
Defense, Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence, "Issue No. 68, Thursday, March 10,
1988," re: Sharing Our Future, 68:6.
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We have noted that unlike other parts of the federal government, IDRC was not
very much part of an interlocking series of cultures for most of its history. Notable
exceptions were Ivan Head and his numerous connections in high government and
political circles; and Joe Hulse and his contacts in business and the right-wing of the
Liberal Party; and the Secretary and General Counsel, Robert Auger with various
associations, principally in External Affairs and PCO. But deep interlocking connections
were few and IDRC was compelled to rely on the technique of its leaders, more than
interlocking culture to ensure short-term questions of survival. Nevertheless, at a broader
level, that IDRC continued to be seen as arepresentdive of a cultureof scientific
progress and internationalist values was of greater import to the long-term viability of the

Centre.

IDRC Staff React to Trends Towards Parochialism

A note should be made at this point of internal politicsin IDRC in the late 1970s
because it affected the Centre's external relations. Inside IDRC, aminor reaction to the
manifestation of external pressurestook place. The notion of such collaborative
endeavours suggested at Vienna were not well-seen by the Director of Social Sciences
David Steedman, and especially not by the Director of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition
Science, Joe Hulse.>*? Consequently, both sdes of the scientific divide wereunited in
their opposition to thisinitiative. In 1979, many Programme Officers saw IDRC as an
example of "pure development” and were appalled by the changes taking place.
Programme staff saw the manifestation of these unwdcome influences in the Centrein
Louis Berlinguet and his staff of ten including the veteran social democrat, "King"
Gordon. Berlinguet had previously been the Centre's principal Quebec representative on

the Board. Dr. Berlinguet and asmall Laval University office under him were eliminated

%32 James Mullin, interview by author, 14 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa
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as part of a 2% budget cut. David Hopper had apparently hired Berlinguet to be his
second-in-command, with the mandate he was pursuing, but not told anyone.>*
Berlinguet had apparently been seen as steering the Centre towards more engagement
with Canadian researchers, when he became Vice President - Canada and Donor
Relations. As Vice-President his chief activity had been preparing for the UNCSTD
Conference. Among programme staff, Berlinguet's team was not seen as "adding
value."** Marcel Massé advised Prime Minister Clark that "Indeed there is some
suggestion of friction between the program branches and that of the Senior Vice-
President, a situation which frequently occurs in Departments when a policy coordination
role is super-imposed on operational branches."** In addition to the Berlinguet group,
IDRC's Nairobi Regonal Office was closed as well asthree minor ones in Delhi,
Washington and London. However, the most lasting fallout of the decisions that flowed
from the 1979 cuts was IDRC's reputation for employing francophones. It left much room
for improvement under Hopper. The Prime Minister was informed of the elimination of
the entire Senior Vice-President's office by Senator Asselin who had been the main
government representative at the Vienna Conference>*® Long letters were exchanged
which seemed to have touched on the effect of these changes to federal-provindal
relations. Head subsequently madestrong efforts to change the image. Despite this
reaction, the President went ahead and created the Cooperative Division, initially as part
of the President's Office, which was to develop programs that emerged from the spirit of
the Canadian government's declaration at Vienna. Many staff remained unhappy at this

change.

%33 Raymond Audet, interview by author, 20 May 1994, tape recording, Ottawa
34 Nihal Kappagoda, interview by author, 9 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa

%% Marcel Massé to Joe Clark, "Layoffs at International Development Research Centre
(IDRC), Memorandum for the Prime Minister,” TMS, 22 October 1979, PCO Records, 2.

%% n.a., "Memorandum for lan Green," "Shakeupsin IDRC," TM, 19 October 1979,
PCO Records, 1.
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Gamani Corea, farmer Sri Lanka High Commissioner in Canada, was selected to
head the new Cooperative Programs Division. Being a non-Canadian, Corea should have
been less susped as one delivering up the internationalist ideals of IDRC as an offering to
the Canadian government. But his six-month tenure was not easy.>*’ Coreawas a
journalist and not well-received by the scientists of the Centre especially in Hulse's
Division.>*® Head felt compelled to write to the SSEA that he cautiously welcomed the
new policy of the Conservatives, but sought to impress upon Macdonald the governors
desireto retain its existing character. The President recommended a slow devel opment of
the policy to a weak Conservative government. The lessthan overwhelming support is
seen in the following ambiguous statement.

Governors welcomed the condition of additionality as consistent with their belief
that the basic character of the Centre should not be dtered and the Centre should
not be subjected to fundamental regructuring to copewith the infusion of fresh
funds.>*

If there was consensus in the Centre on the nature of the Collaborative Programme
it was that it should be beneficial to developing countries scientists. This required some
retraining of Canadian scientists interested in the program.>* Canadian researchers had to
show that specific colleagues in developing countrieswere interested in working with
them on an issue deamed relevant to Third World needs. In other words, the programme
was hot simply to provide funds for Canadian researchers; the particular IDRC notion of

partnership remained supreme.

In August 1981, James Mullin left MOSST and joined the Division that he had

%37 Corea subsequently became Sri Lankan Ambassador to Washington.
5% James Mullin, interview by author, 14 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa

%% lvan Head to FloraMacDonald, SSEA, TLS, 15 October 1979, 38-4 IDRC, Volume
33, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

540 James Mullin, interview by author, 14 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa
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advocated. Head had asked him "to put up or shut up.">** He says that the work of the
Division did contribute to less pressure from Canadian researchers. Many programme
staff remained suspicious of the aims of Mullin's division, believing that it distorted

Hopper and Pearson's internationalist vision.

Relations continued to improve between IDRC and other parts of government
during the 1980s, including Conservative governments. Shortly after his gopointment in
1984, the last Liberal Secretary of State for Extemal Affairs, Jean Chrétien, sent this
glowing comment to the Centre. "l am well aware of the outstanding work and excellent
reputation of IDRC.">* At the political level, Ivan Head continued to show that he was a
player of international status. In the early 1980s, IDRC played a key role in funding the
Brandt Commission. Further, Prime Minister Trudeau used Head's good offices during

the Iran hostagecrisis.

Under Conservative Secretary of State for External Affairs, Joe Clark, support for
IDRC continued. The Conservative Caucus did not support Head remaining President of
IDRC. One informant says that the caucus spent one day "trying to cut off Ivan's head."
After the Conservatives came to power in 1984, the Quebec wing of the Conservative
caucus composed alist taken from a government directory of organisations that might be
eliminated.>® IDRC was on the list.

%41 James Mullin, interview by author.

542 Jean Chrétien to lvan Head, 7 August 1984, TLOS, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 45,
Relations with Developing Countries Division, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

%43 Re: Quebec caucus - James Mullin, interview by author.

Re: day of caucusconcerned with removal of Head - | have found no confirmation of this
event in other interviews.

James Pfeifer, interview by author, 13 March 1987, notes, Ottawa.
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Janet Wardlaw was appointed Chair of IDRC in 22 March 1985, for five years.
She was re-appointed for a further two years on 22 March 1990. The month after
Wardlaw's first appointment cuts began. In May of 1985 Treasury Board sought to cut
$15 million of what they perceived to be surpluses from IDRC's budget. Wardlaw, and
Governor Curry, (an accountant and long-time member of the Board), sought and
received a meeting with Minister Clark. Wardlaw wrote, "we should be grateful for an
opportunity to call upon you to ensure that you are fully seized of our very real anguish

and worry.">*

At aconference at the University of Waterloo tha May, Ivan Head poke in
bel eaguered manner, calling on scientists to actively support the Centre.

Independence requires more than a Board, however. It requires as well financial
commitment, the sustained flow of funds from Parliament to the Centre to pemmit
multi-year project funding without fear of interruption, and to permit IDRC to be
aresearch donor organization, not a bureaucratic wrestling team constantly
expending its energies in search of supplementary funding. IDRC statutes, and
successive governmental decisions, have lent to the Centre a very special statusin
this respect. IDRC funds do not lapse, IDRC is not subject to many of the
strictures of the Financial Administration Act, IDRC is specifically exempt from
the general application of the Crown Corporations Legislation, (an exemption that
extended from the outset only to IDRC, the Bank of Canada and the Canadian
Wheat Board), IDRC employees are not members of the Public Service.

This extraordinary uniquenessis not by ustaken for granted. It must be earned on
acontinuing basis.. . . The Centre, however, cannot do this on its own. It requires
the audible support of scientists in Canada and abroad. | count very much on each
of you to make known to Parliamentarians that IDRC, while admittedly far from
perfect, has been able to do what it has because it is not part of government, not
subject to governmental rules and regulations designed for organizations with
mandates immensely different from IDRC. . .

The current Parliamentary Grant of IDRC, after dl, is only $86 million, scarcely
more than 4% of Canadian ODA, less than one-fifth the budget of NRC and one-

%4 Janet Wardlaw, and Norman Currieto Joe Clark, TLS, 30 May 1985, 38-4-IDRC,
Volume 49, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.
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third the budget of NSERC.>*

One can hear the echoes of discussions of Treasury Board in these remarks, and very redl
frustration. According to Head, in the end the debate over surpluses was "largely won" by
IDRC.>*® The Centre remitted $7 million. But mainstream Tory and central agent

displeasure with the Centre was not routed.

As previoudly stated, one of the periods in which pressure is often put upon IDRC
most strongly is about the time of the appointment or re-appointment of Presidents.
President Head was recommended by the Board of the Centre for athird term. The
recommendation of Head by the Board reportedly madeMulroney furious. The Prime
Minister consulted lawyers. They concluded that either the recommendation would have
to be rejected, an unprecedented step, or they could simply lessen the length of the
appointment. Clark was said to have felt that to reject the recommendation would be
caving in to the truer blue side of the Progressive Conservatives, thereby weakening the

Red Toriesin one of their few bastions, foreign policy.>’

In contrast with other parts of Mulroney's Ottawa, relations were cordia with the
Minister's Officeat External Affarsunder Clark. In 1987, President Head sent a
handwritten noteto Jodi White, Clark's Chief of Staff. He requested shesend a letter to
Australiato prevent the Labour government there from cutting the Australian
Consultative Institute for Agricultural Research (ACIAR). The creation of ACIAR had
been advocated by Sir John Crawford, former Govemor of IDRC, and long-time associate

%% lvan Head, "Notes for Remarks," Corference on Research for Third World
Development, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, TD, 14 May 1985, 38-4-IDRC,
Volume 49, Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs, 5, 6, and 14.

>4 |van Head, interview by author, 21 August 1987, tape recording, Ottawa.
>4 Anonymous.
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of both Hopper and Head.
Dear Jodi, . . .
| fear that the Australian bureaucratic establishment is bearing down on

IDRC's Australian clone ACIAR. A word from one minister to another would do
wonders to back them off! Thanks.

[van>*®

In other words, that Head would make such a request seems to indicate that relations with
the Clark-run Department of Extemal Affairs were not contentious. Nevertheless, Bill
Winegard says ambiguously,

| have no doubt tha Joe and Ivan never got on all that well. No | don't know that,
but | would be surprised if they were bosom buddies. "Let's go out for a beer
lvan."s#

8 |van [Head] to Jodi [White], ANS, 23 November 1987, Economic Relations with
Developing Countries, IDRC-38-4, Volume 57, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

>4 Bill Winegard, interview by author, 13 April 1994, Guelph, tape recording.
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IDRC and Foreign Policy

It was a do good thing, it was modestly. . . inexpensive, and yet had some long-
term benefits. It appealed to the academic community who were generally [of the
opinion] "Of course you should have these researchthings.” They didn't like it
that they werent getting enough money, that was something else. . . It appealed to
the. . . senior bureaucracy because they could brag about it. It appealed to the
Prime Ministers of the day in that it gave them thislittle outfit that the Third
World could have some sense that they too were helping to run. It was all the
internationalism that was Canada and it didn't cost very much.>°
During its early years IDRC was not seen to have any direct political function
relative to the Canadian government. Thisis not the case today. The Centre's high
standing is valuable to the Canadian government, evenif it requires Certre officersto
remind it. Nevertheless, the status of IDRC istangible. As FloraMcDonald said to the
author,

FM: The greatest contribution that IDRC makes s this great respect and
awareness that people in developing countries have of it. When | wasin Indial
got to see the Prime Minister, the Finance Minister and . . . the Foreign Minister. .
. they knew more about IDRC than.

PS. They know about it here.

FM: Yes. Well, you can't buy that kind of goodwill >

For amiddle power like Canada, where power is not sufficient to alter an opinion,
goodwill is undoubtedly avital element in the diplomatic arena. The argument has not
evaporated in the face of harder timesin Canada, if the vision was weakened. Indeed,
when Pearsonian multilateralism and interdependence are understood not just in Ottawa,
but almost everywhere this value has been reinforced. What isinteresting isthat it isthe

Pearsonian notion of generosity and partnership with the rationale that the end is social

%0 Bill Winegard, interview by author, 13 April 1994, Guelph, tape recording.
51 FloraMacDonald, interview by author, 29 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa
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stability and progress that has produced goodwill in devdoping countries.
Interdependence is accepted as a given, but the means for achieving it has been
increasingly in doubt in Ottawa. Thenotion of asimple transfer of scientific progress
from the North to the South, which featured in much of Pearson and Hopper's thinking
has also come into question. This latter debate is of great import in the context of IDRC
and will be explored at length in the next chapter.

IDRC is not bound by its statutes to act as an official agent of the Canadian
government, unlike CIDA or Foreign Affairs. But IDRC is unlikely to want to incur the
wrath of government unnecessarily. In questions of foreign policy, IDRC often follows
closely the general guidelines of the government regarding Canadian foreign policy, but
not always, and it has not always been so. Regarding Canadian foreign policy we can see
keenly the tension between internationalist impulses and parochial instrumentalism. We
can also see how IDRC's officers have created space for themselves by using the
ambiguity of foreign policy to permit greater freedom of action. Even if priorities are set
and doors closed by officia policy, the establishment or maintenance of relationships by
other national adors like the Centre, can, and has proved valuable. IDRC iswilling to
follow the guidelines laid down by the government, partly because it fears falling out of
disfavour, and partly becauseit is not inconsistent with its perspective to do so. But the
President may deem it necessary to resist these guidelines with the support of the Board
when they seem too constraining. CIDA and Foreign Affairs may indicateif aproject is
not in line with government policy, but they will generally respect the independence of

the Centre.

IDRC provides benefits for politicians, the upper reaches of the bureaucracy and
foreign service in the sense that IDRC remains the only government organisation with an
international board able to steer the organisation of a national government. IDRC can also
serve as atesting ground for Canadian foreign policy, without the risks.

The idea of having a mechanism which went beyond the limits of that policy with
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implicating the government seemed attractive in one way in some countries where
in some future day we might want to be friendlier than we were, there would have
been a Canadian presence. Or conceivably, if IDRC came up with anew idea then
it could be adopted by Canadian intemational development policy. Or if you did
try ideas that didn't work then you didnit bring any critidsm of the government.>?
That was apparent in IDRC being involved in Cuba or China. David Hopper requested
the support of the Minister to approach China. Y et despite official restrictions Hopper
sought relations and in many cases placed projects in China, Burma, Taiwan, Israel, the
West Bank and in Eastern Europe. TheBurmese and Chines initiatally rebuffed these
overtures. Despite External Affairs disapproval, Hopper and even Head established
projects in Cuba and Taiwan although one must say that the scale was relaively small,
and therefore not requiring the review of External Affairs. In a 1977 dispute regarding
whether IDRC shoud be involved in Chilewith Chilean govemment representatives,
Hopper went over the head of the Canadian Ambassador in Chile who expressed strong
reservations about contacts with the Chilean government. Hopper's view was,

[, frankly, cannot have the Ambassador setting our total policy with regard to
activitiesin Chile. However, public disapproval did nat mean private disgoproval,
IDRC was a useful mechanism in that respect.">>

Occasional defiance of official policy was not just limited to David Hopper's
presidency, Ivan Head was not averse to resisting the initial displeasure of External
Affairs officids. However, Head was much more careful to ensure egreement or taat
acceptance of the government, passing through succeeding levels to achieve that consent.
He aso made certain that his staff followed diplomatic procedures, that they informed
Canadian embassies of their movements and activities. This avoided diploméic
embarrassment and hel ped lessen suspicion or ignorance of IDRC in External Affairs. As

such this provided a channel for valued exchange, and may have led to many glowing

%52 James Mullin, interview by author, 14 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa

%53 David Hopper, IDRC BOG, Executive Committee, "Draft Notes of Proceedings,”
Executive Committee Meeting, TD, 18 June 1977, IDRC Records, 3.
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reviews by External Affairs field staff of the Centre's work.

IDRC was only the second development organisation after the World Bank to be
permitted to operae in the Peoples Republic of China, even though it had spasmodically
worked with Taiwanese organisations.®™* This was seen as acoup in foreign pdicy terms.
YetitisIDRC'sinvolvement in South Africathat shows most clearly how IDRC provides
a convenient dualistic government-non-government role in Canadian foreign policy. For
example, for a decade, IDRC considered funding development activities in South Africa
and consequently consulted with Foreign Affairs. Eventually, the Department, to which
IDRC reportsits finances informed IDRC that it must conform to guidelines which
minimise contact with South Africa. However, the guidelines of the federal government
permit the special waiving of these guidelines in certain cases, IDRC has been exempted
from most of the restrictions placed on others.>® The result was that IDRC, athough
considerably behind the Nordic aid agencies, was well-established by the time of the
1994 elections. The visit by Keith Bezanson in 1992 to South Africa was keenly observed
by Foreign Affairs. That Bezanson was warmly received by Nelson Mandela and others
was hoted. That the recommendations made by IDRC-funded reports were critical of
ANC capabilities, but were accepted by the leadership after a fashion was admired.
Communications from the High Commission to Ottawa al so noted that, "Both publicly
and privately, Bezanson stressed IDRC intention, [sic] within its mandate, to reinforce
Canadian objectives in South Africa and to work in close collaboration with the
Embassy."**¢ Although the PCO was informed of the visit of Bezanson it did not prevent

the changes to the Centre that were announced in the 1992 budget. However, when Flora

54 Notable among these was the AVRDCC, an unofficial International Agricultural
Research Ingtitution, once headed by a Canadian.

%5 Pierre Sané, interview by author, 27 November 1987, notes, Ottawa.

% Pretoriato EXT OTT, GAA, CIDAHULL, BFK, INFO PCOQOTT,
PMOOTT/Heinbecker, CPFTWN, Telex, TD, 12 February 1992, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 69,
Foreign Affairs Records, 1.
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MacDonald briefed Joe Clark and Prime Minister Mulroney's Chief of Staff, Hugh Segal,
about IDRC'srolein South Africa, it was seen as good evidence of the Centre's relevance,

and may have helped reverse the budget decision.>’

During the Mulroney government IDRC served as a means on two occasions for
the government to permit non-nationals to directly suggest potential members of the
Board. Thefirst occasion came when in 1986, the Prime Minister invited Premier Zhao
Ziyang to have China "nominate a distinguished scientist tojoin [the] Board of IDRC">*®
The second occasion was during the Rio Conference in 1992.5° The implication was that
the autonomy of the Centre to steer the selection process of its governors was bypassed
by the PM. IDRC could hardly refuse thefiat.

While one can consistently see questioning of the indegpendence or value of IDRC
at the senior management levels of government or in the central agencies, this does not
appear to be so much the case in the Embassies or at the Director level or below at CIDA
or Foreign Affairs. Such doubts seem largely limited to the upper levels of each
organisation the Centre interacts with. Indeed, there is considerable evidence that when
the freedom of action of the Centre is challenged, by part of a department or a section of
government there israllying to IDRC's position. Lower-level Foreign Affairs officers
have often supported IDRC against questioning of its room to manoeuvre, sometimes
even from within Foreign Affairs. For example, in 1985 IDRC proposed to study the
economic implications of funding the military in Southeast Asia. When staff of South and
Southeast Asia Relations Division, Foreign Affairs, suggested to the link Division

57 FloraMacDonald, interview by author, 30 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa

% Gorham, Embassy, Peking to External, Ottawa, Info to Ivan Head, IDRC, Ottawa,
"Chinese Member of IDRC Board,"” Telex, TD, May 1986, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 52,
Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

%% Further discussion of this takes place below.
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between the Department and IDRC, Economic Relations with Developing Countries,

We would have no difficulties from a political perspective. .. however . .. Has
IDRC reflected upon the impact this departure from the more traditional areas of
concentration may have on other developmental bodies and institutions with
Southeast Asia or within development arcles generally?. . . In other wards, is
there any danger of IDRC's reputation being adversely affected because of the
military focus of this study?®°
The Arms Control and Disarmament Division countered, "We believe that thisproject is
both useful and timely and the results will be of interest to the international
community."*®* Likewise, when aCIDA desk officer complained about IDRC'swork in
Guyana not fitting into CIDA's Country Focus, three separate sections of Foreign Affairs
wrote to defend the policies of the Centre.*? Nevertheless, there is evidencethat some
officersin Foragn Affairs seeking greater IDRC adherence to Departmental guidelines.
Such attempted interference became more frequent in Ivan Head's last term, (even if
IDRC was following advice). In the case of projects on the West Bank an External

Affairs officer wrote,

%60 G. Wilson, Acting Director, South and Southeast Asia Relations Division, to EEA,
"IDRC: Proposal on Defence and Development in Southeast Asia," TLS, 19 February
1985, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 47, Economic Relations with Devel oping Countries, Foreign
Affairs Records, 1.

1 0.A. Chistoff, Acting Director, Arms Control and Disarmament Division, to EEA,
"IDRC: Proposal on Defence and Development in Southeast Asia," TLS, 19 February
1985, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 47, Economic Relations with Devel oping Countries, Foreign
Affairs Records, 1.

%62 See Georgetown, Embassy to CIDA, Hull, Telex, "Guyana: CIDA Country Focus
and IDRC Projects,"” TD, 12 October 1983, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 44, Economic Relations
with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

E. Martel, Diredtor, Caribbean and Central American Relations Division to EEA, TMS,
11 October 1983, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 44, Economic Relations with Developing
Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

Dean Browne, Director, South America Relations Division to EEA, TMS, 13 October
1983, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 44, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, 1.
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A policy decision has apparently been taken to follow our views to the letter and
to reveal those views in full to prospective recipients. . .

This episode raises the broader question of how suitable the present
IDRC/External arangements arefor ensuring that our views on politically
sensitive projects are taken into consideration while preserving IDRC's
independence as well as our working relationships in some countries. It is clear
that, at the very minimum, the formal goproval procedure should be strictly
adhered to in such cases. In addition, there may be a need to express guidelines on
the use by IDRC staff of information or views expressed in confidence by this
Department, there may also be a need to define the extent to which our posts
should play a support role to IDRC operaions where our view for IDRC not to
proceed.>®

On the other hand, even in the policy groups of CIDA and Foreign Affairs, who
are more remote from field links to IDRC, the Centre is often highly regarded by staff.

The following is taken from 1993 briefing documents for the President of CIDA. Since
its
incepti
on,
IDRC
has
establis
hed a
reputat
ion
world
wide as
afirst-
class
centre
of
excelle
nce.
Someti
mes
caled

%63 José Herran-Limato Bob Grauer, (through Ross Snyder), "Ref: attached telex on
IDRC, External Affairs and the Isragli-occupied territories,” TMS, 20 November 1987,
Volume 57, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.
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"the
jewsl
inthe
crown"
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develo
pment
efforts,
it has
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e work
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wide
variety
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develo
pment
oues:

What these episodes may represent is an essential acceptance on the part of field
staff of IDRC's internationalist values, the Pearsonian tradition, because they share them
themselves. IDRC has the freedom of action which they do not have. Staff of Canada's
foreign policy apparatus may defend IDRC because they seein it the core of the
Pearsonian ideal. Indeed, CIDA staff were strongly attached to the internationalist tenor
of their own work, and it showed in their tendency to remain in the Agency. As aformer
CIDA employee attests,

An awful lot of people spent their whde career in CIDA, and that's unusual in
government. . . the reason was that they liked their work and they were committed
to what they were doing.>®

%64 "Policy Compendium Project,” Section B, TD, Policy Branch, 1993, CIDA
Records, 161.

%55 Anonymous.
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IDRC Projects with CIDA (1970-88)

—=— Total Number of Projects

—&— Joint Projects

—=— Farallel Projects
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Figure 20

CIDA Surpasses IDRC in Research Funding

We have noted that originally there had been afairly strict agreement for CIDA

not to be too involved with research. Y et during the period 1980-91, CIDA approved at

total of $897 million in research compared with $803 million for IDRC. Over the period,

1986/7-1990/1 CIDA support to research averaged 4.5% of the ODA budget vs. 3.9% for

IDRC.*® Asa 1987 CIDA pape states,

Over the years, the distinction between the two organizations relative to research

has become less clear due principally to the growth of applied research

%% Francoise Coupal to Keith Bezanson, TM S, 10 December 1991, "CIDA Support to

Research: Some Key Policy Issues for Discussions,” "Executive Summary,” File 151-
00010, IDRC President's Office, IDRC Records, 1.
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programming of CIDA (bilateral) and IDRC, and to the increased requests from
developing countries for research, as expressed in the growth of Consultative
Groups on International Agricultural Research (CGIARs) and university research
centres>*’
Sincethe arrival of Keith Bezanson, IDRC is how being asked to administer far more
CIDA projects than in the past.>®® The number of joint or parallel projects has also risen.
(See Figure 20). The research CIDA funds tends to be different, often an add-on project
to a development programme, rather than the continuation of support to an individual or
group in an institution. Also, "CIDA's programming priorities and policies differ in terms
of country eligibility, sectors, and the need to meet tied aid and Canadian content
guidelines."*® The question of whether CIDA and IDRC see the blurring of the
distinction helpful will be broached in the next chapter. However, that there is blurring
certainly begs the question,

What is IDRC's comparative advantage and niche if what CIDA spendsin one
research project is equivalent to the budget of IDRC's economic research program
or aDivision's entire training budget®™

%7 N.a. poss. Policy Branch, CIDA, "Improving Coordination of Canada's Official
Development Assistance Program Involving Crown Corporations and CIDA," TD, 29
April 1987, CIDA Records, 1.

%8 Flora MacDonald, interview by author, 29 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa

9 N.a. poss. Policy Branch, CIDA, "Improving Coordination of Canada's Official
Development Assistance Program involving Crown Corporation and CIDA," TD, 29
April 1987, CIDA Records, 3.

570 Francoise Coupal to Keith Bezanson, President's Office, TMS, 10 December 1991,
"CIDA Support to Research: Some Key Policy Issues for Discussions," File 151-00010,
IDRC Records, 1.
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IDRC Turns the Corner

We have noted in a previous chapter that in 1981, Allan Gotlieb and Michael
Pitfield had succeeded in making the Trade Commissioner Service and the overseas
officers of CIDA part of External Affairs. It is not clear what prompted a review of
IDRC's status, but by 1982, the Centre was once again being subjected to proposed
changes.®™* Cabinet discussionswere followed up by conversationsbetween Donald
Macdonald and Don Johnston.>” This was the year when lvan Head's re-appointment was
to be considered. Once again, these efforts largely failed. A Parliamentary Task Force on
North-South Relations headed by Herb Breau” recommended tha the Centre should
receive increased priority in funding. That recommendation was accepted.>* Secondly, a
Comprehensive Audit was made by the Office of Auditor-General in 1982. IDRC was
given aclean bill of health, although the Centre was encouraged to strengthen its
planning and evaluation functions, as Treasury Board had before, and it was suggested
that the Internd Auditor should report directly to the President.>”® Independent of the
audit team, the Auditor General, Kenneth Dye, recommended that 1van Head be
considered for the Public Service Outstanding Achievement Award. In 1983, the SSEA
wrote to lvan Head,

The Centre is clearly pursuing its mandate with vigour, and in full conformity
with the credo outlined in your Introduction that an equitable and rational
application of sdentific and technological advancesis possible and can help

"1 Pierre Trudeau to Don [Macdonald], TLOS, 22 March 1982, PCO Records, 1.

572 Donald Macdonald to Pierre [Trudeau], "Re: International Development Research
Centre," TLS, 22 March 1982, PCO Records, 1.

573 He became a Governor of the Centre in 1994.
57 Executive Committee, IDRC BOG, "Notes of Proceedings," 25-26 June 1981, 3.

"> No change of reporting status of Internal Audit took place until President Bezanson
joined the Centrein 1991.
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humanity achievewell-being and passibly ensure its survival >®
What we seem to see here is the acceptance and endorsement of IDRC values portrayed,
when IDRC emerged from a series of difficulties. Further confirmation of that isthat in
1983, the USSEA ceased to sit on the Board. Despite objections by Gotlieb and
Pitfield,>” Gordon Osbaldeston, who had sat on IDRC's Board, moved to become Clerk
of the Privy Council. In consultation with Marcel Masse, he decided that only CIDA
needed to sit on the Board.*"®Gotlieb's departure from External Affairs, and Pitfield's from
PCO no doubt reduced the threat level to IDRC. Aswe previoudly cited by 1984, the new
External Affairs Minister, Jean Chrétien, was moved to write, "I am well aware of the

outstanding work and excellent reputation of IDRC."5™

In 1984, among the Red Tories in the new Conservative government the Centre
enjoyed a high standing. Fortunately for the future of the Centre, two Red Tories, Joe
Clark and Bill Winegard, were given foreign affairs responsibilities. In 1987, the
Standing Committee on External Affairs and International Trade (SCEAIT) found that
IDRC has "enhanced Canada's International Reputation™ and "is among the most effective

development agenciesin the world."*® In late 1989, the Auditor-General published a

56 Allan J. MacEachen to Ivan Head, TLOS, 23 August 1983, 38-4-IDRC, Volume 44,
Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

57 Donald [S. Macdonald] to Pierre [EIliot Trudeau], TLS, 22 March 1982, PCO
Records, 3.

578 G.F. Osbaldeston, Clerk of the Privy Council, to Donald S. Macdonald, TLS, 22
December 1983, IDRC-38-4, VVolume 45, Economic Relations with Developing
Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1-2.

5" Jean Chrétien, SSEA, to Ivan Head, TLOS, 7 August 1984, 38-4-IDRC, Volume
45, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records, 1.

%80 Standing Committee on External Affairs and International Trade, House of
Commons, Parliament of Canada, "For Whose Benefit," Ottawa: Office of the Queen's
Printer, 1987, 162.
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document called "Well-Performing Organisations."” IDRC was considered to be among a
small number of such federal organisations.

IDRC is considered worldwide to be one of the best organizations of its kind. Its
high performance is based on a number of elements: people who are competent,
committed and value-driven; continuity of leadership; a clear and strong sense of
mission and purpose a strong client focus; autonomy and flexibility at all levels;
risk-taking and innovation; freedom from political and central agency
interference; tailor-made internal regulations and reporting requirements; and
continual self-scrutiny of strategies and activities®®

The Centre was identified by Treasury Board™? as such an organisation, prior to areview
of itswork. Also influential was that the Deputy Auditor General had happened to have
been encouraged when in Nairobi to look at IDRC's activities by CIDA officias. Meyers
and other OAG officias, including the Principal for the External Affairs portfolio, Vinod
Sahgal, and Principal Otto Brodtrick>®3seem to have been favourably impressed by the
design of the Regional Offices, namely that their location permits them to keep "their ears
to the ground”, in contrast to CIDA. Despite his favourable opinion of the Regional
Offices, Sahgal, like amost every other central agent officer interviewed, does not know
the reasons why IDRC has the particular status that it has under the FAA 5# Many do not
believe that that status can be justified.

The good opinion of IDRC by Clark, Winegard and the Auditor-General seems to
have silenced other central agent critics until 1988-90. In a context of shrinking ODA

budgets, rising deficits, government unhappiness with quangos like the Social Sciences

%81 Office of the Auditor General, Well-Performing Organizations, Extract from the
1988 Annua Report, Ottawa: 1988, 4.31.

%82 Considering Treasury Board's frequent criticism it isinteresting to note that the
Centre was nominaed by them.

%83 Brodtrick was author of Well-Performing Organizations and was Principal for
Organisational Effectiveness and Values.

%84 Vinod Sahgal, interview by author, 2 February 1994, taperecording, Ottava;
Vinod Sahgal, interview by author, 14 February 1995, by telephone, Ottawa.
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and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC), the mushrooming of the Reform Party and
the pending conclusion to Ivan Heads term, IDRC's position became more vulnerable to
central agents doubts. In 1990, the Auditor General seems to have changed his position
regarding the desirability of the exempt status of some federal organisationsfrom TB and
OAG contrals, which included IDRC. Such a change of position would have been
warmly received by the Conservative government. According to akey official in the
Crown Corporations Directorate, ajoint body of Treasury Board Secretariat and the
Department of Finance, the Mulroney government seemed to see "the Crown
Corporations, in some sense, as an unwarranted intrusion by the public sector into the
private sector."*® A 1990 IDRC Board meeting in Bangkok at an expensive hotel caused
astir in the Conservative Party and among central agents when it became known in the
press. Further, some unhappiness on the part of the Minister for External Affairs appears
to have been expressed as to her inability to prevent such activities, which could not be
done directly.>® Under the regulations governing the Centre, the Minister of Foreign

Affairs can not issue a direct order to IDRC.

Apart from the particularities of the time, the main difficulty for IDRC was that
under the second Mulroney mandate, the Canadian political landscape had changed and
IDRC had only begunto respond to it. Don Mazankowski's December 1991 Economic
Statement was a severe one calling for cuts within a neo-Reformist agenda. The 1992
Budget was proof of that determination. This change in tack did not just arise for fear of
the Reform Party, but also the enfeeblement of the Red Tories after the 1988 el ection.
FloraMacDonald had lost her seat. Joe Clark was in danger of losing his. Clark was
shifted to the constitutional portfolio.

%85 Anonymous.
%A nonymous.
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Total Federal Expenditures vs. Total Federal Foreign Affairs & Aid
Expenditures [1961-1991] [millions$]
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While in External Affairs, Clark had not only protected development assistance,
his influence was decisive in seeing the stegpest rise in funding since Lester Pearson's
1966 and Trudeau's 1977 budgets. Ironically, this growth was at a much higher level, and
for amore sustained period. (See Figure 21). Over the years as External Affairs Minister,
Clark came back to Cabinet year dter year with new development asdstance initiatives,
sucking up various contingency funds in the process. Irritated by the success of Clark's
tactics, with arising budget deficit, increasing pressure from the business community,
plus the rise of the Reform Party, Mazankowski resurrected a version of the Envelope
System initiated during the Clark government. Under this system, Departments were
obliged to shift resources within a given budget, with no contingency funds. Cuts were
begun at External Affairs. Unhappy with these cuts, officers there sought and succeeded
in getting resources shifted from the CIDA budget to External Affairs. For CIDA
officers, the idea that these were two separate budgets was shattered. CIDA, in turn,
shifted its fiscal atention to IDRC.

Bill Winegard, the former IDRC Governor, had been replaced in 1988 by John
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Bosley as Chair of the Commons Committee on External Affairs and National Defense.
Bosley was not knownto be a supporter of IDRC, compared with Winegard, but was still
on the left of the party.®®” More decisive in the weakening of funding to development
assistance was the shifting of Joe Clark from External Affairsto Constitutional Affairs.
Clark had enormous influence in Cahinet,>®® and was well respected internationally,
particularly in the South over his stance on South Africa. His replacement, Barbara
McDougall, "cameinto this with aimost nointernational experience at al">®° She may
have been more likely to listen to fdlow Canadian economists in the central agencies.
Certainly, she seemsto have believed that CIDA wastoo hig. McDougall generally
accepted the recommendations of the Conservative consulting firm, SECOR, which
recommended cuts.>® All foreign affairs items were cut after half a decade of
considerable growth.

The vision that created IDRC was of Lester Pearson. That was not the same vision
as what the Tories had. The Pearsonian view of government was pretty much dead
by February of 1992 and the interest in, the belief in instruments of government of
that nature was under very strong attack.>*

Under ordinary conditions the smallness of the Centre meant that financial officials of
government would have had little to say, unless there had been mgjor failings at the
Centre. However, unhappiness in Cabinet with a number of the exempt crown
corporations, including IDRC, assisted in getting the status of the Centre reviewed. That
the press had been critical of the Board's 1990 meeting in Thailand created greater

possibilities for central agency scrutiny. The source for the story is not known.

%87 FloraMacDonald, interview by author, 29 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa
%8 Flora MacDonald, interview by author, 29 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa
%89 Bill Winegard, interview by author, 13 April 1994, Guelph, tape recording.
%0 Anonymous.

%91 Anonymous.
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In 1989, the Auditor-General had pointed to IDRC as a particularly effective
organisation. However, its international reputation was flagging, seen to be becoming
more bureaucratic than CIDA > This may have contributed to the Centre's vulnerability.
All independent agencies were especially unpopula in Cabinet in 1989-90. According to
Bill Winegard,

The economy was turned right down and therefore no-one could protect anything.

Several members of the Cabinet who became very frustrated indeed at getting
political flak for all sorts of things and yet having no control . . and that was
particularly true, for example, at SSHRC. . .

IDRC just got caught in awave saying, "We're tired of teking flak from all these
damn organisations that have been set up, in essence, independent, do whatever
they wanted, and we have to answer for it."

Governments, generally, for very good political reasons, not nasty reasons, but
good political reasons, do not like independent agencies because they take alot of
flak and you have no say.>*
What these quotes show isthat at the political level at least, while economic numbers
may have provided the opportunity for central agenaes, and changing political windsin
the country made a change in IDRC more likely, the decision to proceed depended on the

collective and individual experience of Ministersintheir portfolios.

In 1986 a cursory investigation was made in Finance as to whether it should be
privatised or made part of CIDA .** Finance concluded that there should be no change but

the gathering fiscal storms meant that central agencies had increasing influence in

%92 Anonymous.
%3 Bill Winegard, interview by author, 13 April 1994, Guelph, tape recording.

%9 L. McCabe, Department of Finance, "Review Program," " Crown Corporation:
International Development Research Centre,” TD, 6 November 1986, Finance Records, 1.
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programmes of government. In 1989, following a conversation with Ivan Head, the Prime
Minister requested information about the Canadian International Institute for Peace and
Security (CIIPS) and IDRC.>* The conversation seemed to have been related to the two

organisations' non-agent status.

Ivan Head initiated remarkable internal innovations during his last years as
President (as we shall seein the next chapter). However, relations could have been better
with the government and other federal organisations. To some extent, the end of Head's
tenure parallelled Hopper's. That relations were difficult was of some importance as the
President acted as the principal contact with the world of Ottawa. Head was clearly not
going to be re-appointed. He did not have the ear, but the heel of the Prime Minister. (See
below). His relations with the rank and file of External Affairs had never really recovered
from being given pride of place as principal foreign policy advisor to Trudeau over that
department. Relations with central agents had been cordial, but none were convinced of
the value of the Centre's independence. The most dangerous aspect was that relations with
CIDA, which managed the Centre's level of funding to the Minister were not good.

When SSEA, Joe Clark was able to suspend the cuts recommended by CIDA and
even provide increases to the Centre at the Cabinet table. Over the years, as CIDA
officers had done, Ivan Head also went to Clark with new initiatives. Clark often found
the money to fund them.>*® In the late 1980s, as funds dried up, CIDA and Treasury
Board agreed to flat spending levels for the Centre, or cuts. Y et Head remained able to
limit or reverse the severity of those cuts. In the battle over funds personal and

institutional relations frayed.

5% Paul Tellier to the Prime Minister, "Meamorandum for the Prime Minister, IDRC
and CIIPS," TMS, 20 September 1989, PCO Records, 1.

%% Anonymous.
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Ivan Head was al so reportedly increasingly sensitive to what he may have
perceived as a Conservative vendetta. And indeed, according to aformer high CIDA
official, "There was no doubt that there was a very strong view in the Conservative ranks
that IDRC was out of control.">*” Many upper level central agent officials may have
resented that the Centre was "an elitist organisation that may have had the ear of the
Prime Minister.>*® The opinion of high CIDA officials does not appear to have been much
better. Some said that "they had looked at their staffing structure to the volume of
resources. It had maybe evolved from a Cadillac to a Rolls-Royce operation."*® Within
official circles, Ivan Head was mortally wounded, and was said to be regularly striking
out at those with whom it was necessary to be friends of the Centre.*® The palitical

reality of the period provided him with few options.

In late 1989 Foreign and Defence Policy Staff at PCO had written, and Paul
Tellier signed a note of advice to Finance Minister Mazankowski who was to meet Ivan
Head. By that time, Ottawa was rife with rumours that cuts were coming. On November
2, vigourous lobbying was begun by NGOs and others. The note concluded,

Mr. Head has in the past been publicly critical of the ad program and normally
portrays IDRC as amore developmentally sound organization than CIDA. This
view isnot widely shared nationally or internationally by the development

97 Anonymous.
% FloraMacDonald, interview by author, 29 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa.

%9 Anonymous.

Thiswas not al illusion, although the Centre's approach is much more labour-intensive
than atypical aiddonor's. At its nadir in 1990-91 programme expenditures were only
56.7% of the total.

International Devel opment Research Centre, Annual Report 1992-1993, Ottawa: IDRC,
1993, 44.
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constituency.®%
The aim was to warn Mazankowski to discount Head's |lobbying efforts. However, the
view was weighed very heavily against IDRC and Head personally. According to a
former senior official of CIDA, the memorandum may be "areflection of the change in
values set"®®? in government, making CIDA seem moreattractive than IDRC.

I don't think the quality of their work and their prestige and their reputation were
ever in question. But | don't think if you said, "Who would seem more relevarnt to
Canadian interests?' Then clearly the answer woud be CIDA. And, "Who isa
better tool of government policy?* Then obviously CIDA. Y ou could make, even
though it took awhile, you could get things to happen in CIDA where you
couldn't get them to happen in IDRC 5%

Once again, the CGIAR issue emerged between high officialsin CIDA and IDRC. Joe
Clark appears to have been approached over the issue, with Douglas Lindores "playing
hard ball."®®** So sensitive an issue was this that after decades of support for the
international agricultural research centres, in many ways the keystone to the Hopper and
Hulse's strategy, IDRC funding for the CGIAR system briefly evaporated at the

beginning of the Bezanson presidency.

By March 1990, IDRC's Board saw the precipice approaching, but kept thar
nerve. "At the in-camera session, the Chairman noted that Governors were supportive of
management's desre to not fall prey to "crisis managament” and make quidk changes to
the shape of the Centre."®® Discussions at the Board and among management at the time

centred around further cutting staff, and following the US foundation model. The ratio of

1 Paul Tellier to Don Mazankowski, "Memorandum for the Deputy Prime Minister,"
"Y our Meeting with Ivan Head - IDRC," TMS, 2 November 1989, PCO Records, 1.

692 Aponymous.
603 Anonymous.
84Anonymous.
5 |DRC BOG, "Minutes," 13-16 March 1990, IDRC Records, 3.
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funds per programme officer was much higher in those organisations. The aim of the
discussions was to anticipate and preclude changes that PCO and Treasury Board might
contemplate.®® However, the point was made that such a decision would mean the loss of
the hands-on approach which was the practice of Centre officers, and the technical
expertise that necessitated. The fear was expressed that the reputation IDRC had built up
on that basis would be forfeit. The decision was taken to prepare the new President with a
complete briefing so that changes could be put in placerapidly after the appointment.
Which iswhat turned out to be what happened.

At the end of 1991, after Bezanson's appointment, a request seems to have come
from Treasury Board and Finance to Marcel Massé for areview of the "crown
corporations’ under CIDA, including IDRC.®" Accounts of the facts vary widely among
CIDA officers, perhaps indicating the sensitivity of the undertaking. However, an
analysis of IDRC's programme to funding ratio appears to have taken place in Policy
Branch, although no papers have been traced regarding this inquiry. However, certainly
senior CIDA officers devel oped the opinion, if they had not it already, that IDRC was
overstaffed. This and other perceptions seem to have been firmly entrenched by the end
of 1990.

6% James Mullin, interview by author, 13 December 1994, by tel ephone, notes,
Ottawa-Kanata.
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1992 Budget - On the Brink

In the autumn of 1991 IDRC was listed among forty-six federal organisations to
be eliminated. That IDRC was not cut was due to a number of factors, key among them
the skill of its President and Chair. They remonstrated that IDRC had made deep staff
cuts, and could be revitalised, recreated into something more familiar and more relevant
to the Prime Minister's foreign policy requirements. Their work bore fruit. The Centre

was removed from the list for elimination. However, it did not altogether escape.

Within Machinery of Government — PCO, a discussion about the contents of the
list of those organisations to be eliminated seems to havetaken place between David
Baker, who later led the PCO-Treasury Board Working Group to implement the change
of status, and his superiors, Deputy Secretary Nick D'Ombrain and Assistant Secretary
JA. Mitchell. These gentlemen, in consultation with PMO, political staff from the
Department of Finance, and the Deputy Minister there Frederick Gorbet, appear to
decided have put IDRC on the list for elimination.®® We need to note hee that PCO is
not a monolith. Many officers come to hold more narrowly Canadian-centred values over
time. Machinery of Government is probably the apotheosis of thiswith a control function
most obviously exercised during restructuring and budget cutting. These are Eliot's "hard
men" (males primarily). Those in sections of PCO such as Foreign and Defence Policy,
who provide the Prime Minister, Cabinet and the Clerk and President of PCO with advice
on these issue areas, are usually people who have been in the pertinent departments for

ten to fifteen years.

In addition to the President's efforts, IDRC's removal from the list was also
achieved via Janet Wardlaw's contact with Bill Winegard and thence with Joe Clark. In
the wake of that removal, however, officials, possibly David Baker from PCO, Machinery

6% Anonymous.
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of Government approached Douglas Patriquin of the Joint Finance and Treasury Board
Crown Corporations Directorate for advice. Patriquin's preferred option was to make
IDRC a scheduled corporation with some exemptions.®® This advice was accepted and
followed up after the budget by the head of Foreign and Defence Programmes Division of
Treasury Board, Stephen O'Connor.

On 25 February 1992 the Budget tersely stated that IDRC would be made a
departmental corporation bringing it into line with government administrative policies.
The day after the budget, IDRC officials met with Foreign and Defence Programme staff
from Treasury Board to determine how to implement thedecision. Meetings with

Machinery of Government staff from PCO were first held on 2 March 5%

Theissuesidentified for attention by the Treasury Board were various. "L uxurious
accommodation” and office sizes were a matter of concern. Some IDRC daff were aso
deemed overpaid. The engagement of foreignersin IDRC programme positions was an
issue. Once again, the amount of travel was seen as excessive, athough the focus had
shifted from the class of travel (the decision to ensure that all staff and governors flew
economy class had taken place almost fifteen years before), to theamount of travel. This
was afamiliar refrain by Treasury Board regarding CIDA 't Although the Office of the
Auditor-Genera had never found major irregularitiesin the running of IDRC, the mere
fact that the Centre was outside the administrative policies of the government, like afew

other federal organisations'? had disturbed central agency officers for decades.

699 Anonymous.

%1% Foreign and Defence Staff?, Treasury Board, "International Development Research
Centre," "Revised," TD, 3 March 1992, Treasury Board Records, 1.
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®12 Other federal organisations in the same category as IDRC include the Bank of
Canada and cultural organisations like the SSHRC, and Canadian Broadcasting
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With his responsibilities for the UN Commission for Environment and
Development in his mind, Maurice Strong suggested as early as the spring of 1991 that
IDRC be revitalised by being moved to Montreal, given to the United Nations, and
downsized. Strong had suggested to Québec Premier Bourassa that IDRC might be
moved to Montreal, who responded with a pleato Mulroney in March 1991.°"* Strong
was aware of plansto eliminate the Centre at this time and wanted to save the
organisation he had created from extinction.®* Internationalising IDRC rekindled
excitement about the Centre while giving the Canadian government an easy means of
responding to the upcoming environment conference. Strong had become President of the
World Federation of United Nations Associations and aimed to headquarter it in
Montreal. Gathered around him were a series of Montrealers and others including former
Premier of Quebec Pierre-Marc Johnson, and diplomat Y ves Fortier. They pursued the
idea of internationalisation with some vigour. This proposal was part of alarger
movement to bring international organisations to that city which arose in 1986. This
movement was given formal expression in the Montréal International Conference Centre
Corporation who hdped organise the proposal .***> By late December 1991, Maurice
Strong appears to have approached the federal government with the idea of

internationalisation. IDRC and External Affairs officers did not warm to the idea.'

Corporation.

3 IDRC, "IDRC Issues and Developments, April-May 1992," Attached to Keith A.
Bezanson to Minister [Barbara McDougall], TLS, 4 June 1992, IDRC-38-4, Volume 68,
Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Foreign Affairs Records. 1.

614 Maurice Strong, interview by author, 23 November 1994, by telephone, notes,
Ottawa-Toronto.

615 Jean Dupuis, interview by author, 14 December 1994, by telephone, notes, Ottawa-
Montreal.

616 Philip Somerville A/Assistant DM Economic Policy and Trade Competitiveness
Branch and J.R. Morden, (composed by Robert Degardins, EEA, TMS, 10 December
1991, IDRC-38-4, Volume 69, Economic Relations with Developing Countries, Point

292



Jm McNeill, forme Secretary-General of the Brundtland Commission, in
preparing the Foreign Policy Committee response of the National Roundtable on the
Environment and the Economy suggested that IDRC be given a new mandate, of
sustainable development. He thought that IDRC which over the years had given
Canadians a glowing reputation overseas, but had latterly become overgrown and was
coasting. As an organisation of good character in need of revitalisation he judged the
Centre anatural organisation to "quick start" Agenda 21. He also suggested that the
number of international governors be increased and that the Secretary-Generd of the
United Nations should nominate a governor to the Board.?*” Pierre-Marc Johnson headed
the National Roundtable, and advised Maurice Strong. He had been proposed by the
Prime Minister to be President of IDRC in 1987, the year that the Board decided to re-

appoint Ivan Head. An environmental focus looked increasingly likely for the Centre.

Two weeks prior to the Rio Conference, the departmental corporation as a notion
began to be alessviable option. Advice was sent from Francois Arsenault®® in Foreign
and Defence Policy — PCO to the Prime Minister to counter Strong's suggestion to
internationalise the Centre by giving it to the United Nations. The memorandum
suggested, drawing on a Finnish example, that if the Centre was given to the UN, Canada
would get nothing in return. The memorandum was a "red flag" regarding the course of
action proposed. In common with the National Roundtable, the document suggested
instead of internationalisation theIDRC should shift its emphasis towards sugainable
development. Notable too in the memorandum is a concurrence with McNeill'sideas in

that the memorandum suggested that the UN nominate a member of the Board.®™® But

617 Jim McNeill, interview by author, 8 July 1994, by telephone, notes.

618 Arsenault had worked for twenty yearsin CIDA. He had been impressed by IDRC's
research effortsin Cameroon.
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most important was that the memorandum signalled that Keith Bezanson had made, what
were Arsenault thought were critical reforms, namely: cutsin staff; achange in
management style to something more decisive; new blood in management; transparency
in working with personnel; and moreover, making IDRC politically relevant e.g.
regarding the environment and in its activities in South Africa. The document advised
that making the Centre into a departmental corporation did not seem an effective way to
save money. PCO sources indicate that Bezanson's efforts to publicise these changes were
vital to the survival of the Centre.®® A version of this was subsequently announced at

Rio. With some degree of coordination, Bezanson, McNall and Arsenault had worked to
renovate the focus of the Centre and fix it better in the organisational firmament of the

federal government.

Despite the efforts of Arsenault and others prior to Rio, Mulroney was reported to
be "mad" and "determined to kill that institution™ until he was convinced otherwise by
Pierre-Marc Johnson. At Rio, Johnson argued that IDRC should not be scrapped. He
opined that it might be given to the UN, or given an Agenda 21 focus. Johnson, and
Nicole Senécal, VP Policy at CIDA, a strong supporter of the Centre, also advised
Environment Ministe Jean Charest who, in turn, counselled the Prime Minister. Their
advice was that IDRC should continue to exist and that a new environmental focus would

make it more relevant.t?

Strong's advisor, JJm McNeill, was also counselling Charest, specifically on the
Prime Minister's speech. McNeill reiterated his thoughts voiced at the Roundtable earlier

in the year.%> All McNeill'sideas were, if in amended form, finally agreed to except one.

620 Anonymous.
621 Anonymous.
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The notion of increasing the number of international governors on IDRC's Board, thus
tipping the balance in favour of an international majority on the Board was not accepted.
In some respects, that these ideas were being listened to, and most accepted, may have
been an indication that in the last year of the Tory government, there was a slight return
to Pearsonian ideds, even if this wasa neo-conservative internationdism. Neverthel ess,
the suggestion to pemit non-nationals not just to participate in, but regularly nominate

members to IDRC's Board was an extension of internationalism not seen before.t%

On 12 June 1992, Prime Minister Mulroney announced at UNCED in Rio that
IDRC's mandate would be expanded so that it might become one of the world's key
organizations to make sustainable development aredity. A PMO press rdease
subsequently stated,

In the light of the welcome support of the United Nations Conference on
Environment and Development (UNCED) at the United Nations, Canada will
formally broaden the mandate of the International Development Research Centre
to emphasize sustainable development issues. In order to build the international
network of expertise and contactsnecessary for achieving sustainable
development, the Canadian Government will invite the Secretary General of the
United Nations and other key organizations like the World Bank to propose
appointments to the Board of Governors of IDRC, thereby establishing a new
partnership with the United Nations system.

The Prime Minister noted that greater access by the international community to
the direct hands-on expertise of IDRC would help to ensure aquick start on
implementation of the UNCED Agenda 21 program. The Canadian Government
provides $115 million per year to IDRC and intends to maintain this
contribution.®*

This announcement firmly placed IDRC on the political map of the government, and

precluded cuts to the budget taking place. Changing the status of IDRC under the

623 One might see the Prime Minister's 1985 suggestion to Premier Zhao to do the
same as similar, dthough it may simply have been to invite the confidence of the Chinese
in their permitting IDRC to work in China.

%4 |DRC, IDRC: An Agenda 21 Organization. Ottawa, IDRC, approx. July 1992, 3.
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Financial Administration Act into a departmental corporation would have made the
Centre an official government agency. Officers of IDRC insisted that this was
incompatible with the intention of the Prime Minister to further internationalise the
Centre by inviting the Secretary General of the UN and other key organisations like the

World Bank to propase appointments to the Board of Govemors.

Subsequent to Rio the new Chair of the Centre had a so been busy. Flora
MacDonald was determined to prevent the hobbling of the organisation to which she had
been appointed. She approached two people in the Conservative government to change
the situation, Joe Clark and Hugh Segal. Flora MacDonald called the Prime Minister's
Chief of Staff and arranged for her and Bezanson to meet with him. Segal was the chief
PMO contact of thegroup hoping to internationalise IDRC and had approached the Prime
Minister about the subject. What Segal found most persuasive about the
internationalisation proposal was that it would have linked the Centre to things Canadian,
"particularly the business world."%® As the Prime Minister's Chief of Staff, one would
think that Segal would have been most impressed with the ideas proposed at Rio which
called for the PM to permit others to make appointments to IDRC's Board. However, by
the time of his meeting with MacDonald and Bezanson, those proposals were not being
emphasised by IDRC, and, in addition, the United Nations found aformal rolein the
appointment of members of a nationally-funded organisation awkward.®® Reportedly,
Segal was impressed that significant cutsin staff had been made and that the Centre
enjoyed a high stature abroad. When speaking to Clark, one of MacDondd's closest
friends, MacDonald felt it important "to bring Joe up to date on the work of IDRC and the
way it was adding to Canada's lustre." MacDonald also brought key ministers Senator

625 Jean Dupuis, interview by author, 14 December 1994, by telephone, notes, Ottawa-
Montreal.

626 James Mullin, interview by author, 13 December 1994, by telephone, notes,
Ottawa.
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Lowell Murray and International Trade Minister Michael Wilson to the Centre for
lunch.®?” The result of MacDonald and Bezanson's activities was the ending of the process
begun by the budget. However, part of the internationalisation proposd, regarding IDRC
becoming an Agenda 21 organisation, was adopted. Most important was that the budget
item to make the Centre a departmental corporation did not proceed. On 16 November
1992, Segal wrotein a note to the PrimeMinister, "1'm not sure this has to proceed so
quickly. May | remove [IDRC] from the present group [of federal organisations whose
status should change]." Although unwritten conditions seam to have been atteched to his

assent, the written reply of Prime Minister Mulroney was asimple "OK" %%

On November 30, aletter was sent to President of the Treasury Board by the
Secretary, lan Clark. "Le Premier Ministre a en effet décidé que, suite aux annonces faites
aRio. Les changements ne seraient plus nécessaires."®* Only atelephone call was made
from the Assistant Secretary, Machinery of Government, PCO, J.R. Mitchdl to Keith
Bezanson. That nowritten confirmation to IDRC was sent seemsto indicate acertain
bitterness on the part of central agency staff, or perhaps an expectation that the question
would be revisited before long. Certainly Treasury Board officials were working up urtil
just before the decision was made redrafting proposals. Their enthusiasm had not been
stilled by Rio.5*

627 FloraMacDonald, interview by author, 29 June 1994, tape recording, Ottawa

628 Hugh Segal to Prime Minister [Brian Mulroney], 16 Novembe 1992, PMO, PCO
Records, n.p.

629 |an D. Clark to President of Treasury Board, "Note au Président, Centre de
recherches pour le développement international (CRDI)," TMS, 30 November 1992,
Treasury Board Records, 1.

630 John Denisto Christiane [Talbot-Horne], Treasury Board, AN, 6 November 1992,
attached to "Clause by Clause Analysis, Part VIl - International Devel opment Research
Centre," TD, n.a. n.d., Treasury Board Records, 1.
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1992: ICOD Sinks, IDRC Still Afloat — Why?

The 1992 budget was the greatest challenge to the autonomy and even existence
of IDRC. President Bezanson was called in Hanoi by the Singapore office of IDRC and
informed that the Centre would be made a " departmental corporation” and therefore fdl
under the rigours of the Financial Administration Act. In that budget, a host of quangos
were eliminated including the International Centrefor Ocean Devdopment (ICOD), its
structure modelled on IDRC's, and the Canadian International Institute for Peace and
Security (CIIPS).®* The budget item did not come to fruition as regards IDRC. IDRC's
founding legislation was not changed, nor did its budget receive an expected cut. Why did
IDRC not suffer the same fate as ICOD?

|COD was not as well-established as IDRC. It was first announced during the
Trudeau government as a means of gaining Third World support for Canada's bid to
establish a 200 mile Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) as part of the Law of the Sea
negotiations®** It was converted from a fledgling NGO by Clark in 1985 into what came
to be known as a Government Owned and Operated NGOs (GOONGOSs) .5 Many
observers of the changes that took place as part of the 1992 Budget see the elimination of
these quangos as the Conservative Party eliminating the works of the Liberal Party under
the guise of cost-cutting. One can imagine this to be patly true. However, ICOD was cut,
and it was created by the Progressive Conservatives, although, granted, by the Red Tory
wing of the party.

Most consultations with CIDA on the creation of |COD were conducted in

81 We note that the Prime Minister had requested further information on CIIPS at the
sametime as IDRC in 1989.

632 Anonymous
833 Anonymous.
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negotiation with Douglas Lindores, with less consultation with central agencies. President
Gary Vernon of ICOD spoke many times with Ivan Head. However, CIDA drafted the
legidlation and "knew what was going to be allowed."®* This type of aid delivery
mechanism was becoming more popular at CIDA because "1983-1984 they would start
using more executing agencies to satisfy that private sector demand to get a piece of [the
action] on the services side." In contradistinction the genesis of IDRC, "ICOD was
formed because CIDA decided it was getting out of the business of executing its own
projects, it was gonna dump its overhead,"®* For example, in another arena, CIDA turned

over responsibility for projectsin El Salvador to a private sector consulting agency.

Elements of ICOD were modelled on IDRC, obviously including the name. The
Board structure was adapted from IDRC, and the focus was on devel oping countries.
However, there were differences. At the political level, it was fe